RESPIRATORY HEALTH OUTCOMES IN NEONATES - LUNG FUNCTION, EXERCISE AND AIRWAY MECHANICS

A thesis submitted in consideration for the degree of:

Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

By

Dr Michael Cousins (MBBCh, MRCPCH)

Department of Child Health

School of Medicine

Cardiff University

Heath Park

Cardiff

CF14 4XN

2021

DEDICATION

For Ann Louise, Samuel, and Emily.

SUMMARY

My thesis uses data collected during the course of the Respiratory Outcomes in Neonates study, which aimed to identify, investigate mechanisms and establish potential treatments for lung disease in a population of preterm-born children in South Wales. As part of this study, 241 children attended our research unit where they underwent in-depth lung function testing, as reported in my thesis.

My results observed preterm-born children with low lung function had increased air trapping on lung volume testing, functional exercise impairment, and greater response to post-exercise bronchodilator. When classifying preterm-born children with low lung function by obstructive versus non-obstructive lung disease, those children with obstructive disease had greater impairment of forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) and greater post-exercise reversibility.

On oscillometry testing, preterm-born children with low lung function, in particular those with obstructive lung disease, had impaired resistance and compliance, with evidence of peripheral airways being most affected. Post-exercise bronchodilator was effective in improving airway mechanical properties in children with low lung function.

Intra-breath oscillometry, unexplored in the preterm population to date, demonstrated impairment throughout the respiratory cycle in children with low lung function, and was not limited to expiration, suggesting a different disease process to that seen in other childhood wheeze disorders.

I demonstrated that my method for classification of obstructive and non-obstructive lung disease was appropriate in my population for identification of children with postexercise bronchodilator reversibility, and was comparative to other established methods of defining obstructive lung disease.

Finally, I explored differences between two methods of spirometry, and noted systematic bias towards higher results using a pneumotachograph system compared to an infra-red turbine spirometry, with implications for clinical practice.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents

SUM	IMAF	RΥ		V
TABI	LE OF		ITENTS	VI
АСКІ	NOW	LEDO	GEMENTS	XI
LIST	OF T	ABLE	S	. XII
LIST	OF F	IGUR	ES	XVII
ABB	REVI	ΑΤΙΟ	NS	XXI
1	INT	RODL	JCTION	1
1.	1	Prete	erm birth – short- and long-term respiratory morbidity	1
	1.1.	1	Definition and classification of preterm birth	1
	1.1.	2	Epidemiology of preterm birth	2
	1.1.	3	Causes of preterm birth	3
	1.1.4	4	Overview of preterm morbidity and mortality	5
1.	2	Resp	piratory system and preterm birth	10
	1.2.	1	Lung development in utero	10
1.	3	Resp	piratory disease in preterm-born children	14
	1.3.	1	Respiratory distress syndrome	14
	1.3.	2	Chronic lung disease	18
1.	4	Resp	piratory outcomes	22
	1.4.	1	Symptoms, medication use and health care utilisation	22
	1.4.	2	Modalities of testing	30
1.	5	Sum	mary	43
1.	6	Resp	piratory Health Outcomes in Neonates study	44
	1.6.	1	Background and relevance to thesis	44
	1.6.	2	RHiNO Study description	46
	1.6.	3	Population	52
1.	7	Нурс	othesis and aims	56
	1.7.	1	Hypothesis	56
	1.7.	2	Aims	56
2	LUN	IG FU	INCTION AND EXERCISE TESTING	58
2.	1	Intro	oduction	58
	2.1.	1	Lung function testing	58
	2.1.	2	Exercise testing	62

	2.1	.3	Summary of introduction	67
	2.1	.4	Aims of study	67
	2.2	Met	hods	68
	2.2	.1	Recruitment	68
	2.2	.2	Testing	70
	2.2	.3	Ethics	77
	2.2	.4	Statistical analysis	77
	2.3	Resu	ults	79
	2.3	.1	Participant numbers	79
	2.3	.2	Lung function groups	81
	2.3	.3	Obstructive & non-obstructive preterm lung disease groups	90
	2.4	Disc	ussion	101
	2.4	.1	Findings in children with low lung function	101
	2.4	.2	Obstructive lung disease	
	2.4	.3	Strengths and limitations	105
	2.5	Con	clusion	
3	OS	CILLO	METRY	108
	3.1	Intro	oduction	
	3.1	.1	Airway mechanics	108
	3.1	.2	Basics of oscillometry	110
	3.1	.3	Oscillometry in preterm children	112
	3.1	.4	Aims of study	113
	3.2	Met	hods	115
	3.2	.1	Population	115
	3.2	.2	Oscillometry testing	115
	3.2	.3	Spirometry and cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET)	118
	3.2	.4	Terms and definitions	118
	3.2	.5	Ethical approval	120
	3.2	.6	Statistical analysis	120
	3.3	Resu	ults	122
	3.3	.1	Participant numbers	122
	3.3	.2	Lung function groups	123
	3.3	.3	Obstructive & restrictive preterm lung disease groups	130
	3.4	Disc	ussion	138
	3.4	.1	Strengths and Limitations	140

	3.5 0	Conclusions	141
4	INTR	A-BREATH OSCILLOMETRY	142
	4.1 I	ntroduction	142
	4.1.1	Technical aspects to test	142
	4.1.2	Use of test in other populations	143
	4.1.3	Hypotheses and aims	145
	4.2 N	Methods	147
	4.2.1	Population	147
	4.2.2	Intra-breath oscillometry testing	147
	4.2.3	Parameters	151
	4.2.4	Spirometry and cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET)	152
	4.2.5	Ethical approval	153
	4.2.6	Statistical analysis	153
	4.3 F	Results	154
	4.3.1	Normal (term) children – changes during the breath cycle	154
	4.3.2	Agreement between standard and intra-breath oscillometry	158
	4.3.3	Comparisons between lung function groups	160
	4.3.4	Comparisons between obstructive and non-obstructive groups	178
	4.4 C	Discussion	192
	4.4.1	Term population	192
	4.4.2	Standard versus intra-breath oscillometry	195
	4.4.3	Intra-breath analysis	195
	4.4.4	Limitations	200
	4.5 0	Conclusion	201
5	INTE	RPRETATION OF LUNG FUNCTION TESTING	202
	5.1 I	ntroduction	202
	5.1.1	Interpretation of spirometry	203
	5.1.2	Spirometry comparison	203
	5.1.3	Aims and hypothesis	205
	5.2 N	٧ethods	207
	5.2.1	Population and testing	207
	5.2.2	Defining groups	207
	5.2.3	Statistics	210
	5.3 F	Results	211
	5.3.1	Obstructive restrictive further analysis	211

	5.3	8.2	Spirometry comparison	234
	5.4	Disc	cussion	250
	5.4	.1	Use of lung volumes	251
	5.4	.2	Comparisons with other methodology	251
	5.4	.3	Comparison of all 3 methods	254
	5.4	.4	Use of %predicted vs absolute vs z-score values	255
	5.4	.5	MicroLoop comparisons	255
	5.4	.6	Strengths and limitations	256
	5.5	Cor	clusions	258
6	OV	'ERAL	L DISCUSSION	259
	6.1	Ove	erview	259
	6.2	Key	findings	
	6.2	2.1	Population characteristics	
	6.2	2.2	Spirometry, lung volume and exercise testing	
	6.2	2.3	Oscillometry	261
	6.2	2.4	Intra-breath oscillometry	
	6.2	2.5	Review of obstructive lung disease	
	6.2	2.6	Spirometer comparison	
	6.3	Disc	cussion	
	6.3	8.1	Spirometer comparison	265
	6.3	3.2	Defining obstructive lung disease	
	6.3	3.3	Lung function groups	
	6.3	8.4	Obstructive lung disease groups	270
	6.4	Stre	engths and limitations	273
	6.4	.1	Strengths	273
	6.4	.2	Limitations	273
	6.4	.3	Sources of bias	274
	6.5	Sug	gestions for future research and clinical application	276
	6.5	i.1	Potential further analyses using current data	276
	6.5	5.2	Potential future directions for research	277
	6.6	Ove	erall messages and conclusion	
7	RE	FEREI	NCES	
8	AP	PENC	DICES	298
	8.1	Арр	pendix 1: Example of Parent Information Sheet and Consent Form for	study visit
		298		

8.2	Appendix 2: Example of Children's Information Sheet and Assent Form for study
visit	307
8.3	Appendix 3: Template of consent form for use of participant images
8.4	Appendix 4: Publications during PhD
8.5	Appendix 5: Presentations during PhD

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to offer my sincere gratitude to Professor Sailesh Kotecha. I thank him for the opportunity to be involved in the RHiNO study and to undertake a PhD, and for his help, support, belief, and guidance along the way. During my many questioning moments getting to this stage, my mantra has been 'In Sailesh I trust'!

I owe a debt of gratitude to Kylie Hart, without whom I know I would not have made it this far. Kylie was such a support and working closely with her was one of the highlights of the whole project. Thank you to Gill Willets and Louise Yendle, the research nurses on RHiNO, who did an incredible job with recruitment, and for their friendship.

I would like to thank my colleagues from the Child Health Department, Drs David Gallacher, Emma Mitchell, Sarah Kotecha and John Watkins, for their help and advice. In particular, Dr John Lowe was a guiding light through the research process, and I am grateful for his friendship. Professors Mark Williams and Iolo Doull have been generous with their knowledge and time. My thanks to Professors Matthias Eberl and Kerry Hood from my appraisal panel – I appreciate the guidance they offered.

The wider RHiNO team, including my co-supervisors, Dr Zöe Hoare and the late Professor John Henderson, have been excellent support. Thank you to the team at NWORTH, especially Dr Nia Goulden and Alison Jenkins, and Louise Richards from NWIS for helping identify participants. We performed the lung function testing in the Children and Young Adults' Research Unit, which was such a wonderful space to have worked in. It has been great to see paediatric research in Wales develop over my time doing this project, and Jenny Muller, Zoe Morrison and Rhian Thomas-Turner were especially helpful and supportive with RHiNO.

A word for Dr Phil Connor, who planted a research seed several years ago, based on his belief I was good enough to do such a thing - I thank/blame him for getting me into this!

Thank you to Dr Bence Radics, Professors Zoltan Hantos and Peter Sly, and the team at University of Szeged, for the supply of the oscillometry equipment, and their exceptional knowledge.

My thanks and love to all my family and friends, in particular my parents Gill and John Cousins, for their kindness and encouragement, and for considerately learning to refrain from asking about how my PhD is going! I am looking forward to having more time to spend in their company in the near future!

Most importantly, the deepest of love and thanks to my wife Ann Louise, and children Samuel and Emily. Their love, patience, support, and sacrifices have been endless. I thank them for putting up with me during this whole process. Words do not do justice to my love and gratitude to them.

Lastly, I am extremely grateful to all the children and their families who participated so generously with their time and enthusiasm, and made this project such a memorable experience, as well as making this thesis possible.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 ICD 10 classifications of preterm birth
Table 1.2 ICD classifications of low birth weight
Table 1.3 Case definitions of infant size for gestational age. 2
Table 1.4 Definitions for Chronic Lung Disease of Prematurity (CLD). 19
Table 1.5 An overview of frequently used spirometry outcomes
Table 1.6 Table outlining basic demographic details of preterm participants with %FEV $_1 \leq 85\%$ at Part
1 visit who did and did not attend Part 254
Table 1.7 Table outlining basic demographic details of preterm participants with %FEV $_1$ >85% at Part
1 visit who did and did not attend Part 254
Table 1.8 Table outlining basic demographic details of term participants with %FEV $_1$ >90% at Part 1
visit who did and did not attend Part 255
Table 2.1 Anthropometric and perinatal characteristics of participants for preterm children with low
lung function (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls
Table 2.2 Respiratory and atopy characteristics and fractional exhaled nitric oxide for preterm
children with low lung function (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls83
Table 2.3 Cardiopulmonary exercise testing results for preterm children with low lung function
(PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls
Table 2.4 Body plethysmography and helium dilution results for preterm children with low lung
function (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls
Table 2.5 Spirometry parameters at baseline and response to exercise and post-exercise
bronchodilator (BD) therapy, for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c)
controls
Table 2.6 Anthropometric and perinatal characteristics of participants for obstructive (POLD) and
non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups, with preterm controls (PT $_c$) for
comparison92
Table 2.7 Respiratory and atopy characteristics and fractional exhaled nitric oxide for obstructive
(POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups, with preterm controls (PT $_{ m c}$)
for comparison93
Table 2.8 Cardiopulmonary exercise testing results for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive
(PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT _c)
Table 2.9 Body plethysmography and helium dilution testing results for obstructive (POLD) and non-
obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c)96
Table 2.10 Spirometry parameters at baseline, and response to exercise and post-exercise
bronchodilator (BD) therapy for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung
disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT _c)98

Table 3.1 Oscillometry resistance results for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term
(T _c) controls at baseline, post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator
Table 3.2 Oscillometry resistance change scores from baseline to post-exercise, and post-exercise to
post-exercise bronchodilator for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c).
Table 3.3 Oscillometry reactance results for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term
(T _c) controls at baseline, post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator
Table 3.4 Oscillometry reactance change scores from baseline to post-exercise, and post-exercise to
post-exercise bronchodilator for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c).
Table 3.5 Oscillometry resistance results for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD)
preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c), for comparison at
baseline, post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator
Table 3.6 Oscillometry resistance change scores from baseline to post-exercise, and post-exercise to
post-exercise bronchodilator for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung
disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT _c)132
Table 3.7 Oscillometry reactance results for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD)
preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c), for comparison at
baseline, post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator
Table 3.8 Oscillometry reactance change scores from baseline to post-exercise, and post-exercise to
post-exercise bronchodilator for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung
disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT _c)135
Table 4.1 Outline of parameters of interest concerning the respiratory cycle
Table 4.2 Parameters under investigation for resistance 151
Table 4.3 Parameters under investigation for reactance 152
Table 4.4 Demographic details of term-born children performing intra-breath oscillometry
Table 4.5 Respiratory parameters of term-born children performing intra-breath oscillometry 155
Table 4.6 Resistance parameters of term-born children performing intra-breath oscillometry 156
Table 4.7 Reactance parameters of term-born children performing intra-breath oscillometry 157
Table 4.8 Interclass correlation coefficient showing agreement levels for resistance and reactance
measurements obtained at 10 Hz between standard and intra-breath oscillometry
Table 4.9 Respiratory parameters across time-points of testing for the children divided by preterm
and lung function status (preterm children with low lung function – PT $_{ m low}$, preterm controls –
PT_c , and term controls – T_c)
Table 4.10 Resistance parameters across time points for the children divided by preterm and lung
function status (preterm children with low lung function – PT_{low} , preterm controls – PT_{c} , and
term control – T_c), during a) inspiration, b) expiration, and c) differences between inspiration
and expiration results, and independent parameters.

Table 4.11 Reactance parameters across time points for the children divided by preterm and lung
function status (preterm children with low lung function – PT_{low} , preterm controls – PT_{c} , and
term control – T_c), during a) inspiration, b) expiration, and c) differences between inspiration
and expiration results, and independent parameters
Table 4.12 Respiratory parameters across time-points of testing for the PT_{low} children divided by
obstructive (POLD) or non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease status
Table 4.13 Resistance parameters across time points for the PT_{low} children divided by obstructive
(POLD) or non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease status during a) inspiration, b) expiration, and
c) differences between inspiration and expiration results, and independent parameters 182
Table 4.14 Reactance parameters across time points for the PT_{low} children divided by obstructive
(POLD) or non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease status during a) inspiration, b) expiration, and
c) differences between inspiration and expiration results, and independent parameters 188
Table 5.1 Numbers in each of the original group defined by lung function (FEV ₁) and obstructive/non-
obstructive (FEV ₁ /FVC) status
Table 5.2 Comparison between obstructive groups using only FEV $_1$ /FVC (as used in RHiNO study) and
re-defined groups when using LLN of TLC from Helium dilution testing – numbers present in
each group
Table 5.3 Numbers in each of the original group defined by lung function (FEV $_{1,}$), and
obstructive/restrictive/mixed disease status (FEV $_1$ /FVC and TLC He)
Table 5.4 Comparison between obstructive groups using only FEV_1/FVC (as used in RHiNO study) and
re-defined groups when using LLN of TLC from body plethysmography – numbers present in
each group
Table 5.5 Numbers in each of the original group defined by lung function (FEV $_{1,}$), and
obstructive/restrictive/mixed disease status (FEV1/FVC and TLC Pleth)
Table 5.6 Comparison between obstructive groups using only FEV $_{\rm 1}/{\rm FVC}$ (as used in RHiNO study) and
re-defined groups when using Johnson et al interpretation – numbers present in each group.
Table 5.7 Comparison between RHiNO classification and re-defined group designations using
Johnson et al interpretation – lung function (continued over page)
Table 5.8 Comparison between old and re-defined group designations using Pellegrino (Helium) et al
interpretation – numbers present in each group
Table 5.9 Comparison between RHiNO classification and re-defined group designations using
Pellegrino (Helium) et al interpretation – lung function (continued over page)
Table 5.10 Comparison between RHiNO classification and re-defined group designations using
Pellegrino (Plethysmography) et al interpretation – numbers present in each group
Table 5.11 Comparison between RHiNO classification and re-defined group designations using
Pollogring (Plothy (magraphy) at al interpretation _ lung function (continued over page) _ 224

Table 5.12 Comparison of lung function data in between obstructive, restrictive and normal/controls
when using RHiNO, Pellegrino, and Johnson methods of classifying lung disease in preterm
children
Table 5.13 Table showing the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive
value for the various methods for identifying obstructive lung disease, with the binary outcome
of reversible (>10% absolute response in %predicted FEV ₁) airways disease as the disease 228
Table 5.14 Receiver operating characteristic curve measures for preterm population using change in
FEV₁≥10% as outcome variable
Table 5.15 ROC curve measures for preterm population using LLN for TLC on body plethysmography
as outcome variable
Table 5.16 Mean results for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV_1 , FVC and FEV_1 /FVC from
MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing, along with Pearson's correlation and its
significance value between methods of testing 234
Table 5.17 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV ₁ , FVC and FEV ₁ /FVC from
MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, for whole
population (n=220)
Table 5.18 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV ₁ , FVC and FEV ₁ /FVC from
MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by lung
function status (preterm with FEV $_1$ \leq 85%, PT $_{low}~$ - n=53, preterm controls, P $_c$ – n=97, term
controls, T _C – n=70)
Table 5.19 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV ₁ , FVC and FEV ₁ /FVC from
MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by sex
(male – n=109, female – n=111)
Table 5.20 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV ₁ , FVC and FEV ₁ /FVC from
MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by age (7
to 8 years – n=20, 9 to 10 years – n=97, 11 to 12 years – n=103) 240
Table 5.21 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV ₁ , FVC and FEV ₁ /FVC from
MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by height
(120 to <150 cm – n=143, 150 to <180 cm – n=77)
Table 5.22 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV_1 , FVC and FEV_1 /FVC from
MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by
preterm or term status (Term – n=70, Preterm – n=150)
Table 5.23 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV ₁ , FVC and FEV ₁ /FVC from
MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by
gestation band (moderately to late preterm – n=75, very preterm – n=48, extremely preterm –
n=27)

Table 5.24 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV_1 , FVC and FEV_1 /FVC from
MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by CLD
status (no CLD – n=112, CLD – n=38)

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Table displaying potential mechanisms underpinning preterm birth (Simmons et al., 2010).
Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder4
Figure 1.2 Mortality rates in preterm births across gestational ages (Office for National Statistics,
2015). Figure available under Open Government Licence v3.0
Figure 1.3 Survival rates to discharge in preterm-born children at different gestation groups, over
2008 – 2015 (Santhakumaran et al., 2018). Abbreviations: NNU – Neonatal Unit; APC – Average
Percent Chance. Figure available under Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 license7
Figure 1.4 Diagram showing the stages and evolution of lung development in-utero (Chakraborty et
al., 2010). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder
Figure 1.5 Demonstration of multi-factorial aetiology of chronic lung disease of prematurity
(Kotecha, 2000). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder
Figure 1.6 Adapted table displaying respiratory characteristics and their unadjusted odds ratios in
children >5 years, stratified by gestation group, from the Respiratory and Neurological
Outcomes of children born Preterm study (Edwards et al., 2016). Figure available under
Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 license26
Figure 1.7 Representations of the A) Flow – volume loop and B) Volume – time curve, annotated to
show various outcome parameters
Figure 1.8 Flow – volume loops showing different characteristics representing different disease types
(Patra, 2012). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder
Figure 1.9 Visual representation of different lung volumes and capacities (Wanger et al., 2005).
Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder
Figure 1.10 Flow diagram outlining RHiNO study as a whole. Part 1 in blue shaded boxes, Part 2 in
green shaded boxes, Part 3 in orange shaded boxes. (Abbreviations: RANOPS – Respiratory and
Neurological Outcomes in children born Preterm Study; ICS – inhaled corticosteroid; LABA –
long-acting beta-2 agonist)
Figure 1.11 Flow diagram showing participant numbers through Part 1 of RHiNO study. (Hart et al.,
2021). Image used with permission under author reuse policy.
Figure 1.12 Flow diagram showing participant numbers through Part 1 of RHiNO study
Figure 1.13 Adapted table showing comparison between responders and non-responders to the
questionnaire of Part 1 of RHiNO study, by preterm or term status.(Hart et al., 2021) Image
used with permission under author reuse policy
Figure 2.1 Effect of year of birth on %predicted FEV_1 in preterm-born children with chronic lung
disease of prematurity (supplemental oxygen at 28 days) – closed circles, compared to term
controls – open circles, with weighting of studies contributing to circle size (Kotecha et al.,
2013). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder

Figure 2.2 % predicted FEV $_1$ at baseline, post-exercise, and following post-exercise reversibility testing
for preterm-born children with chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD – solid line, circles),
without CLD (dashed line, squares) and term controls (dotted line, triangles) (Joshi et al., 2013).
Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder66
Figure 2.3 Participant performing FE_{NO} using the NIOX VERO. Consent obtained from parent for
image and use in published works71
Figure 2.4 Participant performing spirometry using the MasterScreen Body. Consent obtained from
parent for image and use in published works73
Figure 2.5 Participant performing cardiopulmonary exercise testing using the MasterScreen CPX.
Consent obtained from parent for image and use in published works
Figure 2.6 Flow diagram representing patient numbers for repeated measures analysis
Figure 2.7 % predicted FEV1, % predicted FVC and FEV1/FVC at baseline for study group (PT_{low})
compared to preterm (PT _c) and term (T _c) controls89
Figure 2.8 % predicted FEV ₁ , % predicted FVC and FEV ₁ /FVC at baseline for obstructive (POLD, circles)
and non-obstructive (PnOLD, squares) preterm lung disease groups, and preterm controls (PT_c ,
triangles)
Figure 2.9 % predicted FEV ₁ , % predicted FVC and FEV ₁ /FVC at baseline, post-exercise, and following
post-exercise reversibility testing for obstructive (POLD, circles) and non-obstructive (PnOLD,
squares) preterm lung disease groups, with preterm controls (PT _c , triangles) and term controls
(T _c , crosses)
(T _c , crosses)
 (T_c, crosses)

Figure 4.1 Demonstration of appearance of impedance-volume loops, as tracked throughout the
respiratory cycle, with open circles representing inspiration and closed circles representing
expiration (Czövek et al., 2016). End-expiration is seen at 0 L volume, with end-inspiration at
the highest volume. The impedance difference between these two points can be calculated.
Additionally, the area with the loop can also be calculated. Image reproduced with permission
of the rights holder
Figure 4.2: Photograph of oscillometry being performed by study participant. Consent obtained from
parent for image and use in published works
Figure 4.3 Screenshot of the NDAQ software display showing flow and pressure readings over time
(left side of picture), and the impedance over time, with red representing resistance
measurements and blue showing reactance measurements (right side of screen)
Figure 4.4 Screenshot of the NDAQ software displaying same test, however with the initial artefact
removed to obtain flow-pressure and impedance traces with regular respiratory pattern 150
Figure 4.5 Graphs showing the relationship between A) resistance and B) reactance at 10 Hz between
standard oscillometry and intra-breath oscillometry
Figure 4.6 Flow diagram showing where, why and grouping of children excluded from repeated
measures analysis
Figure 4.7 Illustration of impedance at different time points of respiratory cycle (end
expiratory/inspiratory: eE/I; at maximal flow rate of expiration/inspiration: V'maxE/I), with
annotations displaying the mean expiratory and inspiratory impedance, plus their difference,
and the difference between end expiratory and end inspiratory impedance, for a) preterm low
lung function group (PT_{low}); b) preterm controls (PT_c); and c) term controls (T_c) 170
Figure 4.8 Illustration of impedance at different time points of respiratory cycle (end
expiratory/inspiratory: eE/I; at maximal flow rate of expiration/inspiration: V'maxE/I), at
baseline (circle), post-exercise (maroon square) and post-exercise bronchodilator (black
triangle), for a) preterm low lung function group (PT_{low}); b) preterm controls (PT_{c}); and c) term
controls (T _c)
Figure 4.9 Illustration of impedance at different time points of respiratory cycle (end
expiratory/inspiratory: eE/I; at maximal flow rate of expiration/inspiration: V'maxE/I), with
annotations displaying the mean expiratory and inspiratory impedance, plus their difference,
and the difference between end expiratory and end inspiratory impedance, for a) preterm
obstructive (POLD) and b) non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease groups; and c) term controls
for comparison (T _c)
Figure 4.10 Illustration of impedance at different time points of respiratory cycle (end
expiratory/inspiratory: eE/I; at maximal flow rate of expiration/inspiration: V'maxE/I), at
baseline (circle), post-exercise (maroon square) and post-exercise bronchodilator (black
triangle), for a) preterm obstructive (POLD) and b) non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease
groups; and c) term controls for comparison (T _c)191

Figure 4.11 Diagram illustrating the potential changes in airway calibre from end-expiration (eE) to
maximum inspiratory flow (V'maxl), and from end-inspiration (el) to maximum expiratory flow
(V'maxE), that explain the greater increase in resistance from eI:V'maxE compared to
eE:V'maxl
Figure 4.12 a) resistance-volume loops (ARV) and b) resistance-flow loops (ARV') demonstrating
examples of area within the curve for participants with higher (red) and lower (blue) a) ARV
and b) ARV' values
Figure 5.1 Algorithm from Johnson et al for identifying different types of lung disease (Johnson and
Theurer, 2014). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder
Figure 5.2 Algorithm from Pellegrino et al for identifying different types of lung disease (Pellegrino et
al., 2005). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder
Figure 5.3 Scatter plot of change in %FEV $_1$ post-exercise bronchodilator vs FEV $_1$ z-score, grouped by
obstructive /non-obstructive/ restrictive status as classified by Johnson et al methods vs RHiNO
methods
Figure 5.4 Scatter plot of change in %FEV $_1$ post-exercise bronchodilator vs FEV $_1$ z-score, grouped by
obstructive /non-obstructive/ restrictive status as classified by Pellegrino et al methods vs
RHiNO methods
Figure 5.5 Receiver operating characteristic curves for %FEV $_1$ and FEV $_1$ /FVC and their z-scores to
identify bronchodilator responsiveness in the preterm children.
Figure 5.6 Receiver operating characteristic curve for %FVC and its z-score to identify restrictive lung
disease based on total lung capacity at lower limit of normal on body plethysmography testing.
Figure 5.7 Bland-Altman plots comparing MicroLoop and MasterScreen spirometers for FEV $_1$ for a)
raw value, b)%predicted, and c) z-score, including mean bias (solid line) and limits of
agreement (dashed line) , divided by lung function group (preterm with low lung function:
PT_{low} , preterm controls: PT_c and term controls: T_c)
Figure 5.8 Bland-Altman plots comparing MicroLoop and MasterScreen spirometers for FVC for a)
raw value, b)%predicted, and c) z-score, including mean bias (solid line) and limits of
agreement (dashed line), divided by lung function group (preterm with low lung function:
PT_{low} , preterm controls: PT_c and term controls: T_c)
Figure 5.9 Bland-Altman plots comparing MicroLoop and MasterScreen spirometers for FEV $_1$ /FVC for
a) raw value, b)%predicted, and c) z-score, including mean bias (solid line) and limits of
agreement (dashed line), divided by lung function group (preterm with low lung function:
PT_{low} , preterm controls: PT_c and term controls: T_c)
Figure 5.10 Bland-Altman plots comparing MicroLoop and MasterScreen spirometers for $FEF_{25-75\%}$
for a) raw value, b)%predicted, and c) z-score, including mean bias (solid line) and limits of
for a) raw value, b)%predicted, and c) z-score, including mean bias (solid line) and limits of agreement (dashed line), divided by lung function group (preterm with low lung function:

ΧХ

ABBREVIATIONS

%FEF _{25-75%}	Percent predicted FEF25-75%
%FEV ₁	Percent predicted FEV1
%FVC	Percent predicted FVC
ADHD	Attention deficit - hyperactivity disorder
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ARV/AXV	Area within resistance/reactance-volume loop
ARV'/AXV'	Area within resistance/reactance-flow loop
ASD	Autistic spectrum disorder
Ax	Area under reactance curve
BMI	Body mass index
BPD	Bronchopulmonary dysplasia
C	Compliance
CI	Confidence interval
CLD	Chronic lung disease of prematurity
CPET	Cardiopulmonary exercise testing
EIB	Exercise-induced bronchoconstriction
ELBW	Extremely low birth weight
F _{br}	Breathing frequency/respiratory rate
Fdep	Frequency dependence of resistance
FEF _{25-75%}	Forced expiratory flow between 25 - 75% of FVC
FEV ₁	Forced expiration in 1 second
FRC	Functional residual volume
FRC(He)/(pleth)	FRC measured by helium dilution/body plethysmography
<i>f</i> Res	Resonant frequency
FVC	Forced vital capacity
ICS	Inhaled corticosteroid
IUGR	Intra-uterine growth restriction
LBW	Low birth weight
LGA	Large for gestational age
MVV	Maximal voluntary ventilation
NEC	Necrotising enterocolitis
NGA	Normal for gestational age
NIPPV	Non-invasive positive pressure ventilation
NNRD	National Neonatal Research Database
Office of National	ONS
Statistics	0103
PDA	Patent ductus arteriosus
PEFR	Peak expiratory flow rate
PHVD	Post-haemorrhagic ventricular dilatation
PnOLD	Preterm-associated non-obstructive lung disease
POLD	Preterm-associated obstructive lung disease
PPROM	Preterm premature rupture of membranes

PTc	Preterm control
PT _{low}	Preterm group with low lung function
PVL	Periventricular leukomalacia
R_{el}/R_{eE}	End inspiratory/expiratory resistance
X _{el} /X _{eE}	End inspiratory/expiratory reactance
R _{meanl/E}	Mean inspiratory/expiratory resistance
X _{meanl/E}	Mean inspiratory/expiratory reactance
R _{V'maxI/E}	Resistance at maximal inspiratory/expiratory flow
X _{V'maxI/E}	Reactance at maximal inspiratory/expiratory flow
RDS	Respiratory distress syndrome
RER	Respiratory exchange ratio
ROP	Retinopathy of prematurity
Rrs	Respiratory system resistance
RV	Residual volume
RV _(He) /(pleth)	RV measured by helium dilution/body plethysmography
SD	Standard deviation
SGA	Small for gestational age
T _c	Term control
TLC	Total lung capacity
TLC _(He) /(pleth)	TLC measured by helium dilution/body plethysmography
TV	Tidal volume
V	Volume
V'	Flow
^V CO ₂	Peak carbon dioxide production
ΫE	Minute ventilation
VLBW	Very low birth weight
[.] VO ₂	Peak oxygen uptake
Xrs	Respiratory system reactance
ΔR_{e}	Expiratory to inspiratory difference in end of breath cycle resistance
ΔX_{e}	Expiratory to inspiratory difference in end of breath cycle reactance
$\Delta R_{V'max}$	Expiratory to inspiratory difference in resistance at maximal flow
$\Delta X_{V'max}$	Expiratory to inspiratory difference in reactance at maximal flow
$\Delta R_{I/E}$	Range of maximum to minimum resistance in inspiration/expiration
ΔX _{I/E}	Range of maximum to minimum reactance in inspiration/expiration
ΔR_{mean}	Expiratory to inspiratory difference in mean resistance
ΔX_{mean}	Expiratory to inspiratory difference in mean reactance

1 INTRODUCTION

In this introduction my aim is to give an overview of preterm birth, respiratory morbidity associated with preterm birth, assess the current knowledge regarding the longer-term respiratory outcomes of preterm birth, and the different modalities of assessing respiratory function in children.

1.1 Preterm birth – short- and long-term respiratory morbidity

1.1.1 Definition and classification of preterm birth

Preterm birth is defined by the World Health Organisation as birth before 37 completed weeks of gestation (World Health Organisation, 2018, February 19). It can be divided into sub-categories depending on the exact gestation (World Health Organisation, 2019), as shown in Table 1.1 below.

Table 1.1 ICD 10 classifications of preterm birth.

Gestation	Definition
< 28 weeks of gestation	Extremely preterm
28 to < 32 weeks of gestation	Very preterm
32 to <37 weeks of gestation	Moderate to late preterm

Infants can also be categorised by birth weight (World Health Organisation, 2019), as per Table 1.2 below.

Table 1.2	ICD class	sifications	of low	birth	weight.
-----------	-----------	-------------	--------	-------	---------

Birth weight	Definition
< 1000g	Extremely low birth weight (ELBW)
1000 to < 1500g	Very low birth weight (VLBW)
1500 to < 2500g	Low birth weight (LBW)

Additionally all infants can be classified by birthweight in relation to the gestational age, as per Table 1.3 (World Health Organization, 1995). Preterm infants can fall into any category of both the birth weight and relative size definition, i.e. it is possible for an infant born, for example, very low birth weight to be small, normal or large for gestational age. Some of those born small for gestational age are considered to have

intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR), i.e. have an underlying pathological reason for their size (Wollmann, 1998). Unfortunately it is not always possible to separate those small for gestational age infants who have IUGR and so these terms are often used interchangeably (Suhag and Berghella, 2013).

Table 1.3 Case definitions of infant size for gestational age.

Centile for birth weight based on gestation	Definition
<10 th centile	Small for gestational age (SGA)
10 th to 90 th centile	Appropriate for gestational age (AGA)
>90 th centile	Large for gestational age (LGA)

All of the above classifications are important to consider as outcomes differ between each (Gill et al., 2013).

Further useful definitions of note include the perinatal period (from 22 weeks completed gestation until 7 completed days following birth) and the neonatal period (from birth up to 28 completed days after birth) (World Health Organisation, 2019). In the event of a death in the neonatal period, this can be classed as early (within the first 7 days after birth) or late (after 7 days and up to 8 completed days after birth) (World Health Organisation, 2019).

1.1.2 Epidemiology of preterm birth

Preterm birth is a common problem, with increasing rates over time, from 9.6% of all live births of all live births in 2005 (Beck et al., 2010) to 11.1% of all live births in 2010 (Blencowe et al., 2012). There are various reasons behind this increase, including increasing maternal age, increased intervention due to impact of chronic diseases on pregnancy, and increase in multiple pregnancies as a result of infertility treatment (Nour, 2012). Additionally better identification of foetuses with growth restriction leads to increased medical intervention.

There are geographical differences in the preterm birth rate, mainly due to the socioeconomic status of a country; rates of preterm birth in 2012 were approximately 12% in low income countries, and 9% in higher-income countries (Blencowe et al.,

2012). Asia and sub-Saharan Africa account for approximately 80% of all preterm births, while Europe has the lowest rates of preterm birth (8.7%) (Chawanpaiboon et al., 2019). The majority of these preterm births, approximately 85%, occur at the moderate – late preterm stage, with ~4% at the extremely preterm stage (Chawanpaiboon et al., 2019).

Rates of preterm birth and survival are affected by ethnicity. Data from the 2013 Office of National Statistics (ONS) birth cohort show preterm birth rates of 10.6% in the Black Caribbean population, 8.1% in the Black African population, and 8% in the Bangladeshi population compared to 7.5-7.6% in the White British, Indian and Pakistani populations (Office for National Statistics, 2013).

1.1.3 Causes of preterm birth

The reasons behind the occurrence of preterm birth are extremely varied. Preterm birth can be broadly categorised as occurring either spontaneously, due to onset of labour or preterm premature rupture of membranes (PPROM, where rupture of membranes occurs before onset of labour at <37 weeks' gestation) which occurs in 3% of pregnancies (Medina and Hill, 2006), or following medical intervention in the form of labour induction or Caesarean section. The former comprises approximately 70% of cases in and the latter, which can result from maternal, foetal or combined reasons, makes up the remaining 30% (Goldenberg et al., 2008). PPROM is defined as the spontaneous rupture of the membranes before 37 weeks' completed gestation and prior to established labour (NICE 2015 Preterm Labour and Birth). While overall rates of preterm birth have been increasing, rates of spontaneous preterm labour have actually been on the decrease, with increasing rates of medically-indicated preterm birth accounting for the overall increase (Ananth et al., 2005).

There are several known pathways that leads to spontaneous preterm birth, and these can occur at differing time points during pregnancy. These pathways, and their mechanistic effects, from Simmons et al (Simmons et al., 2010), are shown in Figure 1.1.

Figure 1.1 Table displaying potential mechanisms underpinning preterm birth (Simmons et al., 2010). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.

Pathway	Examples	Mechanistic Effectors	Gestational Age When Predominant
Infection or inflammation	Intrauterine lower genital tract systemic	Proinflammatory cytokine/ prostaglandin cascade matrix metalloproteinases	Early preterm birth (24-32 weeks)
Decidual hemorrhage	Thrombophilias, placental abruption autoantibody syndromes	Thrombin matrix metalloproteinases	Early or late preterm birth
Maternal/fetal hypothalamic- pituitary-adrenal activation	Stress	Maternal/fetal hypothalamic- pituitary-adrenal activation placental corticotropin- releasing hormone estrogens immune modulation	Late preterm birth (32-36 weeks)
Pathologic uterine overdistension	Multifetal gestation polyhydramnios	Expression of gap junctions protein prostaglandins oxytocin receptors	Late preterm birth
Cervical	Cervical insufficiency	Congenital disorders in-utero diethylstilbestrol exposure surgical treatment of cervical dysplasia traumatic damage infection	Very early and early preterm birth

There are many known risk factors that can contribute to one or more of these pathways, which may result in spontaneous labour or a medical intervention to deliver the infant early. Known risk factor include previous spontaneous preterm birth, genetic predisposition, extremes of maternal age, black race, uterine abnormalities, underlying medical problems (i.e. hypertension, pre-existing type I diabetes), multiple pregnancy, bleeding in early pregnancy, infection, shorter times between pregnancies, smoking, and foetal congenital abnormalities or growth restriction (Robinson, 2020).

Interventions to prevent or postpone preterm labour are aimed at reducing the risk factors or managing the mechanistic pathway(s). Some risk factors obviously cannot be adjusted (i.e. race, genetic susceptibility etc). Additionally a review of a number of potential modifiable factors either pre- or during pregnancy only noted two interventions that reduced preterm labour (Barros et al., 2010). These were smoking cessation and progesterone administered to women at higher risk of preterm birth. Others, such as screening and treating asymptomatic bacteria, increasing gap between pregnancies, various supplementations, and cervical cerclage for cervical incompetency, were not observed to have any effect on preterm birth.

Medications are sometimes used in the event of preterm labour, including tocolytic agents such as nifedipine (Songthamwat et al., 2018). The aim of this intervention is

to temporarily prevent the contractions and delay the preterm labour in order to administer antenatal steroids (Medley et al., 2018), a proven benefit to outcomes of preterm children that is covered later in this introduction.

1.1.4 Overview of preterm morbidity and mortality

1.1.4.1 Mortality

Preterm birth is associated with high mortality especially at the extremes of gestation. In 2015 there were 2.7 million deaths worldwide in the neonatal period, with over 944,000 (35%) of these attributed to preterm birth. Additionally, another 111,000 deaths occurring after the age of 1 month were classified with preterm birth as the cause (Liu et al., 2016). As such this makes preterm birth the leading cause of mortality in children under 5 years of age, constituting almost 16% of all reported deaths of under-5s (Liu et al., 2016).

Survival is dependent on gestation. Figure 1.2 from the ONS shows the number of preterm births and the percentage that die in infancy for each gestation from 2013 (Office for National Statistics, 2015). This was collated from all births and infant deaths from England and Wales linked to birth notifications and death registrations. Limitations of this data is a lack of cause of death; however, it clearly demonstrates the effect of gestation on survival.



Figure 1.2 Mortality rates in preterm births across gestational ages (Office for National Statistics, 2015). Figure available under Open Government Licence v3.0.

The EPICure group assessed the outcomes of children born at less than 26 weeks' gestation born in 1995 (EPICure) across the UK and Republic of Ireland, and at less than 27 weeks' gestation in 2006 (EPICure 2) across maternity centres in England. Survival rates for infants born at 23 weeks' gestation in the 2006 cohort was 19% and this figure was up to 77% for those infants born at 26 weeks' gestation. There was an improvement in infant survival-to-discharge rates between the 2 time periods from 40% in 1995 to 53% in 2006 for all babies born between 22 and 25 weeks' gestation, suggestive of improved clinical care (Costeloe et al., 2012). Santhakumaran and colleagues used data from the National Neonatal Research Database (NNRD) to assess trends in survival in very preterm infants between 2008 and 2014. The overall survival to discharge rate across this time period for infants born at 23 weeks' gestation was 36% and at 26 weeks gestation was 83%, both higher than reported by EPICure. By 31 weeks of completed gestation, survival to discharge was 98%. Figure 1.3 shows the changes in survival rates across the studied time periods; the greatest improvements in survival were in the lower gestation groups (Santhakumaran et al., 2018). One caveat, acknowledged by the authors, is the data did not include deaths occurring before admission to neonatal units (e.g. on maternity wards), with 36% of the deaths recorded by the ONS over the same time period not captured by the NNRD.

Figure 1.3 Survival rates to discharge in preterm-born children at different gestation groups, over 2008 – 2015 (Santhakumaran et al., 2018). Abbreviations: NNU – Neonatal Unit; APC – Average Percent Chance. Figure available under Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 license.



Additional analysis compared survival rates of different groups, for example by sex, SGA, multiplicity of pregnancy, administration of antenatal steroids, mode of delivery and maternal age. There were significantly lower rates of survival to discharge for boys, SGA infants, following vaginal delivery, infants of lower maternal age and where antenatal steroids were not given (Santhakumaran et al., 2018).

Ethnicity is also a factor in mortality rate. In the UK, rates of neonatal deaths are highest in the Pakistani population, at 26.5 per 1,000 live births, followed by 20.8 in the Black Caribbean population, 17.7 in the Black African population and 15.3 in the Bangladeshi population, compared to 14.2 and 11.8 per 1,000 live births in the White British and Indian populations respectively (Office for National Statistics, 2013).

1.1.4.2 Morbidity

Preterm birth is also associated with significant morbidity, both short and long term, affecting all systems, however the respiratory system is particularly widely affected. Respiratory Distress Syndrome (RDS) is a disease largely resulting from deficiency of the lipoprotein surfactant, which is produced by type II pneumocytes in the lung. It acts on the air-liquid interface of the alveolar walls, reducing surface tension in the alveoli. Deficiency of this molecule, as occurs in preterm birth, results in atelectasis, and lung collapse or air leak, and ultimately impacts on gas exchange and results in respiratory failure. It manifests clinically with respiratory distress, hypoxia and has a typical appearance on chest radiograph (Gallacher et al., 2016).

Preterm infants who require persistent respiratory support and oxygen therapy are at risk of chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD), also known as bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD). The multiple definitions will be covered in section 1.3.2 but is usually diagnosed by persistent supplemental oxygen requirement at set time points (either 28 days of life or 36 weeks postmenstrual age, depending on gestation at birth) (Jobe, 1999). Chronic lung disease is an important diagnosis as it is associated with increased respiratory symptoms through infancy and childhood.

Respiratory morbidity will be covered in greater detail later in the chapter (section 1.4).

Adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes are also very common. Intraventricular haemorrhage (IVH) is a bleed within the brain, normally originating from the germinal matrix, an area of increased vascularity in the preterm child. It is especially prominent in infants below 31 weeks' gestation, and bleeds often result from cardiovascular instability and fluctuations in blood pressure (another feature of the preterm infant) resulting in altered cerebral perfusion pressures. Intraparenchymal bleeds range from grade I (local haemorrhage at the site of the germinal matrix) to IV (associated with periventricular infarction secondary to bleed). Following IVH, infants are at risk of either post-haemorrhagic ventricular dilatation (PHVD), usually as a result of CSF reabsorption abnormalities following a bleed, and/or periventricular leukomalacia (PVL) where cystic formation occurs in the white matter around the ventricles. The latter in particular is associated with longer term abnormalities such as cerebral palsy.

Cognitive impairment and learning disability, resulting in lower school attainment is also more likely as a result of preterm birth. Neuropsychiatric conditions such as attention deficit - hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Franz et al., 2018) or autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) (Johnson et al., 2011) are increased in children born preterm.

Sepsis is another extremely common problem in preterm-born infants; a combination of immature immunity and invasive interventions put the preterm infant at high risk of bacterial and fungal sepsis (Berardi et al., 2019, Stoll et al., 2002).

The immature gut can suffer complications. Spontaneous gastrointestinal perforation is one such problem, but of more severe consequence is the development of necrotising enterocolitis (NEC), a multifactorial gut inflammatory process, causing gut necrosis along with a septic picture. This condition has a high mortality rate (approx. 15-20% of cases) (Christensen et al., 2010) and can require surgical intervention in severe cases. Where surgical intervention is required, further complications can occur resulting in long-term feeding issues, stoma care or short gut syndrome in cases of small bowel resection.

Therapies crucial to survival of the neonate can also cause problems, for instance, oxygen toxicity can result in retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), a phenomenon of abnormal vascularisation of the retina, with resulting visual loss a potential sequelae (Hartnett and Lane, 2013).

Essentially all organs and systems can be affected by preterm birth, its complications and management. All these factors can interact to affect a preterm-born infant's overall short and long-term outcomes. The range of morbidity experienced by an infant is important to consider; those with a greater burden of disease is often a reflection of a sicker infant, and this may be associated with a poorer long-term outcome.

1.2 Respiratory system and preterm birth

As discussed in the previous section, respiratory morbidity is an extremely common outcome of being born preterm. As survival at lower gestations continues to improve, a greater number of infants are potentially at risk of longer-term problems. In order to understand the potential aetiology behind long term respiratory problems, an understanding of the development and adaptation of the respiratory system is important, as well as the pathophysiology of lung disease in the neonatal period and beyond.

1.2.1 Lung development in utero

Understanding the development of the lungs in-utero is important for understanding the consequences of preterm birth on the lungs. The gestational timing of various stages of development means that different pathology or severity of pathology occurs after birth at different gestations. There are five well-defined embryological stages in lung development, as demonstrated by Figure 1.4 (Chakraborty et al., 2010).

The *embryonic* stage of lung development starts at approximately 3 weeks of gestation. The lung bud originates from the primitive foregut, with epithelial cells forming the early trachea by invading surrounding mesenchyme. Normal development of the lung requires both epithelial and mesenchymal cells; if the mesenchyme is completely destroyed, the lung will not undergo the necessary divisions (Jeffery, 1998). The embryonic stage continues with the initial divisions into the main bronchi and subsequently lobar and segmental bronchi, with the sixth aortic arches the origin of the pulmonary arteries that follow the airways (Kotecha, 2000).

The *pseudoglandular* stage, so called due to the epithelial-lined, blind-ended air spaces being fully surrounded by mesenchyme and taking on a glandular appearance, starts from approximately 7 weeks of gestation and continues up to 17 weeks. During this stage the bronchi continue rapid segmentation, with each bronchial bud forming 2 new branches with each division. By 14 weeks, approximately 70% of divisions have taken place and by the end of this stage, all the branches will have formed, so

although the lungs continue to develop, the pattern of branching remains unchanged beyond this point (Jeffery, 1998).



Figure 1.4 Diagram showing the stages and evolution of lung development in-utero (Chakraborty et al., 2010). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.

The following *canalicular* stage is a crucial time in lung development, starting from 17 weeks and continuing through to 27 weeks gestation. During this stage the primary acinar structures (respiratory bronchioles, alveolar ducts, early alveoli) form. It is during this stage when the alveolar-capillary interface starts to develop with type I pneumocyte formation, which will ultimately allow for gas exchange to take place. Additionally, this is the time when type II pneumocytes start to differentiate, which will subsequently be responsible for surfactant production. It is during this stage of lung development when viability of the foetus is possible; prior to this stage, without the ability to exchange gas, survival is not currently a possibility.

From 27 through to 36 weeks, the lung development is in the *saccular* stage. During this period the lungs are improving their gas exchange capabilities, with an increase in surface area and thinning of airway walls arising from dilatation of the distal airways into saccules (Joshi and Kotecha, 2007). Additionally, there is an increase in

lamellar bodies, the secretory organelles of the type II pneumocyte responsible for surfactant release (Kotecha, 2000).

The final stage of lung development is the *alveolar* stage, commencing at 36 weeks gestation. This is the period when the alveoli mature and vastly increase their numbers. At birth there are approximately 20 to 50 million alveolar (Joshi and Kotecha, 2007); this number increases to 300 to 480 million in a healthy adult (Levitzky, 2018). Originally thought to continue until the age of 2 years, it is now considered to continue until an older age, although the method of septation and forming new alveoli is likely a different process to that which occurs in the initial alveolar stage (Schittny, 2017). This continuation of alveolar development is important, as pathology of the lungs sustained during the perinatal period in preterm-born children may mean that catch-up lung growth will continue for a longer period.

The final macroscopic structure of the normal lung is a tracheobronchial tree with up to 23 generations of branching. The proximal lung contains the conducting airways made up of trachea, bronchi, bronchioles and terminal bronchioles, with the distal lung comprising respiratory bronchioles, alveolar ducts and alveolar sacs. This area is responsible for gas exchange. Each respiratory bronchiole normally separates into 100 alveolar ducts and 2,000 alveoli in healthy adult (Levitzky, 2018).

Microscopically the alveolar surface is comprised of 95% predominantly type I pneumocytes, a type of squamous epithelial cell. Their basement membranes are fused with the basement membranes of the capillaries' endothelial cells, allowing gas exchange across the 0.5 microm barrier. In the healthy adult there is between 50 - 100 square metres of alveolar-capillary interface in the lung (West, 2015). The remaining 5% of the alveolar surface is comprised of the type II pneumocytes, responsible for producing the surfactant.

Another important feature of in-utero lung development is the foetal lung fluid which is produced by the epithelial cells of the distal lungs. It is responsible for distension of the airways, promoting lung growth. The lung fluid is distinct entity from amniotic fluid. The volume of foetal lung fluid is kept in balance by intermittent foetal

12

breathing movements expelling the lung fluid, against periods of apnoea where a closed glottis produces high resistance in the proximal airways and containment of the fluid, with subsequent distension of the lungs (Hooper and Harding, 1995).

1.3 Respiratory disease in preterm-born children

There are two main, conditions that predominantly affect preterm born neonates, respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) and chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD). RDS is a condition related to surfactant deficiency as a result of preterm birth, and while there is often an overlap of children who are affected by both and management of RDS may be contributary, CLD is a complex multifactorial disease process that has evolved with changes in how preterm-born infants are managed. CLD is of clinical importance, partly due to its impact later lung health is CLD, as many studies use this diagnosis as a marker potentially worse longer-term outcomes in follow-up studies. Below is a brief summary of both conditions before considering some of the longer-term respiratory outcomes.

1.3.1 Respiratory distress syndrome

The most common respiratory disorder affecting preterm-born neonates is a condition called Respiratory Distress Syndrome (RDS), traditionally known as Hyaline Membrane Disease (HMD) due to the histological appearance of infant lungs following autopsy (Blystad, 1951). This is a disease which affects predominantly preterm neonates as a result of pulmonary surfactant deficiency.

1.3.1.1 Pathophysiology of RDS

Surfactant, a complex molecule comprised of lipids and proteins and produced by type II pneumocytes in the lung epithelium, is responsible for lowering surface tension in the lungs. Type II pneumocytes begin to differentiate from the acinar epithelium during the canalicular phase of lung embryology at 22-24 weeks gestation, which is when surfactant can first be found in the lung surface (Pickerd and Kotecha, 2009). However, it is not until between 32-36 weeks gestation when an accelerated period of maturation of the type II pneumocytes occurs, with subsequent increase in surfactant levels, readying the lungs for delivery at term (Kotecha, 2000). For example, a healthy infant born at full term (\geq 37 weeks gestational age) is estimated to have approximately 100mg/kg of endogenous surfactant. Conversely a preterm infant may have a surfactant pool of less than 10% of a term baby's (Jobe, 2006).
Without adequate levels of surfactant, and because resultant lung compliance is low, the alveoli are prone to collapse. However due to LaPlace's law, which interpreted clinically means that the pressure needed to overcome the surface tension is greater in alveoli with smaller radii, smaller airspaces are more liable to this collapse, giving a mixture of atelectasis and resulting hyperexpansion of the larger alveoli. This affects oxygenation and ventilation with intrapulmonary shunting leading hypoxaemia and hypercapnia. Other features include acidosis, and extrapulmonary shunt (through the foramen ovale and ductus arteriosus) increasing due to pulmonary vasoconstriction. Endogenous surfactant production decreases and within the airspaces a layer of fibrin and necrotic cells form, known as the hyaline membranes. Again, this further limits gas exchange. In the most severe cases, without treatment, only the more proximal airways remain aerated as a result of ongoing collapse, oedema, bleeds and membrane formation (Locci G, 2014).

1.3.1.2 Clinical features of RDS

The clinical presentation of RDS varies depending on severity. Signs of respiratory distress are present, and blood investigations can reveal hypoxaemia and hypercapnia on blood gas analysis, or dilutional hyponatraemia from fluid retention on electrolyte analysis. Reticulogranular infiltration (also known as 'ground glass appearance') and air bronchograms (from the contrast of air in the bronchioles against consolidated alveoli) are seen on plain chest radiograph.

The typical clinical course in an untreated infant is of worsening disease over the first 48 - 72 hours. Following this the endogenous surfactant pool increases as a result of increased production and the recycling process. The surfactant, once produced, can be recycled with up to 90% re-entering the lamellar bodies and later being resecreted. This leads to a decrease in alveolar surface tension and better lung aeration resulting in more efficient gas exchange which in turn improves the metabolic environment of the infant.

1.3.1.3 Complications of RDS

Acute complications of RDS include pneumothorax or pneumomediastinum, which can be spontaneous as a result of hyperexpansion of alveoli or secondary to ventilator support. Intraventricular haemorrhage can result from the vascular instability associated with RDS. Pulmonary interstitial emphysema, which occurs when gas escapes from the alveoli into the perivascular spaces, is a complication normally associated with treatment of RDS (i.e. positive pressure ventilation), and is associated with increased mortality, as well as being an additional risk factor for the above complications (Hart et al., 1983).

1.3.1.4 Management of RDS

The management, or prevention, of RDS begins with antenatal care, aimed at reducing likelihood of preterm birth and/or improving lung maturity in anticipation of preterm birth. Once an infant is born, their care focuses on both treating the respiratory disease and optimising their general care.

1.3.1.4.1 Antenatal care

Prevention of preterm birth, as discussed previously, is obviously the best way to stop the development of diseases associated with preterm birth. However, in those cases where preterm birth is threatened, it is commonplace to give mothers injections of corticosteroids. These act by speeding up type II pneumocyte maturation which in turn increases surfactant production and antioxidant enzyme induction. The introduction of this treatment revolutionised the subsequent postnatal prognosis. The most current Cochrane review by Roberts et al in 2017 showed risk ratios of 0.69 (95% CIs 0.59 to 0.81) for neonatal death and 0.66 (95% CIs 0.56 to 0.77) for RDS in the infants of mothers who received at antenatal steroid versus placebo across 30 trials, however there was no apparent benefit in CLD rates with a risk ratio of 0.86 (95% CIs 0.42 to 1.79) (Roberts et al., 2017). This should be interpretated with some caution as improved survival may result in increase in subsequent CLD cases.

1.3.1.4.2 Postnatal care

Changes in respiratory management have revolutionised neonatal care with improving ventilation strategies to minimise lung damage while supporting the infant with RDS, and surfactant administration markedly improving survival.

1.3.1.4.2.1 Medication

Exogenous surfactant replacement therapy, administered directly into infant lungs, is used for prophylactically in preterm infants, and as a treatment after RDS

symptoms develop. Following its introduction a decrease in infant mortality rate was seen from 51% to 31% (CEMSG 1988), with animal-based surfactants showing better efficacy than synthetic products (Halliday, 2008), and use prophylactically rather than treating once symptoms develop is recommended (Suresh and Soll, 2005). Newer techniques for administering surfactant, such as less invasive surfactant administration (LISA; using a thin catheter inserted into the trachea to deliver the surfactant), show promise in potentially avoiding longer-term complications of prolonged ventilation including CLD (Isayama et al., 2016). Additionally, caffeine, used as a respiratory stimulant for apnoeas of prematurity, has been reported to reduce the rates of BPD, particularly when used early (first 3 days of life). This is possibly due to an anti-inflammatory effect (Abdel-Hady et al., 2015).

1.3.1.4.2.2 Respiratory support

Ventilation of newborn infants has been pivotal for improving outcomes of infants with RDS, however it comes at a potential cost with various types of lung inury due to baro- or volu-trauma that are associated with mechanical ventilation and have long term impact on surviving infants. The aim of ventilation beyond survival is to reduce potential secondary inflammation and in turn reduce CLD rates. Strategies that have shown potential in this regard include using volume rather than pressure based ventilation modes for invasive ventilation (Wheeler et al., 2011), but non-invasive ventilation (Bi-level Positive Airway Pressure or BiPAP, Continuous Positive Airway Pressure or CPAP, and High Flow Nasal Cannula or HFNC), is now an alternative, with systematic reviews showing potential for reduction of CLD using these modalities (Schmölzer et al., 2013).

Another systematic review assessed the use of non-invasive positive pressure ventilation (NIPPV) versus nCPAP in preterm infants with RDS. 3 studies were identified with a total of 180 infants in each group. The primary outcome of the review was treatment failure within 72 hours requiring invasive support; this showed a risk ratio of 0.6 in favour of NIPPV over nCPAP. However, for longer term outcomes the rates of BPD and death were not significantly different (Meneses et al., 2012, Wilkinson et al., 2016). Judicious use of oxygen is also important due to potential

oxidative stress that could contribute to CLD (Perrone et al., 2012), or indeed longerterm long damage (Filippone et al., 2012).

1.3.2 Chronic lung disease

1.3.2.1 Definitions of CLD

Chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD) is a polymorphous disease state, with the definition, and the underlying pathophysiology, changing over time. The condition was originally defined by paediatric radiologist Dr William Northway, along with colleagues in paediatrics and pathology (Drs Rosan and Porter) in 1967, and named bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD). It was identified as a typical pattern seen on chest radiographs, along with corresponding clinical and pathologic features, in preterm infants with hyaline membrane disease (the alternative name for RDS), and treated with oxygen therapy and mechanical ventilation (Northway et al., 1967). The original definition was that of infants requiring ongoing oxygen therapy at 28 days/1 month of life.

Since the original description was published, the disease, both definition and aetiology, has evolved. As a result of advances in perinatal management, a different population of preterm infants (i.e., younger gestations) are affected, with a different underlying disease process causing CLD. As such the definition and diagnosis have adapted to account for the change in population.

The first evolution was following the realisation that in younger gestation infants surviving as a result of improved perinatal care, a persistent oxygen requirement at 28 days did not necessarily reflect chronic disease but just immaturity of the lungs. As such a reclassification was suggested to include an oxygen requirement at 36 weeks' postmenstrual age (Shennan et al., 1988).

A further adaptation of the definition came from a National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute working group in 2000 aimed to grade CLD on the basis of severity, with the view that the gestation of birth affected when a diagnosis of CLD could be made (Jobe and Bancalari, 2001). Table 1.4 summarises this definition.

Gestational age	< 32 weeks	≥ 32 weeks		
Time-point of	36 weeks PMA or discharge	> 28 days but < 56 days postnatal age or		
assessment (ToA)	to home*	discharge to home*		
Treatment with oxygen > 21% for at least 28 days plus				
Mild CLD	Breathing room air at ToA	Breathing room air at 56 days postnatal		
		age or discharge home*		
Moderate CLD	Need for < 30% oxygen at	Need for < 30% oxygen at 56 days		
	ТоА	postnatal age or discharge home*		
Severe CLD	Need for ≥ 30% oxygen	Need for ≥ 30% oxygen and/or positive		
	and/or positive pressure at	pressure at 56 days postnatal age or		
	ТоА	discharge home*		

Table 1.4 Definitions for Chronic Lung Disease of Prematurity (CLD).

Most recently, another consensus group have suggested a further evolution of the definition which includes use of non-invasive ventilation modalities into the diagnosis, as well as suggesting a definitive test that could be performed to aid the diagnosis, which could ensure cross-centre comparisons are like-for-like.

The importance of having an appropriate definition is in trying to stratify preterm infants for risk of long-term disease, as well as allowing for a measure of outcomes that is consistent across units.

1.3.2.2 Pathophysiology of CLD

The original disease as described by Northway et al, also called 'old BPD', was characterised clinically with several stages of disease progression, from initial respiratory distress syndrome through pulmonary oedema and later progressive chronic lung disease. Associated radiological changes included the initial typical changes associated with RDS developing into areas of cystic lesions and infiltrates along with hyperinflation. Histopathologically these infants showed altered lung structure with interstitial and interalveolar fibrosis, along with bronchiolar smooth muscle hypertrophy, and change in type I epithelial cells into type II pneumocytes (Northway et al., 1967). The cause of these changes was lung injury (barotrauma) from mechanical ventilation and oxygen toxicity on a base of respiratory failure in immature lungs.

With improvements in perinatal care, and greater number of infants surviving at lower gestations with less intensive ventilation and oxygen therapies required, there

has been a change in the aetiology of the disease, termed 'new BPD'. This disease process is manifested pathologically with larger but fewer alveoli, and less fibrosis and inflammatory changes than 'old BPD'. This new pathology is linked to an early interruption of lung development during the saccular period, as a result of infants surviving at younger gestations as a result of interventions such as antenatal steroid administration to mothers at risk of preterm delivery and use of surfactant postnatally (Jobe, 1999).

1.3.2.3 Epidemiology of CLD

The infants at risk of developing CLD has evolved over time with the change in aetiology. The infants who were initially described in Northway's landmark paper were born at higher weights, with over 25% of survivors >1500g developing stage IV BPD (as per original diagnostic criteria) (Northway, 1990).

The current demographics of affected infants has changed. Developing CLD is now uncommon in infants born at >1500g (Eber and Zach, 2001). Instead the 'new' disease is primarily a problem of extremely preterm and VLBW infants. The outcomes from 2 cohorts of extremely preterm infants born at 2 time periods showed, out of 312 surviving infants born before 26 weeks' gestation in 1995 and 1041 surviving infants born before 27 weeks' gestation in 2006, CLD rates (supplemental oxygen at 36 weeks' PMA) were 73.6 % and 71.8% respectively (Costeloe et al., 2000, Costeloe et al., 2012).

More broadly, a study across multiple US sites within their Neonatal Research Network between 1993 and 2012 looking at 25,000 surviving infants born at <29 weeks' gestation and <1500g, identified an increasing trend in CLD (at 36 weeks' PMA) from 32% in 1993 to 47% in 2012. During this period overall survival rates had increased from 70 to 79%, with the greatest improvements in survival seen in those born at <26 weeks' gestation. The authors feel this improved survival, along with more active resuscitation of infants at the extremes of gestation along with the intensive care they require, is responsible for this increasing CLD rate (Stoll et al., 2015).

1.3.2.4 Causes of CLD

The aetiology of CLD is complicated due to being multifactorial, with different things contributed in different infants. Figure 1.5 shows the interaction of factors that can lead to the development of CLD (Kotecha, 2000).

Figure 1.5 Demonstration of multi-factorial aetiology of chronic lung disease of prematurity (Kotecha, 2000). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.



As is clear from the figure, both pre- and post-natal influences can be responsible for CLD. What is less clear is the direct link between CLD and later lung disease in preterm-born children. As will be described below, preterm-born children have greater respiratory morbidity through childhood and beyond, and while those with a CLD diagnosis are particularly affected, disease is not limited to these individuals.

1.4 *Respiratory outcomes*

Aside from the respiratory complications that can occur in the neonatal period, those preterm infants who survive the neonatal period are at risk of longer-term respiratory disease. Respiratory health outcomes following preterm birth have been assessed in a manner of ways, including symptomology, health care use/access, medication use, impact on exercise, and lung function testing. As outlined above, at potentially greater risk of respiratory morbidity are infants born towards the extreme of gestation and birthweight, especially in the context of being born small for gestational age, as well as children diagnosed during infancy with CLD. Research into respiratory disease following preterm birth has traditionally focused on those infants diagnosed with CLD; it has been accepted that this diagnosis correlated with a worse respiratory health during infancy, which would project to a negative longer-term outcome. As such there has often been a focus on long-term follow-up of those infants who had a CLD diagnosis from their neonatal period. More recent studies have shifted this focus to either those born extremely preterm or at very/extremely low birth weight (for instance the EPICure or EPIPAGE groups from UK and France respectively). However, as will be highlighted below, long term respiratory morbidity is not confined to these groups, and less is understood about the complex factors that result in a proportion of the ex-preterm population being affected, or why some children with CLD may be spared long-term problems.

1.4.1 Symptoms, medication use and health care utilisation

Respiratory symptoms are common in childhood, irrespective of gestation at birth. Respiratory tract infections account for the majority of these symptoms. For context, looking at frequency of cough in a UK population-based cohort of approximately 6800 1 to 4 year olds (which did include children born preterm and/or with low birth weight), 70% would cough with a cold, and 32% coughed without colds. Nocturnal cough prevalence was 27% in this age group. Wheeze prevalence was 30%. These children were subsequently followed up until maximum age of 17, with symptoms reassessed at repeated timepoints. Prevalence in the study population of cough with or without cold remained similar to the 1-4 age group. Wheeze prevalence decreased over time (approximately 15% in children aged 7-9 years). As with any populationbased study, there is potential for selection bias, although the initial response rate at the outset was notably high (78%), although authors note that the response rate decreased over time. There is a chance the symptomatic group remained more inclined to continue with the study, resulting in a falsely elevated prevalence of cough at the older age groups. Unfortunately, the study did not consider the impact of preterm children may have on the prevalence, although the overall number of preterms included was 7%, and there would likely be few at the extremes of gestation (Jurca et al., 2017).

1.4.1.1 Pre-school ages

In infancy, preterm-born children are particularly vulnerable to respiratory morbidity. For example, infants <37 weeks' gestation born over a 6-year period in a centre in Switzerland had symptoms assessed at a year of age via questionnaire. Out of 126 respondents, cough and wheeze prevalence was 79% and 48% respectively in the first year of life. In this cohort the median age was ~28 weeks' gestation (Pramana et al., 2011). Unsurprisingly given the greater prevalence of symptoms, preterm infants have a greater impact on health care provision during the first year of life. A large population-based study from the Wales, looking at over 300,000 children born between 1998 and 2008, were retrospectively reviewed for respiratory admissions in infancy and early childhood. Stratifying for gestation and for birth weight (appropriate for gestational age or small for gestational age), ~24% of infants born at <33 weeks gestation required an emergency admission for a respiratory illness in the first year of life compared to 8% in infants born at 40+ weeks. Of note was there was a stepwise increase at every gestation group from 40+ weeks to the very preterm group, including at early term and late preterm. SGA infants were at slightly higher risk (magnitude of 1-3% depending on gestation group) than AGA infants. A similar pattern was seen for hospital admissions in children aged 1-5. Of more clinical significance is the mean number of emergency admissions per 100 child-years (i.e., suggesting recurrent admissions). There were means of 41.5 admissions in AGA infants under 1 year and 48 admissions in SGA infants per 100 child-years – a fourfold increase from the mean admissions at late term (Paranjothy et al., 2013).

Other studies have reported greater prevalence of symptoms in pre-school aged children following preterm birth. For example, Vriljandt et al, in participants born preterm, with and without BPD, noted that symptoms were more prevalent when assessed between age of 3-5 years. Cough within the previous 12 months affected 95% of the 41 children with a history of BPD and 97% of the 36 children without. Of note BPD definition in this cohort was supplementary oxygen therapy at 28 days. Conversely, wheeze appeared less prevalent in this 3-5 year age group, with 32% of BPD and 39% of children without BPD affected (Vrijlandt et al., 2007). Admission rates were much higher in the BPD group (54% requiring admission in the BPD group versus 14% in the no BPD group) before 3 years of age, suggesting that in this group at least, while respiratory symptoms were similarly prevalent, the severity in the BPD group was greater. Medication use in the past 12 months was high with β -agonist use of 39% and 50%, and inhaled corticosteroid use of 37% and 31% in the BPD/no BPD groups respectively. These figures are slightly unexplained. There is greater bronchodilator use in the no BPD group than there are symptoms of wheeze, so the indication for its use is not completely clear. Almost all the BPD group using salbutamol were also using inhaled corticosteroids (ICS). This may be due to the severity of the symptoms, or a lower threshold for using preventer given there was a history of BPD.

Moreno-Galdo et al also focussed on respiratory symptoms in moderate to late preterm children up to the age of 3 years. Almost 1000 children born between 32and 35-weeks' gestation from multiple centres in Spain were periodically followed up and assessed for episodes of wheeze. Rates of wheeze were 48% in the first year, 44% in the second year and 40% in the third year of life, with infrequent wheeze (<3 episodes within a year) more common than recurrent wheeze (3 or more episodes in 1 year). Hospital admission rates in this moderate to late preterm group were 6.3% in the first year of life, but reduced to 0.75% in the third year of life, however a comparison to term born children was not made in this study (Moreno-Galdó et al., 2020).

A similarly pre-school aged group of children in the UK, taken from the Millennium Cohort Study, had respiratory symptoms assessed at age 3 and 5 years. In particular,

episodes of wheeze within the previous 12 months were obtained from parents during face-to-face interviews with families of children born both preterm and term. In total 1149 children at 3 years and 1165 at 5 years born at <37 weeks' gestation and subsequently stratified into gestation groups (<32 weeks, 33-34 weeks, 35-36 weeks), had odds ratios of recent wheeze calculated in comparison to a term-born children born at 39-41 weeks' gestation. At 3 years, adjusted (for multiple demographic factors) odds ratios for recent wheeze in the 3 preterm groups were 2.6, 1.7 and 1.3 respectively, while at 5 years were 2.9, 1.7 and 1.5 respectively. This clearly shows a gestational effect on later lung morbidity. Of particular interest here is the greater prevalence of symptoms in later preterm children, in whom CLD would be uncommon (although the diagnosis of CLD was not included in the above study). In fact, the same study even looked at early term born children (37-38 weeks gestation) and they too had a slightly greater odds ratio for wheeze at both 3 and 5 (1.1 and 1.2). Also examined were odds ratios for hospital admissions, in infancy (before 9 months) and between 9 months and 5 years of age. Admission risk was greater in the younger age group, again in a stepwise manner from late term to very preterm (OR for <32 weeks 13.7 compared to 5.1 in late preterms). Similarly in pattern but not magnitude, OR for the older age group was 6 compared to 1.9 for late preterms. It should be noted admissions were not limited to respiratory illness but excluded accident-related presentations. Asthma medication use at age 5 (not specified to whether both reliever and preventer medication, so presumably either) was greater towards the lower gestation, again stepwise across gestation groups. In this instance very preterm children conferred an OR of 3.5 compared to late term children (Boyle et al., 2012).

1.4.1.2 School-aged children

As is demonstrated above, respiratory symptoms in preterm-born children are prevalent at all gestations. A cohort of children born both preterm and term were followed up using a questionnaire to assess ongoing respiratory symptoms. Of approximately 7,000 respondents between 1 and 10 years of age, over 4,000 were born preterm. In the school aged children (>5 years of age), those greatest affected by respiratory symptoms were the very preterm (VP; \leq 32 weeks' gestation), with an odds ratio (OR) of 3.3 compared to term children reporting wheeze ever. Odds ratios for the less extreme preterm groups (33 – 34 weeks and 35 – 36 weeks of gestation) were also greater compared to the term controls (1.8 and 1.6 respectively). Hospital admissions for a respiratory problem within 12 months as well as current inhaler use were also greater across the preterm groups, with ORs in the VP group of 2.2 and 2.3 for hospital admissions and inhaler use respectively, as shown in Figure 1.6 (Edwards et al., 2016).

Figure 1.6 Adapted table displaying respiratory characteristics and their unadjusted odds ratios in children >5 years, stratified by gestation group, from the Respiratory and Neurological Outcomes of children born Preterm study (Edwards et al., 2016). Figure available under Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 license.

	Very Preterm N = 495	Moderate Preterm N = 450	Late Preterm N = 1,138	Full Term N = 1,456
Wheeze-ever (%)	276 (55.8%)	186 (41.3%)	430 (37.8%)	403 (27.7%)
OR (95% CI)	3.3 (2.7, 4.1)	1.8 (1.5, 2.3)	1.6 (1.3, 1.9)	
p-value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Recent wheeze (%)	146 (29.5%)	92 (20.4%)	227 (19.9%)	217 (14.9%)
OR (95% CI)	2.4 (1.9, 3.0)	1.5 (1.1, 1.9)	1.4 (1.2, 1.7)	
p-value	<0.001	0.006	0.001	
Doctor diagnosis of asthma (%)	127 (25.7%)	78 (17.3%)	197 (17.3%)	182 (12.5%)
OR (95% CI)	2.4 (1.9, 3.1)	1.5 (1.1, 2.0)	1.5 (1.2, 1.8)	
p-value	<0.001	<0.01	<0.001	
Family history of atopy (%)	91 (18.4%)	98 (21.8%)	275 (24.2%)	330 (22.7%)
OR (95% CI)	0.8 (0.6, 0.99)	1.0 (0.7, 1.2)	1.1 (0.9, 1.3)	
p-value	0.046	0.694	0.370	
Any inhaler medication use (%)	109 (22%)	66 (14.7%)	162 (14.2%)	159 (10.9%)
OR (95% CI)	2.3 (1.8, 3.0)	1.4 (1.0, 1.9)	1.4 (1.1, 1.7)	
p-value	<0.001	0.032	0.011	
Corticosteroid inhaler medication use (%)	66 (13.3%)	36 (8%)	92 (8.1%)	92 (6.3%)
OR (95% CI)	2.3 (1.6, 3.2)	1.3 (0.9, 1.9)	1.3 (0.97, 1.8)	
p-value	< 0.001	0.21	0.08	
Hospital admission with breathing related problem (last 12 months) (%)	17 (3.4%)	16 (3.6%)	24 (2.1%)	23 (1.6%)
OR (95% CI)	2.2 (1.2, 4.2)	2.3 (1.2, 4.4)	1.3 (0.7, 2.3)	
p-value	0.014	0.012	0.318	

Focus on early term children (37 – 38 weeks' gestation) has also been carried out by Edwards et al. From the same cohort of children as described above, data was obtained from 272 early term children under the age of 5 years and 273 in children aged 5 years and over, in comparison to a control cohort of over 1,000 full-term (39 – 41 weeks' gestation) in both age groups. Odds ratios were calculated to see whether this group were experiencing greater respiratory morbidity. Indeed, in the younger age group, adjusted ORs (for various factors including sex, maternal smoking and socioeconomic status) were significantly higher for wheeze ever (1.5), recent wheeze (1.7), recent daytime cough (1.8) and inhaler use (2.1). Admissions in the first year of life were also higher (OR 1.6); however, this was not specific to respiratory disease. In the older age group it appeared recent wheeze was less prevalent;

however, exercise-induced symptoms were being seen (OR 1.7), along with continued inhaler use (OR 1.5) (Edwards et al., 2015a).

These outcomes are important to consider in regard to the mechanism underlying respiratory morbidity. Early term children are not affected by CLD, and rarely require ventilation or oxygen therapy, all things that have been linked to lung damage and potentially longer-term sequelae. Their absence in these cases, and indeed a large number of preterm cases, suggest that there are other factors behind any respiratory disease. However, although respiratory morbidity is not confined to those born at extremes of gestation, it is clear that these exceptionally vulnerable children are affected to a greater extent than their later-preterm or early term counterparts, resulting in a research focus towards these lower gestation groups.

1.4.1.3 Extreme prematurity

Extreme prematurity is defined as infants born at <28 weeks' gestation. The 1995 EPICure study in the UK has allowed prospective tracking of respiratory morbidity in childhood following extreme preterm birth. Of 219 children followed-up at 6 years of age, 36% of extremely preterm (EP) children with a history of CLD and 20% of EP children without CLD had experienced wheeze in the past 12 months. This compared to 13% of 148 age and sex matched term-born classmates. Exercise-induced wheeze was also more prevalent, affecting 26% of CLD children, 16% of non-CLD compared to 12% of term controls. Odds ratios were calculated for these differences comparing CLD to non-CLD and non-CLD to term, however not CLD to term. Significant difference was seen in recent wheeze odds ratio for CLD to non-CLD (2.3), but not for the other symptoms mentioned above. Other differences between the CLD and no CLD groups were in recent (past 12 months) bronchodilator or steroid use with OR of 2.2 and 2.4 respectively for the CLD group. This appears to show that while all EP children are more affected by respiratory morbidity, it is children with a history of CLD that are most affected (Hennessy et al., 2008). These children were also followed up at 11 years of age. Of 182 EP children, a significant difference was seen when compared to classroom controls for current asthma diagnosis and asthma medication use, number of wheeze attacks in previous 12 months, exercise induced wheeze and nocturnal cough. There were no significant differences, other than recent wheeze, when

directly comparing children with or without CLD within the EP group (Fawke et al., 2010). Further respiratory evaluation was performed at 19 years of age, where a greater odds ratio for asthma diagnosis ever (3.8) was the only significant outcome for CLD vs no CLD. There were no differences for symptoms within the last year, exertional wheeze, or current inhaler use for CLD vs no CLD, and no differences for CLD vs controls. There had been further attrition from the 11-year follow-up with EP children numbering 123 at this review, which could explain a lack of differences between groups (Hurst et al., 2020).

A comparable prospective follow-up of extremely preterm children born in Norway in years 1999 and 2000 has allowed the tracking of lung disease at older ages. Babies born extremely preterm (<28 weeks' gestation) or with extremely low birth weights (<1000g) were recruited along with a smaller subset of term-born controls. Questionnaires were given to participants at ages 2, 5 and 11 to assess respiratory symptoms. There were 232 respondents to the questionnaire at age 11, with 57 term controls. The proportion of children with wheeze between ages 5 and 11 years was 26% in the 232 extremely preterm children compared to 13% in the 57 term controls, a significant odds ratio of 2.51. Rates of recent wheeze (previous 12 months) at age 11 were 16% and 9%; however, this was not a significant result. Exercise-induced symptoms were, however, greater in the EP group, with 18% of children affected at age 11 compared to 5% of term controls. A history of CLD conveyed a significant odds ratio of having wheeze age 5 to 11 of 1.83. Overall, the rates of symptoms decreased between age 5 and age 11, with significant decreases in the rate of wheeze and cough between these two ages (26 to 16% for wheeze, 23 to 16% for nocturnal cough). An exception was exercise-induced wheeze which remained similar at age 11. 29% of the EP children had required hospital admission between age 5 and 11, whereas a significantly lower proportion of the term cases were admitted (13%). Overall, there were 138 admissions across the 67 EP children who had an admission, compared to 7 separate term children who all had a single admission. Of the total EP admissions, only 16 (12%) were respiratory related, and only 1 of the 7 term admissions (14%). There were no statistically significant differences in inhaler use, either bronchodilator or ICS, despite there being a threefold greater prevalence in their use the EP group. This suggests that, in this Norwegian population at least, respiratory morbidity is not responsible for causing a substantial health care burden in older childhood (Skromme et al., 2018), although this could represent under-treatment.

Of concern is whether symptoms may persist past childhood. The Skromme study suggested that respiratory morbidity in the EP group may diminish over time; however, this was not the case with Fawke et al's findings. Fortunately, awareness is growing about the potential impact of preterm birth on lung health in adulthood (Bolton et al., 2012).

1.4.1.4 Wheeze

A systematic review of childhood wheezing and its association with preterm birth was performed by Been et al and included some of the studies already mentioned. Across 30 studies from different continents, and over 1.5 million children, preterm children (n=93,616) were noted to be 1.7 times more likely to suffer from a wheeze disorder; this rises to 3 times more likely when looking solely at very preterm children (Been et al., 2014). A conclusion stated by the authors was that preterm birth increases the risk of asthma. This wrongly links wheeze in preterm children solely with a diagnosis of asthma which is incorrect. Wheeze is a heterogenous symptom and can imply different aetiology depending on its course and progression.

Data from the Millennium Cohort Study were used to try and better define what was meant by the term wheeze, and to develop phenotypes for different types of wheeze seen in children, including >1000 preterm children. Data from different ages up to 11 years of children born at term and preterm were used to define wheeze as either no or infrequent wheeze, early (onset before age 3, disappeared by age 7 or 11 years), persistent (present throughout the time points), or late (developing only at age 7 or beyond). 18% of preterm children were classified as having early wheeze compared to 13% of term born, while 13% of the preterm children. Late wheeze had similar proportions in the preterm and term group suggesting that a similar aetiology may be responsible irrelevant of gestation, whereas preterm birth and its associations have a significant link to early and persistent wheeze (Kotecha et al., 2019).

1.4.1.5 Summary of symptoms, medication use and health care utilisation

In summary, preterm-born children suffer from greater respiratory symptoms in comparison to their term-born counterparts. This increase in symptoms is present from infancy, and while may reduce over time continues to be more prevalent. Additionally, children with a background of CLD may be more likely to suffer from respiratory symptoms.

1.4.2 Modalities of testing

In this section a background on some of the different testing modalities which feature through my thesis will be introduced. Their application in children born preterm will be addressed in individual chapters. Additionally, oscillometry will be discussed in detail in the individual chapters.

1.4.2.1 Spirometry

Spirometry is the most widely used and well-established of the lung function tests, used for assessment throughout respiratory conditions, as a screening tool for respiratory disease, and frequently in the research setting.

1.4.2.1.1 Test basics

Spirometry is a technique that was first used as far back as the late 1600s, primarily using displacement of water methods to estimate lung volumes, through Bellows type kit, with evolution to current high-tech spirometers (Gibson, 2005). It involves predominantly assessment of a forced manoeuvre to empty a person's lungs from full inspiration (i.e., total lung capacity) to full expiration (i.e., residual volume). During this exercise, rather than passive expiration resulting from pressures within the lungs being greater than atmospheric air, resulting in flow from lungs to air, a person will force the air out. This involves active effort to empty the lungs, which is reliant on various factors. These include overcoming any impedance to airflow, most commonly resulting from increased resistance as a result of airway obstruction (relating to calibre of airways); however, also includes restriction from pulmonary disease (e.g. from conditions like interstitial lung disease) or external pathology impacting on the lungs (e.g. chest wall deformities, scoliosis), or from problems related to the muscles of respiration (e.g. from neuromuscular disease) (Liou and Kanner, 2009). Thus, intra- and extra-pulmonary pathology can impact on spirometry outcomes.

Spirometry can be performed using a variety of equipment, all with the aim to record the expired lung volume, along with additional information. These volumes are usually derived from other parameters which are easier to measure, including pressure or flow. Flow and/or pressure changes can be measured using various types of equipment, including pneumotachographs, turbines and ultrasound methods. Pneumotachographs measure change in pressure across a transducer, with specific pressure changes corresponding directly to specific volumes. Turbines respond directly to airflow, with turbine blades within the spirometry spinning with respiration, which in turn blocks an infrared beam of light. The number and frequency of interruptions to this light equates to specific flows and volumes. Ultrasound methods measure the speed of transit of ultrasound impulses across the flow of gas. If airflow is travelling in the same direction as the impulse, the impulse will travel faster, and vice versa, with flow rates and volume derived from the impulse transit time (García-Río et al., 2013). Consideration needs to be made to the fact that airflow alters at differing temperatures and atmospheric pressures, and as such systems should be reported at body temperature, pressure, saturated with water (BTPS). This is a way of converting from ambient conditions of temperature and pressure that the spirometer is in, to the conditions that the expelled air have been at in the lungs, i.e. at body temperature, and saturated with water vapour, using a correction factor (Graham et al., 2019).

Children are able to perform spirometry although there is a likely age and developmental limit as to in whom successful spirometry is possible. While greater than 85% of 10-year olds and older will yield acceptable and repeatable spirometry results, this decreases to ~55-65% in 6 to 7-year olds and 25% in 4-year olds (Loeb et al., 2008).

1.4.2.1.2 Test procedure

Clear guidance for spirometry testing has been developed by several respiratory organisations to ensure consistency in testing (Miller et al., 2005). The test is performed by a participant while sat wearing a nose clip, who, while connected to

the machine, will breathe to full inspiration before exhaling at full force until they reach residual volume (i.e. cannot breathe out any further). The test is then repeated until they have reproduced a similar test result, within specific specifications for certain volumes. Tests are excluded if expiration is not of sufficient force, if there is artifact during the exhalation (i.e., cough, glottis closure), if there was a slow initiation of breath before reaching peak expiratory flow (back-extrapolated volume), or if there is suspicion of leak. Additionally, if full expiration is not achieved, as determined by no plateau reached on a volume-time curve, then certain results from within the test are not interpretable. A person should not perform greater than 8 attempts at the test due to risk of exhaustion affecting results. Once a minimum of 3 tests have been performed, providing test quality was acceptable, including the two largest FEV₁ and FVC being within 150mls of each other, then testing can stop.

There is also guidance for frequency and method for calibration of volumes and flows, with daily volume calibration using a 3 litre syringe recommended daily, and weekly flow linearity at different flow rates (low-, mid-, and high-flows) (Miller et al., 2005).

1.4.2.1.3 Test interpretation

A lot of information can be obtained from spirometric measurements. Figure 1.7 and Table 1.5 display some of the main parameters seen on flow-volume loops and volume-time curves.

Outcome measure	Explanation	
(Abbreviation)		
Forced expiratory	The volume of air expired in the first second of expiration (the 1	
volume in 1 second	second can be substituted for other units of time, i.e. 0.5 or 0.75	
(FEV ₁)	seconds – $FEV_{0.5/0.75}$ – have been suggested as alternatives in	
	children, particularly younger children, due to FEV ₁ often	
	contributing a significant proportion to the vital capacity due to	
	relative size of airways compared to lungs (Piccioni et al., 2007)).	
Forced vital capacity	The total volume expired during forced expiration. In adults, due to	
(FVC)	prolonged expiration in those with lung obstruction, a suggested	
	substitute is FEV_6 (Bhatt et al., 2014).	
FEV ₁ /FVC ratio	The ratio between volume expired in one second and total vital	
	capacity. Alternative times for measuring set volumes as per above	
	can also be used in the ratio.	
Forced expiratory flow	A measurement of the flow rate at the relative volume proportion of	
at 25/50/75%	the total FVC. These parameters are infrequently used, with the	
(FEF _{25%} /FEF _{50%} /FEF _{75%})	suggestion that FEF75% potentially does not contribute to	
	identification of pathology besides what FEV1, FVC and their ratio	
	offers (Quanjer et al., 2014).	
Forced expiratory flow	Also known as maximum mid-expiratory flow (MMEF), this	
between 25-75% of	f represents the average flow during the mid-part of expiration.	
FVC (FEF _{25-75%)}	Deficits have been associated with airway obstruction, but, as p	
	FEF _{75%} , less utility is placed on this (Lebecque et al., 1993).	
Peak expiratory flow	Commonly measured independently of spirometry as a monitoring	
rate (PEFR)	tool in people with a diagnosis of asthma; however, is also measured	
	as part of the spirometry.	

Table 1.5 An overview of frequently used spirometry outcomes.

Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁), forced vital capacity (FVC) and their respective ratio (FEV₁/FVC) are the tests most commonly used to identify pathology (Pellegrino et al., 2005); however, visualising the flow-volume loop can also be beneficial in suggesting disease process, as outlined by Figure 1.8 (Patra, 2012).

Importantly, tests need to be normalised to within the population performing them. Age, height, sex, and ethnicity have been shown to impact on spirometry outcomes. Over time there have been reference values derived from many cohorts, predominantly adult populations. However, more recently, reference values have been generated from a large collection of studies under the Global Lung Function Initiative (GLI). This included a larger number of children and is currently the standard for normalising results for the characteristics above (Quanjer et al., 2012).



Figure 1.7 Representations of the A) Flow – volume loop and B) Volume – time curve, annotated to show various outcome parameters.

Figure 1.8 Flow – volume loops showing different characteristics representing different disease types (Patra, 2012). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.



1.4.2.2 Static lung volume testing

Spirometry is a dynamic process that gives information about the how the lung functions, however vital information is missing from this test, in particularly regarding the total lung volume, known as the total lung capacity (TLC). This is comprised of the vital capacity (as can be measured from spirometry), as well as the residual volume (RV) which is the remaining air in the lungs at the end of expiration. Clearly this is more difficult to measure as a person is unable to expel this air to be measured. It is important to be able to clarify the total lung volume, as true restrictive disease (or small volume lungs) is identified by low TLC (Pellegrino et al., 2005). Other parameters include the inspiratory and expiratory reserve volumes (IRV/ERV – the volumes above or below tidal volumes to TLC or RV respectively), and functional residual capacity which is the combined volume of the ERV and RV. If a vital capacity is measured from end expiratory to full inspiration, this is called the inspiratory vital capacity, and if measured following exhaling from full inspiration to full expiration (as per in spirometry), this is called an expiratory vital capacity. There are differing ways

of measuring static lung volumes, the most common being either body plethysmography or gas dilution testing, either in a single or multi-breath format. In this section, I will cover the two types of testing later described in my thesis, body plethysmography and multi-breath helium dilution testing. In the healthy individual, these tests should give equivalent results, however in the presence of disease, especially presence of increased residual volume, differences may be noted (Hall et al., 2021). Figure 1.9 demonstrates the various lung volumes and capacities.

Figure 1.9 Visual representation of different lung volumes and capacities (Wanger et al., 2005). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.



IRV: inspiratory reserve volume; VT: tidal volume; ERV: expiratory reserve volume; IVC: inspiratory vital capacity; RV: residual volume; IC: inspiratory capacity, FRC: functional residual capacity; TLC total lung capacity.

1.4.2.2.1 Body Plethysmography

Body plethysmography is performed using the concept of Boyle-Mariotte law that for a fixed volume of gas at constant temperature, pressure and volume are inversely proportional, i.e. a decrease in volume will increase the pressure to the same extent (West, 1999). Additionally, the test is possible due to respiratory physiology, specifically the concept of shift volume. Shift volume refers to the volume change (as generated by increasing thoracic volume) required to generate a pressure change large enough (i.e., enough to overcome airway resistance) for airflow to occur, with changes in volume occurring before any airflow can occur. Because airflow has not yet occurred at the point in which the (shift) volume is yet to generate a pressure change large enough to overcome airway resistance, Boyle-Mariotte's law applies to the air inside the lung.

The procedure is performed using a volume and pressure constant box which is sealed and allowed to adjust to a stable temperature after a participant sits inside. This box must be able to measure small changes in pressure proportional to that of shift volume, and as such any shift volume occurring within the lung will be reciprocated by a measurable change in the box pressure. A participant will then be connected to the equipment able to measure pressure and volume (as a determinant of flow), i.e., with use of a pneumotachograph. The participant wears a nose clip and holds their cheeks to ensure any air movement or pressure change is a result of respiration rather than artefact. The main part of the test involves respiration against a closed shutter occurring at the end of expiration, with the participant continuing to breathe against the shutter. At the point the shutter closes, the participant has their FRC (denoted as FRC_{pleth}), also called (intra)thoracic gas volume (ITGV or TGV), remaining in their lungs. However, the action of respiration continues, increasing the thoracic cavity but without any airflow, therefore the pressure change, relating to an intrathoracic shift volume, occurring within the lungs can be measured at the airway opening. Simultaneously, the changes in airway opening pressures are measured along with the volume changes within the box (Criée et al., 2011). Therefore the relationship between these can be used to calculate the lung volume, in the form of the equation *ITGV* = *Pao* x ($\Delta V / \Delta P$) (Clayton, 2007), where ΔV is the change in box volume, ΔP is the change in airway opening pressure, and *Pao* is the airway opening pressure at end of inspiration, representative of the alveolar pressure. As such, a comparatively large volume change in proportion to the pressure change would give a higher IGTV, with the reverse giving a smaller lung volume.

The test is completed by the participant performing vital capacity manoeuvres to elicit TLC. The shutter test should be repeated, ideally three times with reproducible results, to be able to ensure accuracy of results.

Calibration of the pneumotachograph for volume and flow should be performed similar to that for spirometry. Additionally, regular calibration for ensuring the box pressure and shift volume sensor are working appropriately is required.

1.4.2.2.2 Helium dilution testing

Multiple breath helium dilution testing has a simpler theory behind it. It involves connecting a participant to a closed circuit which includes a reservoir of air of known total volume, breathing at tidal volumes (i.e., at FRC at end of tidal expiration) after connecting to the closed circuit, before introducing helium gas of known concentration into the circuit. The participant continues with tidal breaths until the concentration of helium has equilibrised. If this does not occur, FRC will be underestimated. The FRC (denoted in this instance as FRC_{He}) is calculated as a rearrangement of the formula: *Volume 1* (V_1) *x He concentration 1* (He_1) = *Volume 2* (V_2) *x He concentration 2* (He_2), where V_1 is the volume of the circuit and He_1 is prior to wash-in. V_2 represents the volume of the circuit plus FRC_{He}, and He_2 is the helium concentration at the end of the wash-in period. FRC_{He} can then be calculated as a *V1*($He_1 - He_2$) / He_2 (Wanger et al., 2005). Again, the participant must then make a vital capacity manoeuvre in order to calculate TLC and RV. It is important the participant is breathing at FRC when connected to the wash-in period, otherwise a falsely elevated FRC will be measured.

Volume and flow linearity checks are required as per spirometry. Additionally, gas analyser (in particular Helium analyser) and the filling sensor (to ensure accurate volumes within the circuit) calibrations are needed regularly.

1.4.2.2.3 Interpretation of results

1.4.2.2.3.1 Reference values

As with spirometry, interpretation of results requires reference values in order to properly assess for normality. Previously there have only been small cohorts, predominantly Caucasian, used in formulating reference values, with Rosenthal having the greatest number with 772 participants (Rosenthal et al., 1993). The GLI have coalesced results from a number of centres from several countries, from both body plethysmography and helium dilution testing, in order to create more accurate references (Hall et al., 2021). One finding from this endeavour was that in healthy individuals, the normal values from both tests are similar to each other, enough so that they could be compiled together in generating equations, which are corrected for age, sex, and height. The main limitation of the new reference values is the lack of ethnic diversity across the studies used, meaning the reference values are valid in people of European descent.

1.4.2.2.3.2 Results

The main outcome measures from static lung volume testing are regarding the TLC, RV, FRC and the ratio of RV to TLC. TLC is reduced in restrictive (or mixed) lung disease, generally defined as TLC below the lower limit of normal (Pellegrino et al., 2005), however other interpretation methods sometimes use percent predicted cut-off values. In the case of restrictive lung disease, usually all other parameters are also reduced. A raised RV, and/or RV/TLC ratio may be suggestive of airway obstructive (Sorkness et al., 2008), and indeed this is where differences between measurement modalities are often seen. In airway obstruction, air trapping occurs, and so with helium dilution testing, gas is unable to reach these areas of the lung, whereas body plethysmography is able to detect this part of the lower airways. As such, helium dilution may underestimate lung volumes in the presence of airway obstruction (Dahlqvist and Hedenstierna, 1985).

1.4.2.3 Cardiopulmonary exercise testing

1.4.2.3.1 Background

Cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) is used to assess cardiopulmonary physiology in relation to muscle demands in aerobic and anaerobic states of metabolism, in both disease (cardiac, respiratory disease) and healthy (sports medicine) states. It encompasses a range of methods, designed to stress the cardiopulmonary system and review physiological responses to the exercise, particularly with regards to the relationship between oxygen demand and delivery. Exercise testing, monitoring oxygen content in arterial and mixed blood samples during exercise in patients with heart disease, was being performed in the 1950s (Donald et al., 1954). As with all these tests, this has evolved over time, with noninvasive methods for assessing oxygen uptake, and carbon dioxide clearance, becoming available (Weber et al., 1982).

Exercise testing is usually performed on either a cycle ergometer or treadmill, however other modalities exist, for instance that involve walking in the form of set time, distance or as a shuttle, useful in patients who are unable to perform more strenuous exercise (Weber et al., 1982). While exercise testing between the modalities of cycle ergometer and treadmill follow similar methods for testing, there are potentially differences in outcomes, particularly related to the peak oxygen uptake, with the treadmill allowing participants to achieve higher peak $\dot{V}O_2$ (Radtke et al., 2019). This is likely due to the impact of increasing cycle workload impacted by muscle strength rather than aerobic fitness. Conversely some groups depending on age, development and co-morbidities may have difficulties performing a particular modality of test.

1.4.2.3.2 Test specifics

The aim of most exercise tests is to get the participant to reach a peak of exercise, which theoretically will correspond to a peak cardiopulmonary physiological response. During exercise, participants will use either a face mask or mouthpiece connected to a gas sampler and a flow meter to get breath-by-breath recording of oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_2$) and carbon dioxide production ($\dot{V}CO_2$). Minute ventilation ($\dot{V}E$) as a product of tidal volume x respiratory rate is also calculated. The gas sampler and flow meter require regular calibration prior to testing to ensure accuracy of the results.

In general, an exercise test consists of four phases: 1) Rest phase; 2) Unloaded exercise; 3) Incremental exercise; and 4) Recovery phase (Radtke et al., 2019). During the rest phase, baseline parameters are measured. The unloaded (or minimally loaded in the case of cycle ergometer) phase is to warm-up the patient and begin to obtain measurements affected by exercise. The incremental test is generally performed in one of two ways – either as stepwise increments of a determined amount at regular intervals, or as a "ramp" of continuously increasing workload. The recovery phase is partly for safety purposes but also facilitates the start of post-exercise responses to exercise to be monitored.

Using the method of an increasing workload, whether by ramp or incremental steps, a participant is encouraged to continue exercise until they reach exhaustion. At this point it is presumed peak exercise has been reached; however, there are various methods of determining this. Usually a criteria for defining peak exercise is used based on various physiological or subjective parameters reaching certain thresholds (Radtke et al., 2019), including peak heart rate, respiratory exchange ratio or RER (VO₂/VCO₂), and perceived exhaustion score, often based on the Borg (Borg, 1982) or similarly validated scales. Unfortunately achieving peak exercise does not necessarily equate to reaching maximal VO₂ uptake (VO_{2max}) (Poole et al., 2008). However, achievement of a VO₂ plateau (i.e. no further increase in VO₂ despite increasing workload) is generally accepted as evidence of reaching VO_{2max}, although children have difficulty achieving this outcome. Alternatively performing a supramaximal verification test has been suggested as a way of confirming that VO_{2peak} is indeed synonymous with VO_{2max}. This involves, following the initial exercise test, recovery phase and a rest period, the participant cycling at high intensity at a workload set greater than the peak achieved during the first exercise test until exhaustion. If the same VO_{2peak} (<5% increase from the original test (Sansum et al.)) is obtained on the supramaximal test, this suggests that the VO2peak from the initial test was representative of $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (Barker et al., 2011).

1.4.2.3.3 Explanation of variables

Oxygen uptake per minute ($\dot{V}O2$). Measured throughout testing and at peak exercise ($\dot{V}O_{2peak}$), with the peak theoretically representing the maximal possible uptake of oxygen ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$). $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ is the maximum "integrated capacity of the pulmonary, cardiovascular and muscle systems to uptake, transport, and utilize O_2 " (Poole et al., 2008). This means it is reliant on all the systems to be achieved and deficits in one or more areas will impact on exercise capacity.

Carbon dioxide production per minute ($\dot{V}CO_2$). Measured throughout and at peak exercise ($\dot{V}CO_{2peak}$). Typically increases linearly with $\dot{V}E$, with an increase in both when CO_2 production increases as a result of an increase in anaerobic respiration. An anaerobic threshold (AT) can be identified at the point in which $\dot{V}CO_2$ increases disproportionally when plotted against $\dot{V}O_2$ due to this change. *Respiratory exchange ratio* (RER). RER indirectly reflects how muscles are able to obtain energy, with higher RER suggesting increased use of carbohydrates and lower RER suggesting use of lipids, and may represent physical fitness due to the association of lipid metabolism with oxidative metabolism (Ramos-Jiménez et al., 2008).

Minute ventilation ($\dot{V}E$). Initially increases linearly until anaerobic threshold is reached, at which stage $\dot{V}E$ increases at a greater rate due to increased CO₂ production.

Ventilatory reserve – This is the percentage of the maximum voluntary ventilation (MVV) that is remaining after subtracting the peak $\dot{V}E$. The MVV can be measured by a participant breathing as fast and deeply as possible (to achieve at least 50% of their vital capacity with each breath) for a set time (usually 12 seconds) and the resulting volume extrapolated to a minute (Miller et al., 2005). Alternatively a multiplication of FEV₁ (by a factor of 35 or 40) can be used to estimate MVV (Stein et al., 2003). Ventilatory reserve may be reduced in respiratory disorders (Balady et al., 2010) or in athletes (in the context of high $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ to distinguish from disease states) (Palange et al., 2007).

1.5 Summary

In summary, preterm births are slowly increasing, including greater survival rates at lower gestations. Respiratory difficulties of preterm birth are among the most common short- and long-term sequelae, including respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) and chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD) in infancy, with higher rates of respiratory symptoms, respiratory medication use, and health care utilisation compared to those born at term. Children born at the extremes of gestation and birth weight are greatest affected, and a history of CLD also impacts, however disease is not exclusive to these children. Effects are seen throughout childhood and can extend into adulthood, with concern that early life factors may impact on earlier onset of respiratory diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, usually seen in later adulthood, particularly if exposed to negative environmental factors. Objective measures of lung function can be used to assess respiratory health, in the form of lung function and cardiopulmonary exercise testing. There are limitations to the age it is possible to perform some of this testing, and so newer techniques including oscillometry are being more widely used, mainly in the research setting, that can conceivably identify pathology at a younger age, potentially opening the door for earlier intervention, if such treatments can be identified. There are also likely different phenotypes within the children with lung disease as a result of preterm birth, with different underlying pathologies and different responses to lung function testing.

As mentioned above, oscillometry is a method of lung function testing which assesses airway mechanics. There are differing modalities within oscillometry, also referred to as forced oscillation technique or FOT, including standard spectral or pseudorandom noise, which involves applying multiple frequencies of soundwaves onto tidal breathing and assessing the resultant changes in pressure and flow, or intra-breath oscillometry which looks at the changes in airway mechanics occurring throughout the breath cycle. Oscillometry is covered in greater detail in individual Chapters 3 and

4.

1.6 Respiratory Health Outcomes in Neonates study

1.6.1 Background and relevance to thesis

The Respiratory Health Outcomes in Neonates (RHiNO) study was designed following an original questionnaire-based study, the Respiratory and Neurological Outcomes in children born Preterm Study (RANOPS), which identified greater respiratory morbidity in preterm children across the gestations including those born at early term (Edwards et al., 2015a), and across age groups (Edwards et al., 2016). While this study showed that atopy rates were no higher in affected preterm children, there were still greater numbers classified as having asthma or on asthma medications, without there being any definitive evidence of efficacy in this population, with limited studies assessing the use of medications such as inhaled corticosteroids (Pelkonen et al., 2001).

RHiNO was formed as a follow-up study, designed to objectively determine potential lung dysfunction in the preterm population and to investigate the role of asthma medications in modifying the disease. As such a three-arm, double-blinded, randomised, placebo-controlled trial (RCT) was designed to compare placebo to inhaled corticosteroid and combination of inhaled corticosteroid (ICS) plus long-acting beta-2 agonist (LABA). This was a registered randomised control trial (EudraCT: 2015-003712-20), which received ethical approval from the South-West Bristol Research Ethics Committee (15/SW/0289) and was funded by the Medical Research Council (MR/M022552/1). The RCT was the centre-stage of a broader three-part study exploring potential phenotypes and mechanisms seen in preterm-children with evidence of lung dysfunction. Below I outline the three parts of the wider RHiNO study, with a summary provided in Figure 1.10. The children involved in the RHiNO study are those studied within the course of my thesis. The study allowed generation of my hypotheses and aims which I outline later in section 1.7.

Figure 1.10 Flow diagram outlining RHiNO study as a whole. Part 1 in blue shaded boxes, Part 2 in green shaded boxes, Part 3 in orange shaded boxes. (Abbreviations: RANOPS – Respiratory and Neurological Outcomes in children born Preterm Study; ICS – inhaled corticosteroid; LABA – long-acting beta-2 agonist)

> Questionnaires sent to potential preterm- and term-born infants identified by RANOPS, supplemented by preterm infants identified by NHS Wales Informatics Service. Preterm eligibility criteria: ≤34 weeks' gestation, age 7-12 years, born and living in South Wales.

> Home screening visit performed by research nurses. History, respiratory questionnaire, physical examination, anthropometrics, fractional exhaled nitric oxide, spirometry, reversibility testing.

Invited to participate in RCI: erm-born children with FEV. <85% predic

Invited to participate as controls:

Preterm-born children with FEV₁>85% predicted, Term-born children with FEV₁>90% predicted.

In-depth lung function visit & recruitment to randomised control trial (RCT).

Physical examination, cardiovascular assessment, anthropometrics, fractional exhaled nitric oxide, oscillometry, spirometry, static lung volumes, cardiopulmonary exercise testing, post-exercise reversibility testing.

RCT: Double-blinded 12-week treatment for children with FEV1 ≤85% predicted (placebo vs ICS vs ICS+LABA) and then repeat in-depth lung function visit.

Hyperpolarised Xenon MRI lung scan.

1.6.2 RHiNO Study description

1.6.2.1 Part 1

Part 1 of the RHiNO study involved recruitment of participants with an initial questionnaire and a subsequent screening visit to assess lung function performed by research nurses. The children recruited to RANOPS (as above) were firstly invited to take part in RHiNO. For RANOPS, all preterm (<37 weeks' gestation) children born and resident in South Wales, from birth years 2003, 2005, 2007, 2009, 2010 and 2011 were invited to participate in the questionnaire study. The preterm-born children were matched at the time of RANOPS with term (≥37 weeks' gestation) controls based on birth date, sex and location of birth. These children were identified by the NHS Wales Informatics Service (NWIS) database. All preterm-born children of ≤34 weeks' gestation and all term-born children from RANOPS who had consented for involvement in further research were sent a respiratory questionnaire for completion, as well as parent/child information sheet regarding a screening visit and asked whether they were willing to participate. These participants were later supplemented with preterm-born children (\leq 34 weeks' gestation) from the interval years of RANOPS (i.e. 2004, 2006, 2008), again identified through NWIS database, who were initially contacted by representatives of the health boards in which they were born. These children were again sent a respiratory questionnaire and information leaflets and asked to indicate consent for being contacted by the research team for a screening visit. Inclusion criteria for RHiNO were age 7-12 years (upper threshold chosen to limit children undergoing puberty, and lower threshold due to diminished likelihood of obtaining adequate spirometry), born at \leq 34 weeks' (preterm children) or ≥37 weeks' (term children) gestation, and born and resident in South Wales. Children with significant congenital or cardiac abnormalities, or neurodevelopmental impairment were excluded. Recruitment started in December 2016 and continued through until September 2019.

Screening visits were carried out by trained research nurses and performed at either the participant's home or at the Children and Young Adults' Research Unit at the Children's Hospital for Wales. The screening visit involved collecting perinatal and medical history (later supplemented by review of the participant's medical notes),

and performing anthropometric measurements, cardiovascular assessment including blood pressure and augmentation index, fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FE_{NO}), spirometry and reversibility testing. Additionally, urine and saliva samples were taken, the latter for DNA analysis. The aim of the visit was to collect objective lung function data from an undifferentiated preterm population, as well as identifying and stratifying potential patients eligible for Part 2 of the RHiNO study which included the RCT.

Figure 1.11 summarises the numbers recruited during Part 1.



Figure 1.11 Flow diagram showing participant numbers through Part 1 of RHiNO study. (Hart et al., 2021). Image used with permission under author reuse policy.

1.6.2.2 Part 2

Part 2 of the study comprised of in-depth lung function testing for children identified from Part 1, stratified into those with %FEV₁ ≤85% (PT_{Iow}), along with a number of preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls. Those children in the PT_{Iow} group (based on repeat lung function at Part 2) were eligible for recruitment into the RCT, the main part of the RHiNO study. All children with %FEV₁ ≤85% at Part 1 were invited to participate, along with all term controls with %FEV₁ >90% at Part 1 and selected preterm controls. Not all preterm children with %FEV₁ >85% were invited; the aim was to maximise the numbers in PT_{Iow} for RCT recruitment, and a target of 100 preterm controls. As the larger majority of the children screened at Part 1 were anticipated to have %FEV₁ >85%, inviting all these children would have resulted in greater numbers than required. Screening visits at Part 1 started with the children at the higher age limits in order to recruit before they became too old. If all consecutive preterm children with %FEV₁ >85% were invited, this would have resulted in a PT_c population at Part 2 skewed towards the higher end of the age bracket. As such, preterm children who were within the first 10 screening visits of any calendar month were invited to attend as preterm controls, if %FEV₁ >85%. This was designed to hopefully allow ongoing recruitment throughout the study period (accounting for likely attrition, i.e. not all invited would attend) and would give a range of ages and a balance to recruitment throughout the seasons.

For PT_{low} children potentially eligible for the RCT, decision to recruit to the RCT was based on spirometry (%FEV₁) at the Part 2 visit using a pneumotachograph spirometer. Children with %FEV₁ ≤85% at Part 2 were recruited to the RCT. Due to differences between spirometry methodology (as discussed in detail in Chapter 5) and inherent variability of spirometry, not all children with %FEV₁ ≤85% at Part 1 went on to have %FEV₁ ≤85% at Part 2. In these instances, if that child had been within the first 10 Part 1 visits of a calendar month (i.e., how the PT_c children were invited to Part 2), they were invited to complete the Part 2 visit as PT_c. If they were outside the first 10 visits of a calendar month at Part 1, they did not complete the Part 2 visit. This was to avoid skewing the PT_c group towards the lower end of lung function (with the assumption that children switching groups would likely end up just above the FEV₁ threshold). All children with %FEV₁ ≤85% on definitive spirometry, irrespective of grouping at Part 1, were invited to participate in the RCT, following formal consent/assent.

Part 2 visits involved physical examination, performing anthropometric measurements, cardiovascular assessment including blood pressure and augmentation index, FE_{NO}, oscillometry, static lung volume testing using body plethysmography and helium dilution testing, spirometry using both turbine and pneumotachograph spirometers, cardiopulmonary exercise testing, post-exercise spirometry and oscillometry, and post-exercise reversibility testing. Collection of samples was also performed, including urine, saliva, exhaled breath condensate and induced sputum using nebulised hypertonic saline. Methodology of several of these tests is discussed in greater details within the various chapters. These visits lasted approximately 5-6 hours.

Preterm-born children meeting the above eligibility criteria and who had %FEV₁ ≤85% were recruited to the RCT. This involved randomising to one of three blinded treatment groups: 1) inhaled corticosteroid (fluticasone propionate 50 micrograms); 2) inhaled corticosteroid plus long-acting beta-2 agonist (fluticasone propionate 50 micrograms + salmeterol 25 micrograms); 3) placebo. All participants were instructed to take 2 puffs twice daily of their inhalers via a volumatic spacer for a minimum of 12 weeks, with appropriate instruction given regarding how to take the inhalers. Computer-generated randomisation was performed.

Children potentially eligible for the RCT but who were already on steroid inhalers prior to Part 2 were assessed by a paediatric respiratory consultant to determine whether they were suitable for a 4-week washout period before attending for indepth lung function testing. Of those who underwent a washout period, regular contact was kept assessing for problems, and in the event of symptoms were advised to restart their preventer medication. Those who remained well, at recruitment, were entered into a two-arm randomisation to ensure they received active treatment.

Following the trial treatment period, participants returned to complete a second indepth visit, as outlined above. The primary outcome of the trial was looking for a difference in %FEV₁ pre- to post-treatment between the groups, powered to detect a 10% increase in %FEV₁ pre- to post-treatment. The rationale behind the trial was to establish whether there is an optimal treatment in preterm-born children with evidence of lung function impairment. Preterm and term controls did not participate in a second visit.

Figure 1.12 summarises the participant numbers through Part 2.


Figure 1.12 Flow diagram showing participant numbers through Part 1 of RHiNO study.

1.6.2.3 Part 3

The final part of the study involved recruiting children for hyperpolarised xenon MRI scans of the lungs, performed at the University of Sheffield. 20 children from each of the PT_{low} , PT_c and T_c groups who completed a Part 2 visit were invited for participation.

1.6.3 Population

Figures 1 .11 and 1.12 outline the flow and numbers through the RHiNO study, and clearly there was attrition at all stages of the process. The actual response rate to the questionnaire of almost a quarter of the contacted children is impressive. Unfortunately, not all were able to participate in the screening visit as outlined in Figure 1.11. Again, there was a further drop off of children who attended Part 2 visit, with reasons outlined in Figure 1.12. The concern for the attrition is whether this would have an impact on the population that participated in Part 2 of the study, i.e., the data contributing to my thesis.

A comparison was made for preterm and term children who did and did not participate in a screening visit (Hart et al., 2021). Comparison data was limited due to only having specific demographics from NWIS in the non-participators; however, it was possible to compare sex, gestational age and birth weight between responders and non-responders, as shown in the adapted table in Figure 1.13. For the term group there were significantly fewer males and a significantly older gestational age in the term responders. However, the actual numbers (50% vs 52% for male sex, and 39.8 vs 39.6 week's gestational age) clearly show a lack of clinical significance. Similarly for preterm children, the responders were of a younger gestational age and lower birth weight, but again the actual numbers (31 vs 31.6 weeks' gestation, and 1703 vs 1828 grams) suggest there is likely to be little clinical difference between these groups. Figure 1.13 Adapted table showing comparison between responders and nonresponders to the questionnaire of Part 1 of RHiNO study, by preterm or term status.(Hart et al., 2021) Image used with permission under author reuse policy.

	Pret	erm	Ter	ms
	Responders	Non-responders	Responders	Non-responders
Subjects (n)	565	3036	202	983
Male	293/565 (52%)	1679/3036 (55%)	100/202 *** (50%)	513/983 (52%)
Gestational age (weeks) (mean SD)	31.0 (2.7) 🗤	31.6 (2.6)	39.8 (1.2) ^v	39.6 (1.3)
Birthweight (g) (mean SD)	1703 (564) 🗤	1828 (684)	3480 (479)	3443 (507)
Abbroviation: WIMD - Wolch Index o	f Multiple Deprivatio	n		

Abbreviation: WIMD – Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation.

Significance ^vp<0.05, ^{vv}p,0.01, ^{vvv}p<0.001 comparing the responders and non-responders in the preterm or the term groups.

Number for responders are those who consented for a visit but before any QC.

I made a further comparison of the children who did and did not attend the Part 2 visit after being identified as eligible at screening to see whether there were any differences in the populations, as divided by the group stratification (PT_{Iow} , PT_c and T_c). Tables 1.6, 1.7 and 1.8 show these comparisons for PT_{Iow} , PT_c and T_c respectively. There were no differences between Part 2 participators and non-participators for PT_{Iow} and T_c groups, although there was a non-statistically significant greater number of children with doctor-diagnosed asthma in the PT_{Iow} children who attended compared to those who did not (30 vs 21%; p=0.223), possibly suggesting a slight selection bias of children with greater respiratory morbidity. The PT_c children who attended were slightly older than those who did not (10.4 vs 9.3 years; p<0.001), likely reflecting the fact that older children were invited first, and that the target for numbers was almost reached before the youngest ages were screened. Other demographic details for PT_c children were similar in both those who did and did not attend. Overall, this suggests that all groups are fairly representative of the population as a whole.

	Participated in Part 2,	Did not participate in Part 2,
	n=53	n=91
Age at Part 1 visit, years	10.0	9.9
	(9.7 to 10.4)	(9.6 to 10.2)
Male, n (%)	24 (45%)	46 (51%)
Gestation, decimal weeks	29.7	30.4
	(28.9 to 30.6)	(29.8 to 31.0)
Birth weight, grams	1,392	1,546
	(1,235 to 1,549)	(1,429 to 1,665)
IUGR, n (%)	12 (23%)	17 (19%)
Doctor-diagnosed asthma, n	16 (30%)	19 (21%)
(%)		

Table 1.6 Table outlining basic demographic details of preterm participants with %FEV₁ \le 85% at Part 1 visit who did and did not attend Part 2.

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (independent t-test) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test). **Abbreviations: IUGR** – Intrauterine Growth Restriction.

Table	1.7	Table	outlining	basic	demographic	details of	of preterm	participants	with	$\% FEV_1$
>85%	at P	Part 1 v	isit who d	id ana	l did not atten	d Part 2.				

	Participated in Part 2,	Did not participate in Part 2,
	n=97	n=326
Age at Part 1 visit, years	10.4 ***	9.3
	(10.1 to 10.6)	(9.2 to 10.5)
Male, n (%)	49 (51%)	170 (52%)
Gestation, decimal weeks	31.0	31.3
	(30.5 to 31.6)	(31.0 to 31.6)
Birth weight, grams	1,730	1,763
	(1,615 to 1,845)	(1,701 to 1,825)
IUGR, n (%)	14 (14%)	37 (11%)
Doctor-diagnosed asthma, n	18 (19%)	37 (11%)
(%)		

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (independent t-test) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test). **Abbreviations: IUGR** – Intrauterine Growth Restriction. *** p < 0.001

	Participated in Part 2,	Did not participate in Part 2,
	n=53	n=91
Age at Part 1 visit, years	9.7	9.7
	(9.4 to 9.9)	(9.5 to 9.9)
Male, n (%)	37 (53%)	64 (50%)
Gestation, decimal weeks	40.0	39.7
	(39.7 to 40.3)	(39.5 to 39.9)
Birth weight, grams	3,528	3,434
	(3,404 to 3,651)	(3,341 to 3,526)
IUGR, n (%)	4 (6%)	6 (5%)
Doctor-diagnosed asthma, n	5 (7%)	7 (6%)
(%)		

Table 1.8 Table outlining basic demographic details of term participants with $%FEV_1 > 90\%$ at Part 1 visit who did and did not attend Part 2.

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (independent t-test) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test). **Abbreviations: IUGR** – Intrauterine Growth Restriction.

1.7 Hypothesis and aims

1.7.1 Hypothesis

I hypothesise the following:

- Preterm-born children with low lung function will have different population characteristics compared to preterm control groups;
- Preterm-born children with low lung function will have abnormal static lung volumes;
- Preterm-born children with low lung function will have altered spectral oscillometry at baseline compared to term controls;
- 4. Preterm-born children with low lung function will have altered single frequency intra-breath oscillometry outcomes at baseline compared to terms, which will show a different pattern to that previously described in children with wheeze phenotype;
- Preterm-born children with low lung function will have impaired exercise capacity compared to controls;
- 6. Preterm-born children with low lung function will have greater exerciseinduced bronchoconstriction compared to controls;
- Preterm-born children with low lung function will have greater reversibility to post-exercise bronchodilators compared to controls;
- Preterm-born children with low lung function are not a single phenotype and within this group there will be children with different clinical and lung function characteristics.

1.7.2 Aims

- Determine population characteristics relating to birth and respiratory history as per the pre-defined study groups (preterms with low lung function, preterm controls, term controls);
- Determine baseline lung function results (spirometry, static lung volumes) for these groups;
- 3. Assess exercise capacity across study groups;
- Assess for evidence of exercise-induced bronchoconstriction across study groups;

- 5. Assess for evidence of post-exercise reversibility across study groups;
- Evaluate airway mechanics using two forms of oscillometry spectral and single-frequency intra-breath at:
 - a. Baseline,
 - b. Post-exercise,
 - c. Post-exercise bronchodilator;
- Identify potential phenotypes within the preterm children with low lung function;
- 8. Re-evaluate aims 1 -6 for any new phenotypes identified;
- 9. Review any methodological challenges that are identified through the course of my data collection and analysis.

2 LUNG FUNCTION AND EXERCISE TESTING

2.1 Introduction

As outlined in the Introduction, preterm-born children are at greater risk of respiratory health sequelae, both in the short- and long-term, compared to infants born at full term. At potentially greater risk of longer-term morbidity are infants born towards the extreme of gestation and birthweight, especially in the context of being born IUGR, as well as children diagnosed during infancy with CLD. As such there has often been a focus on long-term follow-up of those infants who had a CLD diagnosis from their neonatal period. More recent studies have shifted this focus to either those born extremely preterm or at very/extremely low birth weight (for instance the EPICure or EPIPAGE groups from UK and Franc respectively). However, as will be highlighted below, long term respiratory morbidity is not confined to these groups, and less is understood about the complex factors that result in a proportion of the ex-preterm population being affected, or why some children with CLD may be spared long-term problems. Below I consider lung function and other testing modalities that feature in my thesis, and current evidence of use and outcomes in the preterm population.

2.1.1 Lung function testing

2.1.1.1 Spirometry

Spirometry is the most widely used lung function test in assessment of long-term respiratory follow-up of children born preterm. As such it has been possible to obtain a very clear picture of spirometry outcomes in preterm-born children.

A systematic review of spirometry of over 2,000 preterm-born children (with almost 4,000 term controls) up to the year 2010 demonstrated that FEV₁ was impaired by 8.7% percent predicted (%FEV₁) overall in preterm children (regardless of CLD status) compared to term controls. When focused on preterm children without CLD this deficit reduced to 7.15%. However, when looking at only those children with a CLD diagnosis of ongoing supplemental oxygen requirement at either 28 days (CLD₂₈) or 36 weeks' post-conceptual age (CLD₃₆), this deficit of %FEV₁ increased to 16.2% and

18.9% respectively. Of additional interest from this systematic review was a model looking at the effect of year of birth on the relative deficit of FEV₁ over time (from late-1960s to 1995) in children with CLD₂₈. The earlier-born children had the greatest difference, whereas the children born at more recent dates had less marked lung function deficits compared to their term-born peers, as illustrated in Figure 2.1. This change was likely due to a combination of factors including improved neonatal care (antenatal steroids, surfactant use), as well as an evolution of the pathological processes underlying CLD (Kotecha et al., 2013).

Figure 2.1 Effect of year of birth on %predicted FEV_1 in preterm-born children with chronic lung disease of prematurity (supplemental oxygen at 28 days) – closed circles, compared to term controls – open circles, with weighting of studies contributing to circle size (Kotecha et al., 2013). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.



Despite this improvement over time, more recent studies have continued to find that preterm-born children are at greater risk of lung disease. This includes at the extremes of prematurity (Lum et al., 2011, Vollsæter et al., 2015), but also for late preterm children (Yaacoby-Bianu et al., 2019). Of concern is persistent lung function deficits on spirometry into adulthood (Doyle et al., 2019a).

2.1.1.2 Static lung volumes and airway resistance

Body plethysmography has been widely used as an investigation into lung function of children who were born preterm. This includes studies from the pre-surfactant and post-surfactant eras.

A study from the Netherlands investigating children between the age of 8 and 18 years born between 1967 and 1977, all diagnosed with RDS in infancy. 40 children who required ventilation were followed up and compared to a group of gestational and present age plus sex matched (n=38) children who were not ventilated. No differences were found in the TGV, RV or TLC (de Kleine et al., 1990). Similar results with little difference between CLD and controls (Hakulinen et al., 1996) or preterm children with RDS and controls (Cano and Payo, 1997) have been found in other presurfactant cohorts

In contrast, Jacob et al. reported differences in FRC and RV, but not TLC, using whole body plethysmography in children with severe CLD (home oxygen) compared to gestational and age matched controls. Additionally, a raised RV:TLC ratio compared to the controls suggested hyperinflation in the CLD group, hypothesised to be secondary to loss of elastic recoil, identified on abnormal pressure-volume using transducers to measure airway opening and oesophageal pressures (Jacob et al., 1997).

Smith et al reported lung volumes data in a study looking at exercise capacity in a group of very preterm infants with extremely low birth weight (ELBW) born between 1992 and 1994. The preterm group (n=94) showed significantly increased %predicted TLC (%TLC), RV (%RV) and FRC (%FRC), and RV/TLC ratio on plethysmography compared to controls (n=30). In particular, the %RV was ~40% higher in the preterm group compared to the control group, again suggesting hyperinflation or air trapping (Smith et al., 2008). Studies evaluating extremely preterm children have similar findings of raised RV and RV/TLC ratio, with CLD appearing to be greatest affected (Welsh et al., 2010). This is consistent with spirometry findings where CLD appears to have worse outcomes.

2.1.1.3 Low birthweight

The link between very low birth weight (VLBW) infants and long-term respiratory sequelae has been investigated with body plethysmography. Korhonen and colleagues explored respiratory outcomes in a group of 34 VLBW children at age 7 with a history of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) defined as oxygen requirement at 28 days postnatal age, compared to a non-BPD VLBW group and a term group with

60

the same numbers. A sub-group of 14 BPD infants as defined by oxygen requirement at 36 weeks' corrected gestational age were considered in a separate analysis as well as within the main BPD group analysis. 29 BPD children completed the body plethysmography. Findings were of significantly increased RV and RV/TLC ratio in the BPD group compared to term controls. The authors also used a definition for lung hyperinflation, of RV greater than 30% of the TLC. 52% of the BPD group compared to 27% of the non-BPD VLBW controls and 10% of the term controls met this criterion, with statistically significant differences between the BPD and term groups noted (Korhonen et al., 2004).

Conversely, vom Hove et al reported no significant difference in TLC, RV, or RV:TLC between VLBW school-aged children with and without CLD, despite the CLD group having evidence of lung dysfunction (at least one of FEV₁, FEF₂₅₋₇₅, FEV₁:FVC, TLC, or diffusing capacity of the lungs for carbon monoxide (DL_{CO}) < 5th centile) (vom Hove et al., 2014).

Of interest, regarding children outside of those diagnosed with CLD having longerterm lung dysfunction, Lista et al followed-up VLBW infants born at an average gestational age of 27 weeks, enrolled as neonates into a trial comparing high frequency oscillatory ventilation to volume-regulated conventional ventilation in RDS. No patients in either group developed CLD. The study reported increased %RV (194 and 143% in HFOV and conventional modalities respectively). The study also commented on elevated %TLC, however the results displayed showed only 106% and 93% respectively for HFOV and conventional modalities. Repeat testing was performed post-bronchodilator, and while there was a drop in RV in the HFOV group, there are no values displayed to compare statistical significance of pre- and posttreatment. Of note there appeared to be no marked FEV₁ deficit on spirometry. The conclusion from the authors is that these children, despite not having CLD in infancy, still showed significant small airway disease resulting in air trapping (Lista et al., 2014).

2.1.1.4 Summary of lung function testing

In summary, preterm-born children show impairments across lung function tests. Deficits seen on spirometry are clear and consistent, particularly in those with a history of CLD. Body plethysmography in preterm-born children shows inconsistent results in similar groups of patients. Several of these studies looking at static lung volumes are limited by small numbers, which may explain the variable findings. However, it appears, irrespective of CLD diagnosis, preterm born children, particularly in the VLBW groups, have evidence of increased RV and RV/TLC ratio consistent with air trapping and hyper-expansion, likely to be due to structural abnormalities rather than inflammatory processes. Some of these studies were from the pre-surfactant era when the 'old-BPD' changes were seen in those born preterm, compared to the current form of the disease. Unfortunately, a number of these studies do not reference the use of surfactant during the neonatal management of their patients, presumably due to them being from before surfactant was introduced. Despite this, similar lung volume findings appear to be present in patients from both pre- and post-surfactant eras.

2.1.2 Exercise testing

Probably one of the most important factors for consideration with lung function in preterm born children is not the results of static and dynamic lung volume testing, but the functional aspect of their lung disease. For instance, the ability to perform normal levels of exercise and physical activity, and the causes of any limitations to this ability.

2.1.2.1 Cardiopulmonary exercise testing

Cardiopulmonary exercise testing or CPET has been used to compare outcomes in preterm (with and without CLD) and term groups. There have been inconsistencies in the outcomes when assessing peak \dot{VO}_2 in preterm populations. Some studies have found similar peak \dot{VO}_2 between preterm and term populations (Bader et al., 1987, Jacob et al., 1997, Kriemler et al., 2005, Joshi et al., 2013) while others have demonstrated lower \dot{VO}_2 levels in preterm groups (Santuz et al., 1995, Pianosi and Fisk, 2000, Kilbride et al., 2003, Welsh et al., 2010). Lower body or muscle mass has also been linked to lower \dot{VO}_2 . Given preterm children are known to have growth issues, this is a potential additional causative factor for the reduced exercise capacity (Pianosi and Fisk, 2000, Welsh et al., 2010).

Minute ventilation (VE) has also shown inconsistencies across many studies. Higher VE has been reported in children with a historical diagnosis of BPD (Bader et al., 1987); however, lower VE at peak exercise is the more common outcome (Santuz et al., 1995, Pianosi and Fisk, 2000). Ventilatory reserve (i.e. the proportion of a person's potential respiratory capacity that is remaining at peak exercise, often measured by a comparison between minute ventilation and maximal voluntary ventilation) appears to be impaired in preterm children. While they may be able to perform the same level of exercise, they use up a greater proportion of this respiratory reserve (Jacob et al., 1997, Welsh et al., 2010, Joshi et al., 2013). This is unlikely to have significant impact on a healthy term-born child but may impact on those wishing to perform at a more elite level, as well as impacting those with particularly limited capacity.

Respiratory patterns may be altered in preterm children during exercise. For instance, higher respiratory rates associated with low tidal volumes have been noted in preterm (Pianosi and Fisk, 2000, Welsh et al., 2010). An increase in hyperinflation due to air trapping, resulting in greater volumes of dead space in the lungs, is hypothesised to be responsible.

A research group at the University of Bergen have investigated exercise outcomes in two longitudinal cohorts of extreme preterms. These two cohorts, recruited along with term controls, were treated at different times in the same neonatal unit, with one during the period 1982 – 1985 and the other from 1991 – 1992. Surfactant therapy was only available to the latter cohort with 51% receiving the treatment. Similar rates of BPD were noted between the two cohorts. During the initial follow up in 2001/2, the participants were either approximately 17 or 10 years of age on average. In both age groups, the peak $\dot{V}O_2$ (mL/min) was significantly lower in the EP groups; however, after adjusting for body weight (mL/kg/min) this difference disappeared. The distance completed on the exercise treadmill was significantly shorter for the preterm born in both cohorts. Interestingly, the authors observed that in males, those born at term had significantly higher $\dot{V}O_2$ (mL/kg/min) compared to preterms, a difference not seen in females. There was no association between a diagnosis of BPD and a deficit in exercise capacity (Clemm et al., 2012). Both the 1980s and 1990s cohorts were followed up again in 2008/9 with the same exercise test, aged 25 and 18 years respectively at time of testing. For the 1980s cohort, there were similar findings to the initial study for the EP group with significantly decreased treadmill distance as well as \dot{VO}_2 (mL/min), which again lost statistical significance when corrected for body weight (mL/kg/min). A new statistically significant finding was that of a lower maximum \dot{VE} (mL/kg/min) in the EP group. Between the two study periods, for both EP and term groups, there was a significant decrease in the peak oxygen consumption and distance travelled on the treadmill (Clemm et al., 2014). The follow-up of the 1990s cohort was performed with similar methodology. For this group \dot{VO}_2 (mL/min & mL/kg/min) and distance travelled on the treadmill were significantly lower in the EP group compared to term controls. Conversely to the earlier-born cohort, the oxygen consumption (mL/min) and running distance improved over the intervening years between original study and follow-up (Clemm et al., 2015).

A systematic review published in 2015 neatly summarised the deficits seen on exercise testing for preterm children with and without CLD. Considering all pretermborn children irrespective of CLD status, 631 children across 20 studies (and a mixture of methodologies) had a $\dot{V}O_2$ deficit of 2.2mls/kg/min compared to 639 term controls. Excluding children with CLD, there was a $\dot{V}O_2$ deficit of 2.26mls/kg/min in the remaining 246 children compared to 407 term controls. Where there was a historical CLD diagnosis, either CLD₂₈ or CLD₃₆, this deficit rose to 3.04 and 3.05mls/kg/min respectively (Edwards et al., 2015b).

2.1.2.2 Exercise-induced bronchoconstriction

Related to exercise capacity and physical activity in the preterm born population is the effect symptoms may have on the ability to exercise. Several studies have gained information on the rates of bronchoconstriction in preterm and CLD groups after performing physical activity, normally following a cycle or treadmill test to exhaustion. Definitions of exercise-induced bronchoconstriction (EIB) have varied; with suggested decreases from baseline of FEV₁ of 10-15% being proposed (Crapo, 2000). An early study into EIB assessed a group of children followed up from their preterm birth at <32 weeks' gestation. Maximal exercise on a treadmill was performed and spirometry measurements were taken pre- and post-exercise. 96 preterm (43 with history of BPD) and 108 matched term children were compared. Post-exercise spirometry was performed but it is not clear at what interval after exertion this was done. All groups had a drop in FEV₁ post exercise compared to baseline (average drops across the groups were 7% for preterms with and without BPD, and 5% for term controls). The proportion of children in the BPD group with an abnormal FEV₁ (<80% predicted) increased from 42 to 54% with exercise, with the preterm and term groups also seeing an increase in rates from 15 - 30% and 8 - 17% respectively. Overall the BPD group had significantly worse pre- and post-exercise FEV₁ compared to the non-BPD groups (Gross et al., 1998).

Kriemler performed post-exercise spirometry on their cohort of 5- to 7-year-old children after cycling to exhaustion on a cycle ergometer. In their sample of preterm children with and without CLD, both groups had significantly increased rates of bronchoconstriction, with rates of 44% in the CLD group and 58% in the preterm group compared to only 22% in the control group (\geq 15% drop in FEV₁ or FEF₂₅₋₇₅) up to 10 minutes after completing exercise (Kriemler et al., 2005).

Another study looked at rates of EIB used children who had been enrolled in a trial comparing use of post-natal dexamethasone versus placebo for ventilator dependency during the neonatal period. These two preterm groups were followed up at an average age of 9 years and had spirometry performed post-maximal exercise. This was only done immediately and 5 minutes after exercise ceased. The average drop in FEV₁ was 2% in both groups, with prevalence of EIB (\geq 15% drop in FEV₁) at 7% in both groups (Nixon et al., 2007).

Hamon also reported increased rates of EIB in preterm children compared to those born at term, although reported that those with CLD were not at any higher risk of EIB. In this instance, 42 children aged 7 years and born between 1999 - 2001 at <32 weeks' gestation underwent submaximal exercise on a treadmill. Post-exercise spirometry was performed, and no term controls had decreases in %FEV₁ of >5% at either 5 or 15 minutes post-exercise compared to 24% of the preterm group who had decreases \geq 7%. The numbers (and their statistical significance) of preterm children who had decreases of at least 12% is not clear from the article and the average drop in FEV₁ for the preterm group was only 4.4% on average (Hamon et al., 2013).

Figure 2.2 %predicted FEV₁ at baseline, post-exercise, and following post-exercise reversibility testing for preterm-born children with chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD – solid line, circles), without CLD (dashed line, squares) and term controls (dotted line, triangles) (Joshi et al., 2013). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.



A clearer description of the impact of exercise on bronchoconstriction was published by Joshi et al from a cohort of 49 preterm children (26 with history of CLD) between the age of 8 -12 years. Post-maximal exercise spirometry was performed at 5, 10, 15, 30 and 40 minutes. They were compared to 26 term controls. The CLD group (who had a lower baseline FEV₁), had an average drop of 11% post-exercise. The preterm and term groups had significantly smaller decreases, with maximum average drops of 7.8% and 7.2% respectively. These peak drops were noted between 17.9 and 20.2 minutes depending on group, later than when spirometry was performed by Nixon, Kriemler and Hamon, perhaps explaining why the results obtained in some of those cases did not show marked EIB (Joshi et al., 2013).

2.1.2.3 Summary of exercise testing

The overall message from studies investigating exercise capacity and exerciseinduced bronchoconstriction, is that while individual studies have shown mixed results, preterm-born children have impaired exercise capacity. A number of these individual studies have had small sample sizes which may explain a lack of clear differences, hence the importance of thorough systematic reviews. Additionally, preterm children are at risk of exercise-induced symptoms.

2.1.3 Summary of introduction

Preterm-born children are at greater risk of long-term respiratory morbidity, as evidenced by objective measures of lung function testing. However, there are still some unknowns within all of this. This cohort of children enrolled in the RHiNO study offered a chance to reframe the thinking behind how we assess preterm children's longer term respiratory health, with a focus on current respiratory health rather than an historical diagnosis. Additionally, a focus on children with low lung function will likely reveal different patterns of results consistent with differing phenotypes.

2.1.4 Aims of study

- Define population characteristics based on children as stratified by their gestational and FEV₁ status;
- Assess lung function characteristics for participants within their gestation/lung function as above;
- 3. Assess exercise capacity, exercise-induced bronchoconstriction, and postexercise reversibility for participants within their gestation/lung as above;
- 4. Identify potential differing phenotypes within the preterm low lung function group and repeat steps 1-3 for any potential phenotypes.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Recruitment

2.2.1.1 Population

Children aged 7-12 years were recruited as part of the Respiratory Health Outcomes in Neonates (RHiNO) study. All children born preterm in 2003, 2005, 2007 and 2009-2011 were previously contacted for the Respiratory And Neurological Outcomes of Preterm birth Study (RANOPS), a questionnaire-based study looking at prevalence of symptoms in preterm-born children (Edwards et al., 2016). Age-, sex-, and birthplacematched children born at term were also contacted for RANOPS. These children from RANOPS, along with preterm children born in the intervening years and identified by NHS Wales Informatics Service, were contacted with a further questionnaire study, inviting their parents to complete the questionnaire and indicate their interest in their child taking part in a face-to-face visit for screening tests.

2.2.1.2 Screening visit

Children whose parents agreed to participate were visited by trained research nurses for a screening visit to obtain information regarding perinatal and respiratory history, perform anthropometric measurements, cardiovascular assessment, spirometry (MicroLoop Spirometer, Vyaire, Germany) including reversibility testing with 400 micrograms of salbutamol, exhaled nitric oxide testing (NIOX VERO, Circassia, UK) and urine and saliva collection. Preterm-born children were included if aged 7-12 years, were born before 35 weeks' gestation, living in South Wales, and without congenital abnormalities or significant cardiovascular or neurological disease. Term-born children who participated in RANOPS were invited to participate in the same way as the preterm children. Children were stratified based on their FEV₁ following the screening (Part 1) visit.

2.2.1.3 In-depth lung function testing

Following the screening visit, children were subsequently invited for in-depth lung function testing at the Children and Young Adults' Research Unit at the Noah's Ark Children's Hospital for Wales in Cardiff. All children with %FEV₁ \leq 85% (PT_{Iow}) (using Global Lung Function Initiative reference equations (Quanjer et al., 2012)) were invited for participation, as well as all term children with %FEV₁ >90% (T_c) to create a

normal comparison group. Preterm-born children with %FEV₁ >85% who were within the first 10 visits of a month were eligible to attend as preterm controls (PT_c).

Preterm-born children were designated PT_{low} if their %FEV₁ at Part 2 visit was $\leq 85\%$ predicted. These children were eligible for the RCT component of the study. If they were invited as PT_{low} but their FEV₁ on the day of testing was >85% they were deemed eligible to continue as preterm controls (PT_c) if they had been within the first 10 Part 1 visits of a given month. This was to ensure the preterm control group was not skewed towards the lower end of normal (with the assumption that if %predicted FEV₁ changed from <85% to >85% that the change would be marginal, and the result would be just over 85 %predicted). Preterm and term controls were defined as per Part 1 (see above). Children were excluded if they were unable to perform adequate spirometry. This is outlined in greater detail in Section 1.6.2.2 in Chapter 1.

The threshold of 85% predicted FEV₁ was used as the eligibility criteria for PT_{low} children being enrolled into the randomised control trial as outlined in Chapter 1. PT_{low} children were also divided by evidence of obstructive lung disease, using FEV₁/FVC ratio of 0.8 as a threshold to classify children into prematurity-associated obstructive (ratio <0.8) or non-obstructive (ratio \geq 0.8) lung disease (POLD, PnOLD respectively). Chapter 5 reviews the use of the above thresholds for assigning the relative definitions.

Children were asked to avoid taking certain medications (if applicable) on the day of testing, as below (Graham et al., 2019):

- Short acting beta-2 agonist within past 8 hours
- Inhaled corticosteroids within past 24 hours
- Long-acting beta-2 agonist within past 48 hours
- Leukotriene receptor antagonist within past 48 hours
- Antihistamines within past 48 hours

Children were asked to avoid caffeine products in the 24 hours prior to testing and avoid nitrite-containing foods on the morning of the testing. They also had to be free from respiratory tract infections for 3 weeks and well at time of testing. Written informed assent and consent were obtained from all participants and their parents/guardians respectively. Ethical approval for the study was granted by the South-West Bristol Research Ethics Committee (15/SW/0289).

2.2.1.4 Terms/Definitions

The following terms and definitions have been used for group designation:

PT_{low}: Preterm with low lung function (born at ≤34 weeks' gestation, FEV₁ ≤85% predicted)

PT_c: Preterm control (born at ≤34 weeks' gestation, FEV₁ >85% predicted)

T_c: Term control (born at \geq 37 weeks' gestation, FEV₁ >90% predicted)

The following abbreviations and definitions were used for disease parameters:

IUGR: Birth weight <5th centile;

PROM: Premature rupture of membranes; >24 hours prior to delivery;

CLD: Chronic lung disease of prematurity - combined mild/moderate/severe;

ROP: Retinopathy of prematurity, all stages;

IVH: Intraventricular haemorrhage, all grades;

NEC: Necrotising enterocolitis, requiring medical or surgical treatment;

ROP, IVH or NEC: A diagnosis of any one of these illnesses.

PDA: Patent ductus arteriosus, requiring medical or surgical treatment.

2.2.2 Testing

2.2.2.1 Anthropometry

Anthropometric data were collected using a stadiometer for height and the SC-331S Total Body Composition Analyzer (Tanita, USA) for body composition.

2.2.2.2 Fractional exhaled nitric oxide

 FE_{NO} was performed using an exhaled nitric oxide analyser (NIOX VERO, Circassia, UK), as shown in Figure 2.3. Children were instructed in its use prior to performing test. The device required a warm-up period after being switched on, following which a

warning would be issued if the sensor or breathing handle were out of date. Providing there were no issues with the above, the child would breathe in deeply through a filter applied to the breathing handle before exhaling at a steady rate and pressure until the test was complete. The child would have to breathe out for 10 seconds in total, although if the child had difficulty exhaling at the required speed for this duration, a shorter test of 6 seconds was performed. An animation was used to help the children achieve the desired flow rate, consisting of blowing a cloud from one side of the screen to the other, without letting it drop off the screen or fly too high. The child performed 2 tests. Both results were documented, and the highest FE_{NO} level was used in analysis.

Figure 2.3 Participant performing FE_{NO} using the NIOX VERO. Consent obtained from parent for image and use in published works.



2.2.2.3 Spirometry

Definitive spirometry was performed using either the MasterScreen Body and PFT systems with SentrySuite measurement software version 2.17 (Vyaire Medical, Germany), as seen in Figure 2.4. ERS/ATS guidelines for obtaining suitable spirometry were used for as a guide for performing the test and test acceptability (Miller et al., 2005). An explanation and a demonstration on how to perform the test were done before the child attempted the spirometry. Spirometry was performed with the child sat upright and wearing a nose clip. They were instructed to take the biggest breath in possible, before blowing out as hard and as fast as they could. Children were vocally encouraged to continue breathing out until they appeared to have reached their residual volume. A minimum of 3 tests were performed, aiming for the intratest criteria as per Miller et al (Miller et al., 2005). Spirometry was stopped once satisfactory testing was obtained, if the child did not wish to continue or if the child was unable to perform adequate spirometry. Quality control was performed to ensure the correct results from all the measurements were used. Daily volume calibrations and weekly flow calibrations were performed using a three-litre syringe. Results were measured at body temperature, ambient barometric pressure, saturated with water vapour (BTPS) and Global Lung Function Initiative predicted values were used to adjust for height, ethnicity, sex, and age (Quanjer et al., 2012). Spirometry was repeated at 4 separated times following conclusion of the exercise test: at 5-10 minutes; 15-20 minutes; 25-30 minutes; 40-45 minutes. This was performed as outlined above.



Figure 2.4 Participant performing spirometry using the MasterScreen Body. Consent obtained from parent for image and use in published works.

2.2.2.3.1 Reversibility testing

After the final post-exercise spirometry, 400 micrograms of salbutamol (Salamol, TEVA UK Limited) was given via MDI using a Volumatic spacer (GSK, UK). The salbutamol inhaler was shaken before each actuation. Children were instructed to take 10 breaths in and out after each actuation of salbutamol, ensuring the spacer's valve clicked with each breath. Repeat spirometry was performed 15 minutes after administration of the salbutamol, as described as above.

2.2.2.4 Skin prick testing

Skin prick testing was performed using Multi-Test PC lancets (Lincoln Diagnostics, USA). A Dipwell Tray (Lincoln Diagnostics, USA) was pre-prepared with the following

allergens: cat dander; dermatophagoides pterynyssinus; grass mix; dog dander; aspergillus fumigatus; and cladosporium herbarum; as well as a positive histamine control and a negative control (Immunotek, Spain). The procedure was explained to the child and their forearm was cleaned gently with water, after ensuring the skin was free from eczema or any similar skin conditions. The Multi-Test PC lancet was inserted into the Dipwell Tray ensuring all touch-posts were coated with allergen solution. The lancet was slowly removed from the tray, and gently applied to the skin. Following one second of gentle pressure, the lancet was pressed firmly onto the skin with gentle rotation of the lancet device up and down and side to side before removal. Successful application left the imprints of the touch posts on the skin. Any excess allergen fluid on the skin was gently removed with tissue paper ensuring no cross-contamination of sites. A timer was set for 15 minutes. Children were encouraged not to scratch if the arm got itchy. After 15 minutes the arm was inspected for any wheals that developed; the raised aspects of the wheals were drawn around with pen and tape was used to lift the pen mark and stuck to a data sheet. A ruler was then used to measure the widest diameter of any of the wheals. A test was deemed positive if the wheal was greater than 3 mm, along with a positive histamine control test.

2.2.2.5 Body plethysmography

Body plethysmography was performed using the MasterScreen Body system with SentrySuite measurement software version 2.17 (Vyaire Medical, Germany). Testing was performed with reference to the guidelines on static lung volume testing from ERS. In summary, children were seated in the body box and the door closed. A delay of two minutes following door closure allowed for pressure and thermal equalisation. Testing was performed with the child sat upright, wearing a nose clip and holding their cheeks. Following an initial period of tidal breathing to obtain airway resistance measurements, children then breathed against a closed shutter to obtain an intrathoracic gas volume (functional residual capacity) measurement followed by a paired expiratory vital capacity manoeuvre. A minimum of 5 repeatable resistance loops and a minimum of 3 repeatable FRC/VC measurements were obtained. Results were standardised against Global Lung Function Initiative reference values (Hall et al., 2021). A box calibration (in addition to the previously described volume/flow calibrations) for Tau verification (box seal) and shift volume was performed each day prior to testing, in line with the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.2.6 Helium dilution testing

Helium dilution testing was performed using the MasterScreen PFT system with SentrySuite measurement software version 2.17 (Vyaire Medical, Germany). Children performed the test sat upright wearing a nose clip. Once connected to the breathing circuit, a period of tidal breathing of 30-60 seconds was performed until a stable FRC was obtained. After starting the helium wash-in, children were instructed to expire to residual volume before continuing tidal breathing. Children were then instructed to return to tidal breathing. Once the helium concentration stabilised children were asked to perform an expiratory vital capacity manoeuvre. A single helium dilution test was performed providing a stable FRC was reached before helium wash-in and appropriate expiratory manoeuvres were performed. Children were watched closely for any leaks that may have given a false FRC. Results were standardised against Global Lung Function Initiative reference values (Hall et al., 2021). Gas analyser and filling sensor calibrations (in addition to the previously described volume/flow calibrations) were performed each day prior to testing, in line with the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.2.7 Cardiopulmonary exercise testing

Cardiopulmonary exercise testing was performed on a Paediatric Cycle Ergometer (Lode, Netherlands) linked to a MasterScreen CPX system (Vyaire Medical, Germany), as seen in Figure 2.5. Children wore a fitted facemask and respiratory parameters were measured using a turbine and gas sampling tube. Data were recorded in a breath-by-breath exercise programme on JLab version 5.72 (Vyaire Medical, Germany). Heart rate was recorded using a Polar H10 heart rate sensor (Polar, UK). Oxygen saturations were monitored with a Nellcor oxygen saturation monitor (Medtronic, USA). A ramp protocol was devised to facilitate the exercise testing. This involved 1 minute of baseline measurements at rest, 3 minutes of minimally-loaded cycling (7 Watts), then at an increasing rate of 1 Watt every 6 seconds (10 Watts per minute). The child was vocally encouraged to continue exercise until they could no longer consistently maintain cadence >60 rpm, with increasing encouragement as the load got higher. Perceived exertion rating was obtained every 3 minutes and at the point the child could no longer continue. Two minutes of minimally loaded pedalling concluded the test. A test was deemed to be 'maximal' if it met \geq 2/4 of the following criteria:

- Respiratory exchange ratio (RER) >1.00;
- Heart rate (HR) ≥80% predicted (220 bpm age);
- ≥9/10 on OMNI scale (pictorial scale for rating of perceived exertion (Barkley and Roemmich, 2008));
- Peak oxygen uptake (VO2) plateau based on visual analysis.

Minute ventilation ($\dot{V}E$), $\dot{V}O_2$ and peak carbon dioxide production ($\dot{V}CO_2$) results were averaged from the last 15 seconds of peak exercise. Maximum load, heart rate and respiratory rate were the highest recorded value at the peak of exercise. Ventilatory reserve was calculated by the following equation: 1-(minute ventilation/maximal voluntary ventilation (MVV))*100, where MVV = FEV₁ x 35 (Joshi et al., 2013). An automated volume calibration and gas analyser calibration were performed on each day of testing, in line with manufacturer's instructions.



Figure 2.5 Participant performing cardiopulmonary exercise testing using the MasterScreen CPX. Consent obtained from parent for image and use in published works.

2.2.3 Ethics

RHiNO was registered with the European Clinical Trials Database (EudraCT: 2015-003712-20). Ethical approval was granted by the South-West Bristol Research Ethics Committee (15/SW/0289). All parents provided written consent and children, where appropriate, provided written assent before participation.

2.2.4 Statistical analysis

Independent t-tests were used for two group comparisons and one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction for multiple groups comparisons. Categorical data were assessed using Pearson's χ^2 tests. Within-group (baseline, post-exercise, and postexercise bronchodilator) and between group (lung function groups) comparisons across time points were compared using two-way repeated measures ANOVA. Change scores between groups were compared using one-way ANOVA. All group comparisons were corrected for multiplicity using Bonferroni correction. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 26 (IBM, USA). A p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Participant numbers

241 children attended testing. 20 of these children were excluded from analysis. 5 children were unable to perform adequate spirometry on the day (3 preterm, 2 term); 14 children were invited with low forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁) following screening visit (potential RCT candidates), however at Part 2 had FEV₁ >85% and were not selected a priori as controls (i.e., they were not within the first 10 screening visits of the month). One term child was excluded due to FEV₁ ≤90%. 18 children did not reach maximal exercise ($PT_{Iow} = 6$, $PT_c = 8$, $T_c = 4$), and a further 3 PT_c children did not complete spirometry at all 3 time points so were excluded from repeated measures analysis. This meant from a total of 221 eligible children, 47 PT_{Iow} , 87 PT_c , and 66 T_c were used as part of the repeated measures ANOVA looking at post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator spirometry changes. This is summarised in Figure 2.6.





2.3.2 Lung function groups

2.3.2.1 Participant characteristics

Demographics (Table 2.1) for the 53 PT_{low} , 98 PT_c and 70 T_c were similar. PT_c children were marginally older than their term counterparts. Otherwise, height, weight, BMI (both actual and z-score) were no different between groups.

 PT_{low} children were born earlier (29.7 vs 31.1 vs 40.0 weeks' gestation) and smaller (1392 vs 1729 vs 3528 grams) than PT_c and T_c groups, and both preterm groups had higher rates of IUGR than term counterparts. There were a greater proportion of children with CLD, combined ROP/IVH/NEC, and PDA in the PT_{low} group (38%, 30%, 17% respectively) than in the PT_c group (18%, 13%, 4% respectively). Otherwise, perinatal characteristics were similar in both preterm groups. Perinatal data are summarised in Table 2.2.

Table 2.3 shows children with low lung function were more likely to have ever had bronchiolitis and experienced wheeze compared to PT_c and Tc (32 vs 11 vs 4% for bronchiolitis, and 72 vs 46 vs 27% for wheeze). PT_c 's wheeze ever rates were also significantly greater than T_c . Otherwise, the preterm groups were similar in their respiratory history. PT_{low} also had a higher rate of asthma diagnosis than term children (30 vs 7%) and both preterm groups had higher rate of current maternal smoking as a result of there being no maternal smokers in the term group. Rates of recent wheeze were similar across the groups. FE_{NO} showed no statistically significant differences across groups, however PT_c had higher skin prick test positive rate (28%) compared to T_c (11%).

Current demographics	PT _{low} , n=53	PT _c , n=98	T _c , n=70
	10.8	11.1	10.5
	(10.5 to 11.2)	(10.9 to 11.4) ^{‡‡}	(10.2 to 10.7)
Male, n (%)	24 (45%)	49 (50%)	37 (53%)
Height cm	143.4	146.7	143.9
fieight, chi	(140.3 to 146.5)	(144.8 to 148.7)	(141.6 to 146.1)
Height 7-score	0.05	0.33	0.48
Height, 2-score	(-0.27 to 0.38)	(0.15 to 0.52)	(0.25 to 0.72)
Woight kg	37.2	40.3	37.9
Weight, Kg	(34.1 to 40.2)	(38.2 to 42.4)	(35.4 to 40.4)
Woight 7 score	0.03	0.41	0.46
weight, 2-score	(-0.36 to 0.41)	(0.21 to 0.62)	(0.22 to 0.71)
$PML ka/m^2$	17.7	18.5	18.0
	(16.8 to 18.6)	(17.8 to 19.2)	(17.3 to 18.8)
PML 7 score	-0.02	0.26	0.30
Divil, Z-SCOTE	(-0.40 to 0.37)	(0.01 to 0.52)	(0.05 to 0.56)
Perinatal demographics	PT _{low} , n=53	PT _c , n=98	T _c , n=70
Gestation, decimal	29.7	31.1	40.0
Gestation, decimal weeks	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** ***	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) ^{###}	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3)
Gestation, decimal weeks	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) ^{###} 1,729	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** ***	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) ***	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651)
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams Birth weight, Z-score	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22 (-0.60 to 0.16)	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27 (0.00 to 0.54)	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08 (-0.15 to 0.31)
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams Birth weight, Z-score IUGR, n (%)	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22 (-0.60 to 0.16) 12 (23%) [†]	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27 (0.00 to 0.54) 15 (15%) ***	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08 (-0.15 to 0.31) 4 (6%)
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams Birth weight, Z-score IUGR, n (%) PROM, n (%)	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22 (-0.60 to 0.16) 12 (23%) * 17 (32%) ***	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27 (0.00 to 0.54) 15 (15%) *** 39 (40%) ***	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08 (-0.15 to 0.31) 4 (6%) 2 (3%)
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams Birth weight, Z-score IUGR, n (%) PROM, n (%) Caesarean section, n (%)	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22 (-0.60 to 0.16) 12 (23%) * 17 (32%) *** 29 (55%) ***	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27 (0.00 to 0.54) 15 (15%) *** 39 (40%) *** 56 (57%) ***	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08 (-0.15 to 0.31) 4 (6%) 2 (3%) 16 (23%)
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams Birth weight, Z-score IUGR, n (%) PROM, n (%) Caesarean section, n (%) Antenatal steroids, n (%)	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22 (-0.60 to 0.16) 12 (23%) * 17 (32%) *** 29 (55%) *** 48 (91%) ***	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27 (0.00 to 0.54) 15 (15%) *** 39 (40%) *** 56 (57%) *** 80 (82%) ***	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08 (-0.15 to 0.31) 4 (6%) 2 (3%) 16 (23%) 0 (0%)
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams Birth weight, Z-score IUGR, n (%) PROM, n (%) Caesarean section, n (%) Antenatal steroids, n (%) Invasive ventilation, n (%)	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22 (-0.60 to 0.16) 12 (23%) * 17 (32%) *** 29 (55%) *** 48 (91%) *** 25 (47%) ***	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27 (0.00 to 0.54) 15 (15%) *** 39 (40%) *** 56 (57%) *** 80 (82%) *** 40 (41%) ***	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08 (-0.15 to 0.31) 4 (6%) 2 (3%) 16 (23%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams Birth weight, Z-score IUGR, n (%) PROM, n (%) Caesarean section, n (%) Antenatal steroids, n (%) Invasive ventilation, n (%) CLD, n (%)	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22 (-0.60 to 0.16) 12 (23%) * 17 (32%) *** 29 (55%) *** 48 (91%) *** 25 (47%) *** 20 (38%) * ***	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27 (0.00 to 0.54) 15 (15%) *** 39 (40%) *** 56 (57%) *** 80 (82%) *** 40 (41%) *** 18 (18%) ***	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08 (-0.15 to 0.31) 4 (6%) 2 (3%) 16 (23%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams Birth weight, Z-score IUGR, n (%) PROM, n (%) Caesarean section, n (%) Antenatal steroids, n (%) Invasive ventilation, n (%) CLD, n (%) Home oxygen, n (%)	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22 (-0.60 to 0.16) 12 (23%) * 17 (32%) *** 29 (55%) *** 48 (91%) *** 25 (47%) *** 20 (38%) * *** 5 (9%) *	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27 (0.00 to 0.54) 15 (15%) *** 39 (40%) *** 56 (57%) *** 80 (82%) *** 40 (41%) *** 18 (18%) *** 2 (2%)	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08 (-0.15 to 0.31) 4 (6%) 2 (3%) 16 (23%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)
Gestation, decimal weeks Birth weight, grams Birth weight, Z-score IUGR, n (%) PROM, n (%) Caesarean section, n (%) Antenatal steroids, n (%) Invasive ventilation, n (%) CLD, n (%) Home oxygen, n (%) ROP, IVH or NEC, n (%)	29.7 (28.9 to 30.6) ** *** 1,392 (1,235 to 1,549) ** *** -0.22 (-0.60 to 0.16) 12 (23%) * 17 (32%) *** 29 (55%) *** 48 (91%) *** 25 (47%) *** 20 (38%) * *** 5 (9%) * 16 (30%) * ***	31.1 (30.5 to 31.6) *** 1,729 (1,616 to 1,843) *** 0.27 (0.00 to 0.54) 15 (15%) *** 39 (40%) *** 56 (57%) *** 80 (82%) *** 40 (41%) *** 18 (18%) *** 2 (2%) 13 (13%) **	40.0 (39.7 to 40.3) 3,528 (3,404 to 3,651) 0.08 (-0.15 to 0.31) 4 (6%) 2 (3%) 16 (23%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%)

Table 2.1 Anthropometric and perinatal characteristics of participants for preterm children with low lung function (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test) unless otherwise specified. Abbreviations: BMI - Body Mass Index; IUGR - Intrauterine Growth Restriction; PROM - Premature rupture of membranes; CLD - Chronic Lung Disease of prematurity ROP - Retinopathy of Prematurity; IVH -Intraventricular Haemorrhage; NEC – Necrotising Enterocolitis.

 $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{PT}_{low} \text{ vs } \textbf{PT}_{c}: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001. \\ \textbf{PT}_{low} \text{ vs } \textbf{T}_{c}: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; +*+ p < 0.001. \\ \end{array}$

PT_c vs T_c: ‡ p<0.05; ‡‡ p<0.01; ‡‡‡ p<0.001.

Table	2.2	Respir	atory	and	atopy	charac	cteristic	s and	fractior	nal exha	led ni	tric	oxide	for
preter	m c	hildren	with	low	lung fu	inction	(PT _{low})	сотра	ared to	preterm	(PT _c)	and	term	(T _c)
contro	ols													

Respiratory history	PT _{low} , n=53	PT _c , n=98	T _c , n=70
Bronchiolitis, n (%)	17 (32%) ** ***	11 (11%)	3 (4%)
Wheeze ever, n (%)	38 (72%) ** ***	45 (46%) [‡]	19 (27%)
Recent wheeze, n (%)	16 (30%)	20 (20%)	9 (13%)
Current salbutamol use, n (%)	13 (25%) **	16 (16%)	4 (6%)
Current preventer use, n (%)	7 (13%)	11 (11%)	3 (4%)
Doctor-diagnosed asthma, n (%)	16 (30%) **	18 (18%)	5 (7%)
Family history of asthma, n (%)	33 (62%)	48 (50%)	35 (50%)
Current maternal smoking, n (%)	6 (11%) †	9 (9%) [‡]	0 (0%)
Skin prick testing	PT _{low} , n=53	PT _c , n=98	T _c , n=70
≥1 positive test(s), n (%)	14 (26%)	27 (28%) [‡]	8 (11%)
FE _{NO}	PT _{low} , n=50	PT _c , n=97	T _c , n=68
FE _{NO} >35ppb, n (%)	14 (28%)	17 (18%)	8 (12%)
Highost EE	27.3	21.3	19.9
nighest feno, hhp	(19.5 to 35.1)	(17.4 to 25.3)	(15.3 to 24.4)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test) unless otherwise specified. **Abbreviations:** FE_{NO} – Fractional Exhaled Nitric Oxide.

83

2.3.2.2 Lung volume & exercise testing

47 PT_{low}, 90 PT_c, and 66 T_c children performed acceptable exercise testing with data summarised in Table 2.3. All three groups reached comparable peak heart rates suggesting a similar degree of exertion was performed. Despite this, both preterm groups achieved lower peak relative workloads (2.29 vs 2.45 vs 2.72 W/kg for PT_{low}, PT_c and T_c respectively) and lower peak relative O₂ uptake (31.9 vs 33.8 vs 38.1 mls/kg/min for PT_{low}, PT_c and T_c respectively) compared to term children. PT_{low} children had lower relative CO₂ production compared to T_c children (37.2 vs 43.7 mls/kg/min) and lower relative peak minute ventilation compared to both control groups (1.33 vs 1.50 vs 1.61 L/kg/min for PT_{low}, PT_c and T_c respectively). Of note, PT_{low} children also used up a greater proportion of their ventilatory reserve while achieving these lower values.

Similar group differences were seen when using helium dilution and plethysmography testing, as summarised in Table 2.4. PT_{low} had lower %TLC, higher absolute and %predicted RV/TLC and proportion with RV/TLC >0.30 compared to both control groups. The main difference seen between testing modalities was a significantly greater %RV on plethysmography for the PT_{low} group compared to both controls (105.9 vs 88.7 vs 89.1 %predicted on plethysmography compared to 99.9 vs 92.5 vs 92.6 %predicted on helium testing, for PT_{low}, PT_c and T_c respectively). Both preterm groups also had lower %predicted TLC than term controls on both plethysmography and helium dilution testing. The proportion of children with TLC <LLN was greatest in PT_{low}, but particularly on helium dilution testing showing almost a quarter had low TLC.

Exercise	PT _{low} , n=47	PT _c , n=90	T _c , n=66	
Dook boort rata bam	187.9	190.2	189.7	
Peak heart rate, bpm	(184.4 to 191.4)	(187.8 to 192.6)	(187.2 to 192.3)	
Peak respiratory rate,	62.4	62.5	66.3	
bpm	(59.5 to 65.3)	(60.2 to 64.9)	(64 to 68.6)	
Workload W/kg	2.29	2.45	2.72	
workidau, w/kg	(2.13 to 2.45) ***	(2.32 to 2.58) [‡]	(2.58 to 2.86)	
Peak O2 uptake,	31.9	33.8	38.1	
ml/kg/min	(30.2 to 33.7) ***	(32.2 to 35.5) ^{‡‡}	(36.1 to 40.1)	
Peak CO2 production,	37.2	40.4	43.7	
ml/kg/min	(34.8 to 39.5) ***	(38.5 to 42.4)	(41.6 to 45.8)	
Dook VE 1/min	49.8	59.4	59	
Peak ve, L/IIIII	(45.6 to 54.1) ** **	(56.1 to 62.6)	(55.1 to 62.8)	
Relative peak VE,	1.33	1.5	1.61	
L/kg/min	(1.24 to 1.42) * ***	(1.41 to 1.58)	(1.53 to 1.7)	
Peak VE vs height,	0.34	0.4	0.41	
L/m/min	(0.32 to 0.37) *** ***	(0.38 to 0.42)	(0.39 to 0.43)	
Highost DED	1.2	1.24	1.2	
nighest KEK	(1.17 to 1.23)	(1.22 to 1.26) [‡]	(1.18 to 1.22)	
Proathing reconverses of	14.5	25.8	24.8	
breathing reserve max, %	(9.4 to 19.6) *** **	(22.4 to 29.2)	(21.8 to 27.8)	

Table 2.3 Cardiopulmonary exercise testing results for preterm children with low lung function (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: Ve – minute ventilation; RER – Respiratory Exchange Ratio.

PT_{low} **vs PT**_c: * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001.

PTI_{ow} **vs T**_c: † p<0.05; †† p<0.01; ††† p<0.001.

PT_c **vs T**_c: ‡ p<0.05; ‡‡ p<0.01; ‡‡‡ p<0.001.

Table 2.4 Body plethysmography and helium dilution results for preterm children with low lung function (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls

Static lung volumes (Plethysmography)	PTl _{ow} , n=49	PT _c , n=92	T _c , n=68	
EBC %prodicted	98.4	95.4	97.5	
rkc, %predicted	(91.8 to 105)	(92.3 to 98.5)	(93.6 to 101.4)	
TLC %prodicted	92.1	97.2	101.6	
TEC, //predicted	(88.4 to 95.7) * ***	(95.2 to 99.2) [‡]	(99.4 to 103.8)	
RV %predicted	105.9	88.7	89.1	
	(96 to 115.9) ** **	(83.6 to 93.7)	(83.1 to 95.2)	
BV/TLC ratio	0.27	0.21	0.21	
	(0.25 to 0.28) *** ***	(0.20 to 0.22)	(0.20 to 0.22)	
	124.7	99.4	96.4	
RV/TLC, %predicted	(117.1 to 132.3) *** ***	(94.2 to 104.6)	(90.8 to 102.0)	
Proportion RV/TLC > 0.30, n (%)	11 (22%) *†	6 (7%)	4 (6%)	
Proportion TLC < LLN, n (%)	6 (12%) *	4 (4%)	0 (0%)	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution)	PT _{low} , n=47	PT _c , n=92	T _c , n=65	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution)	PT_{low}, n=47 94.7	PT_c, n=92 93.2	T_c, n=65 99.6	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution) FRC, %predicted	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7)	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2)	T_c, n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8)	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution) FRC, %predicted	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7) 90.7	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2) 96.9	T_c, n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8) 102.2	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution)FRC, %predictedTLC, %predicted	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7) 90.7 (86.6 to 94.8) ** ***	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2) 96.9 (94.8 to 99) ^{##}	T_c, n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8) 102.2 (99.8 to 104.6)	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution) FRC, %predicted TLC, %predicted BV, %predicted	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7) 90.7 (86.6 to 94.8) ** *** 99.9	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2) 96.9 (94.8 to 99) ** 92.5	Tc, n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8) 102.2 (99.8 to 104.6) 92.6	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution)FRC, %predictedTLC, %predictedRV, %predicted	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7) 90.7 (86.6 to 94.8) ** *** 99.9 (88.5 to 111.3)	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2) 96.9 (94.8 to 99) ** 92.5 (87.2 to 97.9)	T _c , n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8) 102.2 (99.8 to 104.6) 92.6 (86.1 to 99.2)	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution) FRC, %predicted TLC, %predicted RV, %predicted RV/TLC, ratio	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7) 90.7 (86.6 to 94.8) ** *** 99.9 (88.5 to 111.3) 0.25	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2) 96.9 (94.8 to 99) ^{‡‡} 92.5 (87.2 to 97.9) 0.22	Tc, n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8) 102.2 (99.8 to 104.6) 92.6 (86.1 to 99.2) 0.21	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution)FRC, %predictedTLC, %predictedRV, %predictedRV/TLC, ratio	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7) 90.7 (86.6 to 94.8) ** *** 99.9 (88.5 to 111.3) 0.25 (0.23 to 0.28) ** ***	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2) 96.9 (94.8 to 99) ** 92.5 (87.2 to 97.9) 0.22 (0.21 to 0.23)	Tc, n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8) 102.2 (99.8 to 104.6) 92.6 (86.1 to 99.2) 0.21 (0.2 to 0.23)	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution)FRC, %predictedTLC, %predictedRV, %predictedRV/TLC, ratio	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7) 90.7 (86.6 to 94.8) ** *** 99.9 (88.5 to 111.3) 0.25 (0.23 to 0.28) ** *** 118.8	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2) 96.9 (94.8 to 99) ** 92.5 (87.2 to 97.9) 0.22 (0.21 to 0.23) 104	Tc, n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8) 102.2 (99.8 to 104.6) 92.6 (86.1 to 99.2) 0.21 (0.2 to 0.23) 99.4	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution)FRC, %predictedTLC, %predictedRV, %predictedRV/TLC, ratioRV/TLC, %predicted	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7) 90.7 (86.6 to 94.8) ** *** 99.9 (88.5 to 111.3) 0.25 (0.23 to 0.28) ** *** 118.8 (109.2 to 128.3) ** ***	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2) 96.9 (94.8 to 99) ** 92.5 (87.2 to 97.9) 0.22 (0.21 to 0.23) 104 (98.7 to 109.4)	Tc, n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8) 102.2 (99.8 to 104.6) 92.6 (86.1 to 99.2) 0.21 (0.2 to 0.23) 99.4 (93.7 to 105.1)	
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution)FRC, %predictedTLC, %predictedRV, %predictedRV/TLC, ratioRV/TLC, %predictedProportion RV/TLC > 0.30, n (%)	PT _{low} , n=47 94.7 (87.6 to 101.7) 90.7 (86.6 to 94.8) ** *** 99.9 (88.5 to 111.3) 0.25 (0.23 to 0.28) ** *** 118.8 (109.2 to 128.3) ** *** 14 (30%) * **	PT _c , n=92 93.2 (90.2 to 96.2) 96.9 (94.8 to 99) ** 92.5 (87.2 to 97.9) 0.22 (0.21 to 0.23) 104 (98.7 to 109.4) 13 (14%)	Tc, n=65 99.6 (95.3 to 103.8) 102.2 (99.8 to 104.6) 92.6 (86.1 to 99.2) 0.21 (0.2 to 0.23) 99.4 (93.7 to 105.1) 3 (5%)	

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test) unless otherwise specified. **Abbreviations: FRC** – Functional Residual Capacity; **TLC** – Total Lung Capacity; **RV** – Residual Volume.

PT_{low} **vs PT**_c: * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001.

PTI_{ow} vs T_c: + p<0.05; ++ p<0.01; +++ p<0.001.

PT_c **vs T**_c: ‡ p<0.05; ‡‡ p<0.01; ‡‡‡ p<0.001.
2.3.2.3 Spirometry

As per how the groups were stratified (according to lung function), %FEV₁ was lowest in PT_{low} group (76 vs 99 vs 105 % for PT_{low} , PT_c and T_c respectively). Additionally, they also had lower %FVC (90 vs 103 vs 108 % for PT_{low} , PT_c and T_c respectively) and FEV₁/FVC (74 vs 84 vs 85 % for PT_{low} , PT_c and T_c respectively), as described in Table 2.5 and illustrated in Figure 2.7.

All groups had a significant decrease in %FEV₁ and %FVC following exercise, and a significant increase in %FEV₁, %FVC and FEV₁/FVC following post-exercise bronchodilator, as summarised in Table 2.5. All 3 groups showed similar drop in absolute % FEV₁ following exercise. PT_{low} had a greater decrease in absolute % FVC (5.6%) compared to PT_c (3.7%). Following subsequent bronchodilator therapy, the greatest response was seen in the PT_{low} group compared to PT_c and T_c for FEV₁ (11.9 vs 5.7 vs 6.3 absolute % predicted respectively). 57% of PT_{low} children had a post-exercise bronchodilator response of >10% predicted FEV₁ compared to 17 % in both control groups.

Table 2.5 Spirometry parameters at baseline and response to exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator (BD) therapy, for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls

FEV ₁	PT _{low} , n=47	PT _c , n=87	T _c , n=66
Baseline, %predicted	75.8 (73.3 to 78.3) **** ***	99.3 (97.4 to 101.1) ##	104.6 (102.5 to 106.7)
Post-exercise, %predicted	<u>dod</u> 72.1	⁰⁰⁰ 95.8	^{ddd} 100.8
	(69.4 to 74.8) *** ***	(93.9 to 97.8) ^{‡‡}	(98.6 to 103.1)
Post-exercise BD,	<u>81.5 to 86.4</u> *** ***	<u>²²² 101.5</u>	²²² 107.1
%predicted		(99.7 to 103.3) ^{‡‡‡}	(105.1 to 109.2)
Baseline to post-exercise change, %predicted	-3.7	-3.4	-3.7
	(-5.0 to – 2.4)	(-4.3 to -2.6)	(-5.0 to -2.5)
Post-exercise to post- exercise BD change, %predicted	11.9 (9.0 to 14.7) *** ***	5.7 (4.8 to 6.5)	6.3 (5.0 to 7.6)
Post-exercise BD response >10% FEV ₁ , n (%)	27 (57%) *** ***	15 (17%)	11 (17%)
FVC	PT _{low} , n=47	PT _c , n=87	T _c , n=66
Baseline, %predicted	90.4	102.5	108.0
	(87.7 to 93.2) *** ***	(100.5 to 104.6) ^{##}	(105.6 to 110.3)
Post-exercise, %predicted	<u>dod 84.8</u>	^{<u>ððð</u>} 98.8	^{ddd} 103.2
	(82.1 to 87.6) *** ***	(96.8 to 100.8) [‡]	(100.9 to 105.5)
Post-exercise BD,	<u>86.7 to 92.7</u> *** ***	²²² 101.0	²²² 105.5
%predicted		(98.8 to 103.2) [‡]	(102.9 to 108.0)
Baseline to post-exercise change, %predicted	-5.6	-3.7	-4.8
	(-7.1 to -4.1) [*]	(-4.6 to -2.8)	(-5.7 to -3.8)
Post-exercise to post- exercise BD change, %predicted	4.9 (2.9 to 6.8) ^{* †}	2.2 (1.2 to 3.3)	2.3 (1.4 to 3.2)
FEV ₁ /FVC	PT _{low} , n=47	PT _c , n=87	T _c , n=66
Baseline, ratio	0.74	0.84	0.84
	(0.72 to 0.76) *** ***	(0.83 to 0.86)	(0.83 to 0.86)
Post-exercise, ratio	0.75	0.85	0.85
	(0.73 to 0.77) *** ***	(0.83 to 0.86)	(0.83 to 0.87)
Post-exercise BD, ratio	<u>(0.81 to 0.84)</u> *** ***	<u>²²² 0.88</u> (0.87 to 0.89)	<u>²²² 0.88</u> (0.87 to 0.90)
Baseline to post-exercise change	0.010	0.002	0.008
	(-0.002 to 0.022)	(-0.004 to 0.009)	(-0.001 to 0.017)
Post-exercise to post- exercise BD change	0.078 (0.060 to 0.095) **** ***	0.031 (0.023 to 0.038)	0.031 (0.023 to 0.040)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). **Abbreviations:** FEV₁ – Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second; FVC – Forced Vital Capacity; BD – bronchodilator.

PT_{low} **vs PT**_c: * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001.

PT_{low} **vs T**_c: † p<0.05; †† p<0.01; ††† p<0.001.

 $PT_c vs T_c$: $\ddagger p < 0.05$; $\ddagger p < 0.01$; $\ddagger \ddagger p < 0.001$.

<u>Baseline vs Post-exercise</u>: $\frac{\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.05; $\frac{\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.01; $\frac{\partial\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise bronchodilator: ^{*e*} p<0.05; ^{*ee*} p<0.01; ^{*eee*} p<0.001.



Figure 2.7 % predicted FEV₁, % predicted FVC and FEV₁/FVC at baseline for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls.

2.3.3 Obstructive & non-obstructive preterm lung disease groups

The spirometry results from the PT_{Iow} group clearly showed lower FEV₁/FVC compared to controls. Low FEV₁/FVC is associated with evidence of airway obstruction (Pellegrino et al., 2005), so this result was suggestive that within the PT_{Iow} children were predominantly those with potential airway obstruction. As a result, I classified children with low lung function into two groups base on their FEV₁/FVC ratio, with those children with a ratio of <0.80 defined as having preterm-associated obstructive lung disease (POLD). Chapter 5 outlines rationale and review of using this cut off to determine lung obstruction. Children with FEV₁/FVC \geq 0.80 I classified as having preterm-associated non-obstructive lung disease, or mixed patterns, however I felt that this group were harder to define than the obstructive group as a single phenotype.

Patient characteristics were compared directly between POLD and PnOLD, and testing outcomes were compared between POLD, PnOLD and PT_c.

2.3.3.1 Participant characteristics

When dividing the PT_{low} group into those with obstructive lung disease (POLD) and non-obstructive lung disease (PnOLD), few differences were seen for their anthropometrics or their perinatal history. There was a trend towards fewer males in the PnOLD group (only 25% of the 16 were male, compared to just over half in the POLD group). There were higher rates of invasive ventilation in POLD (57% vs 25%), otherwise similar gestation, birth weight and IUGR rates were seen. These characteristics are shown in Table 2.6.

Table 2.7 details respiratory and atopy history of the POLD and PnOLD children. Rates of wheeze ever were higher in POLD (81% vs 50%, p <0.05), however there was no statistical difference seen between the groups for asthma diagnosis, recent wheeze, or salbutamol, although there was a trend towards higher rates in POLD. POLD did have higher FE_{NO} levels than PnOLD (34 vs 13ppb) and a greater proportion of children with FE_{NO} had >35 ppb (38 vs 6%).

Table 2.6 Anthropometric and perinatal characteristics of participants for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups, with preterm controls (PT_c) for comparison.

Current demographics	POLD, n=37	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=98
Age, vears	10.7	11.1	11.1
	(10.3 to 11.1)	(10.5 to 11.7)	(10.9 to 11.4)
Male, n (%)	20 (54%)	4 (25%)	49 (50%)
Height, cm	142.2	146.1	146.7
	(138.7 to 145.7)	(139.4 to 152.8)	(144.8 to 148.7)
Height, Z-score	0	0.19	0.33
	(-0.39 to 0.38)	(-0.51 to 0.89)	(0.15 to 0.52)
Weight, kg	36.6	38.5	40.3
	(33.2 to 40.0)	(31.7 to 45.4)	(38.2 to 42.4)
Weight, Z-score	0.07	-0.07	0.41
<u> </u>	(-0.38 to 0.51)	(-0.90 to 0.77)	(0.21 to 0.62)
BMI, kg/m2	17.8	17.6	18.5
	(16.7 to 18.8)	(15.6 to 19.6)	(17.8 to 19.2)
BMI, Z-score	0.08	-0.25	0.26
	(-0.37 to 0.54)	(-1.04 to 0.54)	(0.01 to 0.52)
Perinatal demographics	POLD, n=37	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=98
Gestation, decimal	29.8	29.6	31.1
weeks	(28.8 to 30.8)	(28.0 to 31.3)	(30.5 to 31.6)
Birth weight grams	1422	1324	1729
Dirti weight, grams	(1236 to 1607)	(1000 to 1648)	(1616 to 1843)
Birth weight 7-score	-0.14	-0.39	0.27
Dirti weight, 2-3001e	(-0.57 to 0.28)	(-1.24 to 0.47)	(0.00 to 0.54)
IUGR, n (%)	8 (22%)	4 (25%)	15 (15%)
PROM, n (%)	13 (35%)	4 (25%)	39 (40%)
Caesarean section, n (%)	20 (54%)	9 (56%)	56 (57%)
Antenatal steroids, n (%)	33 (89%)	15 (94%)	80 (82%)
Invasive ventilation, n (%)	21 (57%) [§]	4 (25%)	40 (41%)
CLD, n (%)	15 (41%)	5 (31%)	18 (18%)
Home oxygen, n (%)	4 (11%)	1 (6%)	2 (2%)
ROP, IVH or NEC, n (%)	10 (27%)	6 (38%)	13 (13%)
PDA, n (%)	6 (16%)	3 (19%)	4 (4%)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test) unless otherwise specified. **Abbreviations: BMI** – Body Mass Index; **IUGR** – Intrauterine Growth Restriction; **PROM** – Premature rupture of membranes; **CLD** – Chronic Lung Disease of prematurity **ROP** – Retinopathy of Prematurity; **IVH** – Intraventricular Haemorrhage; **NEC** – Necrotising Enterocolitis.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001

Table 2.7 Respiratory and atopy characteristics and fractional exhaled nitric oxide for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups, with preterm controls (PT_c) for comparison.

Respiratory history	POLD, n=37	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=98
Doctor-diagnosed asthma, n (%)	11 (30%)	5 (31%)	18 (18%)
Wheeze ever, n (%)	30 (81%) [§]	8 (50%)	45 (46%)
Recent wheeze, n (%)	14 (38%)	2 (13%)	20 (20%)
Current salbutamol use, n (%)	11 (30%)	2 (13%)	16 (16%)
Current maternal smoking, n (%)	5 (14%)	1 (6%)	9 (9%)
Skin prick testing	POLD, n=37	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=98
≥1 positive test(s), n (%)	11 (30%)	3 (19%)	27 (28%)
FE _{NO}	POLD, n=34	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=97
FE _{NO} >35ppb, n (%)	13 (38%) [§]	1 (6%)	17 (18%)
Highest FE _{NO} , ppb	34.2 (23.6 to 44.7) ^{§§}	12.8 (7.0 to 18.5)	21.3 (17.4 to 25.3)

Results of independent t-test expressed as mean (95% confidence intervals) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test) unless otherwise specified. **Abbreviations: FE**_{NO} – Fractional Exhaled Nitric Oxide. **POLD vs PnOLD**: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001

2.3.3.2 Lung volume & exercise testing

Few differences were seen between POLD and PnOLD during exercise testing as shown in Table 2.8, although lower peak minute ventilation ($\dot{V}E$) was found in the POLD compared to PT_c. This difference was lost when corrected for weight, however remained when corrected for height. POLD achieved lower respiratory exchange ratio compared to PnOLD and PT_c (1.17 vs 1.26 vs 1.24 for PT_{low}, PT_c and T_c respectively), and had the highest use of their ventilatory reserve.

Similar scope of differences between the groups were seen when using plethysmography and helium dilution. PnOLD had lower %FRC and %TLC than the other preterm groups, consistent with potential restrictive pattern of lung disease. 40% had TLC <LLN on plethysmography and 56% on helium dilution testing. This suggests that the low TLC on a small number (n=3, difference between plethysmography and helium) may have mixed disease. POLD children have greater RV/TLC ratio, again suggestive of hyperinflation, as would be expected of an obstructive lung disease phenotype. These data are summarised in Table 2.9.

Exercise	POLD, n=31	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=90
Peak heart rate, bpm	186.6	190.4	190.2
	(181.9 to 191.2)	(185.1 to 195.8)	(187.8 to 192.6)
Peak respiratory rate,	62.9	61.4	62.5
bpm	(59.5 to 66.4)	(55.8 to 67.1)	(60.2 to 64.9)
	2.28	2.31	2.45
WOIKIOAU, W/Kg	(2.07 to 2.49)	(2.04 to 2.58)	(2.32 to 2.58)
Peak O2 uptake,	32.6	30.6	33.8
ml/kg/min	(30.2 to 34.9)	(28.0 to 33.3)	(32.2 to 35.5)
Peak CO2 production,	37.2	37.1	40.4
ml/kg/min	(34.1 to 40.4)	(33.5 to 40.7)	(38.5 to 42.4)
Peak VE, L/min	49.3	51.0	59.4
	(44.0 to 54.5) ^{¥¥}	(42.8 to 59.2)	(56.1 to 62.6)
Relative peak VE,	1.34	1.31	1.50
L/kg/min	(1.22 to 1.46)	(1.18 to 1.45)	(1.41 to 1.58)
Peak VE vs height,	0.34	0.34	0.40
L/m/min	(0.31 to 0.37) ^{¥¥}	(0.30 to 0.38) *	(0.38 to 0.42)
Highest RER	1.17	1.26	1.24
	(1.14 to 1.21) ^{§§ ¥¥}	(1.22 to 1.30)	(1.22 to 1.26)
Breathing reserve max,	10.69	22.41	25.80
%	(4.03 to 17.34) ^{¥¥¥}	(15.91 to 28.90)	(22.40 to 29.20)

Table 2.8 Cardiopulmonary exercise testing results for obstructive (POLD) and nonobstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c).

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: Ve – minute ventilation; RER – Respiratory Exchange Ratio.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

POLD vs PT_c: ¥ p<0.05; ¥¥ p<0.01; ¥¥¥ p<0.001.

PnOLD vs PT_c: $^{\phi}$ p<0.05; $^{\phi\phi}$ p<0.01; $^{\phi\phi\phi}$ p<0.001.

Table 2.9 Body plethysmography and helium dilution testing results for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c) .

Static lung volumes (Plethysmography)	POLD, n=34	PnOLD, n=15	PT _c , n=92
FBC %predicted	106.1	81.1	95.4
rkc, %predicted	(98.2 to 113.9) ^{§§§ ¥¥}	(74.1 to 88.0) **	(92.3 to 98.5)
TLC %prodicted	97.2	80.5	97.2
TEC, %predicted	(93.3 to 101.1)	(76.8 to 84.2) ^{§§§ ***}	(95.2 to 99.2)
RV % prodicted	114.7	86.2	88.7
rv, %predicted	(102.2 to 127.1) ^{§§ ¥¥¥}	(74.1 to 98.4)	(83.6 to 93.7)
PV//TLC ratio	0.28	0.24	0.21
RV/TEC, Tatio	(0.26 to 0.30) ^{¥¥¥}	(0.22 to 0.27)	(0.20 to 0.22)
DV/TLC %prodicted	129.2	114.4	99.4
RV/TEC, %predicted	(119.6 to 138.8) ^{¥¥¥}	(102.6 to 126.3)	(94.2 to 104.6)
Proportion RV/TLC > 0.30, n (%)	9 (27%) ^{¥¥}	2 (13%)	6 (7%)
Proportion TLC < LLN, n (%)	0 (0)	6 (40%) ^{§§ **}	4 (4%)
Static lung volumes (Helium dilution)	POLD, n=31	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=92
FDC Ware distad	101.9	80.6	93.2
TRC, Apredicted	(92.8 to 111.1) ^{§§§}	(72.8 to 88.3) *	(90.2 to 96.2)
TLC %prodicted	96.5	79.3	96.9
TEC, %predicted	(91.8 to 101.3)	(75.6 to 83.1) ^{§§§ ***}	(94.8 to 99.0)
PV %prodicted	110.1	80.1	92.5
KV, %predicted	(95.4 to 124.7) ^{§§ ¥}	(65 to 95.2)	(87.2 to 97.9)
PV/TLC ratio	0.27	0.23	0.22
RV/TEC, Tatio	(0.24 to 0.29) ^{¥¥}	(0.20 to 0.27)	(0.21 to 0.23)
DV/TLC Wrang distant	124.1	108.4	104.0
Ny ile, predicted	(112.4 to 135.8) ¥¥	(91.2 to 125.5)	(98.7 to 109.4)
Proportion RV/TLC > 0.30, n (%)	11 (36%) [¥]	3 (19%)	13 (14%)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test) unless otherwise specified. **Abbreviations: FRC** - Functional Residual Capacity; **TLC** – Total Lung Capacity; **RV** – Residual Volume.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

POLD vs PT_c: ¥ p<0.05; ¥¥ p<0.01; ¥¥¥ p<0.001.

PnOLD vs PT_c: ^{*b*} p<0.05; ^{*b*} p<0.01; ^{*b*} p<0.001.

2.3.3.3 Spirometry

Baseline %FEV₁ in POLD vs PnOLD is 74 vs 80% (p=0.073), and PnOLD had a significantly lower %FVC than POLD (83 vs 94 %, p<0.001). This resulted in a lower FEV₁/FVC in POLD than in the PnOLD (68 vs 85 %), as displayed in Table 2.10.

Following exercise, POLD children did not display a greater degree of impairment in repeat spirometry measurements. However, %FEV₁, %FVC and FEV₁/FVC all improved to a significantly greater degree in POLD children compared to PnOLD and PT_c following administration of bronchodilator (%FEV₁: 15.8 vs 4.2 vs 5.7 %; %FVC 6.9 vs 0.9 vs 2.2 %; FEV₁/FVC 9.8 vs 3.8 vs 3.1 for POLD, PnOLD and PT_c respectively). Additionally, 84% of POLD group had a >10 absolute %FEV₁ response to post-exercise bronchodilator therapy, compared to only 6% of PnOLD children. These data are illustrated in Figures 2.8 and 2.9.

Table 2.10 Spirometry parameters at baseline, and response to exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator (BD) therapy for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c).

FEV ₁	POLD, n=31	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=87
Baseline, %predicted	73.6	80.1	99.3
· · · ·	(70.3 to 76.9) ***	(75.5 to 84.6)	(97.3 to 101.2)
Post-exercise, %predicted	⁰⁰⁰ 69.8	<u>°° 76.6</u>	<u>000 95.8</u>
	<u>(66.3 to 73.3)</u> ***	<u>(71.6 to 81.5)</u>	<u>(93.7 to 97.9)</u>
Post-exercise BD,	²²² 85.6	² 80.8	²²² 101.5
%predicted	<u>(82.5 to 88.8)</u> ***	<u>(76.3 to 85.2)</u>	<u>(99.6 to 103.4)</u>
Baseline to post-exercise	-3.8	-3.5	-3.4
change, %predicted	(-5.6 to -1.9)	(-5.4 to -1.6)	(-4.3 to -2.6)
Post-exercise to post-	15.8	4.2	5.7
exercise BD change,	(12 3 to 19 3) §§§ ¥¥¥	(25 to 59)	(4.8 to 6.5)
%predicted	(12.3 (0 13.3)	(2.3 (0 3.3)	(4.0 10 0.3)
Post-exercise BD response	26 (84%) ^{§§§ ¥¥¥}	1 (6%)	15 (17%)
>10% FEV1, II (%)			
FVC	POLD, n=31	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=87
Baseline. %predicted	94.4	82.8	102.5
	(91.0 to 97.8) \$\$\$ ***	(78.0 to 87.5)	(100.5 to 104.5)
Post-exercise %predicted	⁰⁰⁰ 88.5	⁰⁰⁰ 77.6	⁰⁰⁰ 98.8
	(85.1 to 92.0) §§ ¥¥¥	<u>(72.8 to 82.4)</u> ***	<u>(96.7 to 100.8)</u>
Post-exercise BD,	²²² 95.5	78.6	²²² 101.0
%predicted	<u>(91.8 to 99.1) §§§</u> ¥	(73.5 to 83.6) ***	<u>(98.9 to 103.2)</u>
Baseline to post-exercise	-5.9	-5.1	-3.7
change, %predicted	(-8.0 to -3.7)	(-7.1 to -3.1)	(-4.6 to -2.8)
Post-exercise to post-	69	0.9	2.2
exercise BD change,	(/ 2 +o 9 5) §§ ¥¥¥	(0.0 ± 0.10)	(1 2 +0 3 3)
%predicted	(4.5 10 5.5)	(0.0 to 1.9)	(1.2 (0 5.5)
FEV ₁ /FVC	POLD, n=31	PnOLD, n=16	PT _c , n=87
Decolina ratio	0.68	0.85	0.84
Baseline, ratio	(0.66 to 0.70) §§§ ¥¥¥	(0.82 to 0.88)	(0.83 to 0.86)
Dest aversise ratio	0.69	0.87	0.85
Post-exercise, ratio	(0.66 to 0.71) §§§ ¥¥¥	(0.83 to 0.90)	(0.83 to 0.86)
Dest avereige DD ratio	0.79	0.90	0.88
Post-exercise BD, ratio	(0.77 to 0.80) §§§ ¥¥¥	(0.88 to 0.93)	(0.87 to 0.89)
Baseline to post-exercise	0.007	0.016	0.002
change	(-0.010 to 0.024)	(-0.001 to 0.033)	(-0.004 to 0.009)
Dest oversise to pact	0.098	0.020	0.021
Post-exercise to post-	(0.076 to 0.121)	U.U38 (0.021 to 0.055)	U.U31
exercise BD change	§§§ ¥¥¥	(0.021 to 0.055)	(0.023 to 0.038)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction) or number and % proportion (Pearson's χ^2 test). **Abbreviations: FEV**₁ – Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second; **FVC** – Forced Vital Capacity; **BD** – bronchodilator.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

POLD vs PT_c: ¥ p<0.05; ¥¥ p<0.01; ¥¥¥ p<0.001.

PnOLD vs PT_c: $\phi p < 0.05$; $\phi \phi p < 0.01$; $\phi \phi \phi p < 0.001$.

<u>Baseline vs Post-exercise</u>: $\frac{\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.05; $\frac{\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.01; $\frac{\partial\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise bronchodilator: [£] p<0.05; ^{£2} p<0.01; ^{£22} p<0.001.



Figure 2.8 % predicted FEV₁, % predicted FVC and FEV₁/FVC at baseline for obstructive (POLD, circles) and non-obstructive (PnOLD, squares) preterm lung disease groups, and preterm controls (PT_c, triangles).





2.4 Discussion

Lung-term respiratory consequences resulting from preterm birth have been well investigated with an emphasis on follow-up for children felt to be at greatest risk, i.e., extremely preterm, lower birth weights, infancy diagnosis of CLD. However, this chapter illustrates that there should be a re-consideration of how we follow-up preterm-born children, giving prominence to identifying those with lung function deficits.

2.4.1 Findings in children with low lung function

This cohort of children were similar in their demographics and anthropometrics across the groups. The PT_{Iow} children had a greater frequency of respiratory symptoms with almost three-quarters having experienced wheeze, although less than a third have ever received an asthma diagnosis or experienced recent symptoms. This suggests that there is potentially a large proportion of preterm-born children who have impaired lung function which is undetected from either being being asymptomatic or misdiagnosed.

Children with low FEV₁ are more likely to show evidence of air trapping or hyperinflation when evaluating static lung volumes, consistent with some previous findings (Smith et al., 2008) (Welsh et al., 2010). Of interest is evaluation of ongoing lung inflammation using fractional excretion of nitric oxide (FE_{NO}). Meta-analysis has shown that there is no difference between preterm and term born children, although the results show a non-significant trend towards lower values in the preterm groups (Course et al., 2019). Conversely, whilst again there is no statistical difference between groups in this study, the trend seen is of a greater FE_{NO} value in those born preterm, particularly those with lower lung function. This suggests that by actually identifying these preterm children with lung disease we can understand more about the processes behind their pathology, with ongoing inflammation a potential contributory factor. The presence of raised FE_{NO}, a test used predominantly in asthma, clearly raises a question about whether these children have asthma. However, rates of atopy were similar in the low preterm group compared to the preterm controls, suggesting that this is not the case.

I have shown functional impairment, in the form of reduced exercise capacity, exists in children with low FEV₁, with a 6.2 mls/kg/min lower peak $\dot{V}O_2$ in the PT_{low} group compared to T_c children. This is a greater difference than seen in a systematic review comparing preterm and term children, where peak oxygen consumption differed by between 2.2 to 3.05 mls/kg/min depending on CLD diagnosis (Edwards et al., 2015b). This suggests that functional lung impairment is related to lung function abnormalities, and needs differentiating from children with a CLD diagnosis.

There was little exercise-induced bronchoconstriction, differing from previous findings showing greater decreases of %FEV₁ (Joshi et al., 2013). The reason for this is unclear. What is clear is the positive response to post-exercise bronchodilator seen in the PT_{low} group, with approximately twofold greater increase in FEV₁ compared to controls. This suggests that this group of children need to be actively sought out as they have lung disease responsive to medication.

2.4.2 Obstructive lung disease

I have used this opportunity to look further at the children with low lung function to identify whether there are different phenotypes within the group. The standout result in the PT_{low} children was a reduced FEV₁/FVC ratio below 0.80. Low FEV₁/FVC is seen in obstructive lung disease (Pellegrino et al., 2005), although the use of an absolute ratio could be deemed controversial due to the changing absolute value during growth as a result of dysanapsis (growth of the lungs at a different rate to height) (Quanjer et al., 2010). I have addressed the important methodological concerns surrounding this in Chapter 5. As such defining children with %FEV₁ ≤85% and ratio ≤0.80 was a pragmatic way of distinguishing these children, and classing their lung disease as obstructive is appropriate. More difficult to define are those with FEV₁/FVC ratio >0.80. This would potentially be consistent with restrictive lung disease; however, this would require the TLC to be reduced below the LLN. In my group, 16 children in the low %FEV₁/normal ratio group (40 to 56% depending on

whether plethysmography or helium dilution was used), met this criteria, and as such it is possibly a reasonable surrogate for restrictive disease. To avoid controversy, I felt defining these children as non-obstructive would be more appropriate. As I demonstrate in Chapter 5, the characteristics of these children as a group are similar whether TLC was above or below the LLN.

Using the POLD and PnOLD grouping, I have shown that children with obstructive lung disease have particularly low lung function compared to those with non-obstructive lung disease, something that has not been identified in this population before. Interestingly, in this small population, there were few differences seen between the POLD and PnOLD children from the neonatal period, except a greater number of POLD children required invasive ventilation. Birth weights, gestation and even frequency of IUGR were similar between the groups. It is difficult to know the significance of the invasive ventilation; is there a direct link to invasive ventilation causing later obstruction, or is it related to the fact these children were likely to be more unwell, hence required ventilation, and whether it is the underlying disease process responsible? Interestingly, the rates of doctor-diagnosed asthma were similar in both groups, despite greater frequency of wheeze in the POLD group. Children with prematurity-associated lung disease are often (mis)classified as having asthma, with higher rates diagnosed in preterm-born children (Been et al., 2014). The frequency of wheeze was greatest in the PT_{low} group – it stands to reason why these children are then most likely to receive a diagnosis of asthma. It could then be inferred that, given POLD have the greatest frequency of symptoms, that this is then the group of children who account for these asthma diagnoses. Asthma is a multifactorial inflammatory process, a combination of genetic factors and environmental exposures, linked with other atopic conditions such as eczema and hayfever (Naja et al., 2018). Yet rates of asthma in preterm children exceed diagnoses of other atopic conditions, suggesting that, while symptomology may overlap, there is a different disease process going on in the preterm children (Edwards et al., 2016). Identifying this group of children is paramount, as the underlying pathological process may be different, and as such treatments. Identification of preterm children

with lung function deficits, who have evidence of obstructive lung disease, may be a way of identifying this particular group of children.

 FE_{NO} is now commonly used in assessment of childhood asthma, forming part of the NICE recommended diagnosis and monitoring pathway, with a cut-off of 35ppb advised as potentially diagnostic (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), 2017 (Last updated: 12 February 2020.)). While a significantly greater proportion of POLD has FE_{NO} greater than this cut off value, possibly representing "classical" asthma, approximately 60% of this group did not. This 60% may be the children in whom a true diagnosis of prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease can be made. The underlying pathology of this disease process is likely to be different to asthma. There have been previous links to ongoing inflammation in preterm-born children (Teig et al., 2012). In this instance, sputum profiles from preterm children showed neutrophil predominance, along with raised IL-8 in sputum supernatant. This suggests a separate process to the eosinophil-driven atopic asthma. Oxidative damage has also been suggested as a possible mechanism (Filippone et al., 2012). With an alternative pathological process likely at play, it is unknown whether standard asthma treatments are suitable in these cases. This is something that needs to be urgently assessed to ensure correct treatment is offered to the appropriate children. The RCT aspect of the study may be able to offer an answer to this, with all the PT_{low} children included in this chapter enrolled onto the trial.

What is known, is that regardless of the underlying diagnosis, either asthma or POLD, a significant post-exercise bronchodilator response is seen in these children. Despite over 80% of these children with obstructive disease having positive response to bronchodilator, only one-third were on salbutamol treatment. This may suggest that treatment with a LABA may have benefit for those with symptoms or functional impairment. The latter of these is difficult to assess, however the in-depth lung testing performed as part of this study may be helpful in informing this.

For instance, term controls showed little evidence of hyperinflation or air trapping on lung volume testing, with low rates of RV/TLC ratio >0.30 (5% and 6% for helium dilution testing and plethysmography respectively). This is compared to 27% and 36% respectively in POLD children. This may have an impact on exercise capacity, with hyperinflation in children with cystic fibrosis linked to diminished exercise performance (Sovtic et al., 2013). While the exercise outcomes in the POLD and PnOLD groups were similar, the composite group of children with prematurityassociated lung disease were achieving poorer outcomes in exercise as a whole compared to the controls. It is unlikely that the lung disease in the PnOLD group, if largely of a fixed, restrictive nature, would respond to. However, the POLD children in particular used up a larger proportion of their ventilatory reserve, compared to the PnOLD and control groups. If one were to calculate a child's MVV from their postexercise bronchodilator FEV_1 , and re-calculate the proportion of their ventilatory reserve used during the exercise based on this revised MVV, these children would not need to use as much of their respiratory reserve. This suggests that treatment with bronchodilator may improve exercise capacity if these children do not need to use as much of their ventilatory reserve. This could then be expanded to whether longer acting medication may have the same benefit for functional impairments. It is possible that the majority of these children are unaware they have exercise limitation, unless they are attaining towards a higher level in sport, as they may exercise within their capabilities. Indeed, preterm children, particularly boys, may perform less moderate to vigorous activity compared to term-born children (Lowe et al., 2016b), meaning any impairments are not noticed. Alternatively there is the possibility that impaired exercise capacity may actually be driving a more sedentary lifestyle in preterm groups (Lowe et al., 2016a).

2.4.3 Strengths and limitations

The main strength of this study is assessing functional outcomes based on a clinicallyrelevant current measure (lung function) rather than on a diagnosis made several years prior that may have limited bearing for current health. Additionally, while it is common with other lung disease to assess whether it is obstructive or not in nature, this has not been the case in children with respiratory sequelae of preterm birth. This should be an ongoing clinical, as well as academic, focus. Probably the biggest strength of this study will be the associations that will be made with the large volume of data that has been collected as part of the larger RHiNO study. Some limitations that are important to note. The main potential criticism may be of how the groups, particularly the obstructive/non-obstructive groups, were defined. I hope this is suitably addressed in my later chapter.

Exercise testing was performed on a cycle ergometer. These are known to be less successful at achieving max $\dot{V}O2$ compared to treadmill testing (Edwards et al., 2015b). This is due to the limiting factor of muscle strength on a bike compared to a treadmill. The $\dot{V}O_2$ obtained from this study are lower than seen in other studies, especially those using a treadmill. This may explain the lack of exercise-induced bronchoconstriction seen in this study. However, the fact that all groups achieved similar peak heart rates suggest that all reached a similar degree of exertion, making their results comparable to each other.

Some of the perinatal and respiratory data were collected from parents. Recall inaccuracies mean this will not be as reliable as if it were collected from a contemporaneous source. It also limits being able to assess outcomes accurately against quantitative influences such as duration of invasive ventilation or oxygen therapy.

As with all research, there is potential for various sources of bias. I will address these in my final discussion as they apply to all my studies.

2.5 Conclusion

In summary, preterm-born children with low lung function have greater functional impairment compared to healthy children. Additionally, there are different phenotypes of preterm children with lung impairment (obstructive versus non-obstructive disease), both of whom are functionally affected in terms of exercise, but children with lung obstruction are more likely to benefit from bronchodilator treatment.

3 OSCILLOMETRY

This chapter covers the use of a lung function test called oscillometry to assess mechanical properties of the airways in preterm-born children. Understanding airway mechanics is vital for recognizing how the lungs work in the healthy and diseased states. Airway resistance, inertance and compliance can be affected by structural changes, inflammatory processes, or lung fibrosis. Being able to identify changes in the mechanical properties of the lungs can help with diagnosis and progression of lung pathology. There are several forms of oscillometry that have been used. Conventional oscillometry/Forced Oscillation Technique (FOT), impulse oscillometry (IOS), and single frequency oscillometry. An extension of this latter includes temporal-oscillometry (T-oscillometry) and will be covered in Chapter 4.

Nomenclature in this area can cause some confusion, and terms are sometimes used interchangeably when they actually mean different things. Additionally, there is ongoing evolution in these terms. Forced oscillation technique (FOT) is felt to be a misleading name due to the fact the technique does not involve any forced manoeuvres; this technique should simply be called oscillometry.

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Airway mechanics

Airway mechanics is the term used to explain the physical elements and physics of getting air in and out of the lungs. This comprises multiple factors including, but not limited to, the size and structure of the airways, muscles of respiration, elastic properties of the lungs, resistance within and outside of the airways as well as pathological factors. Of particular interest are the forces that need to be overcome to allow air movement.

Air flow in inspiration occurs when atmospheric air flows down a pressure gradient into the airways. This pressure gradient occurs due to the balance between the inward elastic recoil of the lungs versus the outward recoil of the chest wall. During inspiration, centrally-initiated contraction of the muscles of respiration occurs (including the diaphragm and intercostal muscles), which causes distension of the alveoli (terminal air sacs of the airways which are responsible for gas exchange). The expansion of the alveoli causes a drop in alveolar pressure to below that of atmospheric pressure, which allows air movement into the lungs. As the inspiratory muscles finish contracting, the elastic recoil of the lungs come into play, causing the alveoli to start to compress, resulting in an increase in alveolar pressure. Once this reaches above atmospheric pressure, expiratory air flow occurs (Levitzky, 2018).

However, this relationship between pressure changes and airflow is affected by various factors, which can be classified as impedance. Impedance are the forces that need overcoming for air movement into the lungs to occur, in particular 3 main forces. These are resistance, elasticity and inertance (Kaminsky, 2012).

Pulmonary resistance is comprised of two elements. There is the resistance within and between the lung tissues, and the resistance within the airways, which is the greater contributor to overall pulmonary resistance (Levitzky, 2018). Airway resistance is the relationship between pressure and flow (Resistance = Pressure / Flow), and so is flow dependent, i.e., is not a factor at zero flow (end inspiration, end expiration). Airway calibre plays a large role in airway resistance due to Poiseuille's law, which essentially states that if a tube doubles in length, the resistance will double, however if a radius is halved, the resistance will increase to the power of 4 (i.e. multiplied by a factor of 16) (West, 2015). Therefore, a small change in airway diameter can result in a large change in airway resistance. This is clinically significant in conditions where there may be hyperreactive smooth muscle surrounding the airways (asthma, and potentially CLD), with constriction of the muscle causing a decrease in airway calibre resulting in symptoms from increased airway resistance.

Elasticity also plays a significant role in the airway mechanics, although it is often considered in terms of its inverse measure, which is compliance. The compliance relates to the volume change that occurs in relation to a given pressure change, and results from the compliance of the lung tissue and that of the chest wall. An increased compliance results in a greater change in volume for a given pressure compared to if the compliance was decreased. Increased compliance might occur if the lung tissue

109

loses some of its elastic properties (i.e.in emphysema); decreased compliance can occur in respiratory diseases such as pulmonary fibrosis (Levitzky, 2018).

Inertance plays a smaller role but relates partly to the mass effect from the column of gas within the airways and extrathoracic structures with inertial mass. This can affect how easily any change in airflow direction can occur, and is reflective of the relationship between pressure and acceleration (Lumb, 2016).

These forces of impedance may affect the ability of the lungs to function normally, and being able to quantify them can help with identifying and assessing pathology within the lungs.

3.1.2 Basics of oscillometry

Oscillometry is one such method of assessing airway mechanics. Oscillometry works by superimposing a soundwave at a given frequency onto normal (tidal) breathing. The signal needs to be large enough to provoke a response from the airways but not to affect normal respiration (Frey, 2005). Oscillometry utilises the concept of pseudorandom noise. This is where the oscillatory signal is rapidly generated randomly at various frequencies and applied to the respiratory system.

A signal will travel into the lungs and reflect off the tissues. The rebounding signal is then measured in terms of pressure and flow at the airway opening, and this relationship establishes impedance of the respiratory system (Zrs). Signals are generated at multiple frequencies, typically within the range of medium frequencies (4-20Hz) (Frey, 2005), although sometimes up to 48Hz. The returning signal is assessed in 2 distinct ways based on whether it is 'in-phase' or 'out-of-phase' using mathematical transformations (Skylogianni et al., 2016). The 'in-phase' signal travels back with pressure and flow waves in-sync, and this signal response will calculate respiratory system resistance (Rrs). The 'out-of-phase' signal measures airway reactance (Xrs), comprising capacitance and inertance. Where elastic components of the lung distend as a result of flow, this delays the pressure wave causing it to lag behind flow. This creates a negative reactance value for capacitance (as the inverse of the elastic component). Inertial mass, however, requires a build-up in pressure to overcome this force, and as such the pressure wave travels ahead of the flow wave, leading to positive values (Goldman, 2001). This is illustrated in Figure 3.1. The point at which capacitance and inertance cancel each other out results in a reactance value of 0, which is known as the resonant frequency (*f*Res).

Figure 3.1 Illustration of the relationship between pressure and flow waves during oscillometry and their response to a) resistance, b) capacitance, and c) inertance, and d) an overview of all mechanical properties impact on waves.



Different frequencies of signal will give information about different parts of the lung. The higher the frequency, the less distance the signal can travel into the airways. A signal at 20Hz will reflect impedance of the more proximal airways. A lower frequency signal will travel further into the smaller airways. As such a disease of the proximal airways will affect the impedance at all frequencies, whereas disease in the smaller airways will be isolated to the lower frequencies (Brashier and Salvi, 2015). This means oscillometry is a useful tool for identifying the location of pathology in the lungs. It is particularly helpful in paediatric populations, including preterm-born children, due to requiring only passive breathing rather than more complicated, dynamic manoeuvres as in spirometry.

3.1.3 Oscillometry in preterm children

Oscillometry/FOT, along with the impulse oscillometry system (IOS), has been previously used to assess respiratory mechanics in different preterm populations. IOS is a variant of oscillometry which uses pulses of square waves 5 times per second (rather than sine waves as in oscillometry) at a fixed frequency of 5Hz, superimposed on passive breathing. From this frequency, other multitudes of 5Hz can be derived (Komarow et al., 2011).

As discussed above, the utility of oscillometry for younger children have allowed preschool-aged children to be assessed. Vrijlandt *et al* assessed preschool children (mean age 57 months) including 77 preterm children with or without chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD) and 73 term controls. Lower reactance averaged across 4-24Hz (Xrs₄₋₂₄) and higher *f*Res were seen in children with CLD compared to those preterm children without CLD. Children with CLD had worse outcomes across all reported parameters compared to the term controls. Resistance at 6Hz (Rrs₆) and average Rrs₄₋₂₄ were higher in the preterm group with no CLD compared to term controls (Vrijlandt et al., 2007). These results suggest that children with CLD may be more affected than preterm children without CLD, however they were also born at a younger gestation which may be a confounding factor that was not investigated.

An alternative study of a similar age group from a research group in Perth, Australia reported similar results when comparing 49 young children (mean age 5.2 years) with a history of CLD to a previous cohort of 158 healthy term-born children of a similar age. Results of resistance and reactance at 6/8/10Hz were transformed into Z-scores calculated from the healthy control group. All of the impedance values in the CLD group were impaired compared to the healthy population. In this instance, only duration of oxygen was associated with impaired impedance in a multivariate regression model of neonatal factors (Udomittipong et al., 2008). The results of reversibility testing were published separately in comparison with children with other disease processes. A bronchodilator response compared to the healthy controls was seen in the resistance at 8 and 10Hz when considered as both absolute and relative changes, although when adjusted for baseline lung function as a covariate, these differences were lost (Thamrin et al., 2007). A further Perth-based study with greater

numbers (74 CLD, 44 no CLD, 32 term controls) was published more recently. The children studied were of a slightly older age (median 5.8-6 years). Z-scores for Rrs⁸ and Xrs⁸ were again higher in both preterm groups compared to term controls, and reactance was higher in the CLD group compared to the non-CLD group (Verheggen et al., 2016).

Other studies have assessed children from older age groups and found varying impedance parameters were worse in preterm-born, especially those children who had CLD (Suursalmi et al., 2015, Thunqvist et al., 2018). This includes lung function assessments of adolescents using IOS: Um-Bergström and colleagues studied teenagers with a mean age of 14.5 years. Of 51 children born very preterm, including 28 with CLD (classified by severity), when assessing the frequency dependence of resistance (i.e. the difference between Rrs₅ and Rrs₂₀), children with severe CLD had a significantly worse outcome than the non-CLD children suggesting peripheral airway involvement of disease. However, the numbers in this study were small, only 4 children were present in the severe CLD group (Um-Bergström et al., 2017).

Findings from studies looking at oscillometry in preterm-born children have consistently reported worse outcomes in this population, in particular in those children with a history of CLD, however there are limited data regarding response to bronchodilator, and no data regarding whether exercise has any impact on this patient group.

3.1.4 Aims of study

This part of my study has the following aims:

- Establish baseline data for impedance in a population of preterm-born children with evidence of lung dysfunction, and compare their results to preterm- and term-born controls;
- 2) Assess the impact of exercise on airway mechanics in this preterm population;
- Assess the response of oscillometry parameters to post-exercise bronchodilator therapy;

4) Review aims 1-3 with respect to preterm children with and without obstructive airway disease secondary to preterm birth.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Population

The population and recruitment for participants is the same as described in Chapter 2, Section 2.2.1, as are the demographic, perinatal, and respiratory details reported in the results (Chapter 2, Section 2.3.1).

3.2.2 Oscillometry testing

Oscillometry testing was performed using a custom-built set-up and computer programme (NDAQ) developed by a team at University of Szeged in Hungary (Czövek et al., 2016, Lorx et al., 2017). The set-up comprised of a loudspeaker connected to a wave-tube. Within the wave-tube were sensors to measure pressure and flow at the airway opening. Due to the potential of increased breathing frequency and pressure from exercise affecting the soundwaves, the set-up was modified to negate this effect. The loudspeaker was encased within a larger, sealed cylinder with a 'blow-off' tube connecting the top of the speaker to the cylinder below the speaker, essentially allowing pressure to equalise above and below the speaker diaphragm (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2 Pictures of the FOT set-up showing the encased loudspeaker with the blow-off tube, and the wave-tube.

Prior to testing, an explanation was given to the children of what the test was for and how it should be performed. The test was performed with the child sat upright in a chair and attached to the system via a Microgard II microbial filter (Vyaire, Germany). A nose clip was worn throughout testing and the participant was instructed to firmly hold their cheeks with their fingers and palms of hands to stop any soft tissue vibrations affecting the results.

Via the NDAQ system, the loudspeaker then generated soundwaves at random, at even frequencies between 4 and 32Hz. Impedance was measured at the mouth using the pressure and flow sensors, for each of the individual frequencies. This impedance was measured 'in-phase' with the soundwaves (representing airway resistance) and 'out-of-phase' from the input (representing airway reactance). Results from the individual frequencies were displayed in the form of a spectra. A minimum of 3 recordings were obtained from each child, aiming for spectra that appeared very similar, representing an accurate result of airway impedance (Figure 3.3).

Figure 3.3 Screenshot of the NDAQ software showing flow and pressure readings over time (left side of picture), and the computed spectra from the readings (right side of screen). Inset shows 3 spectra superimposed, representing satisfactory testing.



Oscillometry was performed at 3 time points:

- An initial baseline reading was obtained.
- A second test was performed at 20 minutes following maximal exercise testing.
- A final test was performed 15 minutes after administration of 400μg Salbutamol, a β2-agonist (Salamol, Teva UK Limited), given ~45 minutes after end of exercise test.

I performed blinded, post-acquisition analysis of the oscillometry data to obtain results. I assessed each of the recordings for quality and selected artefact-free segments from the 3 recordings (of at least 16 seconds), compiling results from these using the NDAQ software. The average resistance and reactance results at each individual frequency across the 3 recordings were calculated, plus an average of the resistance measured from all the frequencies from 6-32Hz. The capacitance (a surrogate for lung compliance) was calculated by the NDAQ software using a linear function applied to the negative reactance values.

3.2.3 Spirometry and cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET)

Spirometry testing and CPET were performed as described in Chapter 2, sections 2.2.2.3 and 2.2.2.7.

3.2.4 Terms and definitions

Figure 3.4 displays how some of the below parameters are derived from the oscillometry spectra.

Rrs: Respiratory system resistance. This is positive in sign and represents the in-phase part of impedance. It is usually denoted by the frequency(ies) at which the resistance was measured, i.e. Rrs₆ for the resistance at 6 Hz, or Rrs₆₋₂₀ for resistance averaged across those frequencies.

- Xrs: Respiratory system reactance. This can be positive or negative in sign and represents the out-of-phase part of impedance. Reactance negative in sign is associated with the compliance of the respiratory system and when positive in sign represents the inertance. It is usually denoted by the frequency at which the resistance was measured, i.e. Xrs₆ for the reactance at 6 Hz.
- (r)Fdep: Frequency dependence of resistance, usually measured across 6 to 20 Hz. This represents the difference between resistance at 6 Hz and the resistance at 20 Hz (Rrs₆ Rrs₂₀). The preceding "r" denotes the Fdep used in the form of a ratio to account for differences in baseline resistance between individuals ((Rrs₆ Rrs₂₀)/Rrs₂₀). This represents small/distal airway resistance by removing the proximal part of the resistance (at the higher frequency).
- *f*Res: Resonant frequency. The point at which the reactance is 0, i.e. where compliance and inertance cancel each other out. At this point, the entire impedance is accounted for by the resistance.
- C: Compliance. Calculated by fitting a linear model to the negative reactances. Represents the inverse of airway elasticity.
- Ax: Area under the reactance curve. A calculation of the entire area from the reactance at 6 Hz up to resonant frequency, calculated by applying the trapezoid rule to the reactance for every block of 2 Hz, and the sum of these areas equals the Ax (see Figure 3.4).

Figure 3.4 Graphic displaying various parameters derived from oscillometry spectra, as well as how the area under the reactance curve (Ax) is calculated. The trapezoid rule is applied to every block of 2 Hz from 6 Hz up to fRes, and the sum equates to the Ax.



3.2.5 Ethical approval

As outlined in Chapter 2, ethics approval for the RHiNO study was granted by the South West-Central Bristol Ethics Committee (Ref 15/SW/0289). Parents and children (where possible) provided written consent/assent.

3.2.6 Statistical analysis

Comparisons of continuous data between two groups were made using independent t-tests. Multi-group comparisons of continuous data were performed using one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction. Categorical data were assessed using Pearson's χ^2 tests. Within-group and between group comparisons across time points were measured with two-way repeated measures ANOVA, with Bonferroni correction. Change scores (i.e. difference from baseline to post-exercise, and post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilation) between groups were compared using one-way

ANOVA with Bonferroni correction. Change scores were calculated either as an absolute value or relative to the starting point of comparison, for example for Rrs_6 between post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator (BD) the absolute change score was calculated [$Rrs_6(exercise)$ - $Rrs_6(BD)$] and for relative change score as a percentage [(($Rrs_6(exercise)$ - $Rrs_6(BD)$) / $Rrs_6(exercise)$) * 100]. Relative change scores were not performed in all cases. Due to reactance values crossing zero, this can greatly affect the magnitude or sign of the relative change scores, affecting interpretation.

No formal a priori power calculation was performed due to an exploratory nature of the study, however using G*Power (University of Düsseldorf, Germany) to see an effect size (f) of 0.4 (or η^2 of 0.14) in a 3 group ANOVA with an α of 0.05 and power of 0.8, would require a total sample size of 66. This effect size would be achieved with an overall mean of 5hPa.s/L for a given parameter, a difference of 0.5hPa.s/L between groups, and SD of 1 in each group.

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 26 (IBM, USA).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Participant numbers

Figure 3.5 summarises participant flow through testing. Of the 221 eligible children who attended for lung function testing, 179 children were included in repeated measures analysis of oscillometry data. 17 children were excluded as they did not reach maximal exercise, and 29 were excluded due to missing data at 1 or more time points. The reasons for missing data included equipment or recording issues (n=7), time constraint (n=7), being unable or declining to perform the test (n=12), or unacceptable quality of recording (n=3).




3.3.2 Lung function groups

Oscillometry outcomes were first assessed in the original lung function groups (preterm with low lung function, PT_{low} ; preterm controls, PT_c ; term controls, T_c).

3.3.2.1 Participant characteristics

Participant characteristics were reviewed in Chapter 2 (Tables 2.1 and 2.2) and are summarised below. Current anthropometric measurements (both actual and standardised) were similar between groups including, importantly for the oscillometry given the association between height and impedance, no height difference seen between the groups. PT_{low} children were born earlier (29.7 vs 31.1 vs 40.0 weeks' gestation) and were smaller (1392 vs 1729 vs 3528 grams) than PT_c and T_c groups. CLD rates were higher in the PT_{low} children compared to PT_c. Higher rates of ever having wheezed, asthma diagnosis and salbutamol use were seen in PT_{low} compared to T_c (wheeze ever also greater compared to PT_c). In line with how the groups were divided, %FEV₁ was lowest in PT_{low} group (76 vs 99 vs 105 %). Additionally, they also had lower %FVC (90 vs 103 vs 108 %) and FEV₁/FVC (0.74 vs 0.84 vs 0.85).

3.3.2.2 *Resistance parameters*

As per Tables 3.1 and 3.2, at baseline, $Rrs_{(6-20)}$, Rrs_6 and Rrs_{20} were all significantly greater in PT_{Iow} group compared to both control groups. There was a significantly greater Fdep seen in PT_{Iow} compared to both controls (1.51 vs 0.43 vs 0.37 hPa.s/L), including when accounting for the baseline resistance (1.27 vs 1.09 vs 1.07), suggestive of peripheral lung disease.

Following exercise there were few changes seen in resistance parameters, with an improvement for PT_{Iow} in Rrs₂₀ but a resulting increase in rFdep₆₋₂₀, and no difference in change scores between groups.

Following post-exercise bronchodilator therapy, all groups saw a significant improvement in their resistance parameters on within group repeated measures, with the exception of the frequency dependence parameters for term controls. The greatest improvements on absolute change scores were seen in the PT_{low} children for those parameters affecting peripheral airways, with significantly greater differences seen in absolute $Rrs_{(6-20)}$ and Rrs_6 for the PT_{low} group compared to both controls. For

 Rrs_6 there were a 56% and 54% greater absolute decrease in Rrs_6 compared to PT_c and T_c children. Additionally, the frequency dependences had ~threefold greater differences for PT_{Iow} against both controls. Following bronchodilator therapy there was a loss in significance for the differences seen between the PT_{Iow} children and controls for the resistance values, suggesting a graduation towards normality following medication.

		Baseline Post-exercise		Post-exercise BD	
Resistance parameters (PT _{low} , n=42; PT _c , n=77; T _c , n=60)					
	DT	6.40	6.16	²²² 5.09	
	PTIow	(5.90 to 6.82) *** **	(5.72 to 6.60) ** ⁺	<u>(4.64 to 5.54)</u>	
Rrs ₆₋₂₀ ,	рт	5.20	5.25	²²² 4.68	
hPa.s/L	PIc	(4.89 to 5.52)	(4.93 to 5.58)	<u>(4.32 to 5.01)</u>	
	т	5.34	5.40	²²² 4.76	
	I _C	(4.98 to 5.69)	(5.04 to 5.77)	<u>(4.39 to 5.13)</u>	
	DT	7.26	7.28	²²² 5.59	
	PIlow	(6.75 to 7.76) *** ***	(6.72 to 7.84) *** ***	<u>(5.05 to 6.12)</u>	
Rrs ₆ ,	DT	5.48	5.63	²²² 4.90	
hPa.s/L	PIC	(5.11 to 5.85)	(5.22 to 6.05)	(4.50 to 5.29)	
	т	5.55	5.71	²²² 4.92	
	Ic	(5.13 to 5.97)	(5.24 to 6.17)	<u>(4.47 to 5.36)</u>	
	рт	5.75	<u>⁰ 5.44</u>	²²² 4.75	
	PIlow	(5.37 to 6.13) [*]	<u>(5.04 to 5.83)</u>	<u>(4.35 to 5.15)</u>	
Rrs ₂₀ , hPa.s/L	PTc	5.06	4.98	²²² 4.55	
		(4.77 to 5.34)	(4.69 to 5.27)	<u>(4.25 to 4.84)</u>	
	т	5.18	5.14	²²² 4.63	
	I _C	(4.86 to 5.50)	(4.81 to 5.47)	<u>(4.30 to 4.97)</u>	
	DT.	1.51	1.85	²²² 0.84	
	PTIow	(1.24 to 1.78) *** ***	(1.51 to 2.18) *** ***	<u>(0.55 to 1.13) * †</u>	
Fdep ₆₋₂₀ ,	рт	0 42 (0 22 +0 0 62)		[₹] 0.35	
hPa.s/L	PIC	0.45 (0.25 (0.05)	0.05 (0.40 (0.90)	<u>(0.14 to 0.57)</u>	
	т	$0.27 (0.14 \pm 0.60)$		0.28	
	Ιc	0.37 (0.14 (0 0.00)	0.37 (0.29 (0.03)	(0.04 to 0.53)	
	DT.	1.27	<u>° 1.35</u>	²²² 1.17	
	PIlow	(1.22 to 1.32) *** ***	<u>(1.29 to 1.42)</u> *** ***	<u>(1.11 to 1.23) * †</u>	
۳Edam	DT	1.09	<u>ه 1.14</u>	² 1.08	
rFuep ₆₋₂₀	PIc	(1.05 to 1.13)	<u>(1.09 to 1.19)</u>	<u>(1.03 to 1.12)</u>	
	т	1.07	1.10	1.06	
	I _c	(1.02 to 1.11)	(1.05 to 1.16)	(1.01 to 1.11)	

Table 3.1 Oscillometry resistance results for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls at baseline, post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator.

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: BD – bronchodilator; Rrs₆₋₂₀ – average respiratory system resistance 6 -20 Hz; R / Xrs_{6/20} - respiratory system resistance (R) / reactance (X) at 6 / 20 Hz; Fdep₆₋₂₀ -Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 - 20 Hz with Rrs_{20} as denominator.

 $\begin{aligned} & \textbf{PT}_{low} \ \textbf{vs} \ \textbf{P}_c: \ \ \textbf{p} < 0.05; \ \ \textbf{**} \ \ \textbf{p} < 0.01; \ \ \textbf{***} \ \ \textbf{p} < 0.001. \\ & \textbf{PT}_{low} \ \ \textbf{vs} \ \textbf{T}_c: \ \ \textbf{p} < 0.05; \ \ \textbf{+} \ \ \textbf{p} < 0.01; \ \ \textbf{++} \ \ \textbf{p} < 0.001. \end{aligned}$

P_c **vs T**_c: ‡ p<0.05; ‡‡ p<0.01; ‡‡‡ p<0.001.

<u>Baseline vs Post-exercise</u>: $\frac{\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.05; $\frac{\partial \partial}{\partial}$ p<0.01; $\frac{\partial \partial \partial}{\partial}$ p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise BD: ² p<0.05; ²² p<0.01; ²²² p<0.001.

Table 3.2 Oscillometry resistance change scores from baseline to post-exercise, and post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c).

		PT _{low} , n=42 PT _c , n=77		T _c , n=60	
Resistance parameters baseline to post-exercise					
	Absolute	0.24	-0.05	-0.07	
Dro	(hPa.s/L)	(-0.06 to 0.54)	(-0.22 to 0.13)	(-0.32 to 0.19)	
Kr S ₆₋₂₀	Relative (%)	3.8 (-1.0 to 8.7)	-1.8 (-5.2 to 1.6)	-2.7 (-7.4 to 2.0)	
	Absolute	-0.03	-0.15	-0.16	
-	(hPa.s/L)	(-0.46 to 0.41)	(-0.40 to 0.10)	(-0.48 to 0.16)	
Rrs ₆	$D = 1 = t_{1} = (0/1)$	-0.6	-4.5	-4.4	
	Relative (%)	(-6.3 to 5.2)	(-9.3 to 0.3)	(-10.5 to 1.7)	
	Absolute	0.31	0.07	0.04	
Dro	(hPa.s/L)	(0.05 to 0.58)	(-0.09 to 0.24)	(-0.20 to 0.28)	
Rrs ₂₀	$P_{olativo}(%)$	5.5	0.7	-0.6	
	Relative (70)	(0.6 to 10.4)	(-2.3 to 3.8)	(-5.1 to 3.8)	
Edona ya hPa c	/L (abcoluto)	-0.34	-0.22	-0.2	
Faep ₆₋₂₀ , nPa.s,	/L (absolute)	(-0.64 to -0.04)	(-0.42 to -0.02)	(-0.47 to 0.06)	
	Abcoluto	-0.08	-0.05	-0.03	
rEdonas	Absolute	(-0.14 to -0.03)	(-0.10 to -0.01)	(-0.09 to 0.02)	
rruep ₆₋₂₀	Polativa (%)	-7.0	-5.6	-4.2	
	Relative (70)	(-11.3 to -2.7)	(-9.4 to -1.7)	(-8.9 to 0.4)	
Resistance par	ameters post-exer	cise to post-exercise	BD		
	Absolute	1.07	0.57	0.64	
Presso	(hPa.s/L)	(0.75 to 1.39) ** [†]	(0.37 to 0.77)	(0.45 to 0.84)	
NI 36-20	Relative (%)	15.8	11.7	11.3	
	Relative (70)	(11.2 to 20.3)	(8.2 to 15.1)	(7.8 to 14.8)	
	Absolute	1.70	0.74	0.79	
Rrsc	(hPa.s/L)	(1.16 to 2.23) ** **	(0.46 to 1.01)	(0.47 to 1.11)	
111 3 ₆	Relative (%)	21.3	13.1	12.0	
	Neidelive (70)	(15.4 to 27.2)	(8.7 to 17.5)	(7.0 to 17.0)	
	Absolute	0.68	0.44	0.51	
Rrs ₂₀	(hPa.s/L)	(0.42 to 0.94)	(0.27 to 0.60)	(0.33 to 0.69)	
RI 520	Relative (%)	10.5	9.3	9.4	
		(5.9 to 15.2)	(6.1 to 12.5)	(5.9 to 12.8)	
Edenciao hPais	/L (absolute)	1.01	0.30	0.29	
		(0.58 to 1.44) ** **	(0.10 to 0.50)	(0.05 to 0.53)	
	Absolute	0.18	0.06	0.04	
rEden ₆₋₂₀	Absolute	(0.10 to 0.26) ** **	(0.02 to 0.10)	(0.00 to 0.09)	
11 acpo-20	Relative (%)	11.7	4.3	3.1	
		(6.3 to 17.1) **	(1.1 to 7.5)	(-0.5 to 6.8)	

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: BD – bronchodilator; Rrs_{6-20} – average respiratory system resistance 6 -20 Hz; R / $Xrs_{6/20}$ – respiratory system resistance (R) / reactance (X) at 6 / 20 Hz; Fdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resista

PT_{low} **vs P**_c: * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001.

PT_{low} **vs T**_c: † p<0.05; †† p<0.01; ††† p<0.001.

P_c **vs T**_c: ‡ p<0.05; ‡‡ p<0.01; ‡‡‡ p<0.001.

3.3.2.3 Reactance parameters

As per Tables 3.3 and 3.4, similar to resistance parameters, reactance values were significantly worse in PT_{low} children compared to both controls. Compliance appeared particularly affected, approximately 40% lower than either of the control groups. Additionally, *f*res was significantly higher in PT_{low} children (29.5 vs 21.4 vs 21.7 Hz).

Following exercise, the only change seen on repeated measures ANOVA was an increase in negative value in T_c .

Following post-exercise bronchodilator therapy, improvements were seen in all groups for Xrs₂₀, compliance and *f*res; however, only the PT_{Iow} group showed improvement in Xrs₆, and PT_{Iow} and T_c for Ax. The change scores showed a greater improvement for PT_{Iow} children compared to controls in all reactance parameters except for compliance.

		Baseline	Post-exercise	Post-exercise BD
Reactance	paramet	ers (PT _{low} , n=42; PT _c , n=	77; T _c , n=60)	
		-3.68	-3.87	²²² -2.46
	PT _{low}	(-4.01 to -3.35) ***	(-4.30 to -3.44)	<u>(-2.82 to -2.09)</u> <u>**</u>
Xrs ₆ ,	DT	-1.99	-2.08	-1.77
nPa.s/L	PIc	(-2.23 to -1.74)	(-2.40 to -1.77)	(-2.03 to -1.50)
	т	-2.06	-2.21	-1.92
	Ic	(-2.34 to -1.78)	(-2.57 to -1.85)	(-2.23 to -1.62)
		-1.35	-1.28	222 0 21
Vice	PT _{low}	(-1.61 to -1.09) *** +++	(-1.58 to -0.98) **** ***	<u>0.31</u> (-0.57 to -0.04)
$\lambda r S_{20},$	рт	-0.20	-0.31	²²² 0.07
IIPd.S/L	PIc	(-0.39 to 0.00)	(-0.53 to -0.09)	<u>(-0.13 to 0.27)</u>
	T _c	-0.21	^{ðð} -0.48	²²² -0.03
		(-0.43 to 0.00)	<u>(-0.73 to -0.24)</u>	<u>(-0.25 to 0.19)</u>
	PT _{low}	7.12	7.09	²²² 10.45
<u> </u>		(5.85 to 8.39) *** ***	(5.75 to 8.43) *** +++	<u>(8.78 to 12.11)</u> <u>**</u>
С,	рт	11.91	11.48	²²² 13.86
III/IIPa	PI _C	(11.00 to 12.85)	(10.49 to 12.46)	<u>(12.64 to 15.09)</u>
	т	11.88	11.21	²²² 13.09
	I C	(10.82 to 12.94)	(10.10 to 12.33)	<u>(11.70 to 14.48)</u>
DT.	DT.	29.5	27.9	²²² 22.2
	FIlow	(27.5 to 31.6) *** ***	(25.8 to 30.1) *** **	<u>(20.1 to 24.3)</u>
<i>f</i> Res,	PT.	21.4	22.2	²²² 19.1
Hz	110	(19.9 to 23.0)	(20.6 to 23.8)	<u>(17.5 to 20.7)</u>
	Tc	21.7	23.3	20.0 eee
	- 0	(20.0 to 23.4)	(21.5 to 25.1)	<u>(18.3 to 21.8)</u>
	PTIow	43.8	43.9	20.2 etc.
_	1014	(37.9 to 49.6)	(37.3 to 50.6) ** ***	(15.4 to 25.0) [†]
Ax,	ΡΤα	15.8	18.5	13.2
ml/hPa		(11.5 to 20.2)	(13.6 to 23.5)	(9.6 to 16.8)
	Tc	16.1	20.4	(10, 7 + 10, 0)
		(11.2 to 20.9)	(14.8 to 26.0)	(10.7 to 18.8)

Table 3.3 Oscillometry reactance results for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls at baseline, post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator.

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). **Abbreviations: BD** – bronchodilator; **C** – compliance; **fres** – resonant frequency; **Ax** – area under the reactance curve.

PT_{low} **vs P**_c: * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001.

PTI_{ow} **vs T**_c: † p<0.05; †† p<0.01; ††† p<0.001.

 $P_c \; vs \; T_c; \ddagger p{<}0.05; \ddagger \ddagger p{<}0.01; \ddagger \ddagger p{<}0.001.$

Baseline vs Post-exercise: $\frac{\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.05; $\frac{\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.01; $\frac{\partial\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise BD: ² p<0.05; ²² p<0.01; ²²² p<0.001.

		PT _{low} , n=42	PT _c , n=77	T _c , n=60
Reactance parameters baseline to post-exercise				
Vrs hDa c/l (ak		0.19	0.10	0.16
XIS6, IIPd.S/L (au	solute	(-0.32 to 0.71)	(-0.10 to 0.30)	(-0.05 to 0.36)
Vrc bBac/l (a	healuta)	-0.07	0.12	0.27
XIS20, IIF a.S/L (a	bsolutej	(-0.27 to 0.13) ⁺	(-0.03 to 0.26)	(0.08 to 0.46)
	Absolute	0.03	0.44	0.67
C ml/hPa	(ml/hPa)	(-0.49 to 0.55)	(-0.33 to 1.20)	(-0.28 to 1.61)
C, 1111/11ra	Polativa (%)	-0.4	0.6	3.3
	Relative (70)	(-8.4 to 7.6)	(-5.5 to 6.7)	(-3.9 to 10.4)
	Absolute	1.6	-0.8	-1.6
flac Hz	(ml/hPa)	(0.3 to 2.9) [†]	(-2.2 to 0.6)	(-3.2 to 0.1)
JRes, nz	Polativa (%)	4.8	-6.7	-10.8
	Relative (70)	(0.8 to 8.8) ⁺	(-13.4 to 0.0)	(-19.3 to -2.3)
	Absolute	-0.2	-2.6	-4.3
Av ml/hDa Hz	(ml/hPa)	(-5.2 to 4.9)	(-5.4 to 0.1)	(-7.9 to -0.7)
AX, 1111/11rd, Fiz	Polativa (%)	0.3	-47.1	-69.8
	Relative (70)	(-10.8 to 11.4)	(-82.2 to -12.1)	(-118.0 to -21.5)
Reactance para	meters post-exerci	se to post-exercise F	3D	
		-1.42	-0.32	-0.29
Xrs ₆ , nPa.s/L (au	solute)	(-1.99 to -0.84) *** ***	(-0.52 to -0.12)	(-0.50 to -0.08)
		-0.97	-0.38	-0.45
Xrs ₂₀ , hPa.s/L (a	bsolute)	(-1.28 to -0.66) ***	(-0.53 to -0.24)	(-0.59 to -0.32)
	Absolute	-3.36	-2.39	-1.87
	(ml/hPa)	(-4.25 to -2.47)	(-3.26 to -1.52)	(-2.77 to -0.98)
C, ml/hPa		-61.3	24 5	10.0
	Relative (%)	(-80.0 to -43.7)	-24.5	-19.U
		*** +++	(-32.3 10 -10.0)	(-20.4 10 -11.5)
	Absolute	5.8	3.1	3.3
<i>f</i> Res, Hz	(ml/hPa)	(4.1 to 7.4)	(2.1 to 4.2)	(2.0 to 4.5)
	Polativa (%)	19.1	14.0	12.8
	Relative (70)	(14.3 to 24.0) * *	(9.8 to 18.2)	(7.3 to 18.2)
	Absolute	23.8	51	5 7
	(ml/hPa)	(15.2 to 32.4) ***	(2 / to 8 3)	(3 3 to 8 0)
Ax, ml/hPa, Hz	(1111/11/0)	+++	(2.4 (0 0.5)	(3.3 (0 0.0)
	Relative (%)	46.0	27.1	21.2
	Relative (%)	(34.9 to 57.1) [†]	(15.8 to 38.4)	(6.8 to 35.6)

Table 3.4 Oscillometry reactance change scores from baseline to post-exercise, and post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator for study group (PT_{low}) compared to preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c).

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). **Abbreviations: BD** – bronchodilator; **C** – compliance; **fres** – resonant frequency; **Ax** – area under the reactance curve.

PT_{low} vs T_c: † p<0.05; †† p<0.01; ††† p<0.001.

P_c **vs T**_c: ‡ p<0.05; ‡‡ p<0.01; ‡‡‡ p<0.001.

3.3.3 Obstructive & restrictive preterm lung disease groups

3.3.3.1 Participant characteristics

The baseline oscillometry characteristics of the two subgroups POLD and PnOLD are described in Chapter 2, Tables 2.6 and 2.7. The main differences between POLD and PnOLD were for rates of invasive ventilation and wheeze ever, as well as PnOLD having lower %FVC, and POLD having lower FEV₁/FVC and %FEF_{25-75%}.

3.3.3.2 Resistance parameters

As shown in Tables 3.5 and 3.6, for baseline oscillometry, POLD children had significantly higher resistance compared to PT_c at Rrs_{6-20} and Rrs_{20} , and higher than PnOLD and PT_c for Fdep₆₋₂₀ as absolute value (1.88 vs 0.85 vs 0.43) and ratio (1.33 vs 1.16 vs 1.09), as well as Rrs_6 (7.76 vs 6.34 vs 5.48) for POLD, PnOLD and PT_c respectively, suggesting a greater degree of peripheral airway disease in children with an obstructive picture of airway disease compared to non-obstructive lung disease. There were no differences found between PnOLD and PT_c children.

There were no changes seen post-exercise in either children with POLD or PnOLD. No group showed a greater difference in change score from baseline to post-exercise.

Following bronchodilator, all groups showed improvement on repeated measures analysis for all parameters except PnOLD for both frequency dependence, suggesting a lack of modifiable peripheral airway disease in this group. Following bronchodilator, POLD had a greater change compared to PT_c for absolute Rrs₆₋₂₀ and Rrs₆ but not Rrs₂₀, again suggesting peripheral airways were affected by bronchodilation. Greater absolute (compared to PT_c: Fdep₆₋₂₀ 1.22 vs 0.30 hPa.s/L, rFdep₆₋₂₀ 0.21 vs 0.06) and relative (compared to PnOLD: rFdep₆₋₂₀ 13.4 vs 8.6 %) improvements were seen in the frequency dependence of resistances.

		Baseline Post-exercise		Post-exercise BD		
Resistance parameters (POLD, n=27; PnOLD, n=15; PT _c , n=77)						
	POLD	6.70 (6.17 to 7.22) ^{¥¥¥}	6.55 (6.00 to 7.10) ^{¥¥¥}	<u>²²² 5.36</u> (4.77 to 5.95)		
Rrs ₆₋₂₀ , hPa.s/L	PnOLD	5.87 (5.17 to 6.57)	5.45 (4.72 to 6.57)	<u>²² 4.60</u> (3.82 to 5.39)		
	PTc	5.20 (4.89 to 5.52)	5.25 (4.93 to 5.58)	<u>²²² 4.68</u> (4.33 to 5.03)		
	POLD	7.76 (7.14 to 8.39) ^{§ ¥¥¥}	7.91 (7.23 to 8.59) ^{§§ ¥¥¥}	²²² 5.99 (5.29 to 6.68) [¥]		
Rrs₀, hPa.s/L	PnOLD	6.34 (5.50 to 7.18)	6.16 (5.25 to 7.07)	^{2€} 4.87 (3.94 to 5.80)		
	PTc	5.48 (5.11 to 5.85)	5.63 (5.23 to 6.04)	²²² 4.90 (4.49 to 5.31)		
	POLD	5.89 (5.41 to 6.37) [¥]	5.64 (5.14 to 6.14)	^{2€} 4.94 (4.42 to 5.46)		
Rrs₂₀, hPa.s/L	PnOLD	5.49 (4.85 to 6.14)	5.07 (4.40 to 5.74)	<u>^{2€} 4.41</u> (3.72 to 5.11)		
	PT _c	5.06 (4.77 to 5.34)	4.98 (4.69 to 5.28)	<u>²²² 4.55</u> (4.24 to 4.85)		
	POLD	1.88 (1.52 to 2.23) ^{§§ ¥¥¥}	2.27 (1.86 to 2.68) ^{§§ ¥¥¥}	²²² 1.05 (0.69 to 1.41) ^{¥¥}		
Fdep ₆₋₂₀ , hPa.s/L	PnOLD	0.85 (0.37 to 1.32)	1.09 (0.54 to 1.64)	0.46 (-0.03 to 0.94)		
	PTc	0.43 (0.22 to 0.64)	0.65 (0.41 to 0.90)	<u>²0.35</u> (0.14 to 0.56)		
	POLD	1.33 (1.26 to 1.40) ^{§ ¥¥¥}	1.42 (1.33 to 1.50) [§] ¥¥¥	<u>²²² 1.21 (1.13 to 1.28) [¥]</u>		
rFdep ₆₋₂₀	PnOLD	1.16 (1.07 to 1.26)	1.24 (1.13 to 1.35)	1.11 (1.01 to 1.21)		
	PT _c	1.09 (1.05 to 1.13)	<u>^ð 1.14</u> (1.09 to 1.19)	² <u>1.08</u> (1.03 to 1.12)		

Table 3.5 Oscillometry resistance results for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c), for comparison at baseline, post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator.

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: BD – bronchodilator; Rrs_{6-20} – average respiratory system resistance

6 -20 Hz; **R / XrS_{6 / 20}** – respiratory system resistance (R) / reactance (X) at 6 / 20 Hz; **Fdep**₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; **rFdep**₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz with Rrs₂₀ as denominator.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

POLD vs PT_c: \pm p<0.05; \pm p<0.01; \pm \pm p<0.001.

PnOLD vs PT_c: $^{\phi}$ p<0.05; $^{\phi\phi}$ p<0.01; $^{\phi\phi\phi}$ p<0.001.

<u>Baseline vs Post-exercise</u>: $\frac{\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.05; $\frac{\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.01; $\frac{\partial\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.001.

<u>Post-exercise vs Post-exercise BD</u>: ^{*2*} p<0.05; ^{*22*} p<0.01; ^{*222*} p<0.001.

Table 3.6 Oscillometry resistance change scores from baseline to post-exercise, and post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c).

		POLD, n=27 PnOLD, n=15		PT _c , n=77	
Resistance parameters baseline to post-exercise					
	Absolute	0.15	0.42	-0.05	
Rrs ₆₋₂₀ ,	(hPa.s/L)	(-0.24 to 0.53)	(-0.11 to 0.94)	(-0.22 to 0.13)	
hPa.s/L	Relative (%)	2.0	7.1	-1.8	
		(-4.3 to 8.3)	(-1.0 to 15.2)	(-5.2 to 1.6)	
	Absolute	-0.14	0.18	-0.15	
Rrs∉ hPa s/I	(hPa.s/L)	(-0.72 to 0.44)	(-0.52 to 0.89)	(-0.40 to 0.10)	
1136, 11 0.3, 2	Relative (%)	-2.8	3.5	-4.5	
		(-10.4 to 4.8)	(-5.8 to 12.7)	(-9.4 to 0.3)	
	Absolute	0.25	0.43	0.07	
Rrs20 hPa s/l	(hPa.s/L)	(-0.06 to 0.55)	(-0.12 to 0.98)	(-0.09 to 0.24)	
111320, 111 a.3/ E	Relative (%)	4.1	7.9	0.7	
		(-1.7 to 10.0)	(-2.0 to 17.8)	(-2.3 to 3.8)	
Edencia hPais	/1	-0.39	-0.24	-0.22	
1 dcp ₆₋₂₀ , m d.5/		(-0.80 to 0.01)	(-0.72 to 0.23)	(-0.42 to -0.02)	
	Absolute	-0.09	-0.08	-0.05	
rEdencia	Absolute	(-0.16 to -0.01)	(-0.17 to 0.02)	(-0.10 to -0.01)	
11 uep ₆₋₂₀	Relative (%)	-7.5	-6.1	-5.6	
	Relative (70)	(-13.0 to -2.0)	(-14.0 to 1.7)	(-9.4 to -1.7)	
Resistance par	ameters post-ex	ercise to post-exercis	e BD		
Rrs ₆₋₂₀ , hPa.s/L	Absolute	1.19	0.85	0.57	
	(hPa.s/L)	(0.73 to 1.66) ^{¥¥}	(0.50 to 1.20)	(0.37 to 0.77)	
	Polotivo (%)	16.1	15.2	11.7	
	Relative (%)	(9.4 to 22.8)	(10.0 to 20.4)	(8.2 to 15.1)	
	Absolute	1.92	1.29	0.74	
Dra bDa a/l	(hPa.s/L)	(1.21 to 2.64) ^{¥¥}	(0.46 to 2.12)	(0.46 to 1.01)	
NI 56, 11P d. 5/ L	Polativo (%)	22.5	19.2	13.1	
	Relative (%)	(14.3 to 30.6)	(10.4 to 27.9)	(8.7 to 17.5)	
	Absolute	0.70	0.65	0.44	
	(hPa.s/L)	(0.34 to 1.06)	(0.27 to 1.04)	(0.27 to 0.60)	
RIS20, IIPd.S/L	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{Q})$	10.1	11.4	9.3	
	Relative (%)	(3.3 to 16.8)	(5.5 to 17.2)	(6.1 to 12.5)	
		1.22	0.63	0.30	
ruep ₆₋₂₀ , nPa.s/	'L	(0.65 to 1.79) ^{¥¥}	(-0.01 to 1.28)	(0.10 to 0.50)	
	Abcoluto	0.21	0.13	0.06	
rEdon	Absolute	(0.10 to 0.33) ^{¥¥}	(0.01 to 0.25)	(0.02 to 0.10)	
Truep ₆₋₂₀	Polativa (%)	13.4	8.6	4.3	
	Relative (%)	(6.0 to 20.8) §	(0.4 to 16.8)	(1.1 to 7.5)	

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: BD – bronchodilator; Rrs_{6-20} – average respiratory system resistance 6 -20 Hz; R / $Xrs_{6/20}$ – respiratory system resistance (R) / reactance (X) at 6 / 20 Hz; Fdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; rFdep₆₋₂₀ – Frequency dependence of resistance between 6 – 20 Hz; with Rrs₂₀ as denominator.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

POLD vs PT_c: ¥ p<0.05; ¥¥ p<0.01; ¥¥¥ p<0.001.

PnOLD vs PT_c: [•] p<0.05; [•] p<0.01; [•] + p<0.001.

3.3.3.3 Reactance parameters

As per Tables 3.7 and 3.8, group comparison results for Xrs₆ and Xrs₂₀ showed a stepwise difference, with POLD most affected, followed by PnOLD compared to PT_c, (Xrs₆: -4.18 vs -2.77 vs -1.99 hPa.s/L; Xrs₂₀: -1.64 vs -0.84 vs -0.20 hPa.s/L respectively). Compliance was significantly lower in POLD and PnOLD than PT_c (6.18 vs 8.82 vs 11.91 ml/hPa). *f*res and Ax were highest in POLD children (*f*res: 31.6 vs 25.8 vs 21.4 Hz; Ax: 53 vs 27.1 vs 15.8).

Post-exercise saw no within-group changes on repeated measures or change score differences.

All groups showed an improvement for all parameters following bronchodilator, except in the PnOLD and PT_c groups for Xrs₆. Change scores for Xrs₆, relative compliance and absolute Ax were greater in POLD compared to both PnOLD and PT_c . Xrs₂₀ and absolute *f*res were greater for POLD than PT_c . Change score in Xrs₆ for POLD was in fact ~threefold greater compared to PnOLD and ~sixfold greater compared to PT_c .

		Baseline	Post-exercise	Post-exercise BD		
Reactance parameters (POLD, n=27; PnOLD, n=15; PT _c , n=77)						
	POLD	-4.18 (-4.60 to -3.76) _{\$\$\$} ¥¥¥	-4.39 (-4.98 to -3.80) § ¥¥¥	<u>²²² -2.52</u> (-3.01 to -2.03) 		
Xrs ₆ , hPa.s/L	PnOLD	-2.77 (-3.33 to -2.20) *	-2.94 (-3.73 to -2.15)	-2.34 (-3.00 to -1.68)		
	PTc	-1.99 (-2.24 to -1.74)	-2.08 (-2.43 to -1.74)	-1.77 (-2.06 to -1.47)		
	POLD	-1.64 (-1.97 to -1.31) [§] ¥¥¥	-1.60 (-1.97 to -1.23) [§] ^{¥¥¥}	²²² -0.50 (-0.83 to -0.18) [¥]		
Xrs ₂₀ , hPa.s/L	PnOLD	-0.84 (-1.28 to -0.40) [*]	-0.70 (-1.20 to -0.21)	²²² 0.05 (-0.39 to 0.48)		
	PTc	-0.20 (-0.39 to 0.00)	-0.31 (-0.53 to -0.09)	<u>²²² 0.07</u> (-0.12 to 0.26)		
C, ml/hPa	POLD	6.18 (4.66 to 7.70) ^{¥¥¥}	5.82 (4.31 to 7.33) ^{§ ¥¥¥}	²²² 9.54 (7.59 to 11.49) ^{¥¥}		
	PnOLD	8.82 (6.78 to 10.86) *	9.37 (7.34 to 11.40)	² 12.09 (9.47 to 14.70)		
	PTc	11.91 (11.01 to 12.81)	11.48 (10.58 to 12.37)	²²² 13.86 (12.71 to 15.02)		
	POLD	31.6 (29.1 to 34.2) ^{§ ¥¥¥}	30.2 (27.6 to 32.8) ^{§ ¥¥¥}	²²² 24.0 (21.5 to 26.5) ^{¥¥}		
<i>f</i> Res, Hz	PnOLD	25.8 (22.3 to 29.2)	23.9 (20.3 to 27.4)	²²² 18.9 (15.5 to 22.2)		
	PTc	21.4 (19.9 to 22.9)	22.2 (20.7 to 23.8)	کتر 19.1 (17.6 to 20.6)		
	POLD	53.0 (45.3 to 60.6) ^{§§§ ¥¥¥}	53.7 (45.0 to 62.4) ^{§§§ ¥¥¥}	23.0 (16.8 to 29.2)		
Ax, ml/hPa	PnOLD	27.1 (16.9 to 37.4)	26.4 (14.8 to 38.1)	<u>[€]15.1</u> (6.8 to 23.4)		
	PTc	15.8 (11.5 to 20.2)	18.5 (13.6 to 23.5)	<u>₹13.2</u> (9.6 to 16.8)		

Table 3.7 Oscillometry reactance results for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c), for comparison at baseline, post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator.

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). **Abbreviations: BD** – bronchodilator; **C** – compliance. *fres* – resonant frequency. **Ax** – area under the reactance curve.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

POLD vs PT_c: ¥ p<0.05; ¥¥ p<0.01; ¥¥¥ p<0.001.

PnOLD vs PT_c: ^φ p<0.05; ^{φφ} p<0.01; ^{φφφ} p<0.001.

<u>Baseline vs Post-exercise</u>: $\frac{\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.05; $\frac{\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.01; $\frac{\partial\partial\partial}{\partial}$ p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise BD: ² p<0.05; ²² p<0.01; ²²² p<0.001.

Table 3.8 Oscillometry reactance change scores from baseline to post-exercise, and post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator for obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) preterm lung disease groups compared with preterm controls (PT_c)

		POLD, n=27	PnOLD, n=15	PT _c , n=77
Reactance parameters baseline to post-exercise				
Vrc bDac/I		0.21 0.17		0.10
AIS6, IIP d.S/L		(-0.28 to 0.69)	(-1.10 to 1.44)	(-0.10 to 0.30)
Vrs., hPas/l		-0.04	-0.14	0.12
AI S ₂₀ , IIF d. S/ L		(-0.30 to 0.23)	(-0.49 to 0.21)	(-0.03 to 0.26)
	Absolute	0.35	-0.55	0.44
C ml/hPa	(ml/hPa)	(-0.20 to 0.91)	(-1.65 to 0.54)	(-0.33 to 1.20)
C, III/IIF a	Relative (%)	2.6	-5.9	0.6
		(-7.3 to 12.5)	(-20.8 to 9.0)	(-5.5 to 6.7)
	Absolute	1.4	1.9	-0.8
fRes Hz	(ml/hPa)	(-0.4 to 3.2)	(0.0 to 3.8)	(-2.2 to 0.6)
JNC3, 112	Relative (%)	3.5	7.0	-6.7
		(-1.6 to 8.7)	(0.1 to 14.0)	(-13.4 to 0.0)
	Absolute	-0.7	0.7	-2.6
Av ml/hPa Hz	(ml/hPa)	(-7.5 to 6.1)	(-7.5 to 8.9)	(-5.4 to 0.1)
Ax, miy m a, mz	Polativo (%)	-5.4	10.7	-47.1
		(-19.4 to 8.5)	(-8.7 to 30.0)	(-82.1 to -12.1)
Reactance para	meters post-exerc	ise to post-exercise	BD	
		-1.87	0.6	0.22
Xrs ₆ , hPa.s/L		(-2.68 to -1.06)	-0.0 (-1 19 to 0 00)	(-0.52 to -0.12)
		§§ ¥¥¥	(1.15 to 0.00)	(0.52 to 0.12)
		-1.10	-0.75	-0.38
Xrs ₂₀ , hPa.s/L		(-1.56 to -0.64)	(-1 02 to -0 47)	(-0 53 to -0 24)
		¥¥¥	(1.02 to 0.17)	(0.55 to 0.21)
	Absolute	-3.72	-2.71	-2.39
		(-4.93 to -2.51)	(-4.05 to -1.38)	(-3.26 to -1.52)
C, ml/hPa		-77.1	-32.8	-24.5
	Relative (%)	(-103.1 to -51.2)	(-51.3 to -14.2)	(-32.3 to -16.6)
		99 # ##		(,
<i>f</i> Res, Hz	Absolute	6.2	5.0	3.1
	(ml/hPa)	(3.8 to 8.6) *	(3.0 to 7.0)	(2.1 to 4.2)
	Relative (%)	18.3	20.6	14.0
		(11.5 to 25.1)	(13.5 to 27.7)	(9.8 to 18.2)
	Absolute	30.7	11.3	5.4
	(ml/hPa)	(18.2 to 43.1)	(5.3 to 17.4)	(2.4 to 8.3)
Ax, ml/hPa, Hz	,	33 ***	, ,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	Relative (%)	46.2	45.5	27.1
		(30.0 to 62.5)	(32.2 to 58.8)	(15.8 to 38.4)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). **Abbreviations: BD** – bronchodilator; **C** – compliance. *fres* – resonant frequency. **Ax** – area under the reactance curve.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

POLD vs PT_c: ¥ p<0.05; ¥¥ p<0.01; ¥¥¥ p<0.001.

PnOLD vs PT_c: ^Φ p<0.05; ^{ΦΦ} p<0.01; ^{ΦΦΦ} p<0.001.



Figure 3.6 Graphic displaying the oscillometry spectra for resistance and reactance at a) baseline, b) post-exercise and c) post-exercise bronchodilator (BD) for preterm obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease groups, and preterm (PT_c) and term (T_c) controls.

Figure 3.7 Graphic displaying the oscillometry spectra for resistance and reactance for a) preterm obstructive (POLD) and b) non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease groups, and c) preterm (PT_c) and d) term (T_c) controls at baseline, post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator (BD).



3.4 Discussion

This chapter has assessed the mechanical properties of the airways using oscillometry, including responses to exercise for the first time in this population, and following post-exercise bronchodilator. I have demonstrated that preterm-born children, when stratified by current lung function, have impaired baseline respiratory mechanics when compared to term controls. I have found that exercise has no major effect on oscillometry parameters in either preterm or term children, however both preterm and term children show varying degrees of bronchodilator response. The greatest response was seen in preterm children with current lung function deficits on spirometry.

Additionally, these results are amplified when assessing children with low lung function base on whether they have obstructive or non-obstructive lung disease. The results show the peripheral airways were greatest affected, with resistances and reactances at the lower frequencies showing greater differences between groups, and greater responses in affected children following bronchodilator.

Stratifying children by current lung function, as opposed to potential risk factors for later disease such as CLD, is potentially an important reframing of how we should follow-up children born preterm. This is a change from the traditional focus on those children with a historical diagnosis of CLD (Um-Bergström et al., 2017), or those born at extremes of gestation such as with the EXPRESS study (Thunqvist et al., 2018) or EPICure group (Lum et al., 2011). Given lung function status is associated with aerobic fitness (Hancox and Rasmussen, 2018), stratifying children by current lung function may be a more important way of assessing for differences that may impact on a child clinically. These data show that preterm children with low lung function in fact have widespread differences across oscillometry parameters compared to both 'healthy' preterm and term children.

Spirometry is known to correlate with oscillometry (Broström et al., 2010, Malmberg et al., 2000), and so identifying impaired respiratory mechanics in a group of preterm children stratified by lung function is unsurprising. However, as spirometry cannot be

138

performed reliably in younger children, oscillometry findings may be able to identify those children who have impaired lung function at an earlier stage.

The baseline oscillometry revealed that while the PT_{Iow} group, expectedly, had impaired oscillometry, of interest was that the lower frequencies were affected greater than the medium frequencies, suggesting that peripheral lung disease is a major factor for airway disease in preterm-born children. This has been shown to be the case in uncontrolled asthma (Heijkenskjöld Rentzhog et al., 2017), however this cohort does not match with my description clinically, suggesting a different disease mechanism. Reactance, particularly at lower frequencies, i.e., elastic properties of the respiratory system, appeared to be impaired; indeed this was reflected in the low compliance values observed in the PT_{Iow} group.

Of particular interest were the outcomes following exercise. While exercise is known to potentially cause bronchoconstriction in preterm children (Joshi et al., 2013), its impact on airway mechanics has not been reported previously. My data show that exercise does not appear to affect airway mechanics in either preterm or term children. There are some possible explanations behind these findings. Oscillometry was performed at 20 minutes after exercise when exercise-induced bronchoconstriction (EIB) is at its peak (Joshi et al., 2013). It is possible that any effects of exercise on the lung mechanics were present at an earlier stage after the cycle test, however the corresponding spirometry results also showed a lack of EIB.

Another possible explanation is that any bronchoconstrictive effects of exercise were countered by an adrenaline surge resulting from exercise. Adrenaline can act on the β -2 receptors in the airway smooth muscle and may reverse any increased tone from exercise. Dynamic hyperinflation has been found to occur in people with asthma during exercise (Kosmas et al., 2004), causing an increase in FRC. Given airway resistance decreases with increasing lung volume (Levitzky, 2018), if 'splinting' of airways occurs as a result of exercise, the increased airway size could again counteract any bronchoconstriction resulting in static impedance values. Airway resistance has been found to improve during exercise in a study of children with asthma (Mansfield et al., 1979), so a similar response may occur in children with lung pathology from preterm birth.

Bronchodilator use has previously been assessed in a range of respiratory conditions using oscillometry (Thamrin et al., 2007). While our preterm cohort's relative change in impedance may be lower than some of the recommended changes required for a positive response (King et al., 2020), there is still a greater change compared to controls. Reactance values, in particular at lower frequencies (i.e., 6 Hz) showed the greatest difference compared to controls, with three-fold greater decreases. Additionally, a greater drop in Fdep was observed, potentially suggesting that there is a bronchodilator action on the peripheral airways, possibly a result of smooth muscle extension distally as a result of remodelling from preterm birth (Hislop and Haworth, 1990, Margraf et al., 1991).

The greatest effects were observed when investigating the POLD and PnOLD groups. There was a clear step down in terms of impaired oscillometry, with POLD worst affected, followed by PnOLD, preterm controls and term controls in that order. Again, low frequencies were particularly involved, in both baseline results, and in postexercise bronchodilator response. This reinforces the need to identify these children and assess whether their disease process is potentially modifiable with medications.

3.4.1 Strengths and Limitations

The main strength of this study is assessing functional outcomes based on a clinicallyrelevant current measure (lung function) rather than on a diagnosis made several years prior that may have limited bearing for current health. Additionally, while it is common with other lung disease to assess whether it is obstructive or restrictive in nature, this has not been the case in children with respiratory sequelae of preterm birth. This should be an ongoing clinical, as well as academic, focus.

One limitation regarding oscillometry is use of raw values rather than Z-scores from a reference range. While several studies have developed reference values within their own populations (Calogero et al., 2013), these do not always fit when applied to other populations (Shackleton et al., 2012). This results in individual studies developing normal values using regression equations to account for demographic factors within individual populations. As such, this limits comparisons to between groups from within a given study, rather than a comparison with 'normality'. Standardised references are recognised to be necessary, however are still in the process of being developed (King et al., 2020).

Bias will be discussed in detail in the final discussion chapter.

3.5 Conclusions

In summary, preterm-born children with low lung function had greater impairment of airway mechanics compared to healthy children. This was particularly noticeable in children with obstructive lung disease. The oscillometry results showed peripheral airway disease appeared to be present in these children, and that this disease is responsive to post-exercise bronchodilator therapy. Although the exact mechanism behind lung dysfunction (structural versus inflammation) still needs to be clarified, it is unlikely to be a single pathology, and is dependent on a variety of individual perinatal and postnatal exposures.

4 INTRA-BREATH OSCILLOMETRY

4.1 Introduction

As outlined in the previous chapter, standard oscillometry using pseudorandom noise is an extremely useful tool for identifying differences in airway mechanics between populations. It has also been demonstrated that its use can be beneficial for improving understanding of disease pathology, including the peripheral airway disease identified in this cohort of preterm-born children. However, oscillometry use has advanced from its standard form and novel ways of analysing airway mechanics have been developed.

4.1.1 Technical aspects to test

Standard oscillometry is useful for looking across frequencies (which gives the information about locality of disease within the airway), however does not show what happens within each breath. This information may be able to further differentiate between pathological entities (Sly and Hantos, 2018). As such a modified form of oscillometry has been developed, known as intra-breath or temporal oscillometry (Czövek et al., 2016, Lorx et al., 2017). This differs from standard oscillometry and uses a single frequency to assess respiratory impedance, again delivered as a superimposed sine wave on top of normal respiration. In this case though, by measuring the wave reflections at frequent intervals throughout the breath cycle, changes in impedance during this time can be identified. This may reveal variations from normal in disease processes affecting the respiratory system. This approach is unique to oscillometry – there is currently no other tool that can assess this.

Underlying this technique is firstly being able to identify what happens to the impedance of the respiratory system during each breath cycle, and an understanding of how disease may then affect normality. This can be postulated based on knowledge of the respiratory cycle. As previously outlined, resistance is partly reflective of lung volume. As such, it would be expected that due to increased airway size at the end of inspiration, the resistance would be lower than at the end of expiration. Expiration itself can be limited by airway disease, particularly that of

142

airway obstruction, therefore in disease processes consistent with airway obstruction such as asthma, a slower rise to peak expiratory flow would potentially be expected, and the impedance at this point of peak flow would be considered flow-dependent, when compared to peak flow during inspiration (Sly and Hantos, 2018). Additionally, resistance in the airways would be expected to be greater during expiration in healthy children, and effect potentially amplified in obstructive disease processes, when compared to inspiration.

4.1.2 Use of test in other populations

The use of intra-breath oscillometry has been limited so far. It is still to some degrees an exploratory technique, and as such there is yet to be any written consensus on how this should be performed. Indeed, the terminology itself can be confusing, with overlapping techniques using the similar names, but applying the test to differing extents. Examples of the names include within-breath, intra-breath or temporal (T-) oscillometry; however, where "within-breath" oscillometry has largely been used, this technique has grossly looked at the differences between expiratory or inspiratory impedance as a whole, rather than looking at the changes that occur within these components of respiration (Sol et al., 2019, Zannin et al., 2019). However, it is feasible to apply the same principles to be able to track the impedance throughout respiration, including at the points of volume or flow dependence.

Whilst this technique has not been explored in a preterm population, it has been utilised successfully in other populations. This includes a cohort of over 600 healthy infants in South Africa, where volume dependence of resistance and reactance (principle components of the airway impedance) were associated with increased risk of respiratory morbidity such as lower respiratory tract infection or wheezing during the first year of life (Gray et al., 2019). Use of this intra-breath impedance tracking has been used in a population of adults with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) (Lorx et al., 2017), classically known as an obstructive form of lung disease. One of the potential applications of this test was demonstrated in this cohort study of 55 adults with COPD compared to 20 controls. It is possible to plot the impedance (in terms of resistance or reactance) against the volume in both inspiration and

expiration (as seen in Figure 4.1). This can be used to visually demonstrate and mathematically calculate an area within the impedance-volume loop, for example the area between the resistance in expiration vs volume and compared to the resistance in inspiration vs volume, which then gives an idea about the overall difference in resistance between the two stages of respiration. This same principle can also be applied to reactance. The main finding in this study by Lorx *et al* found an increased area within the reactance–volume loop, which was felt to be suggestive of expiratory flow limitation, consistent with airway obstruction. This flow limitation was then demonstrated to be improved with the use of continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) (Lorx et al., 2017).

Preterm-born children are clearly a very different population group compared to the above COPD population, with disease that bears clinical similarities, but differing pathophysiology, to that of other childhood wheeze disorders, namely asthma. Therefore, comparing intra-breath parameters for similarities or differences to those seen in term-born children with wheeze or asthma is important. Tracked impedance measures in a pre-school population of 31 children with acute wheeze identified various potential impedance markers of disease that differed from 75 healthy children. Cut-offs for disease within these parameters were determined using ROC curves and were then used in a subgroup of 20 children with recurrent wheeze, but symptom free at time of testing. This showed that the ΔR_e measurement (difference in resistance at end-expiration compared to end-inspiration) had the best sensitivity/specificity for disease (Czövek et al., 2016). Given the overlap of symptoms in preterm-associated lung disease and wheeze or asthma, it would be reasonable to assume that if it were the same underlying disease process, preterm-born children would also exhibit the same increased ΔR_e as seen in wheeze.

Figure 4.1 Demonstration of appearance of impedance-volume loops, as tracked throughout the respiratory cycle, with open circles representing inspiration and closed circles representing expiration (Czövek et al., 2016). End-expiration is seen at 0 L volume, with end-inspiration at the highest volume. The impedance difference between these two points can be calculated. Additionally, the area with the loop can also be calculated. Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.



4.1.3 Hypotheses and aims

Hypotheses:

- Preterm-born children with evidence of airway disease (i.e., FEV₁ ≤85% predicted) will show a different pattern of airway disease on intra-breath impedance tracking compared to impedance patterns identified in children with wheeze;
- Preterm-born children with evidence of obstructive disease will be distinguished from their non-obstructive counterparts using intra-breath oscillometry.

Aims:

 To identify normal intra-breath impedance patterns in a term-born population of school aged-children;

- To compare resistance and reactance measurements at 10Hz between standard and intra-breath oscillometry;
- To compare intra-breath oscillometry between lung function and obstructive lung disease groups for differences at baseline, post-exercise, and postexercise bronchodilator.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Population

The same population from the Respiratory Health Outcomes in Neonates (RHiNO) trial was used for this section of the study. Recruitment has been described in greater depth in Chapter 2, section 2.2.1. Children were designated into groups based on spirometry performed during a visit to the Noah's Ark Children's Hospital for Wales in Cardiff. Preterm-born children were designated PT_{low} if their %FEV₁ at this visit was $\leq 85\%$. Preterm-born children with %FEV₁ >85% who were within the first 10 screening visits of a calendar month were eligible to attend as preterm controls. If a preterm child was invited as PT_{low} but their FEV₁ on the day of testing was >85% they were deemed eligible to continue as preterm controls (PT_c) if they had been within the first 10 screening visits of a given month. Term controls (T_c) were eligible if they had %FEV₁ >90% at testing.

4.2.2 Intra-breath oscillometry testing

Intra-breath oscillometry testing was performed using the same custom-built set-up and computer programme (NDAQ) as per the standard oscillometry testing, as developed by the team at University of Szeged in Hungary. The set-up comprised of a loudspeaker connected to a wave-tube. Within the wave-tube were sensors to measure pressure and flow at the airway opening. Due to the potential of increased breathing frequency and pressure from exercise affecting the soundwaves, the setup was modified to negate this effect. The loudspeaker was encased within a larger, sealed cylinder with a 'blow-off' tube connecting the top of the speaker to the cylinder below the speaker, essentially allowing pressure to equalise above and below the speaker diaphragm (see Figure 3.1 in Chapter 3).

Prior to testing I explained to the children what the test was for and how it would be performed. The test was performed with the child sat upright in a chair and attached to the system via a Microgard II microbial filter (Vyaire, Germany). They wore a nose clip during testing and were instructed to firmly hold their cheeks with their fingers and palms of hands to stop any soft tissue vibrations affecting the results. Figure 4.2 displays an example of a participant performing the test. Via the NDAQ system, the loudspeaker then generated a single frequency sine wave at 10 Hz, superimposed onto tidal breathing. Impedance was measured at the mouth using the pressure and flow sensors, at intervals of 0.1 seconds. This impedance was measured 'in-phase' with the soundwaves (representing airway resistance) and 'out-of-phase' from the input (representing airway reactance). A recording lasting 23.5 seconds was made and repeated 2 further times (or more in the event of poor recording quality), with the aim of obtaining artefact-free recordings with regular tidal breathing. Figure 4.3 shows a screenshot of the NDAQ display generated following the test (note the irregular breathing pattern at the start of this trace).

Figure 4.2: Photograph of oscillometry being performed by study participant. Consent obtained from parent for image and use in published works.



Intra-breath oscillometry was performed at 3 time points. An initial baseline reading was obtained. A second test was performed at 20 minutes following maximal exercise testing. A final test was performed 15 minutes after administration of 400µg of

Salbutamol, a β 2 receptor agonist (Salamol, Teva UK Limited) , given at ~45 minutes post-exercise.

I performed blinded, post-acquisition analysis of the intra-breath oscillometry data to obtain results. I assessed each of the recordings for quality and selected artefactfree segments for analysis. Potential artefacts affecting quality of recording included lack of continuous breathing pattern (i.e., breath holding), coughing, blocking the filter with the tongue, increased force of tidal breaths, or leaks around the mouthpiece. Figure 4.4 displays a trace of the same test as Figure 4.3; however, the initial section of artefact has been removed. The results from the recording with the most regular respiratory pattern was then used for data analysis. Results were automatically generated by the software and imported into Excel (Version Excel 365, Microsoft, USA). For each parameter where a result was generated, this represented the mean value as averaged from all the individual breath cycles of that particular recording (for example, the resistance at end-expiration would be given for each breath cycle, and then the mean was calculated). Figure 4.3 Screenshot of the NDAQ software display showing flow and pressure readings over time (left side of picture), and the impedance over time, with red representing resistance measurements and blue showing reactance measurements (right side of



Figure 4.4 Screenshot of the NDAQ software displaying same test, however with the initial artefact removed to obtain flow-pressure and impedance traces with regular respiratory pattern.



4.2.3 Parameters

4.2.3.1 Respiratory cycle

Table 4.1 outlines the parameters of interest for the respiratory cycle, i.e., duration of breath, tidal volume, and respiratory rate.

Table 4.1 Outline of parameters of interest concerning the respiratory cycle

Parameter (units)	Abbreviation
Expiration duration (sec)	T _E
Expiration duration as proportion of full breath duration	T _E /T _{Tot}
Time to maximum expiratory flow as proportion of expiratory	т. /т
time	V'maxE/ I E
Tidal volume (L)	TV
Respiratory rate (breaths per minute, bpm)	F _{br}

Abbreviations: T_E – Expiration time; T_E/T_{Tot} – Expiration time as proportion of total breath time; $T_{V'maxE}/T_E$ – Time to maximum expiratory flow as proportion of expiratory time; TV – Tidal volume; F_{br} – breathing frequency.

4.2.3.2 Resistance parameters

Table 4.2 outlines the parameters of interest for resistance during inspiration, expiration, and the differences between the two stages of the respiratory cycle.

Parameter (unit)	Abbreviation			
	Inspiration	Expiration	Difference between	
			expiration and inspiration	
Mean resistance (hPa.s/L)	R _{meanl}	R _{meanE}	ΔR _{mean}	
Resistance at maximum flow (hPa.s/L)	R _{V'maxl}	R _{V'maxE}	$\Delta R_{v'max}$	
Resistance at end of breath cycle (hPa.s/L)	R _{el}	R _{eE}	ΔR _e	
Range of resistance from maximum to minimum (hPa.s/L)	ΔR	ΔR _E		
Difference between resistance at end of breath cycle and resistance at maximum flow rate in next breath cycle (hPa.s/L)	ΔR _{eE:V'maxI}	$\Delta R_{el:V'maxE}$		
Area within resistance- volume loop (hPa.s)			ARV	
Area within resistance-flow loop			ARV′	

Table 4.2 Parameters under investigation for resistance

Abbreviations: \mathbf{E} – Expiration; \mathbf{I} – Inspiration; Δ – Difference; \mathbf{R}_{meanl} – Mean resistance; $\mathbf{R}_{V'max}$ – Resistance at maximum flow; **ARV** – Area within resistance-volume loop; **ARV** – Area within resistance-flow loop.

4.2.3.3 Reactance parameters

Table 4.3 outlines the parameters of interest for reactance during inspiration, expiration, and the differences between the two stages of the respiratory cycle.

Parameter (unit)		Abbreviation			
	Inspiration	Expiration	Difference between		
			expiration and inspiration		
Mean reactance (hPa.s/L)	X _{meanl}	X _{meanE}	ΔX _{mean}		
Reactance at maximum flow (hPa.s/L)	X _{V'maxl}	X _{V'maxE}	ΔX _{V'max}		
Reactance at end of breath cycle (hPa.s/L)	X _{el}	X _{eE}	ΔX _e		
Range of resistance from minimum to maximum (hPa.s/L)	ΔX _I	ΔX _E			
Difference between reactance at end of breath cycle and reactance at maximum flow rate in next breath cycle (hPa.s/L)	ΔX _{eE:V'maxI}	$\Delta X_{el:V'maxE}$			
Area within reactance-volume loop (hPa.s)			AXV		
Area within reactance-flow loop			AXV'		

Table 4.3 Parameters under investigation for reactance

Abbreviations: E - Expiration; I - Inspiration; $\Delta - Difference$; $X_{meanl} - Mean reactance$; $X_{V'max} - Reactance at maximum flow; AXV - Area within reactance-volume loop; AXV' - Area within reactance-flow loop.$

4.2.4 Spirometry and cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET)

Cardiopulmonary exercise testing was performed on a Paediatric Cycle Ergometer (Lode, Netherlands) linked to a MasterScreen CPX system (Vyaire Medical, Germany) and is described in greater depth in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2.7. A test was deemed to be 'maximal' if it met $\geq 2/4$ of the following criteria:

- Respiratory Exchange Ratio (RER) >1.00;
- Heart rate (HR) ≥80% predicted (220 bpm age);
- ≥9/10 on OMNI scale (pictorial scale for rating of perceived exertion (Barkley and Roemmich, 2008));
- Peak oxygen uptake (VO₂) plateau based on visual analysis.

4.2.5 Ethical approval

Ethics approval for the RHiNO study was granted by the South West-Central Bristol Ethics Committee (Ref 15/SW/0289). Parents and children (where possible) provided written consent/assent.

4.2.6 Statistical analysis

Independent t-tests were used for two group comparisons and one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction for multiple groups comparisons. Categorical data were assessed using Pearson's χ^2 tests. Within-group (baseline, post-exercise, and postexercise bronchodilator) and between group comparisons across time points were compared using two-way mixed ANOVA which included repeated measures across time points, with Bonferroni correction. Change scores (differences from baseline to post-exercise, and from post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator) between groups were compared using one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 26 (IBM, USA). p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Normal (term) children – changes during the breath cycle

4.3.1.1 Demographic details

70 term children attended for in-depth lung function testing, including the intrabreath oscillometry. These children comprised of 37 (53%) males, mean age 10.5 decimal years, height 143.9 cm, height z-score 0.48, and weight 37.9 kg. Included were 5 patients with a doctor's diagnosis of asthma, although not all of these were currently using salbutamol. Slightly over a quarter had experienced wheeze at some point. Mean spirometry scores for these children were greater than 100% predicted for %FEV₁ (104.6%) and %FVC (108%), while mid-flows were 94.7%. Demographic details are summarised in table 4.4.

Demographic	Term control (T _c)
Ago voars	10.5
Age, years	(10.2 to 10.7)
Male, n (%)	37 (53%)
Height cm	143.9
	(141.6 to 146.1)
Height z score	0.48
Height, 2-score	(0.25 to 0.72)
Woight kg	37.9
	(35.4 to 40.4)
Doctor-diagnosed asthma, n (%)	5 (7%)
Wheeze ever, n (%)	19 (27%)
Recent wheeze, n (%)	9 (13%)
Current salbutamol use, n (%)	4 (6%)
FEV baseling % prodicted	104.6
Fev ₁ baseline, % predicted	(102.5 to 106.7)
EVC baseline % predicted	108.0
FVC baseline, % predicted	(105.6 to 110.3)
EEV /EV/C ratio	0.85
	(0.83 to 0.86)
EEE	94.7
rer25-75% baseline, % predicted	(90.2 to 99.2)
Completed baseline intra-breath oscillometry	68 (97%)

Table 4.4 Demographi	c details of term-born	children performing	intra-breath oscillometry.
----------------------	------------------------	---------------------	----------------------------

For continuous data, means and 95% CI of mean are displayed. Abbreviations: FEV_1 – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity; $FEF_{25-75\%}$ – forced expiratory flow between 25-75% of FVC.

From these 70 children, 68 successfully completed baseline intra-breath oscillometry. Of the 2 children in whom oscillometry was not obtained, one was due to poor quality of test, and the other due to an equipment issue.

4.3.1.2 Respiratory cycle overview

Expiration comprised just over half of the entire breath cycle, lasting under 2 seconds on average, with a respiratory rate of ~20 bpm. Tidal volumes were slightly high at 600 mls. Maximum flow was reached one-third into expiration, and there was similar flow rate in inspiration and expiration. These results are summarised in Table 4.5.

Parameter	Expiration
T (seconds)	1.74
T _E (seconds)	(1.60 to 1.89)
т /т	0.52
I E/ I Tot	(0.51 to 0.53)
т /т	0.34
V'maxE / I E	(0.32 to 0.36)
$\lambda l'_{l}$ (1/c)	0.60
V (L/S)	(0.54 to 0.66)
<u>)// (I_/S)</u>	-0.60
V E (L/S)	(-0.67 to -0.52)
T)/ (litroc)	0.60
iv (iitres)	(0.54 to 0.66)

Table 4.5 Respiratory parameters of term-born children performing intra-breath oscillometry.

Means and 95% CI of mean are displayed. **Abbreviations:** T_E – Expiration time; T_E/T_{Tot} – Expiration time as proportion of total breath time; $T_{V'maxE}/T_E$ – Time to maximum expiratory flow as proportion of expiratory time; V'₁ - Inspiratory flow rate; V'_E - Expiratory flow rate; TV – Tidal volume; F_{br} – breathing frequency.

4.3.1.3 *Resistance parameters*

F_{br} (bpm)

Resistance was greater throughout and at the end of expiration in these term-born children, compared to inspiration, as shown in Table 4.6. Overall (mean) resistance was 5.70 hPa.s/L in expiration compared to 4.94 hPa.s/L in inspiration. This was a difference of 0.76 hPa.s/L between mean inspiratory and expiratory resistance. Resistance at zero flow (i.e., volume dependent) states was greater at end-expiration than end-inspiration, as would be expected due to the lower lung volume at these respective times. The mean difference between the resistance at end-expiration (R_{eE}) and at end-inspiration (R_{el}), or ΔR_e , was 0.70 hPa.s/L.

19.9

(18.3 to 21.5)

There was an increase in resistance from the zero-flow state to when flow was maximal in both stages of the respiratory cycle. In inspiration (i.e., following end-expiration), resistance at max flow was 5.35 hPa.s/L. This compares to a peak flow

resistance of 6.17 hPa.s/L in expiration. However, as expiratory flow follows endinspiration, this means there was an increase in resistance of 1.84 hPa.s/L (42% increase from zero-flow resistance), compared to an increase of 0.32 hPa.s/L from end-expiratory to peak inspiratory flow resistance (6% increase from zero-flow resistance).

Paramotor	Inspiration	Expiration	٨Ε٠Ι	
Falameter	inspiration	Expiration	ΔΕ.Ι	
P(hPac/I)	4.94	5.70	0.76	
Rmean (IIF a.S/L)	(4.58 to 5.29)	(5.26 to 6.13)	(0.58 to 0.94)	
	5.35	6.17	0.81	
RV ^{max} (IIPd.S/L)	(4.95 to 5.75)	(5.69 to 6.64)	(0.61 to 1.02)	
$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{h}\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{A}} \mathbf{c}/\mathbf{I})$	4.33	5.03	0.70	
R _e (IPd.S/L)	(4.03 to 4.62)	(4.68 to 5.38)	(0.50 to 0.89)	
AB (bBa c/l)	1.75	2.40		
$\Delta K (IIPa.S/L)$	(1.51 to 1.99)	(2.08 to 2.72)		
	0.32	1.84		
$\Delta R_{e:}R_{V'max}$ (IPd.S/L)	(0.13 to 0.52)	(1.56 to 2.11)		
	-0.53			
ARV (IPa.S)	(-0.67 to -0.39)			
	1.71			
AKV	(1.37 to 2.06)			

Table 4.6 Resistance parameters of term-born children performing intra-breath oscillometry.

Means and 95% CI of mean are displayed. Abbreviations: E - Expiration; I - Inspiration; $\Delta - Difference$; $R_{meanl} - Mean$ resistance; $R_{V'max} - Resistance$ at maximum flow; ARV - Area within resistance-volume loop; ARV' - Area within resistance-flow loop.

4.3.1.4 Reactance parameters

Table 4.7 shows there was less difference seen comparing inspiration and expiration for reactance. At this frequency of 10 Hz in this age group, reactance remained negative, consistent with compliance having the predominant effect at this frequency. As such, a 'more negative' reactance was a move further away from 'normal'. Similar trends were also partly seen in reactance as were seen for resistance. Mean reactance in expiration was more negative than compared to inspiration (-1.63 vs -1.18 hPa.s/L), as were the reactances seen at max flow (-2.03 vs -1.54 hPa.s/L). However, there was little difference in the reactance at zero-flow (-0.86 hPa.s/L at end-inspiration compared to -0.89 hPa.s/L at end-expiration).

Parameter	Inspiration	Expiration	ΔΕ:Ι
V = (h D a c / l)	-1.18	-1.63	-0.45
Amean (IIP d. S/ L)	(-1.39 to -0.98)	(-1.91 to -1.36)	(-0.62 to -0.28)
	-1.54	-2.03	-0.49
AV/max (IIP d.S/L)	(-1.77 to -1.3)	(-2.34 to -1.72)	(-0.68 to -0.31)
	-0.86	-0.89	-0.03
Λ _e (ΠPd.5/L)	(-1 to -0.72)	(-1.07 to -0.7)	(-0.15 to 0.09)
AX (bDa c/L)	1.23	1.86	
ΔA (IIPd.S/L)	(0.98 to 1.47)	(1.54 to 2.18)	
	-0.65	-1.17	
ΔXe:XV/max (ΠPd.S/L)	(-0.82 to -0.48)	(-1.4 to -0.95)	
	0.34		
AXV	(0.22 to 0.46)		
	-0.42		
AV	(-0.61 to -0.22)		

Table 4.7 Reactance parameters of term-born children performing intra-breath oscillometry.

Means and 95% CI of mean are displayed. **Abbreviations:** E - Expiration; I - Inspiration; $\Delta - Difference$; $X_{meanl} - Mean reactance$; $X_{v'max} - Reactance at maximum flow$; AXV - Area within reactance-volume loop; AXV' - Area within reactance-flow loop.

4.3.2 Agreement between standard and intra-breath oscillometry

The children who performed intra-breath oscillometry also performed standard oscillometry, with the latter also recording the resistance and reactance at 10 Hz. With standard oscillometry, this was done by pseudorandom noise – i.e., 10 Hz frequency sine waves were superimposed onto tidal breathing at random intervals, and impedance at this frequency was therefore not measured at such repeated intervals (every 0.1 seconds in temporal oscillometry). However, it would be expected that in the case of reliable testing, these results should still generate similar values to overall mean impedance measured by the intra-breath technique.

Strong correlation was noted between standard and intra-breath oscillometry for both resistance and reactance at 10 Hz using Pearson's correlation (0.936, p < 0.001; 0.928, p < 0.001 respectively), as summarised in Table 4.8. When looking at the individual study groups, strong correlation remained for resistance at 10 Hz, particularly the PT_{Iow} group (PT_{Iow} 0.959; P_c 0.898; T_c 0.922; all p < 0.001). PT_{Iow} group's reactance results also correlated stronger than that of PT_c and T_c , although all still showed strong correlation (PT_{Iow} 0.962, P_c 0.856, T_c 0.850, all p < 0.001).

Interclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was performed to ensure that this positive correlation was due to agreement between the results.

Group	Interclass correlation coefficient for resistance at 10Hz	Interclass correlation coefficient for reactance at 10Hz
Combined	0.966 (0.956 to 0.974) ***	0.950 (0.922 to 0.966) ***
PT _{low}	0.979 (0.964 to 0.988) ***	0.972 (0.949 to 0.985) ***
PTc	0.943 (0.914 to 0.962) ***	0.873 (0.794 to 0.920) ***
T _c	0.955 (0.927 to 0.972) ***	0.893 (0.800 to 0.940) ***

Table 4.8 Interclass correlation coefficient showing agreement levels for resistance and reactance measurements obtained at 10 Hz between standard and intra-breath oscillometry.

Abbreviations: PT_{low} - Preterm low lung function group; PT_c - Preterm control; T_c - Term controls Statistical significance: p value <0.001: ***

A similar pattern was observed with the ICC as with the Pearson's correlation. While there was strong agreement between standard and intra-breath oscillometry throughout, there was better agreement for resistance results than were observed
for reactance. For the individual groups, the greatest agreement was seen in the PT_{low} group (Table 4.8).

These results reassure as to the validity of the data obtained, with the correlation between spectral and intra-breath oscillometry displayed in Figure 4.5.

Figure 4.5 Graphs showing the relationship between A) resistance and B) reactance at 10 Hz between standard oscillometry and intra-breath oscillometry.



4.3.3 Comparisons between lung function groups

As described in greater detail in previous chapters (see section 2.3.2), preterm- and term-born children were divided into the following groups:

- PT_{low}: Preterm-born children with %FEV₁ ≤85%;
- PT_c: Preterm-born children with %FEV₁>85%;
- T_c : Term-born children with %FEV₁ >90%.

Demographic comparisons are previously detailed in Tables 2.1 and 2.2 (Chapter 2). In terms of current demographics, there were small differences between the three study groups. The preterm control group were slightly older than their term control counterparts; however, current height and weight were similar. As discussed previously, the PT_{low} children were born earlier and were smaller than their preterm control comparisons, with a higher rate of CLD. Wheeze ever was highest in the PT_{low} group, and they had greater rates of asthma diagnosis and salbutamol use than the term controls. As per their designation, %FEV₁ was lower in the PT_{low} group as were the %FVC, FEV₁/FVC ratio and mid-expiratory flow rates.

4.3.3.1 Missing data

Not all children had valid intra-breath oscillometry at all 3 time points of testing (baseline, post-exercise, and post-exercise bronchodilator). Comparison of data across time points was done with two-way repeated measures ANOVA, using listwise comparisons. Therefore, if data were missing at any single time point, or a valid exercise test was not performed, these children were excluded from the analysis. Figure 4.6 summarises the excluded participants.

		20 children not eligible for data analysis:
		Preterm (n=17): • 14 FEV ₁ >85%, not a priori control • 3 inadequate spirometry Term (n=3): • 1 FEV ₁ ≤90% • 2 inadequate spirometry
221 eligible childre oscillometry testing	n for intra-breath	
		 5 baseline oscillometry excluded: 1 equipment issue (1 T_c) 2 sub-optimal quality (1 PT_c, 1 T_c) 2 test not performed* (2 PT_c) 18 submaximal exercise test: 6 PT_{low}, 8 PT_c, 4 T_c 25 unable to complete post-exercise or
		 post-bronchodilator intra-breath oscillometry: 3 equipment issue (2 PT_c, 1 T_c) 4 sub-optimal quality (1 PT_c, 3 T_c) 18 test not performed* (6 PT_{low}, 8 PT_c, 4 T_c) *Either declined, time constraint, missed or folt upwall
173 children use measures analysis • 41 PT _{low} • 76 PT _c	ed in repeated	missed, or felt unwell

Figure 4.6 Flow diagram showing where, why and grouping of children excluded from repeated measures analysis.

4.3.3.2 Respiratory parameters

4.3.3.2.1 Baseline

Baseline respiratory parameters between the three study groups were similar, as shown in Table 4.9. Duration of expiration and respiratory rate showed no differences. PT_{low} children had lower tidal volumes compared to preterm controls (0.48 vs 0.61 L), and their expiration was a greater proportion of the total breath cycle compared to preterm controls (0.54 vs 0.51).

4.3.3.2.2 Changes post-exercise

Following exercise, there were few changes on repeated measures analysis, as per Table 4.9. There was a drop of expiratory duration for T_c (1.75 to 1.55 seconds). Otherwise, exercise did not have a perceivable effect on the other respiratory parameters.

4.3.3.2.3 Changes post-exercise bronchodilator

PT_{low} children demonstrated a decrease in expiratory and total respiratory duration, corresponding with an increase in respiratory rate (23.7 to 25.7 bpm), as seen in Table 4.9. No other changes in respiratory pattern were seen following post-exercise bronchodilator.

Table 4.9 Respiratory parameters across time-points of testing for the children divided by preterm and lung function status (preterm children with low lung function – PT_{low} , preterm controls – PT_{c} , and term controls – T_{c}).

		PT _{low} (n=41)	PT _c (n=76)	T _c (n=56)
	De	1.63	1.67	1.75
	ва	(1.46 to 1.79)	(1.55 to 1.79)	(1.61 to 1.89)
TE	F	1.54	1.56	^{ðð} 1.55
(seconds)	EX	(1.37 to 1.71)	(1.43 to 1.69)	<u>(1.40 to 1.70)</u>
		² 1.37	1.55	1.54
	BD	<u>(1.21 to 1.53)</u>	(1.43 to 1.67)	(1.40 to 1.68)
	De	0.54	0.51	0.52
	ва	(0.52 to 0.55) **	(0.5 to 0.52)	(0.51 to 0.53)
T /T	Ev	0.53	0.52	0.52
IE/ Tot	EX	(0.52 to 0.54)	(0.51 to 0.53)	(0.51 to 0.53)
	PD	0.53	0.53	0.52
	БО	(0.51 to 0.54)	(0.52 to 0.54)	(0.51 to 0.53)
	Pa	0.33	0.33	0.34
	Dd	(0.30 to 0.36)	(0.31 to 0.35)	(0.31 to 0.37)
т., -/т-	Ex	0.32	0.34	0.35
V maxE/ TE		(0.29 to 0.35)	(0.32 to 0.36)	(0.32 to 0.38)
	BD	0.35	0.36	0.36
		(0.32 to 0.39)	(0.33 to 0.38)	(0.33 to 0.39)
	Ba	0.48	0.61	0.59
	Da	(0.41 to 0.56) *	(0.56 to 0.67)	(0.52 to 0.66)
VТ (L)	Fx	0.46	0.57	0.57
VI (L)	LA	(0.39 to 0.54)	(0.52 to 0.63)	(0.51 to 0.64)
	BD	0.50	0.61	0.58
	00	(0.43 to 0.57)	(0.56 to 0.66)	(0.52 to 0.64)
	Ba	21.6	20.2	19.7
	Da	(19.8 to 23.5)	(18.9 to 21.6)	(18.1 to 21.3)
Et. (bpm)	F٧	23.7	^{dd} 22.4	^{dd} 22.3
	LA	(21.5 to 25.9)	<u>(20.8 to 24.0)</u>	<u>(20.4 to 24.2)</u>
	BD	² 25.7	23.2	22.2
	ы	<u>(23.3 to 28.0)</u>	(21.5 to 25.0)	(20.2 to 24.2)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: T_E – Expiration time; T_E/T_{Tot} – Expiration time as proportion of total breath time; $T_{V'maxE}/T_E$ – Time to maximum expiratory flow as proportion of expiratory time; TV – Tidal volume; F_{br} – breathing frequency; **Ba** – Baseline; **Ex** – Post-exercise; **BD** – Post-exercise bronchodilator.

PT_{low} vs PT_c: * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001.

PT_{low} vs T_c: † p<0.05; †† p<0.01; ††† p<0.001.

PT_c vs T_c: ‡ p<0.05; ‡‡ p<0.01; ‡‡‡ p<0.001.

Baseline vs Post-exercise: d p<0.05; dd p<0.01; ddd p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise bronchodilator: ² p<0.05; ²² p<0.01; ²²² p<0.001.

4.3.3.3 Resistance parameters

4.3.3.3.1 Baseline

4.3.3.3.1.1 Inspiration

Resistance parameters were greater throughout inspiration for PT_{low} children compared to both controls, as per Table 4.10a and illustrated in Figure 4.7. Greater resistance was seen in PT_{low} compared to PT_c and T_c for R_{meanl} (6.06 vs 4.92 vs 4.97 hPa.s/L respectively), $R_{V'maxl}$ (6.56 vs 5.27 vs 5.41 hPa.s/L respectively) and R_{el} (5.34 vs 4.37 vs 4.35 hPa.s/L respectively). There were no differences between the two control groups. The pattern of resistance across the preterm groups was similar to that as described above with the term children in isolation, with an increase in resistance from end-expiration to at maximum flow; however, there was no difference between groups for the extent of this increase. The gap between maximum and minimum resistance in inspiration was similar across the 3 groups (ΔR_l : 1.89 vs 1.56 vs 1.80 hPa.s/L for PT_{low} , PT_c and T_c respectively).

4.3.3.3.1.2 Expiration

There was a similar pattern of differences between PT_{low} , PT_c and Tc for resistance in expiration as seen in inspiration, as seen in Table 4.10b and displayed in Figure 4.7, with higher R_{meanE} (6.75 vs 5.56 vs 5.77 hPa.s/L respectively), $R_{V'maxE}$ (7.17 vs 5.91 vs 6.25 hPa.s/L respectively) and R_{eE} : 6.31 vs 5.04 vs 5.08 hPa.s/L respectively) for PT_{low} compared to PT_c and T_c . An increase was seen from end-inspiration to at maximum expiratory flow, of a greater magnitude in all groups than the difference from end-expiration to maximum inspiratory flow resistance (PT_{low} 1.83 vs 0.25, PT_c 1.54 vs 0.22, T_c 1.9 vs 0.33); however, again the magnitude of increase was no different across the study groups. Again, there were no differences between preterm and term controls. The overall range of resistance (from maximum to minimum resistances measured, ΔR_E) was similar between all three groups, but appeared greater than the resistance range seen in inspiration (PT_{low} : 2.46 vs 1.89, PT_c 2.06 vs 1.56, T_c 2.48 vs 1.80 hPa.s/L), suggesting more variability in resistance during expiration than inspiration.

4.3.3.3.1.3 Differences between inspiration and expiration

The differences between inspiration and expiration were consistent across the three groups. At all stages of the respiratory cycle, expiratory resistance was higher than inspiratory resistance (for mean resistance, resistance at max flow and the resistance at end of respiratory cycle), as per Table 4.10c. However, all 3 study groups showed a similar degree of difference between inspiration and expiration for these parameters.

The area within the resistance-volume curve (ARV), representing the changing resistance with volume, showed a smaller area for the PT_{low} group compared to T_c children (0.33 vs 0.55 hPa.s/L). There was a trend towards a bigger area of the resistance-flow (ARV') curve, not reaching statistical significance (2.0 vs 1.79 vs 1.71 hPa.L/s for PT_{low} , PT_c , and T_c respectively).

4.3.3.3.2 Post-exercise changes

Repeated measures analysis did not show any differences after exercise for resistance in inspiration or expiration, or for the differences between these two parts of the respiratory cycle, as displayed in Table 4.10a-c and illustrated in Figure 4.8.

4.3.3.3.3 Post-exercise bronchodilator changes

4.3.3.3.1 Inspiration

Resistance at all stages of inspiration showed a statistically significant improvement for all three study groups on repeated measures ANOVA between post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator testing, shown in Table 4.10a and illustrated in Figure 4.8. These changes resulted in a loss of statistical significance compared to both control groups (R_{meanl} , $R_{V'maxl}$) or compared to term controls only (R_{el}). This suggests a greater improvement seen in PT_{low} resistance compared to the improvement seen in the 2 control groups. There was also a change in the range of inspiratory resistance (ΔR_l) for PT_{low} children (1.67 to 1.4 hPa.s/L), suggesting a lower variability in resistance following the post-exercise bronchodilator across inspiration, a change not seen in the control groups.

4.3.3.3.2 Expiration

A very similar pattern was seen in expiration as with inspiration for all the study groups, including the loss of significance as described above between the groups following post-exercise bronchodilator administration, again suggesting the greatest improvements were seen in the PT_{low} children (Table 4.10b and Figure 4.8). There was no change in ΔR_E for the PT_{low} children, suggesting less reduction in resistance variability in expiration than seen in inspiration.

4.3.3.3.3 Differences between inspiration and expiration plus resistance loops

There were no significant changes seen from post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator for the differences between inspiration and expiration, although there was a trend in all groups for a higher resistance difference from baseline to post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator. For example, the change in ΔR_{mean} for PT_{Iow} was 0.68 hPa.s/L (baseline) to 0.82 hPa.s/L (post-exercise) to 0.95 hPa.s/L (post-exercise bronchodilator). This change would result from a greater improvement in inspiratory resistance compared to expiratory resistance (hence a widening of the difference). A similar pattern was seen in PT_c and T_c children for ΔR_{mean} , as well as for all three groups for $\Delta R_{V'max}$. There was a non-significant trend for reduced difference between zero flow states (ΔR_e) in all three groups, in this case suggesting the greater fall for this parameter was seen at end-expiration than end-inspiration. Following post-exercise bronchodilator, the difference in resistance from end-expiration to maximal flow in inspiration was only 0.05 hPa.s/L for PT_{Iow} children. The areas within the resistance-volume and resistance-flow loops showed no changes. These data are displayed in Table 4.10c.

Table 4.10 Resistance parameters across time points for the children divided by preterm and lung function status (preterm children with low lung function – PT_{low} , preterm controls – PT_c , and term control – T_c), during a) inspiration, b) expiration, and c) differences between inspiration and expiration results, and independent parameters.

		PT _{low} (n=41)	PT _c (n=76)	T _c (n=56)
a) Inspiration				
	Da	6.06	4.92	4.97
	Dd	(5.61 to 6.52) *** **	(4.59 to 5.25)	(4.58 to 5.36)
R _{meanl}	Εv	6.1	4.95	5.15
(hPa.s/L)	L.	(5.65 to 6.55) *** **	(4.62 to 5.28)	(4.77 to 5.54)
	BD	²²² 4.66	²²² 4.03	²²² 4.37
	00	<u>(4.24 to 5.08)</u>	<u>(3.72 to 4.33)</u>	<u>(4.01 to 4.73)</u>
	Ba	6.56	5.27	5.41
	Da	(6.08 to 7.05) *** **	(4.91 to 5.62)	(4.99 to 5.82)
R _{V'maxl}	Εv	6.39	5.22	5.54
(hPa.s/L)	L.	(5.91 to 6.86) *** ⁺	(4.87 to 5.57)	(5.14 to 5.95)
	BD	²²² 4.93	²²² 4.26	²²² 4.67
		<u>(4.47 to 5.39)</u>	<u>(3.92 to 4.60)</u>	<u>(4.27 to 5.06)</u>
	Ва	5.34	4.37	4.35
		(4.94 to 5.74) *** ***	(4.08 to 4.66)	(4.01 to 4.69)
R _{el}	Ex	5.63	4.50	4.64
(hPa.s/L)		(5.22 to 6.03) *** **	(4.20 to 4.80)	(4.29 to 4.99)
	BD	²²² 4.36	²²² 3.64	²²² 3.92
		(4.01 to 4.71) **	<u>(3.38 to 3.89)</u>	<u>(3.62 to 4.22)</u>
	Ba	1.89	1.56	1.8
	Ба	(1.62 to 2.16)	(1.36 to 1.76)	(1.57 to 2.03)
$\Lambda R_{\rm e} (h P_{\rm P} s/l)$	Εv	1.67	1.51	1.82
$\Delta N_{\rm I}$ (IF a.s/ L)	L.	(1.38 to 1.96)	(1.3 to 1.73)	(1.57 to 2.06)
	BD	[₹] 1.4	1.51	1.8
	00	<u>(1.1 to 1.71)</u>	(1.29 to 1.73)	(1.55 to 2.06)
	Do	0.25	0.22	0.33
	Dd	(0.01 to 0.49)	(0.05 to 0.40)	(0.12 to 0.54)
$\Delta R_{eE}:R_{V'maxI}$	F	0.08	0.13	0.26
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(-0.18 to 0.34)	(-0.06 to 0.32)	(0.04 to 0.48)
		0.05	0.06	0.17
	RD	(-0.26 to 0.37)	(-0.17 to 0.29)	(-0.10 to 0.44)

		PT _{low} (n=41)	PT _c (n=76)	T _c (n=56)
b) Expiration				
	De	6.75	5.56	5.77
	Da	(6.21 to 7.28) ^{** †}	(5.17 to 5.95)	(5.31 to 6.22)
R _{meanE}	Ev	6.92	5.69	6.01
(hPa.s/L)	LX	(6.36 to 7.48) **	(5.27 to 6.1)	(5.53 to 6.49)
	BD	²²² 5.6	²²² 4.89	²²² 5.34
	ы	<u>(5.09 to 6.12)</u>	<u>(4.51 to 5.27)</u>	<u>(4.9 to 5.79)</u>
	Ba	7.17	5.91	6.25
	Ба	(6.61 to 7.72) ** [*]	(5.50 to 6.31)	(5.77 to 6.73)
$R_{V'maxE}$	Εv	7.24	6.07	6.41
(hPa.s/L)	LA	(6.65 to 7.82) **	(5.64 to 6.50)	(5.91 to 6.92)
	ВD	²²² 6.00	²²² 5.19	²²² 5.76
	50	<u>(5.47 to 6.53)</u> *	<u>(4.80 to 5.58)</u>	<u>(5.31 to 6.21)</u>
	Ва	6.31	5.04	5.08
		(5.81 to 6.81) *** ***	(4.68 to 5.41)	(4.65 to 5.50)
R _{eE}	Ex	6.31	5.09	5.28
(hPa.s/L)		(5.81 to 6.80) *** **	(4.73 to 5.46)	(4.86 to 5.71)
	BD	²²² 4.88	²²² 4.21	²²² 4.50
		<u>(4.43 to 5.33)</u>	<u>(3.87 to 4.54)</u>	<u>(4.11 to 4.88)</u>
	Ba	2.46	2.06	2.48
	Du	(2.13 to 2.79)	(1.82 to 2.30)	(2.20 to 2.76)
AR₌ (hPa s/L)	Fx	2.29	2.12	2.45
		(1.91 to 2.68)	(1.83 to 2.40)	(2.12 to 2.78)
	BD	2.29	2.31	2.56
		(1.89 to 2.68)	(2.01 to 2.60)	(2.22 to 2.90)
	Ba	1.83	1.54	1.9
	50	(1.53 to 2.12)	(1.32 to 1.76)	(1.64 to 2.15)
$\Delta R_{el}:R_{V'maxE}$	Бх	1.61	1.58	1.77
(hPa.s/L)		(1.30 to 1.92)	(1.35 to 1.80)	(1.51 to 2.04)
	BD	1.63	1.56	1.84
	50	(1.33 to 1.94)	(1.33 to 1.78)	(1.57 to 2.10)

		PT _{low} (n=41)	PT _c (n=76)	T _c (n=56)
c) Differences between inspiration and expiration				
	De	0.68	0.64	0.79
	Dd	(0.49 to 0.88)	(0.5 to 0.79)	(0.63 to 0.96)
ΔR_{mean}	Ev	0.82	0.73	0.86
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(0.55 to 1.08)	(0.54 to 0.93)	(0.63 to 1.09)
	BU	0.95	0.87	0.98
	60	(0.67 to 1.23)	(0.66 to 1.07)	(0.74 to 1.22)
	Pa	0.61	0.64	0.85
	Dd	(0.36 to 0.86)	(0.45 to 0.82)	(0.63 to 1.06)
$\Delta R_{V'max}$	F٧	0.85	0.85	0.87
(hPa.s/L)	L.	(0.52 to 1.18)	(0.61 to 1.09)	(0.59 to 1.16)
	BD	1.07	0.93	1.1
	ы	(0.75 to 1.38)	(0.7 to 1.16)	(0.83 to 1.36)
	Ва	0.97	0.68	0.72
		(0.71 to 1.22)	(0.49 to 0.86)	(0.51 to 0.94)
ΔR_{e}	Ex	0.68	0.60	0.64
(hPa.s/L)		(0.43 to 0.93)	(0.41 to 0.78)	(0.43 to 0.86)
	BD	0.52	0.57	0.57
		(0.26 to 0.77)	(0.38 to 0.76)	(0.35 to 0.79)
D		0.33	0.42	0.55
	Ба	(0.20 to 0.47) ⁺	(0.32 to 0.52)	(0.43 to 0.66)
ARV	F۷	0.46	0.47	0.56
(hPa.s)	L.	(0.29 to 0.63)	(0.35 to 0.60)	(0.42 to 0.71)
	BD	0.57	0.62	0.69
	60	(0.35 to 0.78)	(0.46 to 0.78)	(0.51 to 0.88)
	Ba	2.00	1.79	1.71
	Ба	(1.55 to 2.45)	(1.46 to 2.12)	(1.33 to 2.10)
ARV'	Ev	1.93	1.80	2.02
(hPa.L/s)		(1.48 to 2.38)	(1.46 to 2.13)	(1.63 to 2.41)
	BD	1.89	1.78	1.86
	RD	(1.40 to 2.37)	(1.42 to 2.13)	(1.44 to 2.28)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: E - Expiration; I - Inspiration; $\Delta - Difference$; $R_{meanl} - R_{meanl} - R_{mean$ Mean resistance; R_e – Resistance at end of respiratory cycle; $R_{V'max}$ – Resistance at maximum flow; ARV – Area within resistance-volume loop; ARV' - Area within resistance-flow loop; Ba - Baseline; Ex - Postexercise; **BD** – Post-exercise bronchodilator.

PT_{low} vs PT_c: * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001.

 $\begin{aligned} & \mathsf{PT}_{\mathsf{low}} \text{ vs } \mathsf{F_c}: \ \mathsf{p} < 0.05, \ \ \mathsf{p} < 0.01, \ \ \mathsf{p} < 0.01. \\ & \mathsf{PT}_{\mathsf{low}} \text{ vs } \mathsf{T_c}: \ \mathsf{p} < 0.05; \ \mathsf{t}^+ \ \mathsf{p} < 0.01; \ \mathsf{t}^{++} \ \mathsf{p} < 0.001. \\ & \mathsf{PT_c} \ vs \ \mathsf{T_c}: \ \mathsf{t} \ \mathsf{p} < 0.05; \ \mathsf{t}^+ \ \mathsf{p} < 0.01; \ \mathsf{t}^{++} \ \mathsf{p} < 0.01. \\ & \mathsf{Baseline} \ vs \ \mathsf{Post-exercise:} \ ^{\partial} \ \mathsf{p} < 0.05; \ ^{\partial \partial} \ \mathsf{p} < 0.01; \ ^{\partial \partial \partial} \ \mathsf{p} < 0.001. \end{aligned}$

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise bronchodilator: ² p<0.05; ²² p<0.01; ²²² p<0.001.

Figure 4.7 Illustration of impedance at different time points of respiratory cycle (end expiratory/inspiratory: eE/I; at maximal flow rate of expiration/inspiration: V'maxE/I), with annotations displaying the mean expiratory and inspiratory impedance, plus their difference, and the difference between end expiratory and end inspiratory impedance, for a) preterm low lung function group (PT_{low}); b) preterm controls (PT_c); and c) term controls (T_c).



4.3.3.4 Reactance parameters

Reactance parameter data are displayed in Tables 4.9 a-c.

4.3.3.4.1 Baseline

4.3.3.4.1.1 Inspiration

Baseline differences were seen for reactance in inspiration, as per Table 4.11a and illustrated in Figure 4.7, between PT_{low} children compared to both controls, similar to those seen with inspiratory resistance. In this case, the PT_{low} children had worse (more negative reactance) compared to PT_c and T_c children for mean inspiratory reactance (X_{meanl} : -2.42 vs -1.25 vs -1.18 hPa.s/L respectively), the reactance at maximum inspiratory flow ($X_{V'maxl}$: -2.89 vs -1.55 vs -1.53 hPa.s/L respectively) and end-inspiratory reactance (X_{el} : -1.89 vs -0.94 vs -0.84 hPa.s/L respectively). Again, as with resistance in inspiration, there were no differences between the two controls groups for reactance parameters in inspiration. The PT_{low} had a wider gap between min and max reactances compared to PT_c (1.6 vs 1.15 hPa.s/L).

4.3.3.4.1.2 Expiration

Expiratory reactance followed a similar pattern to the other baseline results, as shown in Table 4.11b and illustrated in Figure 4.7, with significant differences between PT_{low} and PT_c/T_c children. Mean expiratory reactance (X_{meanE} : -3.15 vs -1.63 vs -1.63 hPa.s/L respectively), the reactance at maximum expiratory flow ($X_{V'maxE}$: -3.49 vs -1.93 vs -2.03 hPa.s/L respectively) and end-expiratory reactance (X_{eE} : -2.34 vs -1.07 vs -0.88 hPa.s/L respectively). There was a greater variability of expiratory reactance from minimum (most negative reactance) to maximum (least negative/most positive reactance) for PT_{low} compared to both preterm- and term controls (2.63 vs 1.64 vs 1.88 hPa.s/L respectively). Additionally, the PT_{low} children had a greater drop in reactance from the end of inspiration to reactance at maximum expiratory flow (-1.6 vs -0.99 hPa.s/L) compared to PT_c group.

4.3.3.4.1.3 Differences between inspiration and expiration plus reactance loops

Any differences in reactance parameters between expiration and inspiration were similar across all three study groups. However, compared to term controls, the PT_{low} children have a greater area within the reactance-flow loop (AXV' 1.15 vs 0.42).

4.3.3.4.2 Post-exercise changes

Unlike resistance, there were some changes in reactance following exercise seen on repeated measures, as summarised in Tables 4.11a-c and illustrated in Figure 4.8. Both PT_{low} and T_c children had more negative reactance at end-inspiration compared to at baseline. More differences were seen for expiratory reactance. This included an increasingly negative reactance for PT_{low} children for X_{meanE} (-3.15 to -3.75 hPa.s/L) and $X_{V'maxE}$ (-3.49 to -4.1 hPa.s/L). T_c did also show a worsening reactance at max flow (-2.03 to -2.43 hPa.s/L). No reactance changes were identified for PT_c children. Additionally, there were no changes for any of the groups for the differences between inspiration and expiration; however, a significant difference had evolved for AXV' for PT_{low} compared to PT_c , a reversal of the difference seen at baseline, where T_c showed a difference with PT_{low} .

4.3.3.4.3 Post-exercise bronchodilator changes

4.3.3.4.3.1 Inspiration

Following bronchodilator therapy, changes were observed for several of the inspiratory reactance parameters, as shown in Table 4.11a and displayed in Figure 4.8. PT_{low} children showed improvements in reactance at all stages of inspiration, and had a decrease in variability of reactance (max to min reactance difference). Similar changes were seen in PT_c children at all stages of the inspiratory cycle, but no change in variability of reactance during inspiration. T_c children did not show statistically significant improvement in their minimum inspiratory reactance. The greatest absolute changes in reactance were seen in the PT_{low} group with 55-64% greater improvements (for several parameters) compared to PT_c and 69-76% greater improvements compared to T_c . Following post-exercise bronchodilator, there were still some inter-group differences remaining, particularly between PT_{low} and PT_c children.

4.3.3.4.3.2 Expiration

Following post-exercise bronchodilator therapy, expiratory reactance also showed improvements, particularly within the PT_{low} children, as shown in Table 4.11b and illustrated in Figure 4.7. All parameters again showed a less negative reactance, as well as lower variability between minimum and maximum reactance. PT_c children

also showed improvements in all but variability. The only improvement seen in T_c children following post-exercise bronchodilation was for end-expiratory reactance. Again, the PT_{low} children showed the greatest degree of improvements of 61-73% when compared to PT_c and 76-89% improvements when compared to T_c children, depending on the variable. Again, as with the inspiratory results, following post-exercise bronchodilator, there were still some inter-group differences remaining, particularly between PT_{low} and PT_c children.

4.3.3.4.3.3 Differences between inspiration and expiration plus reactance loops

 PT_{low} children demonstrated some changes post-exercise bronchodilator. ΔX_e , the difference between end-expiratory and end-inspiratory reactance, showed a decrease from -0.36 to 0 hPa.s/L, i.e., following bronchodilator, end-expiratory and end-inspiratory reactance were the same. Additionally, there was a significant reduction in the drop from end-inspiratory to maximal expiratory flow reactance (ΔX_{el} :X_{V'maxE}) from -1.87 to -1.23 hPa.s/L. The AXV' showed improvements with a decrease from 1.18 to 0.59 (approximately a 50% decrease).

Table 4.11 Reactance parameters across time points for the children divided by preterm and lung function status (preterm children with low lung function – PT_{low} , preterm controls – PT_{c} , and term control – T_c), during a) inspiration, b) expiration, and c) differences between inspiration and expiration results, and independent parameters.

		PT _{low} (n=41)	PT _c (n=76)	T _c (n=56)
a) Inspiration				
	Pa	-2.42	-1.25	-1.18
	Da	(-2.76 to -2.08) *** ***	(-1.50 to -1.00)	(-1.47 to -0.89)
X _{meanl}	Fγ	-2.78	-1.36	-1.52
(hPa.s/L)	L/	(-3.19 to -2.37) *** ***	(-1.66 to -1.06)	(-1.87 to -1.17)
	ВD	²²² -1.38	²²² -0.81	²² -1.16
		<u>(-1.69 to -1.07) *</u>	<u>(-1.04 to -0.59)</u>	<u>(-1.43 to -0.90)</u>
	Ba	-2.89	-1.55	-1.53
	Ба	(-3.25 to -2.53) *** ***	(-1.81 to -1.29)	(-1.83 to -1.22)
X _{V'maxl}	Ev	-3.12	-1.63	-1.82
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(-3.56 to -2.69) *** ***	(-1.94 to -1.31)	(-2.19 to -1.45)
		²²² -1.65	²²² -0.99	²² -1.37
	вD	<u>(-1.99 to -1.31) **</u>	<u>(-1.24 to -0.74)</u>	<u>(-1.66 to -1.08)</u>
	Ва	-1.89	-0.94	-0.84
		(-2.14 to -1.63) *** ***	(-1.13 to -0.75)	(-1.06 to -0.62)
X _{el}	Ex	⁰⁰ -2.23	-1.04	<u>^d-1.11</u>
(hPa.s/L)		<u>(-2.51 to -1.94)</u> *** ***	(-1.25 to -0.83)	<u>(-1.35 to -0.87)</u>
		²²² -1.22	²²² -0.64	² -0.87
	ы	<u>(-1.44 to -1.00) ***</u>	<u>(-0.80 to -0.47)</u>	<u>(-1.06 to -0.68)</u>
	Da	1.60	1.15	1.26
	Dd	(1.31 to 1.90) *	(0.93 to 1.37)	(1.00 to 1.51)
ΔX_{I}	Ev	1.93	1.25	1.57
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(1.51 to 2.36) *	(0.94 to 1.56)	(1.21 to 1.94)
		²²² 1.16	1.07	1.42
	Ъυ	<u>(0.86 to 1.47)</u>	(0.84 to 1.29)	(1.16 to 1.68)
	Da		-0.48 (-0.68 to -	-0.64 (-0.87 to -
	ва	-0.55 (-0.82 to -0.29)	0.29)	0.42)
$\Delta X_{eE}:X_{V'maxI}$	Ev	0.54(0.85+0.022)	057/08+0.024	-0.67 (-0.94 to -
(hPa.s/L)	EX	-0.34 (-0.65 10 -0.25)	-0.37 (-0.8 10 -0.34)	0.41)
	BD	$0.12(0.7 \pm 0.017)$	-0.42 (-0.61 to -	-0.56 (-0.78 to -
	60	-0.43 (-0.7 10 -0.17)	0.22)	0.33)

		PT _{low} (n=41)	PT _c (n=76)	T _c (n=56)
b) Expiration				
		-3.15	-1.63	-1.63
	ва	(-3.62 to -2.68) *** ***	(-1.98 to -1.28)	(-2.03 to -1.23)
X _{meanE}	Ev	⁰⁰ -3.75	-1.78	-2.00
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(-4.24 to -3.25) *** ***	(-2.14 to -1.41)	(-2.42 to -1.57)
	BD	²²² -2.14	²²² -1.30	-1.75
	עם	<u>(-2.56 to -1.71) **</u>	<u>(-1.61 to -0.99)</u>	(-2.11 to -1.38)
	Ba	-3.49	-1.93	-2.03
	Dd	(-3.92 to -3.05) *** ***	(-2.24 to -1.61)	(-2.41 to -1.66)
$X_{V'maxE}$	Fv	^{ðð} -4.10	-2.08	^ð -2.43
(hPa.s/L)		(-4.60 to -3.60) *** ***	(-2.45 to -1.72)	<u>(-2.86 to -2.00)</u>
	BD	²²² -2.45	²²² -1.52	-2.18
		(-2.90 to -2.00) **	<u>(-1.85 to -1.19)</u>	(-2.57 to -1.79)
	Pa	-2.34	-1.07	-0.88
	Da	(-2.77 to -1.91) ^{*** †††}	(-1.38 to -0.75)	(-1.25 to -0.51)
X _{eE}	Ev	-2.58	-1.06	-1.14
(hPa.s/L)	L.	(-2.97 to -2.19) *** ***	(-1.34 to -0.77)	(-1.48 to -0.81)
	ВD	²²² -1.22	²²² -0.57	<u>₹-0.81</u>
	00	<u>(-1.51 to -0.92) **</u>	<u>(-0.79 to -0.36)</u>	<u>(-1.07 to -0.56)</u>
	Ba	2.63	1.64	1.88
	Da	(2.18 to 3.08) ** [†]	(1.31 to 1.97)	(1.5 to 2.27)
ΔX _E	Εv	3.06	1.87	2.2
(hPa.s/L)	L^	(2.56 to 3.56) ** [†]	(1.5 to 2.23)	(1.78 to 2.63)
	ВD	²²² 2.16	1.76	2.25
		<u>(1.69 to 2.64)</u>	(1.41 to 2.1)	(1.85 to 2.65)
	Ba	-1.6	-0.99	-1.2
	Ба	(-1.87 to -1.33) **	(-1.19 to -0.79)	(-1.43 to -0.97)
$\Delta X_{el}: X_{V'maxE}$	Εv	-1.87	-1.05	-1.32
(hPa.s/L)	L.	(-2.21 to -1.54) *** *	(-1.29 to -0.8)	(-1.6 to -1.04)
	BD	²²² -1.23	-0.88	-1.31
	RD	<u>(-1.56 to -0.91)</u>	(-1.12 to -0.65)	(-1.59 to -1.04)

		PT _{low} (n=41)	PT _c (n=76)	T _c (n=56)
c) Differences between inspiration and expiration				
	D -	-0.73	-0.38	-0.45
	ва	(-0.96 to -0.49)	(-0.55 to -0.21)	(-0.65 to -0.25)
ΔX_{mean}	Ev	-0.97	-0.42	-0.48
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(-1.29 to -0.65) [*]	(-0.66 to -0.18)	(-0.75 to -0.20)
	PD	-0.75	-0.49	-0.58
	ы	(-1.04 to -0.46)	(-0.70 to -0.27)	(-0.83 to -0.34)
	Do	-0.60	-0.38	-0.51
	Dd	(-0.85 to -0.34)	(-0.56 to -0.19)	(-0.73 to -0.29)
$\Delta X_{V'max}$	Εv	-0.98	-0.46	-0.61
(hPa.s/L)		(-1.33 to -0.62)	(-0.72 to -0.19)	(-0.92 to -0.31)
	ВD	-0.80	-0.53	-0.81
		(-1.11 to -0.49)	(-0.76 to -0.30)	(-1.07 to -0.55)
	Ba	-0.45	-0.13	-0.04
	Da	(-0.71 to -0.20)	(-0.32 to 0.06)	(-0.26 to 0.18)
ΔX _e	Ex	-0.36	-0.02	-0.04
(hPa.s/L)		(-0.60 to -0.11)	(-0.20 to 0.16)	(-0.24 to 0.17)
	BD	^{ee} 0.00	0.06	0.06
		<u>(-0.18 to 0.18)</u>	(-0.07 to 0.19)	(-0.10 to 0.21)
	Ba	0.41	0.24	0.33
	Da	(0.27 to 0.55)	(0.14 to 0.35)	(0.21 to 0.46)
AXV	Εv	0.58	0.28	0.36
(hPa.s)	L^	(0.37 to 0.79)	(0.12 to 0.43)	(0.18 to 0.54)
	ВD	0.47	0.36	0.43
		(0.28 to 0.66)	(0.22 to 0.5)	(0.27 to 0.59)
	Ba	1.15	0.51	0.42
	Da	(0.73 to 1.58) ⁺	(0.20 to 0.83)	(-0.78 to -0.05)
AXV'	Ē٧	1.18	0.42	0.62
(hPa.L/s)	L^	(0.79 to 1.57) **	(0.14 to 0.71)	(-0.95 to -0.28)
	BD	²² 0.59	0.21	0.38
	60	<u>(0.29 to 0.88)</u>	(0 to 0.43)	(0.13 to 0.63)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: \mathbf{E} – Expiration; \mathbf{I} – Inspiration; $\boldsymbol{\Delta}$ – Difference; \mathbf{X}_{meanl} – Mean reactance; X_e – Reactance at end of respiratory cycle; $X_{V'max}$ – Reactance at maximum flow; AXV – Area within reactance-volume loop; AXV' - Area within reactance-flow loop; Ba - Baseline; Ex - Postexercise; **BD** – Post-exercise bronchodilator.

PT_{low} vs PT_c: * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001.

 $PT_{low} vs T_c: + p<0.05; + p<0.01; + p<0.001.$ $PT_{low} vs T_c: + p<0.05; + p<0.01; + p<0.001.$ $PT_c vs T_c: + p<0.05; + p<0.01; + p<0.001.$ Baseline vs Post-exercise: ^a p<0.05; ^{ab} p<0.01; ^{abd} p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise bronchodilator: ² p<0.05; ²² p<0.01; ²²² p<0.001.

Figure 4.8 Illustration of impedance at different time points of respiratory cycle (end expiratory/inspiratory: eE/I; at maximal flow rate of expiration/inspiration: V'maxE/I), at baseline (circle), post-exercise (maroon square) and post-exercise bronchodilator (black triangle), for a) preterm low lung function group (PT_{low}); b) preterm controls (PT_c); and c) term controls (T_c).



4.3.4 Comparisons between obstructive and non-obstructive groups

PT_{low} children from this cohort have been, as described in Chapter 2 (section 2.3.3), further classified as obstructive or non-obstructive disease. This division has been made pragmatically by spirometry outcomes, namely based on the FEV₁/FVC ratio and whether it is <0.8 (prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease or POLD) or ≥0.8 (prematurity-associated non-obstructive lung disease or PnOLD), in addition to %FEV₁ ≤85%.

Of the 53 children in the PT_{low} group, 37 meet the criteria for POLD and 16 for PnOLD. Of the PnOLD children, one child did not complete testing at all three time points. Of the POLD children, 6 did not reach maximal exertion on cardiopulmonary exercise testing, and 5 did not complete intra-breath oscillometry at all three time points of testing.

4.3.4.1 Respiratory parameters

There were no differences seen between POLD and PnOLD children for any of the respiratory parameters at baseline, as shown in Table 4.12. Post-exercise the POLD children reached peak expiratory flow quicker than PnOLD children, with peak flow occurring at 0.28 compared to 0.38 in terms of proportion of total expiratory duration. There were no differences seen post-exercise bronchodilator.

		POLD (n=26)	PnOLD (n=15)
	De	1.66	1.57
	Dd	(1.47 to 1.85)	(1.32 to 1.82)
Duration	Бv	1.56	1.50
(seconds)	EX	(1.32 to 1.80)	(1.18 to 1.82)
	PD	1.36	1.38
	ы	(1.17 to 1.55)	(1.13 to 1.63)
	Ba	0.54	0.52
Expiration as	Ба	(0.53 to 0.56)	(0.5 to 0.54)
proportion of	Fv	0.54	0.52
total breath		(0.52 to 0.55)	(0.5 to 0.54)
cycle	BD	0.53	0.51
	00	(0.52 to 0.55)	(0.49 to 0.54)
	Ва	0.32	0.36
Time to max		(0.27 to 0.36)	(0.3 to 0.42)
exp flow as	Ex BD	0.28	0.38
proportion of		(0.25 to 0.32) ^{§§}	(0.33 to 0.42)
expiratory time		0.33	0.39
		(0.29 to 0.38)	(0.32 to 0.45)
	Ва	0.50	0.45
		(0.44 to 0.57)	(0.37 to 0.54)
Tidal volume (L)	F٧	0.49	0.41
	L^	(0.42 to 0.56)	(0.32 to 0.51)
	BD	0.52	0.47
	00	(0.45 to 0.59)	(0.37 to 0.56)
	Ba	21.75	21.42
	Da	(19.28 to 24.23)	(18.16 to 24.68)
Respiratory rate	F۷	23.52	24.00
(bpm)	L^	(20.43 to 26.61)	(19.93 to 28.07)
	BD	25.85	25.37
	ы	(22.78 to 28.92)	(21.33 to 29.41)

Table 4.12 Respiratory parameters across time-points of testing for the PT_{low} children divided by obstructive (POLD) or non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease status.

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: T_E – Expiration time; T_E/T_{Tot} – Expiration time as proportion of total breath time; $T_{V'maxE}/T_E$ – Time to maximum expiratory flow as proportion of expiratory time; TV – Tidal volume; F_{br} – breathing frequency; **Ba** – Baseline; **Ex** – Post-exercise; **BD** – Post-exercise bronchodilator.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

Baseline vs Post-exercise: ^a p<0.05; ^a p<0.01; ^a p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise bronchodilator: ^a p<0.05; ^{ae} p<0.01; ^{aee} p<0.001.

4.3.4.2 Resistance parameters4.3.4.2.1 Inspiration

A trend towards higher resistance in POLD children compared to PnOLD was seen across inspiration at baseline, however this did not reach statistical significance, as shown in Table 4.13a and presented in Figure 4.9.

There were no post-exercise changes on repeated measures for either group.

Resistance across inspiration improved for both groups from post-exercise to postexercise bronchodilator; however, the magnitude of change was greater for the POLD group compared to for the PnOLD group (26% vs 18% reduction for R_{meanl} , 27% vs 14% reduction for $R_{V'maxl}$, 23 vs 19% for R_{el}). There was a decrease in the ΔR_{l} (1.78 to 1.42 hPa.s/L) for POLD children, suggesting a reduction in variability of resistance during resistance. Post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator results are also demonstrated in Figure 4.10.

4.3.4.2.2 Expiration

As with inspiration, resistance across expiration showed no statistically significant differences between POLD and PnOLD at baseline, but a similar trend for greater resistance was noted in POLD children, as shown in Table 4.13b and illustrated in Figure 4.9.

While repeated measures did not show any changes from baseline to post-exercise results, mean resistance (7.48 vs 5.95 hPa.s/L) and end-expiratory resistance (6.83 vs 5.4 hPa.s/L) were significantly higher in POLD compared to PnOLD at the post-exercise time point. This appeared to be due to an increase in resistance in expiration for POLD and a decrease in resistance for PnOLD creating this increased difference after exercise.

Following post-exercise bronchodilator therapy there was, as with inspiration, an improvement in resistance throughout the expiratory cycle for POLD children (21% vs 13% reduction for R_{meanE} , 20% vs 11% reduction for $R_{V'maxE}$, 26 vs 15% for R_{eE}). With the exception of end-inspiratory/expiratory resistance, this was a smaller reduction compared to that seen during inspiration, suggesting bronchodilator has greater effect on the inspiratory component of respiration in the POLD children. Post-

exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator results are also demonstrated in Figure 4.10.

4.3.4.2.3 Differences between inspiration and expiration

POLD and PnOLD showed similar degrees of difference between inspiration and expiration for all the parameters, and showed no change across the time points, as per Table 4.13c. Following post-exercise bronchodilator, a difference for ARV was then observed for POLD (0.71 hPa.s) compared to PRLD (0.32 hPa.s).

Table 4.13 Resistance parameters across time points for the PT_{low} children divided by obstructive (POLD) or non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease status during a) inspiration, b) expiration, and c) differences between inspiration and expiration results, and independent parameters.

		POLD (n=26)	PnOLD (n=15)
a) Inspiration			
	_	6.34	5.59
	ва	(5.77 to 6.91)	(4.84 to 6.34)
R _{meanl}	Ev	6.45	5.49
(hPa.s/L)		(5.79 to 7.12)	(4.61 to 6.37)
	BD	²²² 4.75	²² 4.50
	ы	<u>(4.19 to 5.30)</u>	<u>(3.77 to 5.23)</u>
	Pa	6.80	6.14
	Dd	(6.17 to 7.43)	(5.31 to 6.97)
R _{V'maxl}	Ev	6.74	5.77
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(6.05 to 7.43)	(4.86 to 6.67)
		²²² 4.92	² 4.95
	БЛ	<u>(4.32 to 5.52)</u>	<u>(4.15 to 5.74)</u>
	Ba	5.55	4.97
		(5.02 to 6.09)	(4.27 to 5.67)
R _{el}	Ex	5.98	5.01
(hPa.s/L)		(5.39 to 6.57)	(4.24 to 5.79)
	BD	²²² 4.56	²² 4.03
		<u>(4.08 to 5.04)</u>	<u>(3.39 to 4.66)</u>
	Pa	2.04	1.64
	Dd	(1.69 to 2.38)	(1.18 to 2.09)
ΔR_1	Ev	1.78	1.47
(hPa.s/L)		(1.43 to 2.14)	(1 to 1.94)
	PD	² 1.42	1.39
	ы	<u>(1.13 to 1.7)</u>	(1.01 to 1.76)
	Ba	0.10	0.51
	Dd	(-0.23 to 0.43)	(0.08 to 0.94)
$\Delta R_{eE}:R_{V'maxI}$	Ev	-0.09	0.37
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(-0.42 to 0.24)	(-0.06 to 0.81)
	חם	-0.13	0.37
	RD	(-0.43 to 0.17)	(-0.03 to 0.76)

		POLD (n=26)	PnOLD (n=15)
b) Expiration			
		7.05	6.21
	ва	(6.35 to 7.76)	(5.28 to 7.14)
R _{meanE}	F	7.48	5.95
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(6.64 to 8.32) [§]	(4.84 to 7.05)
		²²² 5.88	5.13
	вD	<u>(5.21 to 6.55)</u>	(4.24 to 6.01)
	Da	7.36	6.84
	Ва	(6.62 to 8.09)	(5.88 to 7.80)
$R_{V'maxE}$	Ev	7.71	6.42
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(6.86 to 8.56)	(5.30 to 7.53)
		²²² 6.18	5.69
	вD	<u>(5.53 to 6.83)</u>	(4.83 to 6.54)
		6.70	5.63
	ва	(5.99 to 7.41)	(4.70 to 6.56)
R_{eE}	Ev	6.83	5.40
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(6.07 to 7.60) [§]	(4.39 to 6.40)
		²²² 5.05	4.58
	<u>ь</u> л	<u>(4.41 to 5.69)</u>	(3.73 to 5.42)
	Da	2.59	2.23
	Dd	(2.18 to 3.01)	(1.68 to 2.78)
AB (bBac/L)	Ev	2.54	1.86
ΔR_E (IIPd.S/L)	EX	(2.03 to 3.05)	(1.19 to 2.54)
		2.42	2.05
	ы	(1.94 to 2.90)	(1.43 to 2.68)
	Da	1.80	1.87
	Ва	(1.37 to 2.23)	(1.31 to 2.44)
$\Delta R_{el}:R_{V'maxE}$	Ev.	1.73	1.41
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(1.32 to 2.14)	(0.87 to 1.94)
		1.62	1.66
	RD	(1.27 to 1.97)	(1.20 to 2.12)

		POLD (n=26)	PnOLD (n=15)
c) Differences b	etween	inspiration and expiration	
	Da	0.72	0.63
	ва	(0.48 to 0.95)	(0.32 to 0.94)
ΔR_{mean}	F 14	1.03	0.46
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(0.65 to 1.4)	(-0.04 to 0.95)
		1.13	0.63
	ы	(0.77 to 1.49)	(0.16 to 1.1)
	Ba	0.55	0.70
	Dd	(0.24 to 0.86)	(0.29 to 1.11)
$\Delta R_{V'max}$	Ev	0.97	0.65
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(0.56 to 1.37)	(0.12 to 1.18)
	РГ	1.25	0.74
	вр	(0.80 to 1.71)	(0.15 to 1.34)
	Ba	1.15	0.66
		(0.79 to 1.51)	(0.19 to 1.13)
ΔR_{e}	Ex	0.85	0.38
(hPa.s/L)		(0.51 to 1.19)	(-0.06 to 0.83)
	BD	0.50	0.55
		(0.21 to 0.79)	(0.17 to 0.93)
	Pa	0.35	0.30
	Dd	(0.23 to 0.47)	(0.14 to 0.46)
ARV	Ev	0.59	0.24
(hPa.s)	EX	(0.36 to 0.81)	(0.06 to 0.53)
	BD	0.71	0.32
	ы	(0.48 to 0.93) [§]	(0.02 to 0.62)
	Pa	2.28	1.52
	Dd	(1.71 to 2.84)	(0.78 to 2.27)
ARV'	Ev	2.20	1.47
(hPa.L/s)	EX	(1.62 to 2.78)	(0.70 to 2.23)
	D D	2.01	1.67
	RD	(1.44 to 2.57)	(0.93 to 2.42)

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way mixed ANOVA including repeated measures with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: E - Expiration; I - Inspiration; $\Delta - Difference$; $R_{meanl} - Mean$ resistance; $R_e - Resistance$ at end of respiratory cycle; $R_{V'max} - Resistance$ at maximum flow; ARV - Area within resistance-volume loop; ARV' - Area within resistance-flow loop; Ba - Baseline; Ex - Post-exercise; BD - Post-exercise bronchodilator.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

Baseline vs Post-exercise: ${}^{\partial}$ p<0.05; ${}^{\partial\partial}$ p<0.01; ${}^{\partial\partial\partial}$ p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise bronchodilator: ^e p<0.05; ^{ee} p<0.01; ^{eee} p<0.001.

Figure 4.9 Illustration of impedance at different time points of respiratory cycle (end expiratory/inspiratory: eE/I; at maximal flow rate of expiration/inspiration: V'maxE/I), with annotations displaying the mean expiratory and inspiratory impedance, plus their difference, and the difference between end expiratory and end inspiratory impedance, for a) preterm obstructive (POLD) and b) non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease groups; and c) term controls for comparison (T_c).



4.3.4.3 Reactance parameters

4.3.4.3.1 Inspiration

POLD children had more negative (worse) reactance compared to PnOLD children for X_{meanl} (-2.75 vs -1.85 hPa.s/L respectively), and $X_{V'max}$ (-3.24 vs -2.29 hPa.s/L respectively) during inspiration, as shown in Table 4.14a and Figure 4.9.

Baseline to post-exercise did not show any statistically significant difference, although reactance did seem to show a worsening trend throughout inspiration, as displayed in Figure 4.10.

Post-exercise bronchodilator resulted in an improved reactance throughout inspiration for both groups, but with greater absolute change for POLD compared to PnOLD (X_{meanl} 1.59 vs 1.04, $X_{V'maxl}$ 1.75 vs 0.99, X_{el} 1.13 vs 0.78 hPa.s/L reductions for POLD vs PnOLD groups respectively).

4.3.4.3.2 Expiration

As with inspiration, POLD children had worse reactance compared to PnOLD for all parameters – X_{meanE} (-3.76 vs -2.08 hPa.s/L respectively), $X_{V'maxE}$ (-3.98 vs -2.62 hPa.s/L respectively) and X_{eE} (-2.88 vs -1.4 hPa.s/L respectively), as per Table 4.14b and Figure 4.9. There was a greater change from end-inspiration reactance to reactance at max expiratory flow (ΔX_{el} : $X_{V'maxE}$) seen in POLD than PnOLD at baseline and post-exercise (-1.9 vs 1.08 hPa.s/L and -2.39 vs -0.98 hPa.s/L at these time points respectively).

There were no significant changes from baseline to post-exercise, but again, a trend for worsening reactance was seen throughout expiration. There remained significant difference between POLD and PnOLD at the post-exercise time point.

There were significant improvements on repeated measures seen post-exercise bronchodilator for the POLD group throughout expiration. Again, there were greater absolute reductions for POLD children compared to PnOLD (X_{meanE} 2.07 vs 0.81, $X_{V'maxE}$ 2.16 vs 0.75, X_{eE} 1.7 vs 0.78 hPa.s/L absolute decreases for POLD vs PnOLD groups respectively). This resulted in a loss of statistical significance for differences between POLD and PnOLD at the post-exercise bronchodilator time point. Post-exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator results are also demonstrated in Figure 4.10.

4.3.4.3.3 Differences between inspiration and expiration

Baseline differences were seen between POLD and PnOLD for the change in reactance from inspiration to expiration as seen in Table 4.14c. A greater negative reactance difference between expiration and inspiration was seen for the POLD than PnOLD groups for ΔX_{mean} (-1.01 vs -0.23) and ΔX_e (-0.79 vs 0.14), i.e., worse reactance seen during/at end of expiration compared to inspiration.

This difference persisted to post-exercise. Area within reactance-volume and reactance-flow curves both demonstrated differences between POLD and PnOLD. For AXV this remained throughout the time points (baseline: 0.54 vs 0.18, post-exercise: 0.88 vs 0.07, post-exercise bronchodilator: 0.64 vs 0.18) and for AXV' at baseline (1.63 vs 0.34) and post-exercise (1.59 vs 0.48) for POLD and PnOLD groups respectively.

AXV' demonstrated a decrease for POLD group from post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator (1.59 to 0.78). The other significant change post-exercise bronchodilator was a drop in the difference between end-inspiratory and end-expiratory reactance from -0.64 to -0.07 hPa.s/L, in line with a greater improvement in X_{eE} compared to X_{eI} .

Table 4.14 Reactance parameters across time points for the PT_{low} children divided by obstructive (POLD) or non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease status during a) inspiration, b) expiration, and c) differences between inspiration and expiration results, and independent parameters.

		POLD (n=26)	PnOLD (n=15)			
a) Inspiration						
	Ва	-2.75	-1.85			
		(-3.23 to -2.26) [§]	(-2.49 to -1.21)			
X (hPas/l)	Ex	-3.03	-2.33			
Ameani (IIPd.S/L)		(-3.68 to -2.38)	(-3.19 to -1.48)			
	BD	222 -1.44	²² -1.29			
		<u>(-1.88 to -1.00)</u>	<u>(-1.86 to -0.71)</u>			
	Ва	-3.24	-2.29			
		(-3.76 to -2.71) [§]	(-2.98 to -1.60)			
X _{V'maxl}	Ex	-3.42	-2.60			
(hPa.s/L)		(-4.10 to -2.75)	(-3.49 to -1.71)			
	PD	²²² -1.67	² -1.61			
	DD	<u>(-2.19 to -1.15)</u>	<u>(-2.30 to -0.93)</u>			
	Ва	-2.09	-1.54			
		(-2.53 to -1.65)	(-2.12 to -0.96)			
X _{el}	Ex	-2.42	-1.88			
(hPa.s/L)		(-2.85 to -1.99)	(-2.45 to -1.31)			
	BD	²²² -1.29	²² -1.10			
		<u>(-1.63 to -0.94)</u>	<u>(-1.55 to -0.64)</u>			
	Ва	1.78	1.29			
ΔXı (hPa.s/L)		(1.46 to 2.10)	(0.87 to 1.72)			
	Ex	2.01	1.80			
		(1.38 to 2.65)	(0.96 to 2.64)			
	BD	²² 1.18	1.13			
		<u>(0.86 to 1.50)</u>	(0.71 to 1.55)			
	Ва	-0.36	-0.89			
		(-0.80 to 0.08)	(-1.47 to -0.31)			
ΔX _{eE} :X _{V'maxl} (hPa.s/L)	Ex	-0.36	-0.86			
		(-0.87 to 0.15)	(-1.52 to -0.19)			
	BD	-0.31	-0.65			
		(-0.65 to 0.03)	(-1.09 to -0.20)			

	ľ	POLD (n=26)	PnOLD (n=15)			
b) Expiration						
		-3.76	-2.08			
X _{meanE}	ва	(-4.50 to -3.01) ^{§§}	(-3.06 to -1.10)			
		-4.52	-2.41			
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(-5.28 to -3.76) ^{§§}	(-3.41 to -1.40)			
		²²² -2.45	-1.60			
	вD	<u>(-3.06 to -1.84)</u>	(-2.40 to -0.79)			
		-3.98	-2.62			
	Ва	(-4.59 to -3.37) ^{§§}	(-3.43 to -1.82)			
X _{V'maxE}	Ev	-4.81	-2.86			
(hPa.s/L)	EX.	(-5.57 to -4.06) ^{§§}	(-3.86 to -1.86)			
		²²² -2.65	-2.11			
	ы	<u>(-3.23 to -2.06)</u>	(-2.88 to -1.34)			
		-2.88	-1.40			
	Ва	(-3.59 to -2.17) [§]	(-2.34 to -0.46)			
X _{eE}	Ev	-3.06	-1.75			
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(-3.71 to -2.42) [§]	(-2.59 to -0.90)			
		²²² -1.36	-0.97			
	ы	<u>(-1.81 to -0.91)</u>	(-1.56 to -0.37)			
	Da	3.13	1.76			
	Dd	(2.42 to 3.84) [§]	(0.83 to 2.70)			
ΔX _E	Ev	3.70	1.96			
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(2.92 to 4.49) ^{§§}	(0.92 to 2.99)			
		²² 2.49	1.59			
		(1.86 to 3.13)	(0.75 to 2.43)			
	Pa	-1.90	-1.08			
	Dd	(-2.22 to -1.57) ^{§§}	(-1.52 to -0.65)			
$\Delta X_{el}: X_{V'maxE}$	Ev	-2.39	-0.98			
(hPa.s/L)	EX	(-2.91 to -1.87) ^{§§}	(-1.67 to -0.30)			
	BD	-1.36	-1.01			
		(-1.74 to -0.98)	(-1.52 to -0.51)			

		POLD (n=26)	PnOLD (n=15)				
c) Differences between inspiration and expiration							
ΔX _{mean} (hPa.s/L)	Ва	-1.01	-0.23				
		(-1.38 to -0.64) [§]	(-0.72 to 0.26)				
	Ex	-1.49	-0.07				
		(-2.00 to -0.98) ^{§§§}	(-0.74 to 0.60)				
	BD	-1.01	-0.31				
		(-1.42 to -0.60) [§]	(-0.85 to 0.24)				
	Ва	-0.75	-0.33				
		(-1.07 to -0.42)	(-0.76 to 0.10)				
$\Delta X_{V'max}$	Ex	-1.39	-0.26				
(hPa.s/L)		(-1.96 to -0.81) [§]	(-1.02 to 0.50)				
	BD	-0.98	-0.50				
		(-1.43 to -0.53)	(-1.09 to 0.10)				
	Ba	-0.79	0.14				
	ва	(-1.19 to -0.40) ^{§§}	(-0.38 to 0.66)				
ΔX_{e}	Ex	-0.64	0.13				
(hPa.s/L)		(-0.99 to -0.29) [§]	(-0.33 to 0.60)				
	BD	²² -0.07	0.13				
		<u>(-0.30 to 0.16)</u>	(-0.17 to 0.44)				
	Ва	0.54	0.18				
		(0.34 to 0.74) [§]	(-0.09 to 0.44)				
AXV	Ex	0.88	0.07				
(hPa.s)		(0.55 to 1.21) ^{§§}	(-0.37 to 0.50)				
	BD	0.64	0.18				
		(0.39 to 0.88) [§]	(-0.15 to 0.51)				
AXV' (hPa.L/s)	Ва	-1.63	-0.34				
		(-2.35 to -0.91) [§]	(-1.28 to 0.61)				
	Ex	-1.59	-0.48				
		(-2.21 to -0.96) [§]	(-1.31 to 0.34)				
	BD	² -0.78	-0.25				
		<u>(-1.16 to -0.41)</u>	(-0.74 to 0.25)				

Results expressed as mean and 95% confidence intervals for continuous data (two-way mixed ANOVA including repeated measures with Bonferroni correction). Abbreviations: E - Expiration; I - Inspiration; $\Delta - Difference$; $X_{meanl} - Mean$ reactance; $X_e - Reactance$ at end of respiratory cycle; $X_{V'max} - Reactance$ at maximum flow; AXV - Area within reactance-volume loop; AXV' - Area within reactance-flow loop; Ba - Baseline; Ex - Post-exercise; BD - Post-exercise bronchodilator.

POLD vs PnOLD: § p<0.05; §§ p<0.01; §§§ p<0.001.

Baseline vs Post-exercise: ^a p<0.05; ^{ad} p<0.01; ^{add} p<0.001.

Post-exercise vs Post-exercise bronchodilator: ^e p<0.05; ^{ee} p<0.01; ^{eee} p<0.001.

Figure 4.10 Illustration of impedance at different time points of respiratory cycle (end expiratory/inspiratory: eE/I; at maximal flow rate of expiration/inspiration: V'maxE/I), at baseline (circle), post-exercise (maroon square) and post-exercise bronchodilator (black triangle), for a) preterm obstructive (POLD) and b) non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease groups; and c) term controls for comparison (T_c).



4.4 Discussion

This chapter is the first to explore in-depth intra-breath oscillometry in a preterm population, in comparison to a well-matched term control population, with a focus on preterm-born children with evidence of lung dysfunction, as identified on spirometry testing. The aim was to explore the mechanics or discern any patterns underpinning the lung pathology.

Firstly, I was able to demonstrate in a population of term-born children, the normal pattern of airway mechanics using this single frequency oscillometry. A signal at 10Hz superimposed onto tidal breathing in a child revealed characteristics of airway mechanics to a reasonable depth of the airways as opposed to a higher frequency that would be limited to more proximal airways, and at a frequency where energy storage (capacitance, analogous to compliance) predominates over inertance, and likely to reflect better airway disease.

I have also demonstrated that there was good agreement between both standard oscillometry and intra-breath oscillometry for both preterm and term children.

This chapter has then looked in depth at the differences between preterm-born children with and without evidence of lung disease, against term controls, and assessed changes in impedance throughout the respiratory cycle between these groups, as well as the effects of exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator on these airway mechanics.

Finally, I have investigated whether children with evidence of lung dysfunction show any differences depending on whether they were classified as having obstructive or non-obstructive lung disease.

4.4.1 Term population

The term-born population was investigated to show normal intra-breath oscillometry measurements. Only one term child was unable to perform the test sufficiently to obtain a result, which indicates that it is easy to perform successfully. The breathing pattern observed in this term population was only slightly different to what would be expected from normal tidal breathing. While respiratory rate was normal, there were higher tidal volumes than would be expected. Normal tidal volumes for children are

approximately 6 - 8 mls/kg (Venkataraman, 2006). This would equate to approximately 230 – 300 mls based on the average weight of this population. The average tidal volume for the term children was 600 mls, so approximately double normal, suggesting the children were breathing deeper than would normally. The most likely reason for this is when breathing through the filter and wave tube, the dead space is increased (i.e., volume of airway not involved in gas exchange). In normal respiration this would extend from outside the alveoli though to oro- or nasoorifice; however, in the case of oscillometry, also includes the filter and wave tube, thus introducing greater dead space. This could promote, particularly in children, the need to breath more deeply than usual. However, flow rates were not excessively high.

As expected, resistance was greater throughout expiration compared to inspiration. Resistance is dependent on airway size or volume, and due to the decreasing thoracic volume during expiration, there would be a decrease in airway calibre resulting in the higher resistance. At the end of expiration, the lungs are at their smallest, hence the resistance is higher than at the end of inspiration. Following end-expiration when resistance is high, there is only a relatively small increase then to the resistance at peak inspiratory flow, compared to the large increase from the zero flow at endinspiration to peak expiratory flow resistance. This is likely due to a greater change in airway calibre between these two time points, as illustrated in Figure 4.11. Figure 4.11 Diagram illustrating the potential changes in airway calibre from endexpiration (eE) to maximum inspiratory flow (V'maxI), and from end-inspiration (eI) to maximum expiratory flow (V'maxE), that explain the greater increase in resistance from eI:V'maxE compared to eE:V'maxI.



Reactance also followed a similar but inverse pattern to resistance, with more negative reactance during expiration compared to during inspiration. While reactance is less volume dependent, due to compliance being related to degree of lung inflation (i.e., the greater the lung inflation, the greater the elastic recoil of the lungs), as well as related to airway resistance, the combination of recoil and greater resistance during expiration will likely explain the more negative reactance during expiration. At zero flow states, which reflect static compliance and hence elastic properties of the lung, the reactance for term children is very similar between endinspiration and end-expiration. This similar negative, and hence reflective of compliance, reactance at both zero flow states suggests that there is not increased elastic recoil, potentially that could suggest structural disease, in these healthy children.

Understanding the normal pattern of impedance during the respiratory cycle of a healthy population enables identification and understanding of any abnormalities when compared to any group of interest.

194
4.4.2 Standard versus intra-breath oscillometry

I have also been able to demonstrate that there is good agreement between standard oscillometry and intra-breath oscillometry. Due to the nature of standard oscillometry using pseudorandom noise, it is variable between tests how often a specific single frequency will be superimposed onto breathing. Thus, it would not be able to give in depth information about the mechanical response to that individual frequency across the respiratory cycle. However, it would be expected that the overall mean of the impedance (resistance and reactance) at that frequency would be similar to that generated by the in-depth single frequency intra-breath oscillometry. Using intraclass coefficient I was able to confirm a strong agreement for both resistance and reactance between these two oscillometry techniques. The resistance showed slightly better agreement than reactance. Interestingly, the PT_{low} group demonstrated the strongest agreement. Interclass correlation coefficient was used over Bland-Altman plot, as the latter would be better suited for looking for systemic differences between the two. The greater concern for this, given the same equipment was used, was a user difference (i.e., the candidate) rather than an inbuilt error with the test, hence the choice of test. It is reassuring that the test seems to have been performed similarly for both across the candidates.

4.4.3 Intra-breath analysis

4.4.3.1 *Respiratory parameters*

Similar patterns for respiratory parameters were generally seen across the study groups except for tidal volume, which was lower in the PT_{low} children. This is in keeping with findings from Chapter 2, sections 2.3.2.2-3, with PT_{low} children having lower TLC on static lung testing, lower FVC on spirometry and lower minute volume on exercise testing. There was a statistically significant difference in the proportion for expiration in the total breath cycle, which could represent a degree of air trapping, again consistent with earlier findings of air trapping and prior knowledge surrounding hyperinflation in preterm populations (Welsh et al., 2010). Otherwise breathing parameters were similar across baseline.

After exercise, there was some potential evidence of persisting respiratory effects of exertion with a slightly raised respiratory rate seen in all groups. This increased respiratory rate was then sustained, and actually increased in PT_{low} children, after post-exercise bronchodilator therapy. Interestingly exercise and bronchodilation did not affect tidal volume, even though flow rates improved after bronchodilation, suggesting that flow may not be the only limiting factor in PT_{low} children for changes in tidal breathing volume. However, as shown from post-exercise bronchodilator spirometry, this improvement in airflow and its effect on lung volumes are better demonstrated on forced manoeuvres.

Obstructive and non-obstructive groups were similar for the breathing parameters compared to each other. There was also little change following exercise and bronchodilator, except the change in flow rate seen in the PT_{low} group as a whole, likely reflecting an increase in flow seen largely in the obstructive group.

4.4.3.2 Impedance

Little is definitively known about impedance changes in preterm-born children within the respiratory cycles. Forced oscillation had been used previously to compare overall impedance (resistance and reactance) during inspiration and expiration as a whole in a group of 7 year old ex-preterm children and term controls, finding raised inspiratory resistance compared to controls, as well as higher resistance in expiration compared to inspiration (Hamon et al., 2013). However, this was not looking at the changes that occur throughout these parts of the respiratory cycle. As would be expected from the standard oscillometry findings, resistance was greater, and reactance more negative throughout both inspiration and expiration, for PT_{low} children compared to controls. Again, at every stage of the respiratory cycle (including at end of inspiration or expiration, at max flow, and for the maximum and minimum recorded values) resistance was greater and reactance more negative for expiration compared to inspiration.

For resistance, this could be partly volume-related as outlined in section 4.4.1 on the isolated term results, and exacerbated by the fact this PT_{low} group did have evidence of lower lung volumes. Height in theory is a factor and ideally values would be standardised, but as there are no reference values for this lung function technique at

present, normalising for this is not possible. The heights across the lung function groups were largely the same suggesting this may not have a significant impact in my population. However, given that the preterm children with normal lung function also have smaller lungs on spirometry (FVC) and static lung volume testing (TLC) compared to term controls, yet there were no differences between these two groups on this oscillometry testing, suggests there is another mechanism to explain the higher resistance. The findings from the standard oscillometry suggest that these effects were seen at the lower frequencies to a greater extent. As the 10 Hz frequency reflects the distal airways, this may suggest an issue with the smaller distal airways, possibly related to distal extension of smooth muscle surrounding the airways. The upper airways could account for some of the changes seen, particularly at maximal flow when there was likely to be greater turbulent flow through the vocal cords. The impedance at end respiration points was free from any extra-airway factors contributing to this however (Czövek et al., 2016).

Similarly, the reactance parameters showed similar (but opposite in sign) trends to the resistance. As outlined above, the negative reactance values are representing energy storage due to compliance. An increasingly negative reactance value in the PT_{Iow} group suggests lower compliance, again this could be due to a variety of reasons. Airway size may play a part but is unlikely to be fully explanatory for the differences seen. Other causes of reduced respiratory system compliance include factors affecting chest wall compliance (structural abnormalities, unlikely in this cohort) or lung compliance itself including decreased elasticity or fibrosis (Edwards and Annamaraju). Changes in elasticity and fibrosis are possible in a preterm population, as seen on imaging of lungs following preterm birth (Wong et al., 2008).

While there were differences between inspiration and expiration for resistance and reactance, these seem to be similarly noted across the groups, with no parts of the respiratory cycle particularly greater affected in the PT_{low} when compared to controls. This included the resistance at end-expiration when compared to end-inspiration. This differs somewhat in findings for preschool aged children with a history of wheeze (Czövek et al., 2016). Using the same intra-breath oscillometry technique, in children aged approximately 5 years old, a difference between resistance at end-expiration

 (R_{eE}) and end-inspiration (R_{eI}) , called ΔR_e , was present in children with acute wheeze, and a cut-off of 1.42 hPa.s/L was determined using ROC for identifying airway obstruction. This was subsequently applied to a group of slightly younger children with recurrent wheeze and controls: 80% had a ΔR_e greater than the cut off, with 96% of controls having a value below.

In my group, PT_{low} did not show the same difference between zero flow resistances as seen in the preschool wheeze population, although the POLD group in isolation did have the highest ΔR_e , suggesting this is a different disease process to childhood wheeze disorders. There was even less difference seen when comparing ΔX_e between the lung function groups – which had also been identified to a lesser extent as being a marker of wheeze in the preschool wheeze children (Czövek et al., 2016). However, the POLD children again had the most negative ΔX_e . Interestingly, the non-obstructive group actually had a positive ΔX_e , consistent with there being a more negative reactance at end-inspiration compared to end-expiration.

Adults with COPD had flow limitation identified by examining the area within the impedance-volume and impedance-flow loops (see Figure 4.12 for example). The area within an impedance-flow loop can be calculated, and a population of adults with COPD were found to have larger areas within the reactance-flow loop (AXV'), with AXV' improving after applying Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP) at increasing pressures. In my population, there was a slightly higher AXV' in the PT_{low} group compared to T_c, with improvement seen after bronchodilator therapy. Figure 4.12 gives an example of the ARV and ARV' loops from participants from my study, with an example of each with higher ARV/ARV' and lower ARV/ARV'. An increase in the area within these loops may be suggestive of flow limitation between expiration and inspiration, especially the AXV loop (Lorx et al., 2017).

Figure 4.12 a) resistance-volume loops (ARV) and b) resistance-flow loops (ARV') demonstrating examples of area within the curve for participants with higher (red) and lower (blue) a) ARV and b) ARV' values.



4.4.3.3 Exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator effects

Exercise did not have any significant effect on PT_{Iow} children's resistance; however, reactance worsened following exercise, especially during the expiratory phase, and in particular in the POLD group. This suggests that there is something about their airway compliance that is affected by exercise. While diminished spirometry was not noted in post-exercise in my study, bronchoconstriction can occur following exercise (Joshi et al., 2013), and this change in reactance post-exercise may be a more sensitive marker than spirometry. However, a change in resistance would also be expected in the presence of bronchoconstriction due to airway calibre change,

leaving the possibility of another mechanism behind this change in reactance postexercise. A reactance change in the absence of a change in resistance suggests a direct impact on compliance as a result of exercise. A deterioration in reactance and compliance was not noted in standard oscillometry, thus suggests that the intrabreath technique may be better at identifying subtle changes in respiratory mechanics. Post-exercise bronchodilator had a positive effect on all groups, but in particular the PT_{low} group. While the results did not normalise to the same extent as seen in standard oscillometry, there was a widespread improvement across impedance. Additionally, the AXV' improved significantly, and this is an example where it did normalise.

4.4.4 Limitations

There are some limitations present. Recruited numbers, particularly in the low function group, and hence in the obstructive/non-obstructive groups, were low, thus potentially underpowered to detect changes, particularly between the POLD and PnOLD groups. Regardless, I still identified a number of differences between groups but these need to be replicated across other studies.

While this is exciting exploratory, hypothesis-generating work, it does mean there is a lack of standardised values to be able to compare the results to. There is a chance other factors may be affecting the results, i.e., height, that would be accounted for in standardised values.

4.5 Conclusion

In summary, preterm-born children with low lung function, especially those with evidence of obstructive lung disease, had evidence of impaired impedance throughout the respiratory cycle. Exercise appeared to have a direct impact on the reactance in children with evidence of obstructive lung disease, the mechanism of which needs to be explored. Post-exercise bronchodilator had a positive impact on impedance, particularly improving both resistance and reactance in those with obstructive airway disease, and to a greater extent in expiration than inspiration. Smaller differences in resistance and reactance at zero-flow states of end-expiration and end-inspiration were observed compared to previous reports in children with childhood wheeze disorders, suggesting preterm-born children have an alternative underlying pathology. Further studies need to confirm these findings and explore potential mechanisms.

5 INTERPRETATION OF LUNG FUNCTION TESTING

5.1 Introduction

Lung function testing encompasses a range of techniques, most of which are well established particularly in the research domain and in adult clinical practice. Consensus guidelines for performing testing are available for many of these applications, although with a greater focus on the adult population. Guidance is also available for interpretation strategies, however again the predominant emphasis is on adult populations. Interpretation of testing is limited by availability of reference ranges. The Global Lung Function Initiative (GLI) have developed reference equations for spirometry across several ethnic groups, covering ages from 3 to 95, by compiling normal results from countries across the world. This is an evolving resource which originally developed from >160,000 data points from almost 75,000 individuals (Quanjer et al., 2012). Population groups were divided into several ethnicity groups (Caucasian, African-American, North-East Asian, South-East Asian, and "Other" where individuals did not fit into one of the other groups) due to systematic differences found from various centres globally. While these original reference values were developed several years ago, there is ongoing effort to either add to the data resource or evaluate lesser represented populations against the current references for validity (Arigliani et al., 2017).

However, while effort is ongoing to build similar references for other methods of lung function testing (Stanojevic et al., 2017, Hall et al., 2021), this remains incomplete for others (Hall et al., 2021). As such reference values for lung function tests outside of spirometry are based on small numbers, particularly for paediatric populations. This makes interpretation more difficult, as without knowing "normal" values, identify abnormal is more difficult. While spirometry and lung volume testing have clear guidance for performing (Miller et al., 2005, Graham et al., 2019, Wanger et al., 2005) and interpreting (Pellegrino et al., 2005) the tests, sometimes their use in clinical practice could potentially should differ to recommended practice (Murray et al., 2017).

5.1.1 Interpretation of spirometry

Spirometry has very clear guidance on how to perform and interpret testing. This includes equipment specifications and calibration requirements, within test and between test acceptability criteria, as well as what the results mean (Miller et al., 2005, Pellegrino et al., 2005). Typically, this involves using a stepwise approach to the spirometry, with or without additional information from lung volume testing. The ERS guidance (Pellegrino et al., 2005) uses results at their lower limit of normal (LLN), starting with the FEV_1/VC (it does not specify a forced vital capacity should be used, and that a slow vital capacity is equally, if not more, useful), and then FVC, before using TLC at LLN to confirm restrictive deficits. A similar approach is suggested by Johnson et al (Johnson and Theurer, 2014). One difference between these interpretative strategies is the used of z-scores for LLN in the ERS methodology, and a mixture of LLN and absolute cut-offs of % predicted or ratio depending on age of the patient. Use of z-scores is widely encouraged due to their ability to remove variability around the mean across the correction factors, which %predicted cannot do (Stanojevic et al., 2013). There is also discouragement to using absolute cut-offs for $FEV_1/(F)VC$ ratio, particularly in children due to discrepancy between lung growth and overall growth, termed dysanapsis (Quanjer et al., 2010).

However, there is a case to be made that using defined cut-offs such as LLN may not apply to identifying pathology such as that described by Murray et al (Murray et al., 2017). In their review of children with a diagnosis of asthma, they found that using different cut-offs, including %predicted or absolute ratios, had better sensitivity and specificity for identifying a confirmed diagnosis than those suggested by NICE. This has not been applied to the preterm population in terms of identifying lung dysfunction, and is complicated by the fact there is not a single underlying diagnosis in those ex-preterm children who have respiratory issues, whether symptoms or impaired lung function.

5.1.2 Spirometry comparison

Consideration should also be paid to how and where spirometry is performed. Taking a standardised approach as outlined above is important, however variables such as equipment used are not always the same, particularly between community and lung function lab settings. A question should be asked whether different equipment all perform the test to the same standard, even in the event of all equipment specifications and calibration being performed as per the consensus guidelines. This is a particularly pertinent question for several reasons in both clinical practice and research domains. For instance, if performing longitudinal spirometry, then knowing whether the device or setting may affect the results is important. Alternatively, the presence of a systematic difference between methods of obtaining results may affect whether a referral for testing or meeting diagnostic criteria for a disease (i.e., GOLD criteria for COPD).

Indeed, a comparison of spirometry results between a General Practice setting and a lung function lab setting over 2 years identified a small (69 mls for FEV₁ and 81 mls for FVC as a pooled pre- and post-bronchodilator in year 1; 58 mls and 79 mls respectively for year 2) but statistically significant difference between these settings in over 300 patients with COPD, with greater volumes obtained in the General Practice setting (Schermer et al., 2003). This was using the same spirometer in both settings, which were performed <30 days apart. Pre-bronchodilator results had greater differences than post-bronchodilator differences, which is interesting, given that the values would likely be greater post-bronchodilation, hence more possibility for variance. Instead, a conclusion of variability between the 4 lung function testing labs was hypothesised as an explanation, although the larger number (n=61) of General Practices would suggest a greater potential for variability. However, their conclusion that spirometry from different settings should not be used interchangeably seems valid.

However, a community versus laboratory setting comparison in a group of expreterm children and term controls (n=50 total, 37 in the ex-preterm group) aged ~11 years from the EPICure study found little difference in spirometry z-scores. In this instance a different spirometer was used at the two visits, although both were pneumotachograph spirometers. For FEV₁, FVC FEV₁/FVC and FEF_{25-75%} z-scores, bias was approximately 0 z-score in all, with limits of agreement +/- 1 z-score for FEV₁ and FVC, compared to +/- 1.5 z-scores between community vs lab settings. Similarly, a

204

comparison of two other pneumotachograph spirometers reached similar conclusions for lack of systematic difference between different spirometers, in this case specifically for FEV₁ and FVC (Swart et al., 2003). These studies do not answer the question of what happens if a different type of spirometer is used, as frequently occurs in clinical practice.

Other studies have explored this question with comparisons between ultrasonic flow and pneumotachograph flow meters (Milanzi et al., 2019) and turbine and pneumotachograph flow meters (Caras et al., 1999), although the latter may have been affected by the methodology, with both types of meters being tested during the same expiration for all readings, with the turbine spirometer placed in series past the pneumotachograph. Given the heavy reliance on flow, this may have caused the systematic difference found, a point acknowledged by the authors. Both found systematic differences in favour of the pneumotachograph compared to the alternative. Additionally it is possible that updated versions of the same spirometer may produce differences in results (Künzli et al., 2005).

5.1.3 Aims and hypothesis

I hypothesise that:

- Using thresholds identified in the course of this research to identify children with obstructive lung disease will be comparative to other published methodology;
- Comparison of spirometry performed by the same participant on two different types of spirometry will yield systematic differences in results.

Aims:

 With regards to defining obstructive and non-obstructive I aimed to compare our method of defining obstructive lung disease with that of two published methods, including those from the European Respiratory Society standards for interpreting lung function tests. I aimed to compare two types of spirometers (turbine and pneumotachograph) to assess whether there are any systematic differences in the results that are obtained.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Population and testing

Recruitment and participant testing have been described in detail elsewhere (Chapter 2.2) in the thesis. For the purposes of this chapter, the relevant tests include spirometry and reversibility testing, fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FE_{NO}), and lung volume testing with helium dilution and body plethysmography methods.

The two types of spirometers used were: 1) MicroLoop spirometer with turbine (Carefusion, Germany), and 2) MasterScreen Body and PFT systems with pneumotachograph (Vyaire Medical, Germany). The method of performing the test was identical for both pieces of equipment. All participants had performed spirometry at the screening visit and so were familiar with the technique; however, all underwent further explanation and tutoring prior to performing the test to ensure adequate quality was obtained. Calibration, test performance and criteria for adequate testing were in line with ERS recommendations (Miller et al., 2005). All participants performed MicroLoop spirometry prior to MasterScreen spirometry.

5.2.2 Defining groups

Participants were grouped according to whether they are classed as having obstructive, restrictive/non-obstructive or mixed disease based on pathways suggested by Johnson et al and Pellegrino et al, as well as how these terms have been defined in the course of the thesis. Figures 5.1 and 5.2 show the algorithms by Johnson and Pellegrino to classify into the above groups. VC in the Pellegrino methodology is considered as FVC for the purposes of making this classification.



Figure 5.1 Algorithm from Johnson et al for identifying different types of lung disease (Johnson and Theurer, 2014). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.



Figure 5.2 Algorithm from Pellegrino et al for identifying different types of lung disease (Pellegrino et al., 2005). Image reproduced with permission of the rights holder.

Children were assigned as low lung function (PT_{low} : %FEV₁ ≤85%), preterm controls (PT_c : %FEV₁ >85%) and term controls (T_c : %FEV₁ >90%) from within the RHiNO study. The children defined as low lung function were subsequently divided into whether their lung function abnormality was due to an obstructive (POLD: FEV₁/FVC <0.8) or non-obstructive (PnOLD: FEV₁/FVC ≥0.8) deficit.

Children in the PT_{low} group were further classified based on their total lung capacity (TLC) on both helium dilution testing and whole-body plethysmography testing, using LLN from the GLI equations as a cut off. Groups were defined as follows:

- Obstructive: POLD group + TLC > LLN
- Mixed obstructive/restrictive: POLD; TLC < LLN
- Restrictive: PnOLD; TLC < LLN
- Pseudorestrictive: PnOLD; TLC < LLN

5.2.3 Statistics

Descriptive statistics were used for comparison of data.

Receiver operating characteristic curves were used to determine potential cut offs for identifying bronchodilator responsiveness and true lung restriction.

Pearson's correlation was used to assess correlation between and Bland-Altman plots with mean difference and limits of agreement at 95% were used to assess for systematic differences within spirometry testing.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Obstructive restrictive further analysis

221 patients performed spirometry and were assigned to an original group of study based on their FEV₁. Their demographic details are detailed in full in Chapter 2. 53 children were assigned as low lung function (PT_{low}), 98 as preterm controls (PT_c) and 70 as term controls (T_c). Table 5.1 shows the numbers in of children defined as low lung function after being divided into whether their lung function abnormality was due to an obstructive (POLD) or non-obstructive (PnOLD) deficit.

Group	POLD	PnOLD	PTc	Tc
Number	37	16	98	70
FE _{NO} >35ppb	13/34 (38%)	1/16 (6%)	17/97 (18%)	8/68 (12%)
	73.2	80.1	99.3	104.3
70FEV1	(70.0 to 76.5)	(77.7 to 82.5)	(97.4 to 101.1)	(102.6 to 106.0)
FEV ₁ <lln< td=""><td>27/37 (73%)</td><td>8/16 (50%)</td><td>0/98 (0%)</td><td>0/70 (0%)</td></lln<>	27/37 (73%)	8/16 (50%)	0/98 (0%)	0/70 (0%)
9/ EV/C	94.4	82.8	102.8	107.6
%FVC	(91.8 to 97.0)	(80.4 to 85.1)	(100.7 to 104.9)	(105.5 to 109.7)
FVC <lln< td=""><td>2/37 (5%)</td><td>4/16 (25%)</td><td>1/98 (1%)</td><td>0/70 (0%)</td></lln<>	2/37 (5%)	4/16 (25%)	1/98 (1%)	0/70 (0%)
	0.68	0.85	0.84	0.84
FEV1/FVC TallO	(0.65 to 0.70)	(0.83 to 0.87)	(0.83 to 0.85)	(0.83 to 0.86)
FEV ₁ /FVC <lln< td=""><td>30/37 (81%)</td><td>0/16 (0%)</td><td>12/98 (12%)</td><td>4/70 (6%)</td></lln<>	30/37 (81%)	0/16 (0%)	12/98 (12%)	4/70 (6%)
Increase %FEV ₁	+15.8	+4.2	+5.7	+6.3
post-exercise BD	(+12.3 to +19.3)	(+2.5 to +5.9)	(+4.8 to +6.5)	(+5.0 to +7.6)
Post-exercise BD	26/31 (84%)	1/16 (6%)	15/87 (17%)	11/66 (17%)
increase >10%				
%TI C	96.5	79.3	96.9	102.2
/oi LC(He)	(91.8 to 101.3)	(75.6 to 83.1)	(94.8 to 99.0)	(99.4 to 103.8)
%TIC	97.2	80.5	97.2	101.6
/oi LC(Pleth)	(93.3 to 101.1)	(76.8 to 84.2)	(95.2 to 99.2)	(99.4 to 103.8)

Table 5.1 Numbers in each of the original group defined by lung function (FEV₁) and obstructive/non-obstructive (FEV₁/FVC) status.

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated nonobstructive lung disease, PT_c – Preterm control, T_c – Term control; FE_{NO} – fractional exhaled nitric oxide; FEV_1 – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity; LLN – lower limit of normal; BD – bronchodilator; TLC – total lung capacity; He – helium dilution; Pleth – Plethysmography.

5.3.1.1 Addition of lung volume testing

Children in the PT_{low} group were further classified based on their total lung capacity (TLC) on both helium dilution testing and whole-body plethysmography testing, using LLN from the GLI equations as a cut off, as outlined above.

5.3.1.1.1 Results with TLC from Helium dilution

Six children within the POLD group were unable to perform adequate Helium dilution testing. All children within PnOLD were successful. Of the 31 POLD children who had available lung volume results, 29 of these remained defined as obstructive disease, with 2 having low TLC suggesting mixed obstructive/restrictive disease. 9 of the children originally defined as restrictive disease based on low FEV₁ and normal FEV₁/FVC also had TLC < LLN, with 7 having normal TLC. This latter group have been defined as pseudorestrictive as they suggest potential restriction on spirometry but have normal TLC. This is summarised in Table 5.2.

Within these defined groups, children in the obstructive lung disease group appear different to the other 3 groups, with a greater bronchodilator response and response rate, and higher %TLC, as shown in Table 5.3. The mixed, restrictive and pseudorestrictive all have similar values for these. Interestingly, there was little difference between TLC obtained by plethysmography and by helium for the obstructive, restrictive and pseudorestrictive group, whereas the mixed group had a lower %TLC on helium compared to plethysmography. This suggests air trapping; however, it would be expected to be seen in the obstructive group as well. However, this is only a small number (n=2) so conclusions cannot be firmly drawn.

Table 5.2 Comparison between obstructive groups using only FEV_1/FVC (as used in RHiNO study) and re-defined groups when using LLN of TLC from Helium dilution testing – numbers present in each group.

		RHiNO classification	
		POLD	PnOLD
	Obstructive	29	0
Re-defined groups based on	Mixed	2	0
addition of lung volume testing	Restrictive	0	9
	Pseudorestrictive	0	7

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated non-obstructive lung disease.

Group	Obstructive	Mixed	Restrictive	Pseudorestrictive
Number	29	2	9	7
FE _{NO} >35ppb	10/28 (36%)	0/1 (0%)	1/9 (11%)	0/7 (0%)
%EE\/.	75.2	76.5	78.2	82 4 (80 0 to 84 0)
701 L V 1	(72.0 to 78.3)	(6.62 to 146.4)	(74.5 to 82.0)	82.4 (80.0 (0 84.9)
FEV ₁ <lln< td=""><td>20/29 (69%)</td><td>1/2 (50%)</td><td>6/9 (67%)</td><td>2/7 (29%)</td></lln<>	20/29 (69%)	1/2 (50%)	6/9 (67%)	2/7 (29%)
	96.0	87.0	80.7	85.4
70F V C	(93.2 to 98.8)	(-1.9 to 175.9)	(78.1 to 83.2)	(81.5 to 89.4)
FVC <lln< td=""><td>0/29 (0%)</td><td>1/2 (50%)</td><td>3/9 (33%)</td><td>1/7 (14%)</td></lln<>	0/29 (0%)	1/2 (50%)	3/9 (33%)	1/7 (14%)
EEV/ /EV/C ratio	0.68	0.78	0.85	0.84
	(0.65 to 0.71)	(0.50 to 1.04)	(0.83 to 0.88)	(0.80 to 0.89)
FEV ₁ /FVC <lln< td=""><td>24/29 (83%)</td><td>0/2 (0%)</td><td>0/9 (0%)</td><td>0/7 (0%)</td></lln<>	24/29 (83%)	0/2 (0%)	0/9 (0%)	0/7 (0%)
Increase %FEV ₁	+16 5	+5 5	±2 Q	±1 7
post-exercise	$(\pm 12.7 \pm 0.5)$	+5.5	+3.0 (+1 / to +6 1)	(±1 3 to ±8 1)
BD	(+12.7 (0 +20.4)	(-0.8 (0 +11.9)	(+1.4 (0 +0.1)	(+1.5 (0 +8.1)
Post-exercise				
BD increase	24/26 (92%)	0/2 (0%)	0/9 (0%)	1/7 (14%)
>10%				
	98.1	73.4	74.3	85.9
%ILC(He)	(93.6 to 102.6)	(26.6 to 120.2)	(71.0 to 77.6)	(83.1 to 88.6)
9/TLC	98.1	83.8	76.9	84.6
%TLC _(Pleth)	(93.9 to 102.3)	(64.6 to 103.0)	(72.0 to 81.8)	(80.1 to 89.1)

Table 5.3 Numbers in each of the original group defined by lung function (FEV₁,), and obstructive/restrictive/mixed disease status (FEV₁/FVC and TLC He).

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated nonobstructive lung disease, PT_c – Preterm control, T_c – Term control; FE_{NO} – fractional exhaled nitric oxide; FEV_1 – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity; LLN – lower limit of normal; BD – bronchodilator; TLC – total lung capacity; He – helium dilution; Pleth – Plethysmography.

5.3.1.1.2 Results with TLC from Plethysmography

3 children within the POLD group and 1 from the PnOLD were unable to perform adequate plethysmography testing. Of the 34 POLD children who had available lung volume results, all had normal TLC on plethysmography suggesting no evidence of restrictive lung disease in addition to obstructive disease. Only 6 of the plethysmography group had true restrictive disease if based on TLC, and 9 of the original restrictive group had normal TLC.

While the children are classified into slightly different groups based on plethysmography compared to helium, with loss of any children within the mixed obstructive/restrictive group, the results within the group remain fairly similar, with greatest bronchodilator responsiveness and greatest %TLC seen in the obstructive group. These numbers are shown in Table 5.4.

There are few differences seen between the groups when split by this method, although the proportion in the obstructive group who have a positive bronchodilator response is higher when classified by helium, suggesting that this may be a more sensitive way to identify reversible airway obstruction. Table 5.5 summarises these data.

Table 5.4 Comparison between obstructive groups using only FEV1/FVC (as used in RHiNO
study) and re-defined groups when using LLN of TLC from body plethysmography – numbers
present in each group.

		RHiNO c	RHiNO classification		
		POLD	PnOLD		
	Obstructive	34	0		
Re-defined groups based on	Mixed	0	0		
addition of lung volume testing	Restrictive	0	6		
	Pseudorestrictive	0	9		

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated non-obstructive lung disease.

Table	5.5	Numb	ers i	n each	of the	original	group	defined	by	lung	function	(FEV _{1,}),	and
obstru	ctiv	e/restı	ictive	e/mixe	d disea	se status	(FEV ₁ /	FVC and	TLC	Pleth).		

Group	Obstructive	Mixed	Restrictive	Pseudorestrictive
Number	34	0	6	9
FE _{NO} >35ppb	11/32 (34%)		1/6 (17)	0/9 (0%)
	74.2		77.0	82.1
70FEV1	(70.9 to 77.4)		(72.1 to 81.9)	(79.4 to 84.8)
FEV ₁ <lln< td=""><td>24/34 (71%)</td><td></td><td>5/6 (83%)</td><td>2/9 (22%)</td></lln<>	24/34 (71%)		5/6 (83%)	2/9 (22%)
	94.5		79.7	84.7
%FVC	(91.7 to 97.3)		(75.8 to 83.6)	(81.6 to 87.7)
FVC <lln< td=""><td>2/34 (6%)</td><td></td><td>3/6 (50%)</td><td>1/9 (11%)</td></lln<>	2/34 (6%)		3/6 (50%)	1/9 (11%)
	0.68		0.84	0.85
FEV ₁ /FVC ratio	(0.66 to 0.71)		(0.81 to 0.87)	(0.82 to 0.89)
FEV ₁ /FVC <lln< td=""><td>27/34 (79%)</td><td></td><td>0/6 (0%)</td><td>0/9 (0%)</td></lln<>	27/34 (79%)		0/6 (0%)	0/9 (0%)
Increase %FEV ₁	+15.8		+3.2	+5.1
post-exercise BD	(+12.3 to +19.3)		(+0.2 to +6.3)	(+2.5 to +7.8)
Post-exercise BD	26/21 (0/0/)		0/6 (0%)	1/0 (119/)
increase >10%	20/31 (04%)		0/0 (0%)	1/9 (11%)
	96.5		73.8	83.4
%TLC(He)	(91.8 to 101.3)		(67.4 to 80.2)	(79.5 to 87.3)
9/TLC	97.2		74.1	84.7
70 I LC(Pleth)	(95.2 to 99.2)		(69.5 to 78.8)	(81.9 to 87.6)

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated nonobstructive lung disease, PT_c – Preterm control, T_c – Term control; FE_{NO} – fractional exhaled nitric oxide; FEV_1 – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity; LLN – lower limit of normal; BD – bronchodilator; TLC – total lung capacity; He – helium dilution; Pleth – Plethysmography.

5.3.1.2 Johnson et al interpretation

Using Johnson et al's interpretation of lung function testing involves using set cutoffs of FEV₁/FVC and percent predicted FVC as a way to divide by obstructive restrictive status. Applying these criteria to our population gives a comparison as seen in Table 5.6.

Of the 37 POLD children, 10 would be reclassified as normal, despite having a %FEV₁ \leq 85%. Only 4 of the PnOLD children would meet criteria for restrictive. There would also be 6 children (4 PT_c and 2 T_c) who meet criteria for obstructive lung disease despite having normal FEV₁ on spirometry. These numbers are displayed in Table 5.6.

Of the children defined as POLD based on our RHiNO criteria, 36% of those also classified as obstructive based on the Johnson criteria had raised FE_{NO} compared to 44% of those defined by normal by Johnson. Additionally of these children with potential obstruction defined as normal by Johnson, 56% still have reversible airways based on >10% predicted %FEV₁ increase after bronchodilator. While this is a smaller proportion than the children that both classifications would define as obstructive (96%), it remains higher than the restrictive or control groups whichever way they are classified. Table 5.7 shows these comparisons.

Table 5.6 Comparison between obstructive groups using only FEV1/FVC (as used in RHiNO
study) and re-defined groups when using Johnson et al interpretation – numbers present in
each group.

		Original RHiNO classification				
		POLD PnOLD PT _c T _c				
	Obstructive	27	0	4	2	
Re-defined groups based	Mixed	0	0	0	0	
on Johnson et al	Restrictive	0	4	0	0	
	Normal	10	12	94	68	

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated non-obstructive lung disease, PT_c – Preterm control, T_c – Term control.

		Original RHiNO classification				
		POLD	PnOLD	PTc	Τc	
	Obstructive	9/25 (36%)	-	1/4 (25%)	0/2 (0%)	
FE _{NO} >35ppb	Restrictive	-	0/4 (0%)	-	-	
	Normal	4/9 (44%)	1/12 (8%)	16/93 (17%)	8/66 (12%)	
	Obstructivo	70.8		94.8	93.5 (87.2 to	
	Obstructive	(66.8 to 74.8)	-	(86.7 to 102.8)	99.9)	
%FEV1	Restrictive	-	76 (66.5 to 85.5)	-	-	
	Normal	79.7	81.4	99.5	104.6	
	Norman	(76.7 to 82.8)	(79.4 to 83.4)	(97.5 to 101.4)	(102.9 to 106.3)	
	Obstructive	21/27 (78%)	-	0/4 (0%)	0/2 (0%)	
FEV ₁ <lln< td=""><td>Restrictive</td><td></td><td>3/4 (75%)</td><td></td><td>-</td></lln<>	Restrictive		3/4 (75%)		-	
	Normal	6/10 (60%)	5/12 (42%)	0/94 (0%)	0/68 (0%)	
	Obstructive	96.2	_	113.0	116	
	Obstructive	(93 to 99.4)	_	(103.0 to 123.0)	(39.8 to 192.2)	
%FVC	Restrictive	-	77 (74.8 to 79.3)	-	-	
	Normal	89.5	84.7	102.3	107.3	
		(86.5 to 92.5)	(82.7 to 86.7)	(100.2 to 104.5)	(105.2 to 109.4)	
	Obstructive	1/27 (4%)		0/4 (%)	0/2 (0%)	
FVC <lln< td=""><td>Restrictive</td><td></td><td>4/4 (100%)</td><td></td><td></td></lln<>	Restrictive		4/4 (100%)			
	Normal	1/10 (10%)	0/12 (0%)	1/94 (1%)	0/68 (0%)	
	Obstructive	0.64	_	0.74	0.7	
		(0.61 to 0.67)		(0.73 to 0.75)	(0.42 to 0.98)	
FEV ₁ /FVC ratio	Restrictive	-	0.87 (0.79 to 0.95)	-	-	
	Normal	0.77	0.84	0.85	0.85	
	Normai	(0.76 to 0.79)	(0.82 to 0.86)	(0.84 to 0.86)	(0.84 to 0.86)	
	Obstructive	27/27 (100%)	-	4/4 (100%)	2/2 (100%)	
	Restrictive	-	0/4 (0%)	-	-	
	Normal	3/10 (30%)	0/12 (0%)	8/94 (9%)	2/68 (3%)	
	Obstructive	+18.2	_	+8.0	+13.5	
Increase		(+13.7 to +22.8)		(+1.4 to +14.6)	(-43.7 to +70.7)	
%FEV ₁ post-	Restrictive	-	+2.8 (-3.1 to +8.6)	-	-	
	Normal	+10	+4.7	+5.6	+6.1	
	Normai	(+7.1 to +12.9)	(+2.7 to + 6.6)	(+4.7 t +6.4)	(+4.8 to +7.4)	
Post-exercise	Obstructive	21/22 (96%)	-	1/3 (33%)	1/2 (50%)	
BD increase	Restrictive	-	0/4 (0%)	-	-	
>10%	Normal	5/9 (56%)	1/12 (8%)	14/84 (17%)	10/64 (16%)	

Table 5.7 Comparison between RHiNO classification and re-defined group designationsusing Johnson et al interpretation – lung function (continued over page).

			Original RHiN	O classification	
		POLD	PnOLD	PTc	Tc
%TLC _(He)	Obstructive	101.8 (97.1 to 106.5)	-	106.1 (99.3 to 112.9)	111.3 (90.7 to 131.8)
	Restrictive	-	74.6 (58.2 to 91)	-	-
	Normal	83.6	80.9	96.5	101.9
	Normai	(77.1 to 90.1)	(77.7 to 84.2)	(94.3 to 98.6)	(99.5 to 104.3)
%TLC _(Pleth)	Obstructive	101.2 (96.7 to 105.7)	-	104.6 (98.5 to 110.7)	110.5 (66.2 to 154.7)
	Restrictive	-	74.6 (62.3 to 86.9)	-	-
	Normal	87.6 (83.9 to 91.2)	82.6 (79.4 to 85.9)	96.9 (94.9 to 98.9)	101.4 (99.1 to 103.6)

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated nonobstructive lung disease, PT_c – Preterm control, T_c – Term control; FE_{NO} – fractional exhaled nitric oxide; FEV_1 – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity; LLN – lower limit of normal; BD – bronchodilator; TLC – total lung capacity; He – helium dilution; Pleth – Plethysmography.

5.3.1.3 Pellegrino et al interpretation

Pellegrino's interpretation for distinguishing between obstructive and restrictive disease involves using vital capacity rather than specifically a forced vital capacity, both in isolation and as part of a FEV₁/VC ratio, with the cut-off as the LLN to distinguish normality. For certain participants, the addition of TLC at the LLN is used within this classification. This results in 4 potential disease classifications of obstruction, restriction, mixed disease or normal.

Due to data collection, a vital capacity other than from a forced manoeuvre was not recorded from spirometry during this testing. The rationale behind the use of a slow inspiratory or expiratory vital capacity is FVC may be lower due to airway obstruction (Pellegrino et al., 2005). For the purposes of this comparison between classification methods, the FVC has been used as the VC. Additionally, it should be noted that the GLI spirometry reference ranges are for FVC rather than VC, and as such, it could be argued that use of FVC is best to compare to 'normality'.

5.3.1.3.1 Helium dilution

Using helium dilution testing for lung volumes, and the LLN for TLC to divide into disease type, of 36 children defined as POLD by RHiNO, 29 of these still fell into the obstructive lung disease group; however, 1 would be classed as restrictive and 6 as normal. Of the PnOLD children, only 3 of the 16 able to do helium testing would be classed as true restrictive. 13 PT_c children would get redefined as obstructive lung disease, as would 4 term children, as shown in Table 5.8.

Table 5.9 shows comparisons for results between the groups. The children defined as POLD by RHiNO definition but normal by Pellegrino had the highest proportions of $FE_{NO} > 35$ ppb (60%) whereas proportion with bronchodilator response >10% was greatest in the POLD-obstructive group (87%), as well as overall %FEV₁ increase following post-exercise bronchodilator (17.6%). While post-exercise bronchodilator response was similar in POLD-normal (11.5), PT_c-obstructive (9.8) and T_c-obstructive (10.8) groups, the proportion with post-exercise bronchodilator response was greatest in POLD-normal (83 vs 50 vs 25%), suggesting that calling this group normal is not entirely accurate given the presence of reversible airways disease.

		Original RHiNO classification				
		POLD PnOLD PT _c T _c				
Re-defined groups based on Pellegrino	Obstructive	29	1	13	4	
	Mixed	0	0	0	0	
	Restrictive	1	3	0	0	
	Normal	6	12	85	66	

Table 5.8 Comparison between old and re-defined group designations using Pellegrino (Helium) et al interpretation – numbers present in each group.

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated non-obstructive lung disease, PT_c – Preterm control, T_c – Term control.

		Original RHiNO classification					
		POLD	PnOLD	PTc	Tc		
	Obstructive	10/27 (37%)	0/1 (0%)	2/12 (17%)	1/3 (33%)		
FE _{NO} >35ppb	Restrictive	0/1 (0%)	0/3 (0%)	-	-		
	Normal	3/5 (60%)	1/12 (8%)	15/85 (18%)	7/65 (11%)		
	Obstructive	72.2	84	95.9	96		
	Obstructive	(68.5 to 75.9)	(N/A)	(92.1 to 99.8)	(88.5 to 103.5)		
%EE\/1	Postrictivo	71	73.3				
	Restrictive	(N/A)	(65.4 to 81.3)	_	-		
	Normal	81.2	81.4	99.8	104.8		
	Normai	(77.6 to 84.8)	(79.4 to 83.4)	(97.7 to 101.9)	(103.1 to 106.5)		
	Obstructive	22/29 (76%)	0/1 (0%)	0/13 (0%)	0/4 (0%)		
FEV ₁ <lln< td=""><td>Restrictive</td><td>1/1 (100%)</td><td>3/3 (100%)</td><td>-</td><td>-</td></lln<>	Restrictive	1/1 (100%)	3/3 (100%)	-	-		
	Normal	3/6 (50%)	5/12 (100%)	0/85 (0%)	0/66 (0%)		
	Obstructivo	96.3	79	109.3	114.8		
	Obstructive	(93.5 to 99.1)	(N/A)	(102.7 to 116)	(105.4 to 124.1)		
%FVC	Restrictive	80	76.3	_	_		
)01 VC	Restrictive	(N/A)	(74.9 to 77.8)				
	Normal	89.8	84.7	101.8	107.1		
		(87.1 to 92.6)	(82.7 to 86.7)	(99.6 to 104)	(105 to 109.3)		
	Obstructive	0/29 (0%)	1/1 (100%)	1/13 (8%)	0/4 (0%)		
FVC <lln< td=""><td>Restrictive</td><td>1/1 (100%)</td><td>3/3 (100%)</td><td>-</td><td>-</td></lln<>	Restrictive	1/1 (100%)	3/3 (100%)	-	-		
	Normal	0/6 (100%)	0/12 (0%)	0/85 (0%)	0/66 (0%)		
	Obstructive	0.65	0.94	0.77	0.74		
	Obstructive	(0.63 to 0.68)	(N/A)	(0.74 to 0.8)	(0.67 to 0.81)		
FEV ₁ /EVC ratio	Restrictive	0.8	0.85	-	-		
		(N/A)	(0.77 to 0.94)				
	Normal	0.78	0.84	0.85	0.85		
		(0.76 to 0.8)	(0.82 to 0.86)	(0.84 to 0.86)	(0.84 to 0.86)		
FFV1/FVC	Obstructive	29/29 (100%)	0/1 (0%)	12/13 (92%)	0/4 (0%)		
<lln< td=""><td>Restrictive</td><td>0/1 (0%)</td><td>0/3 (0%)</td><td>-</td><td>-</td></lln<>	Restrictive	0/1 (0%)	0/3 (0%)	-	-		
	Normal	0/6 (0%)	0/12 (0%)	0/85 (0%)	0/66 (0%)		
	Obstructive	+17.6	-2.0	+9.8	+10.8		
Increase		(+13.1 to +22.1)	(N/A)	(+7.2 to +12.3)	(+3.0 to +18.5)		
%FEV ₁ post-	Restrictive	+5.0	+4.3	-	-		
exercise BD		(N/A)	(-1.4 to +10.1)				
	Normal	+11.5	+4.7	+5.0	+6.0		
		(+/./ to +15.3)	(+2.7 to +6.6)	(+4.2 to +5.8)	(+4./to+7.3)		
Post-exercise	Obstructive	20/23 (87%)	0/1 (0%)	6/12 (50%)	1/4 (25%)		
BD increase	Restrictive	0/1 (0%)	0/3 (0%)				
>10%	Normal	5/6 (83%)	1/12 (8%)	9/75 (12%)	10/62 (16%)		

Table 5.9 Comparison between RHiNO classification and re-defined group designationsusing Pellegrino (Helium) et al interpretation – lung function (continued over page).

		Original RHiNO classification					
		POLD	PnOLD	PTc	Tc		
	Obstructivo	100.9	89.4	102.8	107.3		
	Obstructive	(96.3 to 105.5)	(N/A)	(97.8 to 107.9)	(99.0 to 115.6)		
9/TLC	Doctrictivo	69.7	69.6				
%TLC _(He)	Restrictive	(N/A)	(60.8 to 78.5)	-	-		
	Normal	83.4 80.9		95.9	101.8		
	Normai	(79.3 to 87.5)	(77.7 to 84.2)	(93.6 to 98.2)	(99.3 to 104.3)		
	Obstructivo	100.9	85.0	102.9	110.6		
%TLC(Pleth)	Obstructive	(96.7 to 105)	(N/A)	(96.6 to 109.2)	(102.9 to 118.3)		
	Destrictive	82.3	71.2				
	Restrictive	(N/A)	(60.4 to 81.9)	-	-		
	Normal	85.5	82.6	96.4	101.1		
	Normal	(81.6 to 89.4)	(79.4 to 85.9)	(94.3 to 98.4)	(98.8 to 103.3)		

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated nonobstructive lung disease, PT_c – Preterm control, T_c – Term control; FE_{NO} – fractional exhaled nitric oxide; FEV_1 – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity; LLN – lower limit of normal; BD – bronchodilator; TLC – total lung capacity; He – helium dilution; Pleth – Plethysmography.

5.3.1.3.2 Plethysmography

When using the LLN for TLC taken from body plethysmography, the numbers are very similar to when using Helium dilution TLC. One child from POLD that helium would define as restrictive was classed obstructive, and 1 child from PT_c classed as obstructive on helium was in the restrictive group, as outlined in Table 5.10.

Results were very similar to when using helium to classify types of lung disease, as per Table 5.11. This suggests that using either would be suitable for interpretation of Pellegrino's methods of classifying obstructive or restrictive lung disease.

Table 5.10 Comparison between RHiNO classification and re-defined group designationsusing Pellegrino (Plethysmography) et al interpretation – numbers present in each group.

		Original RHiNO classification				
		POLD	PnOLD	PTc	Tc	
	Obstructive	31	1	12	4	
Re-defined groups based on Pellegrino et al	Mixed	0	0	0	0	
	Restrictive	0	3	1	0	
	Normal	6	12	85	66	

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated non-obstructive lung disease, PT_c – Preterm control, T_c – Term control.

Table 5.11 Comparison between RHiNO classification and re-defined group designations using Pellegrino (Plethysmography) et al interpretation – lung function (continued over page).

		Original RHiNO classification				
		POLD	PnOLD	PTc	Tc	
	Obstructive	10/29 (35%)	0/1 (0%)	2/11 (18%)	1/3 (33%)	
FE _{NO} >35ppb	Restrictive	-	0/3 (0%)	0/1 (0%)	-	
	Normal	3/5 (60%)	1/12 (8%)	15/85 (18%)	7/65 (11%)	
	Obstructive	71.7	84	96.6	96	
	Obstructive	(68.1 to 75.3)	(N/A)	(92.6 to 100.5)	(88.5 to 103.5)	
%FF\/.	Restrictive	_	73.3	88	_	
701 L V 1	Restrictive	_	(65.4 to 81.3)	(N/A)		
	Normal	81.2	81.4	99.8	104.8	
	Normai	(77.6 to 84.8)	(79.4 to 83.4)	(97.7 to 101.9)	(103.1 to 106.5)	
	Obstructive	24/31 (77%)	0/1 (0%)	0/12 (0%)	0/4 (0%)	
FEV ₁ <lln< td=""><td>Restrictive</td><td>-</td><td>3/3 (100%)</td><td>0/1 (0%)</td><td>-</td></lln<>	Restrictive	-	3/3 (100%)	0/1 (0%)	-	
	Normal	3/6 (50%)	5/12 (42%)	0/85 (0%)	0/66 (0%)	
	Obstructivo	95.3	79	111.8	114.8	
	Obstructive	(92.3 to 98.2)	(N/A)	(107.4 to 116.1)	(105.4 to 124.1)	
%EV/C	Restrictive		76.3	80		
70FVC		_	(74.9 to 77.8)	(N/A)	-	
	Normal	89.8	84.7	101.8	107.1	
	Normai	(87.1 to 92.6)	(82.7 to 86.7)	(99.6 to 104)	(105 to 109.3)	
	Obstructive	2/31 (7%)	1/1 (100%)	0/12 (0%)	0/4 (0%)	
FVC <lln< td=""><td>Restrictive</td><td>-</td><td>3/3 (100%)</td><td>1/1 (100%)</td><td>-</td></lln<>	Restrictive	-	3/3 (100%)	1/1 (100%)	-	
	Normal	0/6 (0%)	0/12 (0%)	0/85 (0%)	0/66 (0%)	
	Obstructivo	0.66	0.94	0.75	0.74	
	Obstructive	(0.63 to 0.68)	(N/A)	(0.74 to 0.76)	(0.67 to 0.81)	
FEV//EV/C ratio	Restrictive	_	0.85	0.93	_	
	Restrictive		(0.77 to 0.94)	(N/A)		
	Normal	0.78	0.84	0.85	0.85	
	Normai	(0.76 to 0.8)	(0.82 to 0.86)	(0.84 to 0.86)	(0.84 to 0.86)	
FEV//EV/C	Obstructive	30/31 (97%)	0/1 (0%)	12/12 (100%)	4/4 (100%)	
<11N	Restrictive	-	0/3 (0%)	0/1 (100%)	-	
	Normal	0/6 (0%)	0/12 (0%)	0/85 (0%)	0/66 (0%)	
	Obstructive	+16.9	-2.0	+10.2	+10.8	
Increase	Obstructive	(+12.6 to +21.2)	(N/A)	(+7.5 to +12.8)	(+3.0 to +18.5)	
%FFV₁ nost-	Restrictive	_	+4.3	+5.0	_	
exercise BD			(-1.4 to +10.1)	(N/A)		
	Normal	+11.5	+4.7	+5.0	+6.0	
		(+7.7 to +15.3)	(+2.7 to +6.6)	(+4.2 to +5.8)	(+4.7 to +7.3)	
Post-exercise	Obstructive	21/25 (84%)	0/1 (0%)	6/11 (55%)	1/4 (25%)	
BD increase	Restrictive	-	0/3 (0%)	0/1 (0%)	-	
>10%	Normal	5/6 (83%)	1/11 (8%)	9/75 (12%)	10/62 (16%)	

		Original RHiNO classification						
		POLD	PnOLD	PTc	Τ _c			
	Obstructivo	99.7	89.4	104.3	107.3			
	Obstructive	(94.5 to 104.8)	(N/A)	(100.1 to 108.6)	(99 to 115.6)			
9/TLC	Postrictivo		69.6	84.8	-			
%TLC _(He)	Restrictive	-	(60.8 to 78.5)	(N/A)				
	Normal	83.4	80.9	95.9	101.8			
	Normai	(79.3 to 87.5)	(77.7 to 84.2)	(93.6 to 98.2)	(99.3 to 104.3)			
	Obstructive	99.7	85	105.3	110.6			
	Obstructive	(95.5 to 103.9)	(N/A)	(101.5 to 109.1)	(102.9 to 118.3)			
	Doctrictivo		71.2	76.4				
%ILC(Pleth)	Restrictive	-	(60.4 to 81.9)	(N/A)	-			
	Normal	85.5	82.6	96.4	101.1			
	Normal	(81.6 to 89.4)	(79.4 to 85.9)	(94.3 to 98.4)	(98.8 to 103.3)			

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; **PnOLD** – Prematurity-associated nonobstructive lung disease, **PT**_c – Preterm control, **T**_c – Term control; **FE**_{NO} – fractional exhaled nitric oxide; **FEV**₁ – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; **FVC** – forced vital capacity; **LLN** – lower limit of normal; **BD** – bronchodilator; **TLC** – total lung capacity; **He** – helium dilution; **Pleth** – Plethysmography.

	Obstructive		Restrictive/Non-obstructive (RHiNO)			Normal			
	RHiNO	Johnson	Pellegrino	RHiNO	Johnson	Pellegrino	RHiNO	Johnson	Pellegrino
n=	37	31	44	16	4	4	98	116	103
FE _{NO} >35ppb	13/34 (38%)	10/29 (35%)	12/40 (29%)	1/16 (6%)	0/4 (0%)	0/4 (0%)	17/97 (18%)	24/114 (18%)	19/102 (19%)
FEV ₁	73.2 (70.0 to 76.4)	73.9 (69.3 to 78.5)	78.8 (74.4 to 83.1)	80.1 (77.7 to 82.5)	76.0 (66.5 to 85.5)	77.0 (64.6 to 89.4)	99.3 (97.4 to 101.1)	95.9 (93.8 to 98.0)	96.5 (94.3 to 98.8)
FVC	94.4 (91.8 to 97.0)	98.4 (94.8 to 101.9)	99.4 (96.0 to 102.8)	82.8 (80.4 to 85.1)	77.0 (74.8 to 79.3)	77.3 (74.2 to 80.3)	98.6 (96.8 to 100.4)	99.4 (97.3 to 101.5)	99.1 (96.9 to 101.2)
FEV ₁ /FVC	0.68 (0.65 to 0.70)	0.65 (0.63 to 0.68)	0.69 (0.66 to 0.72)	0.85 (0.83 to 0.87)	0.87 (0.79 to 0.96)	0.87 (0.79 to 0.95)	0.84 (0.83 to 0.85)	0.84 (0.83 to 0.85)	0.85 (0.84 to 0.86)
Increase %FEV ₁ post- exercise BD	15.8 (12.3 to 19.3)	17.0 (12.8 to 21.2)	14.4 (11.2 to 17.6)	4.2 (2.5 to 5.9)	2.8 (-3.1 to 8.6)	4.5 (1.5 to 7.5)	5.7 (4.8 to 6.5)	5.8 (5.7 to 6.6)	5.4 (4.6 to 6.2)
Post-exercise BD increase >10%	26/31 (84%)	22/25 (88%)	27/37 (73%)	1/16 (6%)	0/4 (0%)	0/4 (0%)	15/87 (17%)	20/105 (19%)	15/93 (16%)
%TLC _(He)	96.5 (91.8 to 101.3)	102.5 (98.4 to 106.5)	100.9 (97.7 to 104.1)	79.3 (75.6 to 83.1)	74.6 (58.2 to 91.0)	65.5 (65.0 to 79.5)	96.9 (94.8 to 99.0)	93.7 (91.6 to 95.8)	94.1 (92.1 to 96.1)

Table 5.12 Comparison of lung function data in between obstructive, restrictive and normal/controls when using RHiNO, Pellegrino, and Johnson methods of classifying lung disease in preterm children.

Abbreviations: POLD – Prematurity-associated obstructive lung disease; PnOLD – Prematurity-associated non-obstructive lung disease, PT_c – Preterm control, T_c – Term control; FE_{NO} – fractional exhaled nitric oxide; FEV₁ – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity; LLN – lower limit of normal; BD – bronchodilator; TLC – total lung capacity; He – helium dilution.

Table 5.12 shows direct comparisons in the numbers in each group as defined by RHiNO, Johnson, and Pellegrino, and a selection of their lung function results. There were small differences in the numbers seen in the obstructive groups, with fewest designated by Johnson (31), and largest by Pellegrino (43) with RHiNO classifying 37 as obstructive. Restrictive is where RHiNO has greater numbers, with 16 compared to 4 in the Pellegrino and Johnson. In the obstructive groups, Pellgrino has the lowest overall post-exercise bronchodilator response seen with total %predicted change of 14.4% and proportion with >10% repsonse of 72% compared to 15.8% and 17% increases and 84% and 88% response rate in RHiNO and Johnson methods of classifying obstruction. Conversely bronchodilator response was similarly low with all classifications, including RHiNO's description of restriction with only 1/16 responding >10% following post-exercise bronchodilators, with none in the Pellegrino or Johnson groups. However, 16-19% of normal preterm children had post-exercise bronchodilator response >10% predicted. This suggests that RHiNO's method of diagnosing restriction shows similar characteristics despite being a more liberal definition. Additionally, all methods of classification appeared to miss children with reversibility suggesting no method is entirely optimal for this purpose. Figures 5.3 and 5.4 represent comparisons between RHiNO and the Johnson and Pellegrino methods. In both cases, there were children who have reversibility who would be missed by those methods of disease classification. Conversely, there were children with reversibility missed by RHiNO classification also. The sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value and negative predictive values are in Table 5.13.

Table 5.13 Table showing the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value for the various methods for identifying obstructive lung disease, with the binary outcome of reversible (>10% absolute response in %predicted FEV_1) airways disease as the disease.

	RHiNO	Johnson	Pellegrino
Sensitivity	62%	52%	64%
Specificity	95%	97%	89%
Positive predictive value	84%	88%	73%
Negative predictive value	84%	82%	84%

Figure 5.3 Scatter plot of change in $%FEV_1$ post-exercise bronchodilator vs FEV_1 z-score, grouped by obstructive /non-obstructive/ restrictive status as classified by Johnson et al methods vs RHiNO methods



Figure 5.4 Scatter plot of change in $%FEV_1$ post-exercise bronchodilator vs FEV_1 z-score, grouped by obstructive /non-obstructive/ restrictive status as classified by Pellegrino et al methods vs RHiNO methods.



5.3.1.4 Receiver operating characteristic curves

5.3.1.4.1 Bronchodilator response

In order to identify bronchodilator responsiveness as defined by increase of %predicted FEV₁ following administration of 400 micrograms of salbutamol, a receiver operating characteristic curve was drawn, as shown in Figure 5.5. It included FEV₁ in %predicted and z-score and FEV₁/FVC ratio in both absolute number and z-score. Absolute FEV₁/FVC of 0.80 had the best sensitivity/specificity (see circle on Figure 5.5 and Table 5.14), showing a sensitivity of 0.844 and a specificity of 0.790. This was better than using a z-score or either FEV₁ parameters.


Figure 5.5 Receiver operating characteristic curves for %FEV1 and FEV1/FVC and their zscores to identify bronchodilator responsiveness in the preterm children.

Table 5.14 Receiver operating characteristic curve measures for preterm population using change in $FEV_1 \ge 10\%$ as outcome variable.

Increase in FEV ₁ ≥10% post-exercise bronchodilator	Valid N (listwise)				
Positive	45				
Negative	100				
Test	Area under the cur	ve			
%FEV1	0.808				
FEV ₁ z-score	0.810				
FEV ₁ /FVC	0.841				
FEV ₁ /FVC z-score	0.842				
Value	Sensitivity	1 - Specificity			
(FEV1/FVC):					
0.7970	0.844	0.210			
(FEV1/FVC z-score):					
-1.12	0.800	0.210			
Abbreviations: FEV ₁ – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity.					

Abbreviations: FEV₁ – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity.

5.3.1.4.2 Restrictive lung disease

True restrictive lung disease is defined by total lung capacity less than LLN on lung volume testing, although FVC has been used as a surrogate. Using TLC <LLN as a target, FVC was used as %predicted and z-score to see what cut-off might predict restrictive disease. Only 10 restrictive cases were present on testing, however %predicted FVC of 86% or z-score of -1.3 both had sensitivities of 0.8, with specificities of 0.908 and 0.916 respectively (Figure 5.6 and Table 5.15). This potentially suggests that a higher cut off could be used to screen for restrictive disease, however this is limited by small numbers.

Figure 5.6 Receiver operating characteristic curve for %FVC and its z-score to identify restrictive lung disease based on total lung capacity at lower limit of normal on body plethysmography testing.



Table 5.15 ROC curve measures for preterm population using LLN for TLC on body plethysmography as outcome variable.

TLC <lln< th=""><th>Valid N (listwise)</th><th></th></lln<>	Valid N (listwise)	
Positive	10	
Negative	131	
Test	Area under the cur	ve
%FVC	0.905	
FVC z-score	0.904	
Positive if Less Than or Equal To	Sensitivity	1 - Specificity
%FVC:		
0.86	.800	.092
FVC z-score:		
-1.2680	.800	.084

Abbreviations: FEV₁ – forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC – forced vital capacity.

5.3.2 Spirometry comparison

Baseline comparisons between MicroLoop and MasterScreen spirometry testing were performed for four parameters (FEV₁, FVC, FEV₁/FVC ratio and FEF_{25-75%}) for three result outcomes (raw value, %predicted, z-score).

5.3.2.1 Correlation

All results from both types of spirometry correlated strongly with each other, with Pearson's correlation coefficient >0.9 for all, as shown in Table 5.16. The strongest correlation for raw results was seen for FEV₁, followed by FVC, FEF_{25-75%}, then FEV₁/FVC (0.987, 0.976, 0.954 and 0.921 respectively). For all except for the ratio, the raw value showed the strongest correlation between the three result-types. For FEV₁/FVC, the %predicted was the strongest correlation (0.922). There was generally little difference between the %predicted and z-score correlations (0 for FEV₁, 0.002 for FVC and FEF_{25-75%}), however this was greater in the FEV₁/FVC with %predicted correlation 0.018 higher for %predicted, suggesting a less linear agreement between %predicted and z-score for this outcome, within this cohort.

	MicroLoop Mean	MasterScreen Mean	Correlation	Sig.
FEV ₁ raw (litres)	1.990	2.113	0.987	<0.0001
%FEV1	89.7	95.1	0.966	<0.0001
FEV ₁ z-score	-0.89	-0.41	0.966	<0.0001
FVC raw (litres)	2.395	2.586	0.976	<0.0001
%FVC	94.0	101.4	0.909	<0.0001
FVC z-score	-0.53	0.12	0.907	<0.0001
FEV ₁ /FVC raw	0.830	0.816	0.921	<0.0001
%FEV ₁ /FVC	94.8	93.2	0.922	<0.0001
FEV ₁ /FVC Z-score	-0.61	-0.82	0.904	<0.0001
FEF _{25-75%} raw	2.024	2.192	0.954	<0.0001
(L/sec)				
%FEF _{25-75%}	74.9	80.9	0.935	<0.0001
FEF _{25-75%} z-score	-1.24	-0.95	0.937	<0.0001

Table 5.16 Mean results for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV_1 , FVC and FEV_1/FVC from MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing, along with Pearson's correlation and its significance value between methods of testing.

5.3.2.2 Overall differences

FEV₁ raw values were 125 mls higher on average with MasterScreen (i.e., pneumotach) spirometry. This equated to a 5.5 %predicted or just under 0.5 z-score difference. FVC had a greater raw difference compared to FEV₁ with a difference of 12 mls in favour of the MasterScreen, equating to 7.5 %predicted and almost 2/3 of a z-score. There was little difference for FEV₁/FVC ratio with MicroLoop (i.e., turbine) giving a raw value of 0.014 (or 1.4%) higher than the MasterScreen. This equated to %predicted and z-score being 1.6% and 0.2 higher respectively for MicroLoop. This relates to the greater difference being seen in the denominator (i.e., the FVC). Raw values for FEF_{25-75%} were 0.17L/sec higher on MasterScreen testing compared to MicroLoop, equating to 6.1 and 0.29 of %predicted or z-score respectively. These data are shown on Bland-Altman plots in Figures 5.7 to 5.10 and in Table 5.17.

	Mean difference	LLOA	ULOA
FEV ₁ raw (litres)	0.125	-0.041	0.291
%FEV1	5.5	-1.8	12.7
FEV ₁ z-score	0.48	-0.14	1.10
FVC raw (litres)	0.192	-0.049	0.434
%FVC	7.5	-2.3	17.3
FVC z-score	0.65	-0.20	1.50
FEV ₁ /FVC raw	-0.014	-0.08	0.052
%FEV ₁ /FVC	-1.6	-9.1	5.9
FEV ₁ /FVC z-score	-0.20	-1.19	0.79
FEF _{25-75%} raw (L/sec)	0.170	-0.321	0.662
%FEF _{25-75%}	6.1	-12.0	24.1
FEF _{25-75%} z-score	0.29	-0.58	1.16

Table 5.17 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV_1 , FVC and FEV_1/FVC from MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, for whole population (n=220).

5.3.2.3 Lung Function Groups

When divided by lung function groups (preterm with FEV₁≤85%, preterm with FEV₁ >85% and term), there was significant difference seen on one-way ANOVA for all FEV₁ spirometry differences between PT_{Iow} and P_c groups, with lower difference seen in the PT_{Iow} group (0.098 vs 0.146, 4.5 vs 6.1, 0.38 vs 0.54 for raw, %predicted and z-score respectively), as shown in Table 5.18. For FVC, the mean differences for raw values, %predicted and z-score were all higher in the PT_{Iow} group compared to T_c group. Raw values and %predicted mean differences for FEV₁/FVC raw and %predicted values for PT_{Iow} compared to both control groups were higher, again with MicroLoop spirometry giving high FEV₁/FVC ratios (i.e., more negative values in the PT_{Iow} group). PT_{Iow} had lower mean differences for all three FEF_{25-75%} parameters compared to both control groups.

Table 5.18 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV₁, FVC and FEV₁/FVC from MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by lung function status (preterm with FEV₁ \leq 85%, PT_{low} - n=53, preterm controls, P_c - n=97, term controls, T_c - n=70).

		Mean	LLOA	ULOA
		difference		
FEV ₁ raw (litres)	PT _{low}	0.098 **	-0.07	0.266
	PTc	0.146	-0.029	0.321
	Tc	0.117	-0.022	0.256
%FEV1	PT _{low}	4.5 *	4.4	4.7
	PTc	6.1	6.0	6.3
	Tc	5.2	-2.9	13.3
FEV ₁ z-score	PT _{low}	0.38 **	-0.28	1.04
	PTc	0.54	-0.08	1.17
	Tc	0.47	-0.07	1.02
FVC raw (litres)	PT _{low}	0.218 †	-0.07	0.507
	PTc	0.199	-0.046	0.443
	T _c	0.164	-0.021	0.349
%FVC	PT _{low}	9.0 †	8.8	9.3
	PTc	7.3	7.1	7.5
	T _c	6.5	-7.2	20.3
FVC z-score	PT _{low}	0.80 ++	-0.42	2.01
	PTc	0.64	-0.10	1.37
	T _c	0.56	-0.03	1.16
FEV ₁ /FVC raw	PT _{low}	-0.030 *** ††	-0.111	0.051
	PTc	-0.009	-0.068	0.051
	Tc	-0.009	-0.064	0.046
%FEV1/FVC	PT _{low}	-3.4 ** ††	-3.5	-3.4
	PTc	-1.0	-1.0	-0.9
	T _c	-1.0	-10.2	8.2
FEV ₁ /FVC z-score	PT _{low}	-0.36	-1.38	0.67
	PTc	-0.15	-1.15	0.84
	T _c	-0.15	-1.07	0.77
FEF _{25-75%} raw	PT _{low}	0.044 *** ++	-0.278	0.365
(L/sec)	PTc	0.222	-0.311	0.754
	T _c	0.195	-0.284	0.675
%FEF _{25-75%}	PT _{low}	1.2 *** †††	0.7	1.7
	PTc	7.8	7.3	8.2
	T _c	7.4	-4.6	19.4
FEF _{25-75%} z-score	PT _{low}	0.06 *** ++	-0.63	0.75
	PTc	0.38	-0.53	1.29
	T _c	0.34	-0.48	1.17

5.3.2.4 Sex

There were no differences for any of the mean differences between males and females for any of the parameters, as seen in Table 5.19.

Table	5.19	Mean	difference	for ra	w, perce	nt pre	edicted	and	z-score	es of	<i>FEV</i> ₁ ,	FVC	and
FEV ₁ /	FVC fr	rom Mi	croLoop an	d Mast	erScreen	meth	ods of t	testin	g with	limit	s of ag	reem	ent,
group	ed by	sex (m	ale – n=10	9, fema	le – n=11	1).							

		Mean difference	LLOA	ULOA
FEV ₁ raw (litres)	Male	0.124	-0.044	0.293
	Female	0.126	-0.039	0.291
%FEV ₁	Male	5.3	-1.9	12.4
	Female	5.6	-1.7	13
FEV ₁ z-score	Male	0.48	-0.16	1.12
	Female	0.49	-0.12	1.09
FVC raw (litres)	Male	0.192	-0.056	0.44
	Female	0.193	-0.044	0.43
%FVC	Male	7.1	-1.8	16
	Female	7.9	-2.7	18.4
FVC z-score	Male	0.62	-0.15	1.4
	Female	0.68	-0.24	1.6
FEV ₁ /FVC raw	Male	-0.013	-0.073	0.048
	Female	-0.015	-0.087	0.056
%FEV1/FVC	Male	-1.5	-8.5	5.6
	Female	-1.7	-9.7	6.3
FEV ₁ /FVC z-score	Male	-0.19	-1.05	0.68
	Female	-0.22	-1.32	0.89
FEF _{25-75%} raw (L/sec)	Male	0.167	-0.324	0.658
	Female	0.174	-0.32	0.667
%FEF _{25-75%}	Male	6.2	-12.8	25.2
	Female	6.0	-11.2	23.2
FEF _{25-75%} z-score	Male	0.29	-0.63	1.21
	Female	0.29	-0.53	1.12

5.3.2.5 Age groups

Children were split into age groups of 2 years. There were fairly even numbers of children who were 9 to 10 as there were 11 to 12 years, however there were only 20 in the youngest age group (7 to 8 years). The only difference seen was a higher difference between spirometry techniques in raw FEV₁ in the 11 to 12 compared to 9 to 10 years (0.144 vs 0.109 litres). This did not equate to a difference in %predicted or z-score. Table 5.20 summarises these results.

Table 5.20 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV_1 , FVC and FEV_1/FVC from MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by age (7 to 8 years – n=20, 9 to 10 years – n=97, 11 to 12 years – n=103).

		Mean	LLOA	ULOA
FEV₁ raw (litres)	7 to 8 years	0.105	-0.019	0.228
	9 to 10 years	0.109 ‡	-0.044	0.263
	11 to 12 years	0.144	-0.034	0.322
%FEV1	7 to 8 years	6.1	5.9	6.3
	9 to 10 years	5.3	5.1	5.5
	11 to 12 years	5.5	-2.6	13.5
FEV ₁ z-score	7 to 8 years	0.52	-0.10	1.14
	9 to 10 years	0.47	-0.19	1.13
	11 to 12 years	0.49	-0.10	1.08
FVC raw (litres)	7 to 8 years	0.160	-0.119	0.439
	9 to 10 years	0.176	-0.057	0.408
	11 to 12 years	0.215	-0.023	0.452
%FVC	7 to 8 years	8.4	8.2	8.6
	9 to 10 years	7.5	7.2	7.7
	11 to 12 years	7.3	-9.3	23.8
FVC z-score	7 to 8 years	0.73	-0.74	2.20
	9 to 10 years	0.65	-0.21	1.51
	11 to 12 years	0.63	-0.04	1.31
FEV ₁ /FVC raw	7 to 8 years	-0.014	-0.096	0.069
	9 to 10 years	-0.015	-0.084	0.053
	11 to 12 years	-0.013	-0.074	0.048
%FEV ₁ /FVC	7 to 8 years	-1.5	-1.6	-1.5
	9 to 10 years	-1.7	-1.8	-1.7
	11 to 12 years	-1.5	-10.6	7.7
FEV ₁ /FVC z-score	7 to 8 years	-0.16	-1.21	0.90
	9 to 10 years	-0.22	-1.22	0.78
	11 to 12 years	-0.19	-1.17	0.78
FEF _{25-75%} raw (L/sec)	7 to 8 years	0.166	-0.281	0.613
	9 to 10 years	0.146	-0.307	0.598
	11 to 12 years	0.195	-0.338	0.727
%FEF _{25-75%}	7 to 8 years	7.4	6.9	7.8
	9 to 10 years	5.7	5.2	6.2
	11 to 12 years	6.2	-13.2	25.6
FEF _{25-75%} z-score	7 to 8 years	0.36	-0.67	1.39
	9 to 10 years	0.27	-0.61	1.14
	11 to 12 years	0.30	-0.54	1.14

5.3.2.6 Height

Children were divided into two height groups (120 to <150 cm and 150 to <180 cm). Mean difference in raw values for FEV_1 and FVC were lower for the shorter children (0.108 vs 0.156 litres for FEV_1 ; 0.174 vs 0.226 litres for FVC). This did not equate to a systematic difference in %predicted or z-score, as per Table 5.21.

Table 5.21 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV₁, FVC and FEV₁/FVC from MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by height (120 to <150 cm - n=143, 150 to <180 cm - n=77).

		Mean difference	LLOA	ULOA
FEV ₁ raw (litres)	120 to <150 cm	0.108 ***	-0.045	0.262
	150 to <180 cm	0.156	-0.017	0.329
%FEV1	120 to <150 cm	5.3	-2.3	13.0
	150 to <180 cm	5.7	-0.7	12.0
FEV ₁ z-score	120 to <150 cm	0.47	-0.18	1.12
	150 to <180 cm	0.50	-0.05	1.06
FVC raw (litres)	120 to <150 cm	0.174 **	-0.059	0.407
	150 to <180 cm	0.226	-0.018	0.471
%FVC	120 to <150 cm	7.6	-3.1	18.3
	150 to <180 cm	7.2	-0.7	15.1
FVC z-score	120 to <150 cm	0.66	-0.28	1.6
	150 to <180 cm	0.63	-0.04	1.31
FEV ₁ /FVC raw	120 to <150 cm	-0.015	-0.085	0.055
	150 to <180 cm	-0.012	-0.071	0.047
%FEV ₁ /FVC	120 to <150 cm	-1.7	-9.7	6.2
	150 to <180 cm	-1.4	-8.1	5.3
FEV ₁ /FVC z-score	120 to <150 cm	-0.20	-1.19	0.78
	150 to <180 cm	-0.20	-1.2	0.8
FEF _{25-75%} raw	120 to <150 cm	0.150	-0.322	0.622
(L/sec)	150 to <180 cm	0.208	-0.311	0.728
%FEF _{25-75%}	120 to <150 cm	5.9	-13.1	24.9
	150 to <180 cm	6.4	-9.9	22.8
FEF _{25-75%} z-score	120 to <150 cm	0.28	-0.64	1.19
	150 to <180 cm	0.32	-0.47	1.1

5.3.2.7 Preterm status

When grouped by preterm or term status, most parameters showed no difference, except raw, %predicted and z-score FVC were lower in term compared to preterm children (0.164 vs 0.206 litres, 6.5 vs 7.9 %, 0.56 vs 0.69 for raw values, %predicted and z-score respectively). Table 5.22 displays these results.

Table 5.22 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV₁, FVC and FEV₁/FVC from MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by preterm or term status (Term - n=70, Preterm - n=150).

		Mean difference	LLOA	ULOA
FEV ₁ raw (litres)	Term	0.117	-0.022	0.256
	Preterm	0.129	-0.049	0.306
%FEV1	Term	5.2	-1.1	11.5
	Preterm	5.6	-2.1	13.2
FEV ₁ z-score	Term	0.47	-0.07	1.02
	Preterm	0.49	-0.17	1.14
FVC raw (litres)	Term	0.164 **	-0.021	0.349
	Preterm	0.206	-0.055	0.466
%FVC	Term	6.5 *	-0.3	13.4
	Preterm	7.9	-2.9	18.7
FVC z-score	Term	0.56*	-0.03	1.16
	Preterm	0.69	-0.25	1.63
FEV ₁ /FVC raw	Term	-0.009	-0.064	0.046
	Preterm	-0.016	-0.087	0.054
%FEV ₁ /FVC	Term	-1.0	-7.3	5.2
	Preterm	-1.8	-9.9	6.2
FEV ₁ /FVC z-score	Term	-0.15	-1.07	0.77
	Preterm	-0.23	-1.25	0.8
FEF _{25-75%} raw (L/sec)	Term	0.195	-0.284	0.675
	Preterm	0.159	-0.338	0.656
%FEF _{25-75%}	Term	7.4	-11.2	26.1
	Preterm	5.4	-12.3	23.2
FEF _{25-75%} z-score	Term	0.34	-0.48	1.17
	Preterm	0.27	-0.63	1.16

5.3.2.8 Preterm groups

Preterm children were divided into whether they were extremely preterm, very preterm, or moderate to late preterm. However, between these groups the differences between the methods of spirometry were similar for all parameters., as shown in Table 5.23.

Table 5.23 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV₁, FVC and FEV₁/FVC from MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agreement, grouped by gestation band (moderately to late preterm -n=75, very preterm -n=48, extremely preterm -n=27).

		Mean	LLOA	ULOA
		difference		
FEV ₁ raw (litres)	Mod to late preterm	0.131	-0.063	0.324
	Very preterm	0.129	-0.023	0.281
	Extremely preterm	0.124	-0.057	0.305
%FEV ₁	Mod to late preterm	5.6	5.4	5.7
	Very preterm	5.4	5.2	5.5
	Extremely preterm	5.9	-1.9	13.7
FEV ₁ z-score	Mod to late preterm	0.49	-0.20	1.19
	Very preterm	0.47	-0.08	1.03
	Extremely preterm	0.50	-0.22	1.22
FVC raw (litres)	Mod to late preterm	0.202	-0.042	0.446
	Very preterm	0.212	-0.076	0.5
	Extremely preterm	0.204	-0.059	0.468
%FVC	Mod to late preterm	7.5	7.2	7.8
	Very preterm	7.9	7.6	8.1
	Extremely preterm	9.0	0.2	17.8
FVC z-score	Mod to late preterm	0.66	-0.09	1.41
	Very preterm	0.70	-0.27	1.66
	Extremely preterm	0.79	-0.52	2.10
FEV ₁ /FVC raw	Mod to late preterm	-0.015	-0.079	0.048
	Very preterm	-0.016	-0.093	0.062
	Extremely preterm	-0.020	-0.098	0.058
%FEV ₁ /FVC	Mod to late preterm	-1.7	-1.8	-1.7
	Very preterm	-1.8	-1.8	-1.7
	Extremely preterm	-2.3	-9.5	5.0
FEV ₁ /FVC z-score	Mod to late preterm	-0.26	-1.36	0.84
	Very preterm	-0.18	-1.14	0.79
	Extremely preterm	-0.22	-1.13	0.68
FEF _{25-75%} raw (L/sec)	Mod to late preterm	0.194	-0.306	0.693
	Very preterm	0.106	-0.402	0.615
	Extremely preterm	0.156	-0.294	0.606
%FEF _{25-75%}	Mod to late preterm	6.7	6.2	7.2
	Very preterm	3.6	3.1	4.0
	Extremely preterm	5.4	-12.1	22.9
FEF _{25-75%} z-score	Mod to late preterm	0.32	-0.52	1.16
	Very preterm	0.17	-0.75	1.09
	Extremely preterm	0.28	-0.69	1.25

5.3.2.9 CLD

No differences were seen between preterm children with or without a CLD diagnosis, in the mean differences between MicroLoop and MasterScreen spirometry, as per Table 5.24.

Table 5.24 Mean difference for raw, percent predicted and z-scores of FEV ₁ , FV	C and
FEV1/FVC from MicroLoop and MasterScreen methods of testing with limits of agree	ment,
grouped by CLD status (no CLD – n=112, CLD – n=38).	

		Mean difference	LLOA	ULOA
FEV ₁ raw (litres)	No CLD	0.128	-0.06	0.317
	CLD	0.130	-0.014	0.274
%FEV1	No CLD	5.4	-2.4	13.2
	CLD	6.1	-1.2	13.3
FEV ₁ z-score	No CLD	0.48	-0.2	1.16
	CLD	0.52	-0.06	1.09
FVC raw (litres)	No CLD	0.204	-0.063	0.47
	CLD	0.212	-0.035	0.459
%FVC	No CLD	7.5	-2.3	17.3
	CLD	9.1	-4.1	22.3
FVC z-score	No CLD	0.66	-0.18	1.5
	CLD	0.80	-0.37	1.97
FEV ₁ /FVC raw	No CLD	-0.016	-0.087	0.056
	CLD	-0.019	-0.088	0.051
%FEV1/FVC	No CLD	-1.8	-9.9	6.3
	CLD	-2.1	-9.9	5.7
FEV ₁ /FVC z-score	No CLD	-0.23	-1.32	0.87
	CLD	-0.22	-1	0.57
FEF _{25-75%} raw	No CLD	0.163	-0.363	0.689
(L/sec)	CLD	0.146	-0.258	0.549
%FEF _{25-75%}	No CLD	5.6	-13	24.2
	CLD	4.9	-10.2	20
FEF _{25-75%} z-score	No CLD	0.27	-0.63	1.18
	CLD	0.25	-0.61	1.12

Figure 5.7 Bland-Altman plots comparing MicroLoop and MasterScreen spirometers for FEV₁ for a) raw value, b)%predicted, and c) z-score, including mean bias (solid line) and limits of agreement (dashed line), divided by lung function group (preterm with low lung function: PT_{low} , preterm controls: PT_c and term controls: T_c).



Figure 5.8 Bland-Altman plots comparing MicroLoop and MasterScreen spirometers for FVC for a) raw value, b)%predicted, and c) z-score, including mean bias (solid line) and limits of agreement (dashed line), divided by lung function group (preterm with low lung function: PT_{low}, preterm controls: PT_c and term controls: T_c).











5.4 Discussion

In this chapter I have been able to show that there are different methods in published literature for classifying obstructive and restrictive lung disease. These methods, such as those described by Pellegrino et al from the ATS/ERS task force for standardisation of spirometry (Pellegrino et al., 2005) and Johnson et al (Johnson and Theurer, 2014), use spirometry as the basis for classifying lung disease with further interpretation and classification using other tests including lung volumes in the case of Pellegrino. These methods for classification of obstructive and restrictive lung disease are based primarily around the (F)VC and $FEV_1/(F)VC$ ratio obtained from spirometry, with FEV_1 used primarily for disease severity classification. These two distinct approaches; however, may not be applicable to all populations. Obstructive lung disease classification in a preterm population is not something that has been widely examined before, with an emphasis on identifying neonatal characteristics (e.g. birth weight, IUGR, gestation, CLD) and comparing long-term outcomes within these populations with either preterm and/or term controls (Lista et al., 2014, Korhonen et al., 2004, Kotecha et al., 2010, Fawke et al., 2010, Landry et al., 2011). Conversely, in recruiting for the RHiNO study, I had a cohort of children who were defined by their respiratory outcome following preterm birth, in this case defined by FEV₁ ≤85% and was able to use this group to examine their perinatal and phenotypic characteristics. Additionally, I was able to explore alternative methods of designating obstructive lung disease with a focus on a particular outcome. In this case, my characteristic of interest was bronchodilator reversibility, on the basis this is an outcome that may be of most importance to identify, i.e., something that is potentially modifiable with treatment.

In the first instance I divided the low lung function group (PT_{low} , $FEV_1 \le 85\%$) into prematurity-associated obstructive (POLD) and non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease based on FEV_1/FVC ratio cut off of 0.8. The striking thing about this was the high degree of bronchodilator reversibility seen within this group (15.8% change, 84% of the group with reversibility >10% absolute predicted value). This contrasted with the low rates seen in the PnOLD group (4.2% mean change, 6% with significant reversibility). This was slightly lower than that seen in either control group.

5.4.1 Use of lung volumes

I was interested in whether lung volumes could be implemented into a further classification within this group of PT_{low} participants, in order to identify true restrictive lung disease. As such, using total lung capacity (TLC) at the lower limit of normal (LLN), applied to the original obstructive/non-obstructive groups, I was able to divide the PT_{low} group into four distinct groups: obstructive disease (low ratio, normal TLC), mixed disease (low ratio, low TLC), restrictive disease (normal ratio, low TLC), and non-obstructive disease (normal ratio, normal TLC). There were small differences when using the TLC obtained from helium dilution as opposed to body plethysmography. There was a small difference in absolute numbers of 47 vs 49 (out of the total 53 within PT_{low} group) respectively due to unsuccessful tests. Using helium dilution identified more children who were classed as having low TLC (2 within mixed disease group and 9 within the restrictive group), compared to only 6 within the restrictive group using plethysmography. Conversely, plethysmography identified 34 children with obstructive disease compared to 29 with helium testing plus the 2 with mixed disease. It seems that plethysmography is more likely to identify those with obstructive disease which may appear to be restrictive in origin using helium testing (Dahlqvist and Hedenstierna, 1985), as air trapping would result in regions of ventilation heterogeneity where helium gas would not reach, falsely lowering functional residual capacity (FRC) and TLC. This would suggest that some of those within the restrictive group identified on helium testing would potentially have an obstructive lung disease, however the lack of bronchodilator response seen within this group suggests that any lung obstruction identified would be fixed airway disease. This suggests that while plethysmography may be a better method of truly distinguishing restrictive vs obstructive disease, that helium dilution testing may have better specificity for identifying reversible obstructive disease.

5.4.2 Comparisons with other methodology

5.4.2.1 Johnson's et al

I applied other methods of classifying obstructive/restrictive/mixed lung disease using the methods suggested by Johnson et al and Pellegrino et al to explore the differences with the classification I used. Johnson's criteria for lung disease uses a combination of FEV₁/FVC ratio (cut-off 85% predicted rather than absolute value) followed by FVC (with cut-off 80% predicted), with FEV₁ used for determining severity of disease. This contrasts with the method used by myself of FEV₁ as the starting point for identifying lung disease.

As such, of the children I had defined as obstructive lung disease based on FEV₁ and FEV₁/FVC ratio that Johnson's methodology redefined as normal, 56% of these children had significant reversibility. This means that while their absolute FEV₁/FVC ratio was less than 0.8, their %predicted ratio was actually >85%, potentially suggesting that either the 85% predicted cut-off is too high to identify these children, or using an absolute figure for this ratio is a reasonable approach for identifying reversible lung disease in this population. Combining these methods resulted in agreement for 22 children as obstructive by both definitions, with 96% of these children having reversibility.

Conversely, Johnson's method would classify 10 children (27%) from the POLD and 12 (75%) from the restrictive groups as normal, while calling 4 (4%) from the PT_c and 2 (3%) from the T_c group as actually having restrictive lung disease. Looking at the characteristics of these groups, the children that Johnson classify as obstructive disease that come from the control groups had particularly high %FVC (113% from the PT_c and 116 from the T_c) relative to their FEV₁ (94.8% vs 93.5%). This results in a high FEV₁/FVC ratio. One explanation for this may be that these children have dysanapsis (i.e., lung volume out of proportion with airway size). However, these children did have a greater degree of reversibility (8% and 13.5% from preterm and terms respectively) compared to those remaining in the controls (5.6% and 6.1% respectively), albeit from a small sample size. This suggests that actually there is a degree of reversible lung obstruction, despite normal appearing lungs based on FEV₁ and FVC predicted values alone. This suggests the need to put more weight on the FEV₁/FVC ratio to identify potential reversibility.

5.4.2.2 Using Pellegrino et al methodology

When using Pellegrino's methodology for identifying obstructive/restrictive lung disease (based on LLN for initially FEV_1/VC and then VC, with subsequent addition of

TLC at LLN), a similar pattern was identified with children from my obstructive/restrictive groups re-classified as normal, and several controls redefined as obstructive disease. Pellegrino's method is interesting as obstructive lung disease is defined in several ways: 1) normal FEV₁/VC ratio, low VC, normal TLC; 2) low FEV₁/VC ratio, normal VC; and 3) low FEV₁/VC ratio, low VC, normal TLC. I ran this comparison having used both helium dilution and plethysmography methods to define the Pellegrino groups. As per tables 5.8 and 5.10 in the Results (section 5.3.1.3.), there were few differences in the numbers between the groups. As per the earlier discussion regarding helium dilution potentially mis-diagnosing restrictive lung disease my discussion below focuses on the data obtained from the plethysmography methodology.

Of the 31 children that both Pellegrino and RHiNO define as obstructive disease (out of a total of 37 from the POLD group), 84% show bronchodilator reversibility >10% with a mean increase in FEV₁ of 16.9%. However, the children I defined as obstructive disease, but were defined as normal by Pellegrino, still had a mean reversibility of 11.5% with 83% of them having significant reversibility. This suggests that using Pellegrino methodology has its flaws in identifying the group of interest, i.e., those with bronchodilator reversibility.

A greater number of preterm controls (12; 12%) and term controls (4; 6%), as designated by RHiNO classification, were defined as obstructive disease by Pellegrino's method when using plethysmography, compared to when classifying by Johnson's criteria (4 PT_c, 2 T_c). Similar to Johnson's methodology, the children who were redefined as obstructive by Pellegrino from the RHiNO control groups did have greater mean response to post-exercise bronchodilators (10.2% vs 5% in preterm and 10.8% vs 6% for term in the Pellegrino obstructive vs normal respectively) and proportion with response >10% absolute predicted value (55% vs 12% in preterm and 25% vs 16% in term for obstructive vs normal).

5.4.3 Comparison of all 3 methods

Overall, it could be argued that there are benefits from the various methods of defining types of lung disease. Ultimately the area of interest is several-fold – recognising who has lung function deficits earlier in life to potentially be aware if later lung disease, finding those who are functionally affected, and identifying those who may respond to therapies. In this instance, my interest was within those who may have modifiable lung disease, with a simple, pragmatic approach that could be easily utilised in an outpatient clinic setting.

I found there was a variation in the numbers defined as having obstructive lung disease between different methodology, with the greatest number of children with obstructive disease being identified by Pellegrino, and fewest by Johnson. Conversely, Pellegrino had the lowest percentage for post-exercise bronchodilator response within the obstructive group, with Johnson having the highest. However, Pellegrino detected more children who had a post-exercise bronchodilator response than either other method suggesting potentially a better sensitivity but lower specificity for this. Additionally, this would require lung volume testing which as discussed is difficult in clinical paediatric practice. Conversely Johnson's method of delineating obstructive/restrictive disease potentially misses more preterm children with reversible disease by up to a third, albeit in this small cohort.

Identifying true restrictive disease is difficult without lung volume testing, and so using a cut off of 85% predicted FEV₁ along with a normal FEV₁/FVC ratio overestimates those children with true restrictive disease. However, the children that I identified in the non-obstructive preterm lung disease group do appear potentially different to those children who I defined as normal, with lower rates of FE_{NO}, lower %FVC, lower post-exercise bronchodilator response rates/post-exercise bronchodilator change scores, which appear more similar to those with true restrictive disease. It suggests that these children may still have a degree of fixed structural deficit somewhere on a spectrum from normal lungs to restrictive disease.

However, the downside of using this method is that it requires the use of lung volume testing which in a clinical setting is often difficult to obtain, compared to just using spirometry which is more widely available, including in primary care.

5.4.4 Use of %predicted vs absolute vs z-score values

A potentially controversial aspect of how these children were divided would be viewed as the use of percent predicted values (for FEV_1) and raw value (for FEV_1/FVC) compared to z-scores. There has a been a drive, correctly, to the use of z-scores, which has largely been alongside the switch to the use of GLI reference values within spirometry and championed by the experts behind this. While %predicted within GLI for spirometry account for age/sex/height/ethnicity, they do not account for the difference in distribution within these. As a result, the %predicted for a given value may not correlate with the z-score across a population. Additionally, despite FEV₁/FVC changing across childhood, likely related to separation between overall and lung growth, However, while z-scores are now widely used in research, their translation to clinical practice has been slower, and this is important. If the clinicians are not using and interpreting the z-scores, then familiarity is not present making it harder to implement ideas and practices. There is also no evidence that a particular z-score is of any definitive meaning within a given population. For instance, in this cohort, identifying those with reversible lung obstruction was my aim, and as such the ROC performed to find a potential cut off within FEV₁ and FEV₁/FVC ratio for identifying a bronchodilator response, which resulted in finding an FEV₁/FVC absolute ratio of 0.8 as having the best combined sensitivity and sensitivity. This result equated to a random z-score rather than any limits of normal. As such it would likely be easily implemented in practice, although with awareness that it could only apply to this age group and disease.

The method of defining obstructive lung disease has similar or better sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values compared to when using the Johnson or Pellegrino methods.

5.4.5 MicroLoop comparisons

I have shown that systematic bias is seen in the readings obtained when comparing spirometers with a turbine flow-meter and a pneumotachograph. Over 5% predicted

systematic difference was seen for FEV₁, FVC and FEV₁/FVC ratios, which for FEV₁ equates to almost half a standard deviation (z-)score, and larger for FVC. This explains some of the attrition rate seen during recruitment for children whose spirometry ended up being too good for inclusion into the RCT part of the RHiNO study, and hence limiting numbers to study defined as low lung function.

The MicroLoop spirometer was used at the screening visit and then performed again at the in-depth lung function visit, prior to definitive spirometry. Although the order of testing (turbine and then pneumotachograph) was the same for all, as the participants had already performed acceptable spirometry, this systematic difference was unlikely to be due to having had greater amount of practice at the time of performing pneumotachograph spirometry. Instead, what is more likely is the turbine is less likely to be able to detect low flow rates (Caras et al., 1999). This fits with the FVC being greatest affected; the low flow at the end of expiration may not have been fast enough to move the turbine, hence an earlier cut off made for final FVC. This also fits with some of the group comparisons, with greater differences seen sometimes between groups that may have greater differences in spirometry, for instance the lung function groupings, by age or by height.

What is important to note, is due to the change in FEV_1 and FVC, there was little change in the overall FEV_1/FVC ratio, important as a function for defining obstructive disease.

These findings are important for clinicians and researchers to be aware of, since misdiagnosis could occur if lung function is below a certain threshold using a particular type of spirometer, when the threshold may not be met on another. Additionally, if monitoring a person over a time period, the same equipment should be used, otherwise the results are not comparable (Milanzi et al., 2019).

5.4.6 Strengths and limitations

The main strength of this study is the identification of a pragmatic, straightforward way to potentially identify children with reversible airways disease, using simple

256

spirometry parameters, which are comparable to other established methods for diagnosing types of lung disease.

At the same time, I have clearly demonstrated caution must be used when interpreting spirometry results, with respect to the type of spirometer used, and the potential effect this may have on the results.

A limitation of this study is that the use of the established thresholds discussed in this chapter are only currently applicable to this population, i.e., age and disease process. This would have to be validated in other cohorts of a similar age. It is likely these results would not be directly applicable to older populations, as there would be a different relationship between the %predicted results and z-scores that would make these thresholds invalid. However, I have demonstrated that use of lower limit of normal may not always be applicable to a particular disease process.

5.5 Conclusions

Children with preterm lung disease as defined by FEV₁ ≤85% can be further stratified into the presence of obstructive or non-obstructive lung disease. This can be done using a simple cut-off of FEV₁/FVC <0.80, which ROC analysis has shown to have the best combined sensitivity and specificity for identifying reversible airway obstruction. While the non-obstructive group would need further investigation (i.e., lung volume testing) to identify true restrictive disease, those identified as having obstructive lung disease can be strongly presumed to have reversible airways disease. This could be formally tested with a reversibility test using bronchodilator therapy, and potentially treatment indicated, although the best therapy is yet to be determined.

6 OVERALL DISCUSSION

6.1 Overview

My thesis has explored aspects of long-term respiratory consequences in pretermborn children. I have used well-established approaches (spirometry, lung volume, cardiopulmonary exercise testing) and newer approaches (oscillometry, including novel use of intra-breath oscillometry to track airway mechanics through the breathing cycle, which has yet to be reported in this population). I have also used an alternative approach in how to evaluate lung dysfunction in the form of obstructive and non-obstructive phenotypes of disease. I have also explored methodological considerations, including potential systematic biases within the use of different types of spirometers, as well how to define obstructive lung disease in this cohort of preterm-born children.

Below I have recapped my key findings, as well as summarising my conclusions from across the chapters.

6.2 Key findings

6.2.1 Population characteristics

- Children born preterm with low lung function (%FEV₁ ≤85%; PT_{low}) were born at earlier gestations and lower birth weights compared to preterm controls (PT_c), potentially suggesting risk factors for lung disease;
- Higher rates of intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) and Caesarean-section delivery were seen in both preterm groups compared to term controls (T_c);
- PT_{Iow} had higher rates of chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD), one or more of combination of retinopathy of prematurity (ROP)/intraventricular haemorrhage (IVH)/necrotising enterocolitis (NEC), and persistent ductus arteriosus (PDA) compared to P_c, suggesting a more severe perinatal course;
- There were no differences for gestational age or birth weight between preterm children with obstructive (POLD) or non-obstructive (PnOLD) lung disease;
- POLD had higher rates of invasive ventilation compared to PnOLD children, suggesting more severe perinatal respiratory morbidity (i.e., respiratory distress syndrome).

6.2.2 Spirometry, lung volume and exercise testing

6.2.2.1 Spirometry

- PT_{low} had lower %FEV₁, %FVC and FEV₁/FVC compared to PT_c children, a result of group stratification;
- PnOLD had lower FVC than POLD, potentially in line with low FVC acting as a surrogate for restrictive lung disease;
- POLD had lower FEV₁/FVC compared to PnOLD, consistent with the group designation of obstructive disease;
- PT_{low}, PT_c and T_c all had similar response to exercise, with a small but significant decrease in %FEV₁ and FVC, with PT_{low} having a larger decrease in %FVC compared to PT_c, possibly a result of increased air trapping in PT_{low};
- Similar response to exercise was seen in POLD and PnOLD;
- All groups had a significant increase in %FEV₁, %FVC and FEV₁/FVC post-exercise bronchodilator;

- PT_{low} had a significantly greater post-exercise bronchodilator response, and a significantly greater proportion with substantial bronchodilator response compared to both controls, consistent with reversible airways disease;
- POLD had a significantly greater degree of reversibility with the majority having significant increase in %FEV₁, while PnOLD had minimal reversibility, suggesting these group designations were appropriate for distinguishing reversible airways disease.

6.2.2.2 Lung volume testing

- PT_{low} had lower total lung capacity (TLC) and higher residual volume (RV), with higher RV/TLC compared to both control groups on body plethysmography testing;
- PnOLD had lower functional residual capacity (FRC), TLC and RV than POLD with a significantly greater proportion having TLC < lower limit of normal (LLN), consistent with true restrictive disease, while POLD had the highest RV/TLC in line with hyperinflation.

6.2.2.3 Exercise testing

- PT_{low} had impaired minute ventilation compared to controls, using a greater extent of their ventilatory reserve;
- Both preterm groups reached lower relative (for weight) workloads and peak oxygen uptakes;
- Suggests functional impairment present in preterm, particularly PT_{low} children;
- Little difference seen between POLD and PnOLD during exercise suggesting impaired lung function rather than underlying mechanism/pathology of impairment more important.

6.2.3 Oscillometry

 PT_{low} had higher airway resistance than controls, particularly at lower frequencies, consistent with small airway disease;

- PT_{low} had worse airway reactance, particularly at the lower frequencies, along with reduced compliance;
- Exercise had negligible effect on airway mechanics in preterm children;
- Bronchodilator significantly improved resistance, particularly in PT_{low}, suggesting increased airway calibre after treatment;
- Improved reactance and compliance greatest in PT_{Iow}, likely due to improved muscle tone, following bronchodilator;
- Similar trends at baseline observed in POLD compared to PnOLD, with greatest effect seen in the negative reactance parameters, i.e., related to impaired compliance;
- Greatest improvements following reversibility found in POLD, particularly at lower frequencies/distal airways, consistent with improvement in smooth muscle tone in this region of the lung.

6.2.4 Intra-breath oscillometry

- Intra-breath oscillometry at single frequency (10 Hz) showed good agreement with isolated 10 Hz impedance from standard spectral oscillometry;
- PT_{low} have impaired resistance and reactance parameters throughout the respiratory cycle compared to both controls, with the greater impedances seen in expiration compared to inspiration for all groups;
- Few differences were seen between the groups for the difference in impedance between inspiration and expiration,
- Greater improvements were seen in PT_{low} throughout the respiratory cycle for resistance and reactance in both inspiration and expiration compared to controls following bronchodilator therapy;
- Area within the reactance-flow loop was greatest for PT_{low} children, which may represent greater dynamic changes during respiration relating to changing compliance affecting flow in these children;
- No baseline differences in resistance were seen in expiration between POLD and PnOLD;

- Due to a slight increase in expiratory resistances in POLD, and a slight decrease in PnOLD, a significant difference was seen for some expiratory resistance parameters between POLD and PnOLD at post-exercise timepoint, which may be a sign of subtle airway obstruction as a result of exercise;
- o POLD and PnOLD showed similar inspiration-expiration differences in resistance;
- POLD had worse baseline reactances in both inspiration and expiration compared to PnOLD;
- The reactance gap at various points of the respiratory cycle between inspiration and expiration was greater in POLD compared to PnOLD, including at zero-flow state, which may represent an effect of elasticity having lesser effect on airway mechanics during inspiratory flow than expiratory flow.

6.2.5 Review of obstructive lung disease

- Cut offs from receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curves for identifying postexercise bronchodilator response of >10% predicted FEV₁ showed similar area under the curves for z-score vs %FEV₁, and z-score vs absolute FEV₁/FVC;
- Highest combined sensitivity and specificity on ROC for post-exercise bronchodilator response was for an FEV₁/FVC absolute ratio of 0.80, which had a comparative z-score of -1.1;
- O Use of FEV₁ ≤85% predicted and FEV₁/FVC of ≤0.80 showed similar or better sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value compared to two alternative methods for defining obstructive lung disease for identifying post-exercise bronchodilator responsiveness.

6.2.6 Spirometer comparison

- There was strong correlation between spirometry performed on turbine and pneumotachograph spirometers;
- There were systematic differences between methods of spirometry, with pneumotachograph spirometer giving higher FEV₁, FVC and FEF_{25-75%}, and lower FEV₁/FVC compared to turbine spirometry;

 This systematic difference was affected by lung function grouping and preterm status, and height with lower lung function and smaller height giving smaller differences in some parameters.

6.3 Discussion

6.3.1 Spirometer comparison

I shall address my final chapter first in this discussion, as the outcomes from this work determines the population, findings, and conclusion from the other chapters.

The primary aim of the Respiratory Health outcomes in Neonates (RHiNO) study was to address the clinical question of whether inhalers used in asthmatics (i.e., inhaled corticosteroid with or without long-acting beta-2 agonists) improved spirometry in children with low lung function (%FEV₁ \leq 85%). The children were screened during a home visit performed by two trained research nurses, and those who met the above inclusion criteria using a turbine spirometer, along with the other inclusions as listed in my earlier chapters, were invited to attend for in-depth lung function testing, along with preterm and term controls. Definitive testing was performed using a pneumotachograph spirometer, after performing spirometry with the same turbine spirometry on the day if the in-depth lung function visit. The exploration of the comparison between methodology was inspired by the fact a number of children were ineligible for recruiting to the trial due to their higher FEV₁ at definitive testing. This raised a question early in the process of the RHiNO study as to whether there was systematic bias between types of spirometer in children.

Previous studies looking at community versus laboratory spirometry testing but using similar types of spirometer have not found systematic differences in results (Kirkby et al., 2008, Swart et al., 2003), while others have found that different types of spirometers may show systematic differences (Milanzi et al., 2019, Caras et al., 1999). This may be due to differences in how the different devices take their measurements, for instance a turbine may be less sensitive for detecting low flows (Caras et al., 1999). Alternatively there may be differences in resistance between devices, irrespective of whether they are the same type of flow meter (Lefebvre et al., 2014).

This can have several implications. For patients who are requiring longitudinal followup for either research or clinical purposes, inaccuracies may arise if performing spirometry using different equipment. A suggestion of using regression equations to correct for systematic differences has been suggested (Milanzi et al., 2019), although this would likely be very difficult in practice. Additionally, for patients being assessed in, for instance, a primary care where non-pneumotachograph hand-held spirometers may be dominant, there may be a higher chance of misdiagnosis of a respiratory disease based on spirometry, which would not be made on a pneumotachograph spirometer.

In the case of my cohort of children, the impact of this was an attrition rate of ~20% of those children with low lung function on screening.

6.3.2 Defining obstructive lung disease

The other major methodological consideration in my work is surrounding the use of my definition for obstructive lung disease. As I have outlined previously in Chapter 5, section 5.2.2., obstructive and/or restrictive lung disease are usually defined by cut-offs in FVC and FEV₁/FVC, previously at defined absolute or %predicted values (Johnson and Theurer, 2014), but with a drive towards the use of z-scores at the lower limit of normal (LLN)(Pellegrino et al., 2005). In the case of my thesis, a more pragmatic approach was taken, with the idea that it may be a practical approach to use in a health care setting. While familiarity with use of z-scores and LLN, as well as ability to translate this into an understandable explanation when discussing with patients is presumed not to be an issue (Stanojevic et al., 2013), this may not be the case (Curtis et al., 2016). Additionally it is possible that using pre-defined cut-offs not specifically related to the disease process may lack sensitivity or specificity for detecting a particular condition (Murray et al., 2017).

While obstructive lung disease in preterm children is well described (Broström et al., 2010, vom Hove et al., 2014, Doyle et al., 2019b), as far as I am aware, there has not been a specific focus on identifying obstructive lung disease in preterm-born children, and assessing specifically their clinical characteristics compared to peers without obstructive disease. Instead, the spotlight remains on perinatal outcomes such as CLD (Moschino et al., Prenzel et al., 2020) or extremes of prematurity (Lundberg et al., 2020).

266
As such, I used ROC curves to try and determine an optimal cut-off for FEV₁/FVC that would distinguish obstructive lung disease. The outcome measure within the ROC analysis was to identify a positive post-exercise bronchodilator response, consistent with reversible airway obstruction. The logic of this was to identify children who may have modifiable disease. The cut-off I used for post-exercise bronchodilator response was an absolute increase in %FEV₁ of 10%. While again there are published definitions of what constitutes a positive bronchodilator response, this lacks consistency across various respiratory societies (Guezguez et al., 2019), and may involve absolute or relative increases in raw or %predicted values, with or without minimal changes required in absolute values. In individuals with low baseline lung function, a small absolute change may result in a large relative change, while the converse of a larger absolute change in a higher baseline may have a lower relative change. This makes application and interpretation of bronchodilator response difficult. The widely used threshold of 12% change in raw FEV₁ from baseline is supported by the 95th percentile of bronchodilator response seen in healthy individuals (Tan et al., 2012), a large population but comprising of adults. This corresponds to a relative change of 10% of the baseline predicted value. While the same value is often used in children, studies have demonstrated that its use in diagnosing obstructive diseases such as asthma has limitation, with lower bronchodilator response thresholds having better sensitivity in detecting asthma (Tse et al., 2013).

In my studies I used a set cut-off of absolute increase of 10% predicted FEV₁ value from post-exercise to post-exercise bronchodilator. This could potentially underestimate a positive bronchodilator response in my group of interest (low lung function). For instance, a participant with a pre-bronchodilator %FEV₁ of 65%, to have a positive bronchodilator response would need to reach >75% predicted, a relative %FEV₁ change of ~15%. This would be compared to an individual with a prebronchodilator %FEV₁ of 95% who would need to reach >105% predicted, equivalent to a lower relative %predicted change of 10.5%. Additionally, what constitutes a positive response in numbers and what constitutes a clinical response may be separate (i.e., a smaller absolute increase in someone with low baseline lung function is likely to have a greater clinical response that a slightly larger increase in someone with higher baseline lung function). The choice was again a pragmatic cut-off that may be easily applied to a clinical setting.

Using these various thresholds, I was able to compare my definitions of obstructive and non-obstructive disease with those including from the European Respiratory Society (Pellegrino et al., 2005), and demonstrated, at the least, parity with these other methods of defining lung disease in terms of sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive value. While I have only been able to demonstrate these cut-offs' applicability in my population, it has allowed a specific assessment of obstructive lung disease in preterm-born children, not explored previously.

6.3.3 Lung function groups

Assessment of children as defined by their current respiratory status is a different approach to the standard follow-up of children born preterm. In this instance, I have demonstrated that along with the impaired spirometry, these children with low lung function have impairments in exercise capacity, differences in lung volumes with lower total lung capacity but higher residual volume consistent with air trapping as previously described (Cousins et al., 2018), as well as higher airway impedance. Additionally, I have explored the use of intra-breath impedance tracking through oscillometry and demonstrated that the airway impedance remains greater throughout the respiratory cycle in children with low lung function. Bronchodilator had a greater effect on the low lung function children, on spirometry, standard oscillometry and intra-breath oscillometry.

Exercise capacity is known to be impaired in children born preterm as demonstrated by a previous systematic review, with worse outcomes in those with than without CLD (Edwards et al., 2015b). While theoretically the use of exercise bike achieves lower peak oxygen consumptions, which is true in this study with the term children's \dot{VO}_2 of 38.1 mls/kg/min being lower than 15 of the 20 studies (predominantly treadmill) in the review, the preterm children in this study still had a greater difference of \dot{VO}_2 versus the term controls of 6.2mls/kg/min compared to an average of 2.2mls/kg/min in the review. This is most likely due to investigating children who had low lung function rather than those with CLD, especially as a significant proportion of CLD children had normal lung function.

The oscillometry findings are largely consistent with those found previously, with higher resistances and lower (more negative reactances). Oscillometry is now fairly widely used in preterm populations, including in infancy, with differences in impedance already seen compared to term infants prior to discharge from the neonatal period (Travers et al., 2021). These changes appear to track through childhood with differences seen in pre-school age (Manti et al., 2021) to adolescence (Thunqvist et al., 2016), although airway mechanics may be less affected in adulthood compared to spirometry (Um-Bergström et al., 2019). My findings are consistent with others particularly with regards to peripheral airway disease being a significant clinical feature in these children, as represented by resistance at low frequencies and frequency dependence of resistance (Thunqvist et al., 2018). Exercise outcomes for oscillometry were surprisingly unremarkable. While there was little exercise-induced bronchoconstriction seen in this study on spirometry compared to previous studies (Joshi et al., 2013), I was expecting that oscillometry may be more sensitive than spirometry for detecting these changes following exercise. While post-exercise bronchodilator oscillometry responses were potentially lower than the defined thresholds (Calogero et al., 2013) in the low lung function preterm group, significantly greater responses were seen compared to control groups, plus a trend towards normal in these children were seen.

Tracking impedance through the respiratory cycle is an advancement of standard oscillometry, offering insight into the changes seen at various points within inspiration, expiration and at zero-flow states, where impedance is no longer affected by potential effects of changes in flow. Its use has been limited to identifying risk of lower respiratory infections in infants (Gray et al., 2019), distinguishing airway obstruction in young children (Czövek et al., 2016), and assessing patients with COPD (Lorx et al., 2017). The most relevant of these with regards to the current study is that of the children with wheeze, where differences in impedance, particularly resistance, at zero-flow states at end-expiration and endinspiration was able to distinguish between those children with wheeze and healthy children (Czövek et al., 2016). Due to the predominance of potential obstructive disease in this preterm cohort, potentially this could be attributed to asthma. While it is possible some of these children do have true atopic/eosinophilic asthma, the majority are likely to have a different disease process. In the overall preterm low lung function group, there were no differences noted at the zero-flow states compared to controls. Instead, impedance was greater throughout both parts of the respiratory cycle, with little effect from exercise, and generalised improvements seen after post-exercise bronchodilator. This suggests a different clinical phenotype, and an underlying pathology, to children who have specifically wheeze/asthma symptomology.

6.3.4 Obstructive lung disease groups

Overall, it is difficult to summarise some of these differences seen between low lung function preterm-born children and their controls, knowing that this is not a homogenous group of individuals, and that they are likely better defined by their obstructive or non-obstructive disease state.

As previously discussed, distinguishing children by whether they have obstructive lung disease is a novel approach in the preterm population. However, I have demonstrated that children with obstructive lung disease, and those preterm children without, appear to have differing characteristics to each other and to controls.

Firstly, the POLD and PnOLD children can be distinguished by their lung volume testing. POLD children have significant air trapping, as would be expected in the presence of airway obstruction (Welsh et al., 2010, Simpson et al., 2017). Additionally, the use of normal FEV₁/FVC may be a reasonable surrogate for restrictive lung disease, given the reasonable numbers of children with low TLC in this non-obstructive group. What is of interest is the lack of differences between POLD and PnOLD for exercise. Presence of airway obstruction could feasibly suggest greater impairment of exercise, although there are limited data comparing exercise outcomes in these two groups, except that maximal voluntary ventilation may predict

270

peak \dot{VO}_2 and \dot{VE} in obstructive patients with COPD but not in restrictive disease (LoRusso et al., 1993). One finding from my study that may correlate is the obstructive group used a larger proportion of their ventilatory reserve (calculated from MVV) compared to preterm controls, whereas the non-obstructive group did not. The most significant finding with these group divisions is the large proportion in POLD group who have significant bronchodilator response. Additionally, minimal numbers in the non-obstructive group responded, showing a homogeneity to their clinical characteristics.

As outlined above, small airways disease seemed to predominate in the PT_{low} children, and this effect is amplified in the obstructive lung disease children, suggesting their disease is particularly driven by peripheral airways disease and, given both impairment in resistance and reactance. Frequency dependence of resistance, found in this study to be particularly greater in POLD children is supportive of peripheral obstructive airways disease, as is seen in eosinophilic asthma, particularly those who respond to treatments (Abdo et al., 2020), as well as preterm populations (Thunqvist et al., 2018). A previous systematic review assessing FE_{NO} in preterm populations did not find raised FE_{NO} in preterm-born children (Course et al., 2019); however, in my cohort of children with obstructive lung disease, over 1/3 had raised FE_{NO}. Potentially this could suggest a degree of atopy, however rates of atopy were similar between preterm-born children with obstructive disease compared to preterm controls. A number of these may have atopic asthma or may have an alternative inflammatory process (Teig et al., 2012). However, rates of reversibility to post-exercise bronchodilator were over double those with raised FE_{NO} suggesting reversible airway obstruction is not confined to those with potential inflammatory disease, and that several clinical and pathological phenotypes exist within this population and need to be better defined.

One potential outcome with intra-breath oscillometry was the potential for finding differences in the impedance difference between end-expiratory and end-inspiratory states. These, in particular the difference in resistance at these particular points of the respiratory cycle, have been found to distinguish young children with wheeze and healthy children (Czövek et al., 2016). My findings in the POLD children showed no

271

difference in the resistance at the zero-flow states, suggesting a different pathology to those children with acute wheeze. Even though both are diseases of airway obstruction, preterm-born children appear to have airway obstruction present throughout the respiratory cycle, as opposed to predominantly affecting expiration as seen in asthma. However, in POLD children I found that there were reactance differences between inspiration and expiration, with a greater difference for overall mean reactance, the minimum (i.e., lowest/worst) reactance and the reactance at end-expiration/inspiration.

Additionally, there was greater area within the reactance-volume and reactance flow-curves. All these suggest that there are dynamic changes between expiration and inspiration for the elastic properties of the lung. At the end of expiration, the increased negative reactance suggests a greater elasticity component to the airways (Czövek et al., 2016). The increase that then occurs suggests the elastic component has greater effect during expiration than inspiration possibly due to the elastic recoil of the lungs that drives the increase in airway pressure and hence expiratory flow. This higher reactance in elastic recoil appears to be greater in POLD children hence more negative reactance occurring compared to PnOLD children, potentially a result of increased muscle tone, which is then responsive to bronchodilator. This is potentially different to asthma where elastic recoil pressures are greater during inflation than deflation (An et al., 2007). It would be interesting to know whether there are differences in the connective tissue make-up of the lungs in preterm born children with obstructive lung disease, that may be answered with metabolomic studies using urine or exhaled breath condensate, which is also a part of the scope RHiNO.

As with standard oscillometry, the impedance improves to a greater degree in POLD than PnOLD, again affirming that these children need to be identified due to the reversible nature of their disease.

6.4 Strengths and limitations

6.4.1 Strengths

There are many strengths to this study. Firstly, there are several novel aspects. The main ones relate to a re-consideration of how to approach long-term follow-up of preterm-born children, with an emphasis on current lung function status rather than historical diagnoses. Additionally, this study raises the importance of considering lung function deficits in the context of obstructive or non-obstructive disease, an important concept as this may help identify children who may benefit from intervention. My method of classification, while potentially going away from recommendations, has been designed specifically to apply to this population, rather than being adapted from adult populations. While oscillometry has been used a lot in preterm populations, the effect of exercise on airway mechanics was unexplored in this group. A large novel aspect is the use of intra-breath oscillometry which has not been applied in preterm children previously. It is exciting to have been able to present these results. In addition, I studied a large number of healthy preterm and term-born subjects.

6.4.2 Limitations

There are some limitations to this work. Firstly, the numbers recruited, while reasonable overall, are lower than I would have liked in the group(s) of interest, particularly when assessing by obstructive disease status. This could have effect on both alpha- but more likely beta-errors, with potentially greater differences to be found if numbers were higher. The fact these children were recruited based on their outcome at screening visit means that I cannot draw any conclusions based on their characteristics, particularly their perinatal descriptors, in terms of trying to identify associations or causations with my findings.

More specific limitations to various parts of my work include the systematic finding of differences between the two forms of spirometry. Due to the design of the indepth lung function visit, the MicroLoop (turbine) spirometer was used before the MasterScreen (pneumotachograph) for all the participants. This could be argued to have been the cause for the difference noted. However, all children had performed spirometry previously to a standard acceptable to be recruited. They then underwent further education prior to starting the spirometry, and were able to perform acceptable spirometry on the MicroLoop before moving on to the MasterScreen. This would reduce the chance of it purely being a result of practice. The reverse argument of potential tiredness by the time of reaching the MasterScreen could be valid; however, a short break was offered between the tests.

Regarding the oscillometry, it is advised that oscillometry should be performed prior to spirometry due to potential residual effects of the dynamic spirometry manoeuvre on airway mechanics (Saadeh et al., 2015). In the case of the baseline spirometry this took place, however, the post-exercise oscillometry took place in between spirometry testing due to the need to fit in repeat spirometry for the purposes of the wider trial. Similarly, following post-exercise bronchodilator, the oscillometry was performed after the spirometry, as this was the more important test for the RCT and was prioritised. All participants from all groups performed the tests in the same order and timings, so any effects from this would apply to all participants and thus should be negated.

The timing of the oscillometry post-exercise, in hindsight, may not have been optimal. The rationale was partly to allow repeated spirometry, but also due to the Joshi et al findings of the peak time for exercise-induced bronchoconstriction being at ~20 minutes (Joshi et al., 2013). In this case little EIB was observed and so it is more likely the lack of oscillometry changes post-exercise were related to a lack of EIB.

6.4.3 Sources of bias

There are of course potential sources of bias in this study. The largest one is relating to selection bias. Being a study designed to investigate lung function, parents may have been more inclined to respond if their child had any respiratory impairment or previous respiratory problem. This potentially applies to all stages of the recruitment process. Bias may have resulted from attrition during the stages of recruitment. Of those parents who initially responded positively to the questionnaire, a number were not able to be contacted. Additionally, following screening, some parents opted not to be involved in the in-depth lung function testing visit, for various reasons, but including not wanting their child to perform in the RCT.

Recruiting preterm control children involved offering an invite to any children who were from within the first 10 screening visits for a given month. This is not the best way for randomising these potential participants and could potentially introduce selection bias, as the research nurses could select candidates they think would be most appropriate to invite. However, in reality, this was not feasible due to the number of changing visits that occurred due to cancellations, rescheduled appointments, and last-minute appointments. The rationale behind this decision for selecting controls was due to recruitment starting at the upper end of the age spectrum and wanting to recruit controls with a spread of age, as well as being able to avoid recruitment occurring at one time of year.

6.5 Suggestions for future research and clinical application

6.5.1 Potential further analyses using current data

There are a number of areas within the current work which could be expanded on. Identifying preterm-born children who have a bronchodilator response, in the case of this population from post-exercise spirometry, is one of the main perspectives of this thesis, especially as outlined in Chapter 5 section 5.3.1, with comparison of methods for detection of obstructive lung disease. As such, one option to be explored is using regression models to determine whether any characteristics contribute to the likelihood of having reversible airway disease. This is work that I am currently contributing to with analysis of data from Part 1. The same methodology could be applied to Part 2 data, but would have to consider a couple of caveats, including that bronchodilator response in my data is from a post-exercise timepoint so smooth muscle tone may have been altered prior to administering salbutamol. Additionally, due to the population being selected based on lung function, results of any model may not be applicable to the preterm population in general.

The randomised control trial within RHiNO, published after my initial thesis submission, has found that inhaled corticosteroids combined with long-acting beta-2 agonist improve %FEV₁ by 14% after 12 weeks of treatment (Goulden et al., 2021). Combined with my findings concerning children with obstructive lung disease, it would be reasonable to assume that those children who responded are those within the obstructive lung disease group. The response to treatment within individual phenotypes including obstructive disease has not yet been analysed but may reveal specific groups more likely to benefit from treatment; however, results may be limited by low numbers for separate phenotypes within the individual treatment groups.

There are likely additional phenotypes of lung disease within the preterm population I studied, including within the preterm non-obstructive lung disease (i.e., low FEV₁, normal FEV₁/FVC ratio). This may encompass different aspects of lung disease from the lower end of the normal spectrum to restrictive lung disease. Additionally, the concept of preserved ratio, impaired spirometry (PRISM) has recently been discussed in the literature in adult populations (Schwartz et al., 2021), and its exploration in

paediatrics, in particular preterm-born children, is novel. Again, examining this data with Part 1 participants has been started, but it could be applied to my data to explore specifics of lung volumes and exercise capacity within a PRISM population.

In view of the absence of available oscillometry reference values, I would like to use the oscillometry data from my term population to develop z-scores for various parameters, normalising for aspects such as height and age. The oscillometry parameters could also be used to identify potential cut-offs for (post-exercise) bronchodilator response specific to this population.

6.5.2 Potential future directions for research

There are a number of directions I believe this research study can develop, both realistically and idealistically. Firstly, it is important to validate the methodology for identifying obstructive/reversible lung disease, in a different population of a similar age. This could either be done prospectively on a new population, or retrospectively on an alternative dataset, providing sufficient data are available. If the methodology is validated, then applying the same approach to preterm born populations of other ages (i.e. adolescents or adults) could be done. It is likely that differing cut-offs for alternative age groups would be required; however, receiver operator characteristic curves could be used to identify the relevant thresholds within any new population.

Another finding from the main RHiNO trial was that there was no impact from active treatments on exercise capacity (Goulden et al., 2021). It is still unknown whether children born preterm have impaired exercise capacity as a direct result of poor lung function, or whether there is a habitual detraining effect from either respiratory morbidity and/or neuromotor impact of preterm birth including differences in body habitus and muscle mass (Lowe et al., 2016a). Indeed, I believe impaired lung function may not be appreciable in day-to-day activity; however, may prevent children reaching their athletic potential as they may exercise within their limits. As such it may be that if lung function could be modified, this might allow improvement of exercise capacity with exercise intervention. I think it would be fascinating to be able to combine this hypothesis with our knowledge on effective treatment from the

RHiNO trial. An interventional study of combining ICS+LABA treatment with an exercise training programme versus regular activity over a prolonged treatment period (i.e. 12 weeks as per RHiNO study) may answer this question.

I believe there is a great deal more that could be done with the application of oscillometry in preterm populations. Assessing direct impact of bronchodilator on oscillometry would be important to assess whether any changes I identified on oscillometry testing at the post-exercise bronchodilator stage were a result of improvement from post-exercise or whether the same findings would be seen if reversibility testing was performed directly from baseline.

One limitation of the study with regards to oscillometry was its application postexercise. The priority of the study was assessing spirometry parameters following exercise at different time points. This resulted in only a single post-exercise oscillometry test being performed. It would be interesting to assess whether timing of oscillometry post-exercise have an impact on airway mechanics, for instance whether greater changes are seen immediately post-exercise as opposed to at the 20-minute interval as used in my data collection.

I would be interested in exploring the intra-breath oscillometry in greater detail. Given I found a differential response at various frequencies using standard oscillometry, particularly in the obstructive preterm lung disease group (i.e. greater differences at lower frequencies compared to higher frequencies), it would exciting to see whether there are greater changes within the breath cycle if single-frequency intra-breath testing was performed at lower frequencies, including response to exercise and bronchodilator. This may reveal more about whether there are dynamic changes occurring in the peripheral lungs, and may confirm the hypothesis about distal smooth muscle extension contributing to disease in these children.

Given oscillometry can be performed at a younger age than spirometry, there is potential for it to be used to identify respiratory disease at a younger age in the preterm population. Ideally this could be done with a large-scale longitudinal study, starting in the neonatal period and tracking oscillometry parameters through infancy and childhood, with the addition of other modalities of lung function testing

278

introduced at appropriate ages. Children could then be stratified by respiratory morbidity and/or lung function outcomes, and consideration of whether oscillometry is able to identify at an early stage in life which children are at risk of later lung disease, and potentially subsequently exploring early intervention (i.e., with ICS+LABA) at a younger age and seeing whether this modifies their outcomes.

6.6 Overall messages and conclusion

- Preterm-born children are at risk of long-term lung disease which can be identified with spirometry;
- Preterm children with low lung function have reduced exercise capacity compared to their term counterparts;
- Those children with impaired lung function on spirometry can be grouped into those with obstructive lung disease based on FEV₁ and FEV₁/FVC ratio using simple cut-offs;
- These children likely have small airways disease with peripheral extension of smooth muscle into the peripheries, resulting in smaller airway calibre causing higher resistances, and increased elasticity causing lower (more negative) compliance;
- Children with obstructive lung disease have the greatest deficits in spirometry and greatest degree of response to bronchodilators, which will be a result of improvement in airway calibre and relaxation of the smooth muscles improving lung compliance;
- These children should be identified in order to assess potential benefit from treatment (i.e., bronchodilator);
- Use of oscillometry may be able to identify preterm-born children with lung disease at a younger age, as well as potentially distinguish them from other pathologies with further research.

7 REFERENCES

- ABDEL-HADY, H., NASEF, N., SHABAAN, A. E. & NOUR, I. 2015. Caffeine therapy in preterm infants. *World Journal of Clinical Pediatrics*, 4, 81-93.
- ABDO, M., WATZ, H., VEITH, V., KIRSTEN, A.-M., BILLER, H., PEDERSEN, F., VON MUTIUS, E., KOPP, M. V., HANSEN, G., WASCHKI, B., RABE, K. F., TRINKMANN, F. & BAHMER, T. 2020. Small airway dysfunction as predictor and marker for clinical response to biological therapy in severe eosinophilic asthma: a longitudinal observational study. *Respiratory Research*, 21, 278.
- AN, S. S., BAI, T. R., BATES, J. H. T., BLACK, J. L., BROWN, R. H., BRUSASCO, V., CHITANO, P., DENG, L., DOWELL, M., EIDELMAN, D. H., FABRY, B., FAIRBANK, N. J., FORD, L. E., FREDBERG, J. J., GERTHOFFER, W. T., GILBERT, S. H., GOSENS, R., GUNST, S. J., HALAYKO, A. J., INGRAM, R. H., IRVIN, C. G., JAMES, A. L., JANSSEN, L. J., KING, G. G., KNIGHT, D. A., LAUZON, A. M., LAKSER, O. J., LUDWIG, M. S., LUTCHEN, K. R., MAKSYM, G. N., MARTIN, J. G., MAUAD, T., MCPARLAND, B. E., MIJAILOVICH, S. M., MITCHELL, H. W., MITCHELL, R. W., MITZNER, W., MURPHY, T. M., PARÉ, P. D., PELLEGRINO, R., SANDERSON, M. J., SCHELLENBERG, R. R., SEOW, C. Y., SILVEIRA, P. S. P., SMITH, P. G., SOLWAY, J., STEPHENS, N. L., STERK, P. J., STEWART, A. G., TANG, D. D., TEPPER, R. S., TRAN, T. & WANG, L. 2007. Airway smooth muscle dynamics: a common pathway of airway obstruction in asthma. *European Respiratory Journal*, 29, 834-860.
- ANANTH, C. V., JOSEPH, K. S., OYELESE, Y., DEMISSIE, K. & VINTZILEOS, A. M. 2005. Trends in preterm birth and perinatal mortality among singletons: United States, 1989 through 2000. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 105, 1084-91.
- ARIGLIANI, M., CANCIANI, M. C., MOTTINI, G., ALTOMARE, M., MAGNOLATO, A., CLEMENTE, S. V. L., TSHILOLO, L., COGO, P. & QUANJER, P. H. 2017. Evaluation of the Global Lung Initiative 2012 Reference Values for Spirometry in African Children. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 195, 229-236.
- BADER, D., RAMOS, A. D., LEW, C. D., PLATZKER, A. C. G., STABILE, M. W. & KEENS, T. G. 1987. Childhood sequelae of infant lung disease: Exercise and pulmonary function abnormalities after bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 110, 693-699.
- BALADY, G. J., ARENA, R., SIETSEMA, K., MYERS, J., COKE, L., FLETCHER, G. F., FORMAN, D., FRANKLIN, B., GUAZZI, M., GULATI, M., KETEYIAN, S. J., LAVIE, C.
 J., MACKO, R., MANCINI, D. & MILANI, R. V. 2010. Clinician's Guide to Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing in Adults. *Circulation*, 122, 191-225.
- BARKER, A. R., WILLIAMS, C. A., JONES, A. M. & ARMSTRONG, N. 2011. Establishing maximal oxygen uptake in young people during a ramp cycle test to exhaustion. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45, 498-503.
- BARKLEY, J. E. & ROEMMICH, J. N. 2008. Validity of the CALER and OMNI-Bike Ratings of Perceived Exertion. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 40, 760-766.
- BARROS, F. C., BHUTTA, Z. A., BATRA, M., HANSEN, T. N., VICTORA, C. G., RUBENS, C. E. & THE, G. R. G. 2010. Global report on preterm birth and stillbirth (3 of 7): evidence for effectiveness of interventions. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 10, S3.

- BECK, S., WOJDYLA, D., SAY, L., BETRAN, A. P., MERIALDI, M., REQUEJO, J. H., RUBENS, C., MENON, R. & VAN LOOK, P. F. A. 2010. The worldwide incidence of preterm birth: a systematic review of maternal mortality and morbidity. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 88, 31-38.
- BEEN, J. V., LUGTENBERG, M. J., SMETS, E., VAN SCHAYCK, C. P., KRAMER, B. W., MOMMERS, M. & SHEIKH, A. 2014. Preterm birth and childhood wheezing disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Medicine*, 11, e1001596.
- BERARDI, A., SFORZA, F., BARONI, L., SPADA, C., AMBRETTI, S., BIASUCCI, G., BOLOGNESI, S., CAPRETTI, M., CARRETTO, E., CICCIA, M., LANARI, M., PEDNA, M. F., RIZZO, V., VENTURELLI, C., TZIALLA, C., LUCACCIONI, L. & REGGIANI, M. L. B. 2019. Epidemiology and complications of late-onset sepsis: an Italian area-based study. *PLOS ONE*, 14, e0225407.
- BHATT, S. P., KIM, Y.-I., WELLS, J. M., BAILEY, W. C., RAMSDELL, J. W., FOREMAN, M.
 G., JENSEN, R. L., STINSON, D. S., WILSON, C. G., LYNCH, D. A., MAKE, B. J. &
 DRANSFIELD, M. T. 2014. FEV(1)/FEV(6) to diagnose airflow obstruction.
 Comparisons with computed tomography and morbidity indices. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*, 11, 335-341.
- BLENCOWE, H., COUSENS, S., OESTERGAARD, M. Z., CHOU, D., MOLLER, A.-B., NARWAL, R., ADLER, A., VERA GARCIA, C., ROHDE, S., SAY, L. & LAWN, J. E. 2012. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of preterm birth rates in the year 2010 with time trends since 1990 for selected countries: a systematic analysis and implications. *Lancet*, 379, 2162-2172.
- BLYSTAD, W. L., BENJAMIN H.; SMITH, CLEMENT A. 1951. Pulmonary Hyaline Membranes In Newborn Infants. *Statistical, Morphologic and Experimental Study of Their Nature, Occurrence and Significance,* 8, 5-21.
- BOLTON, C. E., BUSH, A., HURST, J. R., KOTECHA, S., MCGARVEY, L., STOCKS, J. & WALSHAW, M. J. 2012. Are early life factors considered when managing respiratory disease? A British Thoracic Society survey of current practice. *Thorax*, 67, 1110.
- BORG, G. A. V. 1982. Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 14, 377-381.
- BOYLE, E. M., POULSEN, G., FIELD, D. J., KURINCZUK, J. J., WOLKE, D., ALFIREVIC, Z. & QUIGLEY, M. A. 2012. Effects of gestational age at birth on health outcomes at 3 and 5 years of age: population based cohort study. *British Medical Journal*, 344.
- BRASHIER, B. & SALVI, S. 2015. Measuring lung function using sound waves: role of the forced oscillation technique and impulse oscillometry system. *Breathe*, 11, 57-65.
- BROSTRÖM, E. B., THUNQVIST, P., ADENFELT, G., BORLING, E. & KATZ-SALAMON, M. 2010. Obstructive lung disease in children with mild to severe BPD. *Respiratory Medicine*, 104, 362-370.
- CALOGERO, C., SIMPSON, S. J., LOMBARDI, E., PARRI, N., CUOMO, B., PALUMBO, M., DE MARTINO, M., SHACKLETON, C., VERHEGGEN, M., GAVIDIA, T., FRANKLIN, P. J., KUSEL, M. M. H., PARK, J., SLY, P. D. & HALL, G. L. 2013. Respiratory impedance and bronchodilator responsiveness in healthy children aged 2–13 years. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 48, 707-715.

- CANO, A. & PAYO, F. 1997. Lung function and airway responsiveness in children and adolescents after hyaline membrane disease: a matched cohort study. *European Respiratory Journal*, 10, 880-885.
- CARAS, W. E., WINTER, M. G., DILLARD, T. & REASOR, T. 1999. Performance comparison of the hand-held MicroPlus portable spirometer and the SensorMedics Vmax22 diagnostic spirometer. *Respiratory Care*, 44, 1465-1473.
- CHAKRABORTY, M., MCGREAL, E. P. & KOTECHA, S. 2010. Acute lung injury in preterm newborn infants: mechanisms and management. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews*, 11, 162-70.
- CHAWANPAIBOON, S., VOGEL, J. P., MOLLER, A.-B., LUMBIGANON, P., PETZOLD, M., HOGAN, D., LANDOULSI, S., JAMPATHONG, N., KONGWATTANAKUL, K., LAOPAIBOON, M., LEWIS, C., RATTANAKANOKCHAI, S., TENG, D. N., THINKHAMROP, J., WATANANIRUN, K., ZHANG, J., ZHOU, W. & GÜLMEZOGLU, A. M. 2019. Global, regional, and national estimates of levels of preterm birth in 2014: a systematic review and modelling analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7, e37-e46.
- CHRISTENSEN, R. D., GORDON, P. V. & BESNER, G. E. 2010. Can we cut the incidence of necrotizing enterocolitis in half today? *Fetal and Pediatric Pathology*, 29, 185-198.
- CLAYTON, N. 2007. Review Series: Lung function made easy: Assessing lung size. *Chronic Respiratory Disease*, 4, 151-157.
- CLEMM, H., RØKSUND, O., THORSEN, E., EIDE, G. E., MARKESTAD, T. & HALVORSEN, T. 2012. Aerobic Capacity and Exercise Performance in Young People Born Extremely Preterm. *Pediatrics*, 129, e97-e105.
- CLEMM, H. H., VOLLSÆTER, M., RØKSUND, O. D., EIDE, G. E., MARKESTAD, T. & HALVORSEN, T. 2014. Exercise Capacity after Extremely Preterm Birth. Development from Adolescence to Adulthood. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*, 11, 537–45.
- CLEMM, H. H., VOLLSÆTER, M., RØKSUND, O. D., MARKESTAD, T. & HALVORSEN, T. 2015. Adolescents who were born extremely preterm demonstrate modest decreases in exercise capacity. *Acta Paediatrica*, 104, 1174-1181.
- COSTELOE, K., HENNESSY, E., GIBSON, A. T., MARLOW, N. & WILKINSON, A. R. 2000. The EPICure study: outcomes to discharge from hospital for infants born at the threshold of viability. *Pediatrics*, 106, 659-671.
- COSTELOE, K. L., HENNESSY, E. M., HAIDER, S., STACEY, F., MARLOW, N. & DRAPER, E. S. 2012. Short term outcomes after extreme preterm birth in England: comparison of two birth cohorts in 1995 and 2006 (the EPICure studies). *BMJ*, 345, e7976.
- COURSE, C. W., KOTECHA, S. & KOTECHA, S. J. 2019. Fractional exhaled nitric oxide in preterm-born subjects: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 54, 595–601.
- COUSINS, M., HART, K., GALLACHER, D., PALOMINO, M. A. & KOTECHA, S. 2018. Longterm respiratory outcomes following preterm birth. *Revista Médica Clínica Las Condes*, 29, 87-97.
- CRAPO, R. O. C., R.; COATES, A.L.; ENRIGHT, P.L.; HANKINSON, J.L.; IRVIN, C.G.; MACINTYRE, N.R.; MCKAY, R.T.; WANGER, J.S.; ANDERSON, S.D.; COCKCROFT,

D.W.; FISH, J.E.; STERK, P.J. 2000. ATS/ACCP Statement on Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 167, 211-277.

- CRIÉE, C. P., SORICHTER, S., SMITH, H. J., KARDOS, P., MERGET, R., HEISE, D., BERDEL,
 D., KÖHLER, D., MAGNUSSEN, H., MAREK, W., MITFESSEL, H., RASCHE, K.,
 ROLKE, M., WORTH, H. & JÖRRES, R. A. 2011. Body plethysmography Its principles and clinical use. *Respiratory Medicine*, 105, 959-971.
- CURTIS, A. E., SMITH, T. A., ZIGANSHIN, B. A. & ELEFTERIADES, J. A. 2016. The Mystery of the Z-Score. *Aorta (Stamford, Conn.)*, 4, 124-130.
- CZÖVEK, D., SHACKLETON, C., HANTOS, Z., TAYLOR, K., KUMAR, A., CHACKO, A., WARE, R. S., MAKAN, G., RADICS, B., GINGL, Z. & SLY, P. D. 2016. Tidal changes in respiratory resistance are sensitive indicators of airway obstruction in children. *Thorax*, 71, 907-915.
- DAHLQVIST, M. & HEDENSTIERNA, G. 1985. Lung volumes measured by helium dilution and by body plethysmography with mouth and oesophageal pressures: A comparative study in patients with lung disease. *Clinical Physiology*, 5, 179-187.
- DE KLEINE, M. J., ROOS, C. M., VOORN, W. J., JANSEN, H. M. & KOPPE, J. G. 1990. Lung function 8-18 years after intermittent positive pressure ventilation for hyaline membrane disease. *Thorax*, 45, 941-946.
- DONALD, K. W., BISHOP, J. M. & WADE, O. L. 1954. A study of minute to minute changes of arterio-venous oxygen content difference, oxygen uptake and cardiac output and rate of achievement of a steady state during exercise in rheumatic heart disease. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 33, 1146-1167.
- DOYLE, L. W., ANDERSSON, S., BUSH, A., CHEONG, J. L. Y., CLEMM, H., EVENSEN, K. A. I., GOUGH, A., HALVORSEN, T., HOVI, P., KAJANTIE, E., LEE, K. J., MCGARVEY, L., NARANG, I., NÄSÄNEN-GILMORE, P., STEINSHAMN, S., VOLLSAETER, M. & VRIJLANDT, E. J. L. E. 2019a. Expiratory airflow in late adolescence and early adulthood in individuals born very preterm or with very low birthweight compared with controls born at term or with normal birthweight: a metaanalysis of individual participant data. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 7, 677-686.
- DOYLE, L. W., IRVING, L., HAIKERWAL, A., LEE, K., RANGANATHAN, S. & CHEONG, J. 2019b. Airway obstruction in young adults born extremely preterm or extremely low birth weight in the postsurfactant era. *Thorax*, 74, 1147-1153.
- EBER, E. & ZACH, M. S. 2001. Long term sequelae of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (chronic lung disease of infancy). *Thorax*, 56, 317-323.
- EDWARDS, M. O., KOTECHA, S. J., LOWE, J., RICHARDS, L., WATKINS, W. J. & KOTECHA, S. 2015a. Early-term birth is a risk factor for wheezing in childhood: A crosssectional population study. *Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology*, 136, 581–587.e2.
- EDWARDS, M. O., KOTECHA, S. J., LOWE, J., RICHARDS, L., WATKINS, W. J. & KOTECHA, S. 2016. Management of Prematurity-Associated Wheeze and Its Association with Atopy. *PLOS ONE*, **11**, e0155695.
- EDWARDS, M. O., KOTECHA, S. J., LOWE, J., WATKINS, W. J., HENDERSON, A. J. & KOTECHA, S. 2015b. Effect of preterm birth on exercise capacity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 50, 293-301.

- EDWARDS, Z. & ANNAMARAJU, P. *Physiology, Lung Compliance.* [Updated 2020 May 10]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing.
- FAWKE, J., LUM, S., KIRKBY, J., HENNESSY, E., MARLOW, N., ROWELL, V., THOMAS, S.
 & STOCKS, J. 2010. Lung function and respiratory symptoms at 11 years in children born extremely preterm: the EPICure study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 182, 237-45.
- FILIPPONE, M., BONETTO, G., CORRADI, M., FRIGO, A. C. & BARALDI, E. 2012. Evidence of unexpected oxidative stress in airways of adolescents born very pre-term. *European Respiratory Journal*, 40, 1253–59.
- FRANZ, A. P., BOLAT, G. U., BOLAT, H., MATIJASEVICH, A., SANTOS, I. S., SILVEIRA, R. C., PROCIANOY, R. S., ROHDE, L. A. & MOREIRA-MAIA, C. R. 2018. Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Very Preterm/Very Low Birth Weight: A Meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 141.
- FREY, U. 2005. Forced oscillation technique in infants and young children. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews*, 6, 246-254.
- GALLACHER, D. J., HART, K. & KOTECHA, S. 2016. Common respiratory conditions of the newborn. *Breathe*, 12, 30-42.
- GARCÍA-RÍO, F., CALLE, M., BURGOS, F., CASAN, P., DEL CAMPO, F., GALDIZ, J. B., GINER, J., GONZÁLEZ-MANGADO, N., ORTEGA, F. & PUENTE MAESTU, L. 2013. Spirometry. *Archivos de Bronconeumología (English Edition),* 49, 388-401.
- GIBSON, G. J. 2005. Spirometry: then and now. Breathe, 1, 206-216.
- GILL, S. V., MAY-BENSON, T. A., TEASDALE, A. & MUNSELL, E. G. 2013. Birth and developmental correlates of birth weight in a sample of children with potential sensory processing disorder. *BMC Pediatrics*, 13, 29.
- GOLDENBERG, R. L., CULHANE, J. F., IAMS, J. D. & ROMERO, R. 2008. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. *Lancet*, 371, 75-84.
- GOLDMAN, M. D. 2001. Clinical Application of Forced Oscillation. *Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 14, 341-350.
- GOULDEN, N., COUSINS, M., HART, K., JENKINS, A., WILLETS, G., YENDLE, L., DOULL, I., WILLIAMS, E. M., HOARE, Z. & KOTECHA, S. 2021. Inhaled corticosteroids alone and in combination with long-acting β -2 receptor agonists to treat reduced lung function in preterm-born children; A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Pediatrics*.
- GRAHAM, B. L., STEENBRUGGEN, I., MILLER, M. R., BARJAKTAREVIC, I. Z., COOPER, B.
 G., HALL, G. L., HALLSTRAND, T. S., KAMINSKY, D. A., MCCARTHY, K., MCCORMACK, M. C., OROPEZ, C. E., ROSENFELD, M., STANOJEVIC, S., SWANNEY, M. P. & THOMPSON, B. R. 2019. Standardization of Spirometry 2019 Update. An Official American Thoracic Society and European Respiratory Society Technical Statement. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 200, e70-e88.
- GRAY, D. M., CZOVEK, D., MCMILLAN, L., TURKOVIC, L., STADLER, J. A. M., VANKER, A., RADICS, B. L., GINGL, Z., HALL, G. L., SLY, P. D., ZAR, H. J. & HANTOS, Z. 2019. Intra-breath measures of respiratory mechanics in healthy African infants detect risk of respiratory illness in early life. *European Respiratory Journal*, 53, 1800998.

- GROSS, S. J., IANNUZZI, D. M., KVESELIS, D. A. & ANBAR, R. D. 1998. Effect of preterm birth on pulmonary function at school age: A prospective controlled study. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 133, 188-192.
- GUEZGUEZ, F., KNAZ, H., ANANE, I., BOUGRIDA, M. & BEN SAAD, H. 2019. How to interpret bronchodilator response (BDR) in children? *European Respiratory Journal*, 54, PA1131.
- HAKULINEN, A. L., JÄRVENPÄÄ, A. L., TURPEINEN, M. & SOVIJÄRVI, A. 1996. Diffusing capacity of the lung in school-aged children born very preterm, with and without bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 21, 353-360.
- HALL, G. L., FILIPOW, N., RUPPEL, G., OKITIKA, T., THOMPSON, B., KIRKBY, J., STEENBRUGGEN, I., COOPER, B. G. & STANOJEVIC, S. 2021. Official ERS technical standard: Global Lung Function Initiative reference values for static lung volumes in individuals of European ancestry. *European Respiratory Journal*, 57, 2000289.
- HALLIDAY, H. L. 2008. Surfactants: past, present and future. *Journal of Perinatology*, 28, S47-S56.
- HAMON, I., VARECHOVA, S., VIEUX, R., IOAN, I., BONABEL, C., SCHWEITZER, C., HASCOET, J. M. & MARCHAL, F. 2013. Exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in school-age children born extremely preterm. *Pediatric Research*, 73, 464-468.
- HANCOX, R. J. & RASMUSSEN, F. 2018. Does physical fitness enhance lung function in children and young adults? *European Respiratory Journal*, 51.
- HART, K., COUSINS, M., WATKINS, W. J., KOTECHA, S. J., HENDERSON, A. J. & KOTECHA, S. 2021. Association of Early Life Factors with Prematurity-Associated Lung Disease: Prospective Cohort Study. *European Respiratory Journal*.
- HART, S. M., MCNAIR, M., GAMSU, H. R. & PRICE, J. F. 1983. Pulmonary interstitial emphysema in very low birthweight infants. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 58, 612-615.
- HARTNETT, M. E. & LANE, R. H. 2013. Effects of oxygen on the development and severity of retinopathy of prematurity. *Journal of American Association for Pediatric Ophthalmology and Strabismus {JAAPOS},* 17, 229-234.
- HEIJKENSKJÖLD RENTZHOG, C., JANSON, C., BERGLUND, L., BORRES, M. P., NORDVALL, L., ALVING, K. & MALINOVSCHI, A. 2017. Overall and peripheral lung function assessment by spirometry and forced oscillation technique in relation to asthma diagnosis and control. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy*, 47, 1546-1554.
- HENNESSY, E. M., BRACEWELL, M. A., WOOD, N., WOLKE, D., COSTELOE, K., GIBSON, A., MARLOW, N. & GROUP, F. T. E. S. 2008. Respiratory health in pre-school and school age children following extremely preterm birth. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 93, 1037-1043.
- HISLOP, A. A. & HAWORTH, S. G. 1990. Pulmonary vascular damage and the development of cor pulmonale following hyaline membrane disease. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 9, 152–61.
- HOOPER, S. B. & HARDING, R. 1995. FETAL LUNG LIQUID: A MAJOR DETERMINANT OF THE GROWTH AND FUNCTIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE FETAL LUNG. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, 22, 235-241.

- HURST, J. R., BECKMANN, J., NI, Y., BOLTON, C. E., MCENIERY, C. M., COCKCROFT, J. R. & MARLOW, N. 2020. Respiratory and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Survivors of Extremely Preterm Birth at 19 Years. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 202, 422-432.
- ISAYAMA, T., IWAMI, H., MCDONALD, S. & BEYENE, J. 2016. Association of noninvasive ventilation strategies with mortality and bronchopulmonary dysplasia among preterm infants: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 316, 611-624.
- JACOB, S. V., LANDS, L. C., COATES, A. L., DAVIS, G. M., MACNEISH, C. F., HORNBY, L., RILEY, S. P. & OUTERBRIDGE, E. W. 1997. Exercise ability in survivors of severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 155, 1925-1929.
- JEFFERY, P. K. 1998. The Development of Large and Small Airways. *American Journal* of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 157, S174-S180.
- JOBE, A. H. 1999. The new BPD: an arrest of lung development. *Pediatric Research*, 46, 641-3.
- JOBE, A. H. 2006. Mechanisms to Explain Surfactant Responses. *Neonatology*, 89, 298-302.
- JOBE, A. H. & BANCALARI, E. 2001. Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 163, 1723–29.
- JOHNSON, J. D. & THEURER, W. M. 2014. A stepwise approach to the interpretation of pulmonary function tests. *American Family Physician*, 89, 359-66.
- JOHNSON, S., HOLLIS, C., HENNESSY, E., KOCHHAR, P., WOLKE, D. & MARLOW, N. 2011. Screening for autism in preterm children: diagnostic utility of the Social Communication Questionnaire. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 96, 73-77.
- JOSHI, S. & KOTECHA, S. 2007. Lung growth and development. *Early Human Development*, 83, 789-94.
- JOSHI, S., POWELL, T., WATKINS, W. J., DRAYTON, M., WILLIAMS, E. M. & KOTECHA, S. 2013. Exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in school-aged children who had chronic lung disease in infancy. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 162, 813-818 e1.
- JURCA, M., RAMETTE, A., DOGARU, C. M., GOUTAKI, M., SPYCHER, B. D., LATZIN, P., GAILLARD, E. A. & KUEHNI, C. E. 2017. Prevalence of cough throughout childhood: A cohort study. *PLOS ONE*, 12, e0177485.
- KAMINSKY, D. A. 2012. What does airway resistance tell us about lung function? *Respiratory Care*, 57, 85-96; discussion 96-9.
- KILBRIDE, H. W., GELATT, M. C. & SABATH, R. J. 2003. Pulmonary function and exercise capacity for ELBW survivors in preadolescence: effect of neonatal chronic lung disease. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 143, 488-493.
- KING, G. G., BATES, J., BERGER, K. I., CALVERLEY, P., DE MELO, P. L., DELLACÀ, R. L., FARRÉ, R., HALL, G. L., IOAN, I., IRVIN, C. G., KACZKA, D. W., KAMINSKY, D. A., KUROSAWA, H., LOMBARDI, E., MAKSYM, G. N., MARCHAL, F., OPPENHEIMER, B. W., SIMPSON, S. J., THAMRIN, C., VAN DEN BERGE, M. & OOSTVEEN, E. 2020. Technical standards for respiratory oscillometry. *European Respiratory Journal*, 55, 1900753.
- KIRKBY, J., WELSH, L., LUM, S., FAWKE, J., ROWELL, V., THOMAS, S., MARLOW, N., STOCKS, J. & GROUP, E. P. S. 2008. The EPICure study: comparison of pediatric

spirometry in community and laboratory settings. *Pediatric Pulmonology,* 43, 1233-41.

- KOMAROW, H. D., MYLES, I. A., UZZAMAN, A. & METCALFE, D. D. 2011. Impulse oscillometry in the evaluation of diseases of the airways in children. *Annals of allergy, asthma & immunology,* 106, 191-199.
- KORHONEN, P., LAITINEN, J., HYÖDYNMAA, E. & TAMMELA, O. 2004. Respiratory outcome in school-aged, very-low-birth-weight children in the surfactant era. *Acta Paediatrica*, 93, 316-321.
- KOSMAS, E. N., MILIC-EMILI, J., POLYCHRONAKI, A., DIMITROULIS, I., RETSOU, S., GAGA, M., KOUTSOUKOU, A., ROUSSOS, C. & KOULOURIS, N. G. 2004. Exercise-induced flow limitation, dynamic hyperinflation and exercise capacity in patients with bronchial asthma. *European Respiratory Journal*, 24, 378-384.
- KOTECHA, S. 2000. Lung growth: implications for the newborn infant. Archives of Disease in Childhood: Fetal and Neonatal Edition, 82, F69-F74.
- KOTECHA, S. J., EDWARDS, M. O., WATKINS, W. J., HENDERSON, A. J., PARANJOTHY, S., DUNSTAN, F. D. & KOTECHA, S. 2013. Effect of preterm birth on later FEV₁: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax*, 68, 760–66.
- KOTECHA, S. J., WATKINS, W. J., HERON, J., HENDERSON, J., DUNSTAN, F. D. & KOTECHA, S. 2010. Spirometric lung function in school-age children: effect of intrauterine growth retardation and catch-up growth. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 181, 969-974.
- KOTECHA, S. J., WATKINS, W. J., LOWE, J., GRANELL, R., HENDERSON, A. J. & KOTECHA, S. 2019. Comparison of the Associations of Early-Life Factors on Wheezing Phenotypes in Preterm-Born Children and Term-Born Children. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 188, 527-536.
- KRIEMLER, S., KELLER, H., SAIGAL, S. & BAR-OR, O. 2005. Aerobic and lung performance in premature children with and without chronic lung disease of prematurity. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, **15**, 349-55.
- KÜNZLI, N., KUNA-DIBBERT, B., KEIDEL, D., KELLER, R., BRÄNDLI, O., SCHINDLER, C., SCHWEINZER, K. M., LEUENBERGER, P. & ACKERMANN-LIEBRICH, U. 2005. Longitudinal validity of spirometers--a challenge in longitudinal studies. *Swiss Medical Weekly*, 135, 503-8.
- LANDRY, J. S., CHAN, T., LANDS, L. & MENZIES, D. 2011. Long-term impact of bronchopulmonary dysplasia on pulmonary function. *Canadian Respiratory Journal*, 18, 265-270.
- LEBECQUE, P., KIAKULANDA, P. & COATES, A. L. 1993. Spirometry in the asthmatic child: Is FEF₂₅₋₇₅ a more sensitive test than FEV₁/FVC? *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 16, 19-22.
- LEFEBVRE, Q., VANDERGOTEN, T., DEROM, E., MARCHANDISE, E. & LIISTRO, G. 2014. Testing Spirometers: Are the Standard Curves of the American Thoracic Society Sufficient? *Respiratory Care*, 59, 1895-1904.
- LEVITZKY, M. G. 2018. *Pulmonary physiology*, New York. London : McGraw-Hill Education.
- LIOU, T. G. & KANNER, R. E. 2009. Spirometry. *Clinical Reviews in Allergy & Immunology*, 37, 137-152.

- LISTA, G., CASTOLDI, F., BIANCHI, S., LUPO, E., CAVIGIOLI, F., FAROLFI, A., BERSANINI, C. & FERRERIO, E. 2014. Lung function and respiratory health at school age in ventilated very low birth weight infants. *Indian Journal Of Pediatrics*, 81, 275-278.
- LIU, L., OZA, S., HOGAN, D., CHU, Y., PERIN, J., ZHU, J., LAWN, J. E., COUSENS, S., MATHERS, C. & BLACK, R. E. 2016. Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000–15: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. *The Lancet*, 388, 3027-3035.
- LOCCI G, F. V., GEROSA C, FAA G 2014. Hyaline membrane disease (HMD): the role of the perinatal pathologist. *Journal of Pediatric and Neonatal Individualized Medicine (JPNIM)*, 3.
- LOEB, J. S., BLOWER, W. C., FELDSTEIN, J. F., KOCH, B. A., MUNLIN, A. L. & HARDIE, W.
 D. 2008. Acceptability and repeatability of spirometry in children using updated ATS/ERS criteria. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 43, 1020-4.
- LORUSSO, T. J., BELMAN, M. J., ELASHOFF, J. D. & KOERNER, S. K. 1993. Prediction of maximal exercise capacity in obstructive and restrictive pulmonary disease. *Chest*, 104, 1748-54.
- LORX, A., CZÖVEK, D., GINGL, Z., MAKAN, G., RADICS, B., BARTUSEK, D., SZIGETI, S., GÁL, J., LOSONCZY, G., SLY, P. D. & HANTOS, Z. 2017. Airway dynamics in COPD patients by within-breath impedance tracking: effects of continuous positive airway pressure. *European Respiratory Journal*, 49, 1601270.
- LOWE, J., COUSINS, M., KOTECHA, S. J. & KOTECHA, S. 2016a. Physical activity outcomes following preterm birth. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews*.
- LOWE, J., WATKINS, W. J., KOTECHA, S. J. & KOTECHA, S. 2016b. Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in Preterm-Born 7-Year Old Children. *PLoS ONE*, 11, e0155229.
- LUM, S., KIRKBY, J., WELSH, L., MARLOW, N., HENNESSY, E. & STOCKS, J. 2011. Nature and severity of lung function abnormalities in extremely pre-term children at 11 years of age. *European Respiratory Journal*, 37, 1199-1207.
- LUMB, A. B. 2016. *Nunn's applied respiratory physiology*, Edinburgh : Elsevier.
- LUNDBERG, B., MELÉN, E., THUNQVIST, P., NORMAN, M. & HALLBERG, J. 2020. Agreement between spirometry and impulse oscillometry for lung function assessment in 6-year-old children born extremely preterm and at term. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 55, 2745-2753.
- MALMBERG, L., MIESKONEN, S., PELKONEN, A., KARI, A., SOVIJARVI, A. & TURPEINEN, M. 2000. Lung function measured by the oscillometric method in prematurely born children with chronic lung disease. *European Respiratory Journal*, 16, 598-603.
- MANSFIELD, L., MCDONNELL, J., MORGAN, W. & SOUHRADA, J. F. 1979. Airway Response in Asthmatic Children during and after Exercise. *Respiration*, 38, 135-143.
- MANTI, S., GALDO, F., PARISI, G. F., NAPOLITANO, M., DECIMO, F., LEONARDI, S. & MIRAGLIA DEL GIUDICE, M. 2021. Long-term effects of bronchopulmonary dysplasia on lung function: a pilot study in preschool children's cohort. *Journal* of Asthma, 58, 1186-1193.

- MARGRAF, L. R., TOMASHEFSKI, J. F., JR., BRUCE, M. C. & DAHMS, B. B. 1991. Morphometric analysis of the lung in bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *The American review of respiratory disease*, 143, 391–400.
- MEDINA, T. M. & HILL, D. A. 2006. Preterm premature rupture of membranes: diagnosis and management. *American Family Physician*, 73, 659-64.
- MEDLEY, N., VOGEL, J. P., CARE, A. & ALFIREVIC, Z. 2018. Interventions during pregnancy to prevent preterm birth: an overview of Cochrane systematic reviews. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.
- MENESES, J., BHANDARI, V. & ALVES, J. G. 2012. Nasal intermittent positive-pressure ventilation vs nasal continuous positive airway pressure for preterm infants with respiratory distress syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine, 166, 372-376.
- MILANZI, E. B., KOPPELMAN, G. H., OLDENWENING, M., AUGUSTIJN, S., AALDERS-DE RUIJTER, B., FARENHORST, M., VONK, J. M., TEWIS, M., BRUNEKREEF, B. & GEHRING, U. 2019. Considerations in the use of different spirometers in epidemiological studies. *Environmental Health*, 18, 39.
- MILLER, M. R., HANKINSON, J., BRUSASCO, V., BURGOS, F., CASABURI, R., COATES, A., CRAPO, R., ENRIGHT, P., VAN DER GRINTEN, C. P., GUSTAFSSON, P., JENSEN, R., JOHNSON, D. C., MACINTYRE, N., MCKAY, R., NAVAJAS, D., PEDERSEN, O.
 F., PELLEGRINO, R., VIEGI, G., WANGER, J. & ATS/ERS TASK FORCE 2005. Standardisation of spirometry. *European Respiratory Journal*, 26, 319–38.
- MORENO-GALDÓ, A., PÉREZ-YARZA, E. G., RAMILO, O., RUBÍ, T., ESCRIBANO, A., TORRES, A., SARDÓN, O., OLIVA, C., PÉREZ, G., CORTELL, I., ROVIRA-AMIGO, S., PASTOR-VIVERO, M. D., PÉREZ-FRÍAS, J., VELASCO, V., TORRES, J., FIGUEROLA, J., BARRIO, M. I., GARCÍA-HERNÁNDEZ, G., MEJÍAS, A. & INVESTIGATORS, O. B. O. T. S. 2020. Recurrent wheezing during the first 3 years of life in a birth cohort of moderate-to-late preterm infants. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology*, 31, 124-132.
- MOSCHINO, L., BONADIES, L. & BARALDI, E. 2021. Lung growth and pulmonary function after prematurity and bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 56, 3499-3508.
- MURRAY, C., FODEN, P., LOWE, L., DURRINGTON, H., CUSTOVIC, A. & SIMPSON, A. 2017. Diagnosis of asthma in symptomatic children based on measures of lung function: an analysis of data from a population-based birth cohort study. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, **1**, 114–23.
- NAJA, A. S., PERMAUL, P. & PHIPATANAKUL, W. 2018. Taming Asthma in School-Aged Children: A Comprehensive Review. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice, 6,* 726-735.
- NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE (NICE). 2017 (Last updated: 12 February 2020.). *Asthma: diagnosis, monitoring and chronic asthma management (NICE guideline NG80).* [Online]. Available: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng80 [Accessed].
- NIXON, P. A., WASHBURN, L. K., SCHECHTER, M. S. & O'SHEA, T. M. 2007. Follow-up Study of a Randomized Controlled Trial of Postnatal Dexamethasone Therapy in Very Low Birth Weight Infants: Effects on Pulmonary Outcomes at Age 8 to 11 Years. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 150, 345-350.

- NORTHWAY, W. H., JR. 1990. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia: then and now. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 65, 1076-1081.
- NORTHWAY, W. H., ROSAN, R. C. & PORTER, D. Y. 1967. Pulmonary disease following respirator therapy of hyaline-membrane disease: bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 276.
- NOUR, N. M. 2012. Premature delivery and the millennium development goal. *Reviews in Obstetrics & Gynecology, 5*, 100-105.
- OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS. 2013. Detailed country of birth and nationality analysis from the 2011 Census of England and Wales [Online]. Available: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmi gration/populationestimates/articles/detailedcountryofbirthandnationalitya nalysisfromthe2011censusofenglandandwales/2013-05-13 [Accessed October 30 2019].
- OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS. 2015. Pregnancy and ethnic factors influencing births and infant mortality: 2013 [Online]. Available: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialc are/causesofdeath/bulletins/pregnancyandethnicfactorsinfluencingbirthsan dinfantmortality/2015-10-14 [Accessed February 21 2020].
- PALANGE, P., WARD, S. A., CARLSEN, K.-H., CASABURI, R., GALLAGHER, C. G., GOSSELINK, R., O'DONNELL, D. E., PUENTE-MAESTU, L., SCHOLS, A. M., SINGH, S. & WHIPP, B. J. 2007. Recommendations on the use of exercise testing in clinical practice. *European Respiratory Journal*, 29, 185-209.
- PARANJOTHY, S., DUNSTAN, F., WATKINS, W. J., HYATT, M., DEMMLER, J. C., LYONS, R. A. & FONE, D. 2013. Gestational Age, Birth Weight, and Risk of Respiratory Hospital Admission in Childhood. *Pediatrics*, 132, e1562-e1569.
- PATRA, K. P. 2012. Focus on Diagnosis. Spirometry, 33, 469-472.
- PELKONEN, A. S., HAKULINEN, A. L., HALLMAN, M. & TURPEINEN, M. 2001. Effect of inhaled budesonide therapy on lung function in schoolchildren born preterm. *Respiratory Medicine*, 95, 565-70.
- PELLEGRINO, R., VIEGI, G., BRUSASCO, V., CRAPO, R. O., BURGOS, F., CASABURI, R., COATES, A., VAN DER GRINTEN, C. P., GUSTAFSSON, P., HANKINSON, J., JENSEN, R., JOHNSON, D. C., MACINTYRE, N., MCKAY, R., MILLER, M. R., NAVAJAS, D., PEDERSEN, O. F. & WANGER, J. 2005. Interpretative strategies for lung function tests. *European Respiratory Journal*, 26, 948-68.
- PERRONE, S., TATARANNO, M. L. & BUONOCORE, G. 2012. Oxidative Stress and Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia. *Journal of Clinical Neonatology*, 1, 109-114.
- PIANOSI, P. T. & FISK, M. 2000. Cardiopulmonary Exercise Performance in Prematurely Born Children. *Pediatric Research*, 47, 653-658.
- PICCIONI, P., BORRACCINO, A., FORNERIS, M. P., MIGLIORE, E., CARENA, C., BIGNAMINI, E., FASSIO, S., CORDOLA, G., AROSSA, W. & BUGIANI, M. 2007. Reference values of Forced Expiratory Volumes and pulmonary flows in 3-6 year children: a cross-sectional study. *Respiratory Research*, 8, 14-14.
- PICKERD, N. & KOTECHA, S. 2009. Pathophysiology of respiratory distress syndrome. *Paediatrics and Child Health*, 19, 153-157.
- POOLE, D. C., WILKERSON, D. P. & JONES, A. M. 2008. Validity of criteria for establishing maximal O2 uptake during ramp exercise tests. *European Journal* of Applied Physiology, 102, 403-410.

- PRAMANA, I. A., LATZIN, P., SCHLAPBACH, L. J., HAFEN, G., KUEHNI, C. E., NELLE, M., RIEDEL, T. & FREY, U. 2011. Respiratory symptoms in preterm infants: burden of disease in the first year of life. *European Journal of Medical Research*, 16, 223.
- PRENZEL, F., VOGEL, M., SIEKMEYER, W., KÖRNER, A., KIESS, W. & VOM HOVE, M. 2020. Exercise capacity in children with bronchopulmonary dysplasia at school age. *Respiratory Medicine*, 171.
- QUANJER, P. H., STANOJEVIC, S., COLE, T. J., BAUR, X., HALL, G. L., CULVER, B. H., ENRIGHT, P. L., HANKINSON, J. L., IP, M. S., ZHENG, J., STOCKS, J. & E. R. S. GLOBAL LUNG FUNCTION INITIATIVE 2012. Multi-ethnic reference values for spirometry for the 3-95-yr age range: the global lung function 2012 equations. *European Respiratory Journal*, 40, 1324–43.
- QUANJER, P. H., STANOJEVIC, S., STOCKS, J., HALL, G. L., PRASAD, K. V. V., COLE, T. J., ROSENTHAL, M., PEREZ-PADILLA, R., HANKINSON, J. L., FALASCHETTI, E., GOLSHAN, M., BRUNEKREEF, B., AL-RAWAS, O., KUHR, J., TRABELSI, Y. & IP, M. S. M. 2010. Changes in the FEV₁/FVC ratio during childhood and adolescence: An intercontinental study. *European Respiratory Journal*, 36, 1391-1399.
- QUANJER, P. H., WEINER, D. J., PRETTO, J. J., BRAZZALE, D. J. & BOROS, P. W. 2014. Measurement of FEF_{25–75%} and FEF_{75%} does not contribute to clinical decision making. *European Respiratory Journal*, 43, 1051–58.
- RADTKE, T., CROOK, S., KALTSAKAS, G., LOUVARIS, Z., BERTON, D., URQUHART, D. S., KAMPOURAS, A., RABINOVICH, R. A., VERGES, S., KONTOPIDIS, D., BOYD, J., TONIA, T., LANGER, D., DE BRANDT, J., GOËRTZ, Y. M. J., BURTIN, C., SPRUIT, M. A., BRAEKEN, D. C. W., DACHA, S., FRANSSEN, F. M. E., LAVENEZIANA, P., EBER, E., TROOSTERS, T., NEDER, J. A., PUHAN, M. A., CASABURI, R., VOGIATZIS, I. & HEBESTREIT, H. 2019. ERS statement on standardisation of cardiopulmonary exercise testing in chronic lung diseases. *European Respiratory Review*, 28, 180101.
- RAMOS-JIMÉNEZ, A., HERNÁNDEZ-TORRES, R. P., TORRES-DURÁN, P. V., ROMERO-GONZALEZ, J., MASCHER, D., POSADAS-ROMERO, C. & JUÁREZ-OROPEZA, M.
 A. 2008. The Respiratory Exchange Ratio is Associated with Fitness Indicators Both in Trained and Untrained Men: A Possible Application for People with Reduced Exercise Tolerance. *Clinical Medicine. Circulatory, Respiratory and Pulmonary Medicine,* 2, 1-9.
- ROBERTS, D., BROWN, J., MEDLEY, N. & DALZIEL, S. R. 2017. Antenatal corticosteroids for accelerating fetal lung maturation for women at risk of preterm birth. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.
- ROBINSON, J. N. N., ERROL R 2020. Preterm birth: Risk factors, interventions for risk reduction, and maternal prognosis. *In:* LOCKWOOD, C. J. (ed.) *UpToDate*. UpToDate, Waltham, MA.
- ROSENTHAL, M., CRAMER, D., BAIN, S. H., DENISON, D., BUSH, A. & WARNER, J. O. 1993. Lung function in white children aged 4 to 19 years: II--Single breath analysis and plethysmography. *Thorax*, 48, 803-808.
- SAADEH, C., SAADEH, C., CROSS, B., GAYLOR, M. & GRIFFITH, M. 2015. Advantage of impulse oscillometry over spirometry to diagnose chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and monitor pulmonary responses to bronchodilators: An

observational study. SAGE Open Medicine, 3, 2050312115578957-2050312115578957.

- SANSUM, K. M., WESTON, M. E., BOND, B., COCKCROFT, E. J., O'CONNOR, A., TOMLINSON, O. W., WILLIAMS, C. A. & BARKER, A. R. Validity of the Supramaximal Test to Verify Maximal Oxygen Uptake in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 31, 213-222.
- SANTHAKUMARAN, S., STATNIKOV, Y., GRAY, D., BATTERSBY, C., ASHBY, D. & MODI, N. 2018. Survival of very preterm infants admitted to neonatal care in England 2008–2014: time trends and regional variation. Archives of Disease in Childhood: Fetal and Neonatal Edition, 103, F208-F215.
- SANTUZ, P., BARALDI, E., ZARAMELLA, P., FILIPPONE, M. & ZACCHELLO, F. 1995. Factors limiting exercise performance in long-term survivors of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 152, 1284-1289.
- SCHERMER, T. R., JACOBS, J. E., CHAVANNES, N. H., HARTMAN, J., FOLGERING, H. T., BOTTEMA, B. J. & VAN WEEL, C. 2003. Validity of spirometric testing in a general practice population of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). *Thorax*, 58, 861-866.
- SCHITTNY, J. C. 2017. Development of the lung. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 367, 427-444.
- SCHMÖLZER, G. M., KUMAR, M., PICHLER, G., AZIZ, K., O'REILLY, M. & CHEUNG, P.-Y. 2013. Non-invasive versus invasive respiratory support in preterm infants at birth: systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Medical Journal*, 347, f5980.
- SCHWARTZ, A., ARNOLD, N., SKINNER, B., SIMMERING, J., EBERLEIN, M., COMELLAS, A. P. & FORTIS, S. 2021. Preserved Ratio Impaired Spirometry in a Spirometry Database. *Respiratory care*, 66, 58-65.
- SHACKLETON, C., BARRAZA-VILLARREAL, A., ROMIEU, I., CALOGERO, C., HALL, G. & SLY, P. 2012. Forced oscillation technique (FOT) reference values: Does one size fit all? *European Respiratory Journal*, 40.
- SHENNAN, A. T., DUNN, M. S., OHLSSON, A., LENNOX, K. & HOSKINS, E. M. 1988. Abnormal Pulmonary Outcomes in Premature Infants: Prediction From Oxygen Requirement in the Neonatal Period. *Pediatrics*, 82, 527-532.
- SIMMONS, L. E., RUBENS, C. E., DARMSTADT, G. L. & GRAVETT, M. G. 2010. Preventing Preterm Birth and Neonatal Mortality: Exploring the Epidemiology, Causes, and Interventions. *Seminars in Perinatology*, 34, 408-415.
- SIMPSON, S. J., LOGIE, K. M., O'DEA, C. A., BANTON, G. L., MURRAY, C., WILSON, A. C., PILLOW, J. J. & HALL, G. L. 2017. Altered lung structure and function in midchildhood survivors of very preterm birth. *Thorax*, 72, 702-711.
- SKROMME, K., VOLLSÆTER, M., ØYMAR, K., MARKESTAD, T. & HALVORSEN, T. 2018. Respiratory morbidity through the first decade of life in a national cohort of children born extremely preterm. *BMC Pediatrics*, 18, 102.
- SKYLOGIANNI, E., DOUROS, K., ANTHRACOPOULOS, M. B. & FOUZAS, S. 2016. The Forced Oscillation Technique in Paediatric Respiratory Practice. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews*, 18, 46-51.

- SLY, P. D. & HANTOS, Z. 2018. The International Collaboration to Improve Respiratory Health in Children (INCIRCLE) ERS Clinical Research Collaboration. *European Respiratory Journal*, 52, 1801867.
- SMITH, L. J., VAN ASPEREN, P. P., MCKAY, K. O., SELVADURAI, H. & FITZGERALD, D. A. 2008. Reduced Exercise Capacity in Children Born Very Preterm. *Pediatrics*, 122, e287-e293.
- SOL, I. S., KIM, Y. H., KIM, S., KIM, J. D., CHOI, S. H., KIM, K. W. & SOHN, M. H. 2019. Assessment of within-breath impulse oscillometry parameters in children with asthma. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 54, 117-124.
- SONGTHAMWAT, S., NA NAN, C. & SONGTHAMWAT, M. 2018. Effectiveness of nifedipine in threatened preterm labor: a randomized trial. *International Journal of Women's Health*, 10, 317-323.
- SORKNESS, R. L., BLEECKER, E. R., BUSSE, W. W., CALHOUN, W. J., CASTRO, M., CHUNG, K. F., CURRAN-EVERETT, D., ERZURUM, S. C., GASTON, B. M., ISRAEL, E., JARJOUR, N. N., MOORE, W. C., PETERS, S. P., TEAGUE, W. G. & SALLY E. WENZEL 2008. Lung function in adults with stable but severe asthma: air trapping and incomplete reversal of obstruction with bronchodilation. *Journal* of Applied Physiology, 104, 394-403.
- SOVTIC, A. D., MINIC, P. B., KOSUTIC, J., MARKOVIC-SOVTIC, G. P. & GAJIC, M. B. 2013. Static Hyperinflation Is Associated With Decreased Peak Exercise Performance in Children With Cystic Fibrosis. *Respiratory Care*, 58, 291-297.
- STANOJEVIC, S., GRAHAM, B. L., COOPER, B. G., THOMPSON, BRUCE R., CARTER, K.
 W., FRANCIS, R. W. & HALL, GRAHAM L. 2017. Official ERS technical standards:
 Global Lung Function Initiative reference values for the carbon monoxide transfer factor for Caucasians. *European Respiratory Journal*, 50, 1700010.
- STANOJEVIC, S., QUANJER, P., MILLER, M. R. & STOCKS, J. 2013. The Global Lung Function Initiative: dispelling some myths of lung function test interpretation. *Breathe*, 9, 462-474.
- STEIN, R., SELVADURAI, H., COATES, A., WILKES, D. L., SCHNEIDERMAN-WALKER, J. & COREY, M. 2003. Determination of maximal voluntary ventilation in children with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 35, 467-471.
- STOLL, B. J., HANSEN, N., FANAROFF, A. A., WRIGHT, L. L., CARLO, W. A., EHRENKRANZ, R. A., LEMONS, J. A., DONOVAN, E. F., STARK, A. R., TYSON, J. E., OH., W., BAUER, C. R., KORONES, S. B., SHANKARAN, S., LAPTOOK, A. R., STEVENSON, D. K., PAPILE, L.-A. & POOLE, W. K. 2002. Late-Onset Sepsis in Very Low Birth Weight Neonates: The Experience of the NICHD Neonatal Research Network. *Pediatrics*, 110, 285-291.
- STOLL, B. J., HANSEN, N. I., BELL, E. F., WALSH, M. C., CARLO, W. A., SHANKARAN, S., LAPTOOK, A. R., SÁNCHEZ, P. J., VAN MEURS, K. P., WYCKOFF, M., DAS, A., HALE, E. C., BALL, M. B., NEWMAN, N. S., SCHIBLER, K., POINDEXTER, B. B., KENNEDY, K. A., COTTEN, C. M., WATTERBERG, K. L., D'ANGIO, C. T., DEMAURO, S. B., TRUOG, W. E., DEVASKAR, U., HIGGINS, R. D. & FOR THE EUNICE KENNEDY SHRIVER NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CHILD HEALTH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT NEONATAL RESEARCH NETWORK 2015. Trends in Care Practices, Morbidity, and Mortality of Extremely Preterm Neonates, 1993-2012. JAMA, 314, 1039-1051.

- SUHAG, A. & BERGHELLA, V. 2013. Intrauterine Growth Restriction (IUGR): Etiology and Diagnosis. *Current Obstetrics and Gynecology Reports*, 2, 102-111.
- SURESH, G. K. & SOLL, R. F. 2005. Overview of Surfactant Replacement Trials. *Journal* of Perinatology, 25, S40-S44.
- SUURSALMI, P., KOPELI, T., KORHONEN, P., LEHTIMÄKI, L., NIEMINEN, R., LUUKKAALA, T., MOILANEN, E., KORPPI, M., PAASSILTA, M. & TAMMELA, O. 2015. Very low birthweight bronchopulmonary dysplasia survivors show no substantial association between lung function and current inflammatory markers. Acta Paediatrica, 104, 264-268.
- SWART, F., SCHUURMANS, M. M., HEYDENREICH, J. C., PIEPER, C. H. & BOLLIGER, C. T. 2003. Comparison of a New Desktop Spirometer (Spirospec) with a Laboratory Spirometer in a Respiratory Out-Patient Clinic. *Respiratory Care*, 48, 591-595.
- TAN, W. C., VOLLMER, W. M., LAMPRECHT, B., MANNINO, D. M., JITHOO, A., NIZANKOWSKA-MOGILNICKA, E., MEJZA, F., GISLASON, T., BURNEY, P. G. J., BUIST, A. S. & GROUP, F. T. B. C. R. 2012. Worldwide patterns of bronchodilator responsiveness: results from the Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease study. *Thorax*, 67, 718-726.
- TEIG, N., ALLALI, M., RIEGER, C. & HAMELMANN, E. 2012. Inflammatory markers in induced sputum of school children born before 32 completed weeks of gestation. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 161, 1085–90.
- THAMRIN, C., GANGELL, C. L., UDOMITTIPONG, K., KUSEL, M. M. H., PATTERSON, H., FUKUSHIMA, T., SCHULTZ, A., HALL, G. L., STICK, S. M. & SLY, P. D. 2007. Assessment of bronchodilator responsiveness in preschool children using forced oscillations. *Thorax*, 62, 814-819.
- THUNQVIST, P., GUSTAFSSON, P. M., SCHULTZ, E. S., BELLANDER, T., BERGGREN-BROSTRÖM, E., NORMAN, M., WICKMAN, M., MELÉN, E. & HALLBERG, J. 2016. Lung Function at 8 and 16 Years After Moderate-to-Late Preterm Birth: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Pediatrics*, 137, e20152056.
- THUNQVIST, P., TUFVESSON, E., BJERMER, L., WINBERG, A., FELLMAN, V., DOMELLÖF, M., MELÉN, E., NORMAN, M. & HALLBERG, J. 2018. Lung function after extremely preterm birth—A population-based cohort study (EXPRESS). *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 53, 64-72.
- TRAVERS, C. P., KLINGER, A. P., ABAN, I., HOOVER, W., CARLO, W. A. & AMBALAVANAN, N. 2021. Noninvasive Oscillometry to Measure Pulmonary Mechanics in Preterm Infants. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 204, 485-488.
- TSE, S. M., GOLD, D. R., SORDILLO, J. E., HOFFMAN, E. B., GILLMAN, M. W., RIFAS-SHIMAN, S. L., FUHLBRIGGE, A. L., TANTISIRA, K. G., WEISS, S. T. & LITONJUA, A. A. 2013. Diagnostic accuracy of the bronchodilator response in children. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 132, 554-559.e5.
- UDOMITTIPONG, K., SLY, P. D., PATTERSON, H. J., GANGELL, C. L., STICK, S. M. & HALL, G. L. 2008. Forced oscillations in the clinical setting in young children with neonatal lung disease. *European Respiratory Journal*, 31, 1292-1299.
- UM-BERGSTRÖM, P., HALLBERG, J., POURBAZARGAN, M., BERGGREN-BROSTRÖM, E., FERRARA, G., ERIKSSON, M. J., NYRÉN, S., GAO, J., LILJA, G., LINDÉN, A., WHEELOCK, Å. M., MELÉN, E. & SKÖLD, C. M. 2019. Pulmonary outcomes in

adults with a history of Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia differ from patients with asthma. *Respiratory Research*, 20, 102.

- UM-BERGSTRÖM, P., HALLBERG, J., THUNQVIST, P., BERGGREN-BROSTRÖM, E., ANDERSON, M., ADENFELT, G., LILJA, G., FERRARA, G., SKÖLD, C. M. & MELÉN, E. 2017. Lung function development after preterm birth in relation to severity of Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *BMC pulmonary medicine*, 17, 97-97.
- VENKATARAMAN, S. T. 2006. Chapter 44 Mechanical Ventilation and Respiratory Care. In: FUHRMAN, B. P. & ZIMMERMAN, J. J. (eds.) Pediatric Critical Care (Third Edition). Philadelphia: Mosby.
- VERHEGGEN, M., WILSON, A. C., PILLOW, J. J., STICK, S. M. & HALL, G. L. 2016. Respiratory function and symptoms in young preterm children in the contemporary era. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 51, 1347-1355.
- VOLLSÆTER, M., SKROMME, K., SATRELL, E., CLEMM, H., RØKSUND, O., ØYMAR, K., MARKESTAD, T. & HALVORSEN, T. 2015. Children Born Preterm at the Turn of the Millennium Had Better Lung Function Than Children Born Similarly Preterm in the Early 1990s. *PLOS ONE*, 10, e0144243.
- VOM HOVE, M., PRENZEL, F., UHLIG, H. H. & ROBEL-TILLIG, E. 2014. Pulmonary Outcome in Former Preterm, Very Low Birth Weight Children with Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia: A Case-Control Follow-Up at School Age. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 164, 40-45.e4.
- VRIJLANDT, E. J. L. E., BOEZEN, H. M., GERRITSEN, J., STREMMELAAR, E. F. & DUIVERMAN, E. J. 2007. Respiratory Health in Prematurely Born Preschool Children with and without Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 150, 256-261.
- WANGER, J., CLAUSEN, J. L., COATES, A., PEDERSEN, O. F., BRUSASCO, V., BURGOS, F., CASABURI, R., CRAPO, R., ENRIGHT, P., VAN DER GRINTEN, C. P. M., GUSTAFSSON, P., HANKINSON, J., JENSEN, R., JOHNSON, D., MACINTYRE, N., MCKAY, R., MILLER, M. R., NAVAJAS, D., PELLEGRINO, R. & VIEGI, G. 2005. Standardisation of the measurement of lung volumes. *European Respiratory Journal*, 26, 511-522.
- WEBER, K. T., KINASEWITZ, G. T., JANICKI, J. S. & FISHMAN, A. P. 1982. Oxygen utilization and ventilation during exercise in patients with chronic cardiac failure. *Circulation*, 65, 1213-1223.
- WELSH, L., KIRKBY, J., LUM, S., ODENDAAL, D., MARLOW, N., DERRICK, G. & STOCKS, J. 2010. The EPICure study: maximal exercise and physical activity in school children born extremely preterm. *Thorax*, 65, 165-172.
- WEST, J. B. 1999. The original presentation of Boyle's law. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 87, 1543-1545.
- WEST, J. B. 2015. *West's respiratory physiology : the essentials*, Philadelphia. London : Wolters Kluwer.
- WHEELER, K. I., KLINGENBERG, C., MORLEY, C. J. & DAVIS, P. G. 2011. Volume-Targeted versus Pressure-Limited Ventilation for Preterm Infants: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Neonatology*, 100, 219-227.
- WILKINSON, D., ANDERSEN, C., O'DONNELL, C. P. F., DE PAOLI, A. G. & MANLEY, B. J. 2016. High flow nasal cannula for respiratory support in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.

- WOLLMANN, H. A. 1998. Intrauterine Growth Restriction: Definition and Etiology. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics*, 49(suppl 2), 1-6.
- WONG, P. M., LEES, A. N., LOUW, J., LEE, F. Y., FRENCH, N., GAIN, K., MURRAY, C. P., WILSON, A. & CHAMBERS, D. C. 2008. Emphysema in young adult survivors of moderate-to-severe bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *European Respiratory Journal*, 32, 321-328.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION. 2018, February 19. Preterm birth [Online]. Available: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/pretermbirth [Accessed October 21 2019].
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION. 2019. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision (ICD-10). [Online]. Available: https://icd.who.int/browse10/2019/en [Accessed October 20 2019].
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. 1995. Physical status: the use and interpretation of anthropometry; Report of a WHO Expert Committee. [Online]. Available: https://www.who.int/childgrowth/publications/physical_status/en/ [Accessed October 20 2019].
- YAACOBY-BIANU, K., PLONSKY, M. T., GUR, M., BAR-YOSEPH, R., KUGELMAN, A. & BENTUR, L. 2019. Effect of late preterm birth on lung clearance index and respiratory physiology in school-age children. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 54, 1250-1256.
- ZANNIN, E., NYILAS, S., RAMSEY, K. A., LATZIN, P. & DELLACA', R. L. 2019. Withinbreath changes in respiratory system impedance in children with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 54, 737-742.

8 APPENDICES

8.1 Appendix 1: Example of Parent Information Sheet and Consent Form for study visit



This information sheet is divided into two parts:

PART ONE - tells you the purpose of the research and what will happen if you decide to take part.

PART TWO – gives you more detailed information about how the study will be organised. Please ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like any more information.

PART ONE

What is the purpose of the study?

You and your child kindly took part in the first part of the study and as we noticed that your child had lower values in their lung function (blowing tests), we would like to find out why this might be. We would also like to assess if these lower values respond to medicines commonly used for treating asthma. By studying the possible mechanism (reasons) for the low values and by using different treatments for breathing problems in premature children, our aim is to find the best treatment to use.

Does my child have to take part?

No, taking part is completely voluntary. It is up to you and your child (if they can) to decide whether or not to take part. Even if you do agree to join, you can stop at any time without giving a reason. A decision to leave the study, or a decision not to take part, will not change the standard of care you and your child receive now or in the future. If you do take part, you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form. The study doctor may also stop your child from taking the study treatments at any time if they feel it is best for them to do so. However, if this happens, they will still want to carry on collecting information from your child if you both agree this.

What will happen to my child if we agree to take part and how long will it take?

We will arrange for you to visit the RHiNO study clinic at the Paediatric Clinical Research Facility (CRF), Children's Hospital for Wales on two occasions. Each visit will take most of the morning or afternoon (3-4 hours). We will ensure your car parking (if necessary) is paid for and that you are provided with a voucher for a meal after the testing is finished for you and your child. We would like your child to remain in this part of the study for about 3 months.

VISIT 1

When you arrive, the nurse or doctor will explain this part of the research in detail. If you are satisfied with the explanations, you will be asked to sign a consent form. If your child is able to understand the research and is happy to take part, they will be asked to sign an assent form with you. You will be given a copy of this information sheet and your signed consent/assent forms to keep.

Once consent has been given, you and your child will be asked some questions to make sure that they are OK to join. They will ask some questions about your child's medical history (including any allergies), what other medicines they may be taking and do a quick examination, including taking their temperature, to make sure they are well enough to take part. A cardiovascular assessment will also be performed which is very similar to taking a blood pressure but also needs an extra cuff to go around your child's thigh as well as their upper arm - this will only take a few minutes. The nurse will then measure their height, weight and body composition (how much muscle and fat they have). We will also perform an allergy 'skin prick' test. For this test your child's skin is lightly pricked with substances to which they might be allergic. This is relatively painless the skin is gently pricked but it is not punctured. If they are allergic to a given substance, the skin reacts with a small 'hives-like' reaction, and we will measure the size of the reaction.

Next, the nurse or doctor will ask your child to do some breathing and blowing tests and pedalling on an exercise bike to see if they have any signs of narrowing or 'redness' (inflammation) in their breathing tubes. We will demonstrate the tests to your child and let them practise until they are happy to do the tests. Some of the breathing tests will also involve collecting samples of water vapour from their breath and some of their sputum (phlegm). Collecting the water vapour involves simple breathing in and out of a cooled collection

2 of 8 Serial information sheet 2 of 3

Part 2A Version 7 13/02/2018

tube. To collect the sputum, we will ask your child to breathe in vaporised (nebulised) salty water (saline) then cough to bring up the secretions. We would like to collect a urine sample during the visit to check your child's exposure to other peoples cigarette smoke and to measure substances that are increased in other lung diseases. All of these samples can be tested to tell us more about the health of the lungs and airways.

We would also like to collect a sample of your child's saliva (spit) so we can look at some of their genes (DNA) which we think are important for breathing problems and how they respond to different medicines. The saliva sample is optional and it is OK if you would prefer your child not to provide it - you can still take part in the rest of the study. More information about what will happen to the samples your child provides is given in part 2.

For some of the tests, your child will be asked to sit inside a cubicle with glass doors; the cubicle door will be closed for a few minutes but they will still be able to hear and see us. For the exercise test, your child will be asked to pedal a bike for as long as possible. We expect this to be around 15 minutes. We will closely monitor your child during the exercise test and will stop when your child is too tired to continue or if their heart rate goes too high. After the exercise test, the nurse will then give a small dose of a medicine called salbutamol using an inhaler, before repeating some of the breathing tests to see if the medicine has any effect. The most common side effects are an increased heart rate and headaches. We do not expect these to happen often, but we will check to make sure your child is OK.

We will ensure that your child is comfortable and that there is time for breaks; you will be able to stay with them throughout the tests. During a break period, we would like you to complete a short questionnaire about how your child's health affects their and your lifestyle (such as time taken off work and missing school) and how your child is feeling on the day of the visit.

If the doctor or nurse finds that your child has signs of narrowing of the airways, we would like you and your child to think about taking an inhaler for 3 months (12 weeks).We are testing the inhalers **fluticasone** (known as an 'inhaled corticosteroid'

Part 2A Version 7 13/02/2018

or 'ICS') and **salmeterol** (known as a 'long acting beta 2 agonist' or 'LABA') both work in asthma to help children breathe better and try to prevent them from having symptoms such as wheeze and tightness in the chest. They do this in different ways:

- Fluticasone makes it easier to breathe by reducing any inflammation (redness) in the airways
- Salmeterol relaxes muscles in the chest to widen the airways (tubes that let air into the lungs)
- Placebo (dummy inhaler) We need to use a placebo or dummy inhaler for some children so we can compare children who had the different medicines and those who did not.

All the inhalers have been specially made to look the same. Every child will get two inhalers:

- Fluticasone inhaler and placebo inhaler
- Fluticasone inhaler and salmeterol inhaler
- Placebo inhaler and placebo inhaler

No one including the nurses or doctors will know which inhalers your child will get. The chance that they will get any one is exactly the same for all of the options. You, your child, the doctors or nurses will not be able to choose or know which combination your child is given, however the study doctors and nurses can find out if they need to.

During the study, your child should not take any of the following medicines (inhalers or tablets) unless prescribed by your doctor (for example if the medicine prescribed by us is not working) or in an emergency:

- Inhaled corticosteroids (other than the trial treatment)
- Long-acting beta 2 agonists (other than trial treatment)
- Leukotriene receptor antagonists (such as montelukast e.g. Singulair)
- Beta-blockers
- Theophylline

You can ask your study doctor or nurse if you are unsure about any of these. Please inform your study doctor or nurse if your child is prescribed any new medicines or if any changes are made to their current medicines.

3 of 8

You will need to make sure that your child takes:

- Two puffs from each inhaler twice a day (in the morning and at night time)
- Before taking the inhalers in the morning and in the evening, we would like to test your child's breathing using a 'peak flow meter'. This is a simple device your child blows in to as hard and as fast as they can to see how quickly they can breathe out.

We will make sure both you and your child understand the best way to take the inhaler and use the peak flow meter before you leave. You will be given a diary to record the peak flows, if your child missed any inhaler doses, or if they have any other symptoms or problems. It is important that the treatments are stored safely and kept out of reach of younger children. **Please telephone us if you have any questions (contact details below).**

Your child will also be given the "reliever" inhaler (salbutamol) which he or she should use if they are wheezy even when taking the drug we prescribe. You should record why and when this is used.

We will ensure that your child is comfortable before we allow them home. Your child will be checked by the research team after they start taking the study medicine, usually by the research nurse making a telephone call; you will be asked about your child's health and about any symptoms they have had and will be reminded to fill in the symptom diary between visits.

VISIT TWO

When you return after 3 months of trying the inhaler, we will ask your child to repeat the test they did at the first visit to see if the medicine had an effect. We will not repeat the tests that the medicine will not change (allergy test and saliva samples).

You will need to return all of the study medicine packaging and unused medicine to your study nurse at the 2nd visit.

What does my child have to do if we agree to take part?

If you and your child decide to take part in this study, it is important that you both follow the instructions and advice given to you by the study doctor and research nurse. If you are unsure about anything, please ask us. Before taking part and throughout the study it is important that you tell the study doctor (or any of the staff) about any changes in your child's health that you have noticed. You must tell them if your child's symptoms seem to be any worse or if you are worried that they are not getting any better. If you are concerned at any time you should seek medical advice as you usually would (e.g. by visiting your GP). At each visit or phone call, you should also tell the research doctor or nurse about any other medicines your child is taking.

It is important to make sure that any other doctor your child visits knows that they are taking part in this study. Details of the contact people for this study and their telephone numbers will be in the diary which is issued to you at your first visit. The study doctor will write to your GP and let them know that you are taking part in a research study.

What are the alternatives for treatment?

There are a few different medicines used for children with breathing symptoms. If you were not taking part in the study, your child may have been given a medicine your doctor thought would work best for them. The medicines we are looking at are used to treat children with similar breathing symptoms anyway so your child may have received one or more of them even if they weren't taking part in the study.

Part 2A Version 7 13/02/2018
What are the side effects of any treatment received when taking part?

The trial medicine might have some side effects, though these are not very common and are usually quite mild when they do happen. Please look out for the following signs and symptoms in your child and report them to the study doctor or nurse when you next see or speak to them:

- throat irritations
- chest infections
- hoarseness
- headaches
- muscle cramps
- fluttery feelings in the chest (palpitations)
- mild throat infections
- visual disturbances

What are the other possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

Although the breathing tests involved in the study are straightforward, it can be tiring to get through the whole set; we will make sure there are opportunities to take breaks and that water is available to drink. Some children may not like the taste of the salty water used to encourage the sputum (phlegm) production, and in some rare cases the salty water can cause the airways to narrow. However, we will only do this test after the exercise bike so that your child will have had a rest and received the 'reliever' (salbutamol) inhaler to open their airways. We will do some blowing tests during the sputum collection to make sure this is OK.

Sometimes, the allergy test liquids can make the skin red, itchy and a bit swollen if the test is positive (a reaction). This wears off quickly and we will have some relief (antihistamine) cream available to make things more comfortable.

Some people might worry that if their child is put in the placebo inhaler group they will not be getting enough medicine to manage their child's symptoms. We will also give everyone a 'reliever' inhaler (salbutamol), which your child can take 'on the spot' if you think they need to.

Part 2A Version 7 13/02/2018

Throughout the study we will check that all of the children are well at each study visit. If a child's symptoms gets worse at any time then the doctor will decide if they need to stop taking the trial medicines and might recommend they are put on a different medicine. You will need to make sure that you contact the study doctor or nurse, or your GP, at any time between visits if you think your child's symptoms have got any worse or if you are worried that they are not getting any better.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

We are conducting this research so that we know how best to treat children born prematurely who have breathing problems and symptoms. Your child's symptoms may improve by taking the study treatments and with the extra help they receive from taking part in this research. However, we cannot promise that taking part will help your child personally. The information we get might help to improve the treatment of other children with similar symptoms in the future though.

What happens when the research study stops?

It will be some time after your child has completed the study before the results from all of the children taking part are known. At the end of the study, we shall write to you (with a copy to your GP) to inform you of your child's results including which drug your child was on and if the drug improved your child's lung function. In the meantime, before these results are known to us, if you have any questions about whether or not your child should have any ongoing treatment, please consult your usual doctor.

What if there is a problem?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study you should contact the researchers who will do their best to answer any questions. If you are still unhappy after you have spoken to them and wish to complain formally, you can do this through the NHS Complaints Procedure. In the event that something goes wrong and your child is harmed during the research study, there are no special compensation arrangements. If your child is harmed due to someone's negligence then you may have grounds for legal action. However, you may have to pay your own legal costs. The normal NHS complaints mechanism will still be available to you.

Will my child's taking part be kept confidential?

Yes. All of the information about your child's participation in this study will be kept confidential. The details are included in Part Two.

Contact details:

Please do not hesitate to contact the RHiNO team on telephone 029 2074 4187 or by email (rhino@cardiff.ac.uk) if you have any questions. Further information is available at our website http://rhino-health.org.

This completes PART ONE of the Information Sheet.

If the information in PART ONE has interested you and you are considering participation, please continue to read the additional information in PART TWO before making any decisions.

PART TWO

What if relevant new information becomes available?

Sometimes during the course of a research project, new information becomes available about the treatments being studied. If this happens, your study doctor will tell you and your child about it and discuss whether you both want to, or should, continue in the study. If you or your child decides not to carry on, your research doctor will make arrangements for your child's care to continue. If you and your child decide to continue in the study you will be asked to sign a new consent form and your child (where appropriate) will be asked to sign an updated assent form. Alternatively, on receiving the new information your study doctor might consider it in your child's best interests to withdraw them from the study. They will explain their reasons and arrange for appropriate care for your child.

If the study is stopped for any other reason, you will be told why and your child's continuing care will be arranged.

What will happen if my child or I don't want to carry on with the research?

You or your child can withdraw at any time, if you wish. Your child will then be treated as per local clinical practice and procedures. All data collected up until the time of withdrawal will be anonymised (this means that a number will be used instead of your child's name so that no-one will know the information is about them) and included in the study analysis, unless you specifically state otherwise. If at any point you or your child decides to withdraw from the study, we will ask that you return all of their unused study medicine back to us. You can withdraw from treatment but please consider permitting us to follow up your child so we can collect information.

What if there is a problem?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study you should contact the researchers who will do their best to answer any questions (contact numbers are in Part One). If you are still unhappy after you have spoken to them and wish to complain formally, you can do this through the NHS Complaints Procedure.

Part 2A Version 7 13/02/2018

In the event that something goes wrong and your child is harmed during the research study, there are no special compensation arrangements. If your child is harmed due to someone's negligence then you may have grounds for legal action. However, you may have to pay your own legal costs. The normal NHS complaints mechanism will still be available to you.

Will my child's taking part be kept confidential?

Yes. As in the first part of the study, all of the information about your child's participation will be kept confidential. The paper files used to record information in this study will be labelled with an anonymous study number only. Giving information to someone else ('a third party') is not allowed. However, it will be necessary for authorised people from regulatory authorities, the study sponsor, or NHS bodies to check the study is being carried out correctly. Medical information may be also given to your child's doctor or appropriate medical personnel responsible for their welfare. By signing the consent form you are giving permission for this to happen. In the event of the results of the study being sent to Health Authorities or published, all of your child's records will be kept confidential and your child's name will not be disclosed to anyone outside of the study. All documents and files relating to the study will be stored confidentially for a maximum period of 25 years.

Involvement of the General Practitioner/ family doctor (GP)

With your consent, the study doctor will write to your child's GP to let them know that they are taking part in the study. The study doctor may ask your child's GP for further medical information about them if necessary.

What will happen to any samples my child gives?

All samples (saliva, urine) will be sent to the Department of Child Health at Cardiff University for testing in our laboratory. Some tests may be conducted by commercial companies or other university laboratories which have expertise to analyse the samples. The samples will have a code which means they will not be linked to information about your child.

Part 2A Version 7 13/02/2018

With your permission any remaining samples, including DNA, may be stored for future research into comparing children who were born prematurely and those who were born at term. The samples will be anonymised before use in future studies and may be accessed by researchers in the UK and abroad; the research may include genetic (e.g. DNA) and commercial research. You may withdraw your consent for the storage and future use of your child's samples at any point. If you do withdraw your consent your child's samples will not be used in any subsequent studies and will be destroyed according to locally approved practices of Cardiff University, Any samples already distributed for use in research prior to the withdrawal of consent will continue to be used in that study and any samples remaining at the end of the study will be destroyed.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results will be published in medical journals and presented at medical conferences. Your child's confidentiality will be ensured at all times and they will not be identified in any publication. At the end of the study, the results can be made available to you (should you wish). They will also be published on the RHiNO website.

Who is organising and funding the research?

The study is sponsored by Cardiff University and funded by the Medical Research Council (MRC). Cardiff University have assigned the management of the study to the North Wales Organisation for Randomised Trials in Health (NWORTH) at Bangor University.

Who has reviewed the study?

The study was approved by the South West-Central Bristol Research Ethics Committee (Ref 15/SW/0289). It has been registered with the International Standard Randomised Controlled Trial Number ISRCTN14767962.

Thank you for reading this information sheet.



University Hospital of Wales, Heath Park, Cardiff CF14 4XW Tel: 029 2074 7747



CYMEU CARRYNEU CARRYN

Parent/Guardian Consent Form

RHiNO: Respiratory Health Outcomes in Neonates (Part 2)

1 I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet dated 'Version 7 13/02/2018' for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions, and have had these answered satisfactorily.					
2 I understand that my child's participation is voluntary and that we are free to withdraw at any time, without giving a reason, and without my child's present or future medical care or legal rights being affected.					
3 I understand that relevant sections of any of my child's records and data collected during the study relating to my child may be looked at by responsible individuals from the sponsor, funder, regulatory authorities or hospital. I give permission for these individuals to have access to these records where it is relevant to taking part in this research.			Initial:		
4 I agree that personal identifiable information will be collected, stored and used to enable follow-up of my child. This is on the understanding that all information will be treated confidentially.			Initial:		
5 I agree to my family doctor being informed of my child's participation in the study.			Initial:		
6 I agree to allow my child to take part in the RHiNO study (part 2).			Initial:		
7 Optional: I agree to allow a sample of my child's for use in this study, which will include genetic (s saliva to be taken DNA) research.	YES NO Please circle	Initial:		
 8 Optional: I agree for any remaining samples to be used in future for research into children who were born prematurely in the UK and abroad which may include genetic (DNA) and commercial research. I understand I am free to withdraw my consent to future research at any point and that all samples will be destroyed as detailed in the information sheet. 			Initial:		
Name of Child:					
Name of Parent: Signature:		Date:			
Researcher:	Signature:		Date:		
Original for case notes, 1 copy for parent/guardian, 1 copy for investigator site file					

8 of 8

Part 2A Version 7 13/02/2018

8.2 Appendix 2: Example of Children's Information Sheet and Assent Form for study visit





What is a research study? Why is this study being done?

A research study is what you do when you want to learn about something or find out something new. It can help doctors and nurses and other people in the hospital find out which are the best medicines to use. This research study looks at two different medicines called 'Salmeterol' and 'Fluticasone'. Both of these medicines are already used to help children with breathing problems. What we don't know for certain though, is if Salmeterol and Fluticasone help the breathing problems of children who were born early (prematurely).

Why was I asked to take part?

You were chosen to take part because when we visited you at home, our nurses found out that your breathing might be improved by trying a medicine. This part of the research study will involve about 200 children like you in Wales.

Did anyone else check the study is ok to do?

Before any study is allowed to happen, it has to be checked by a group of people called an Ethics Committee. The Ethics Committee is a group of experts and ordinary people who look at studies very carefully to decide whether they are OK to do. An Ethics Committee has looked at this study and decided it is OK.

2 of 8 Serial information sheet 2 of 3

Part 2A Version 6 13/02/2018

Do I have to say yes?

No - not at all. It's up to you! Just say if you don't want to take part. Nobody will mind. If you do take part, you will need to write your name on a form called an 'assent form'. This form is to say that you understand the study and what will happen if you join. You will be given your own copy of this form to keep as well as this information sheet. Your Mum or Dad will also have a form to sign to say it's OK.

What will I need to do and how long will it take?

We would like to arrange for you and your parents or carers to come and see us for 2 visits. At your first visit you will see either the study doctor or nurse and they will talk to you about the research. If you say yes to joining the study, you will need to answer some questions and tell the doctor or nurse about how your breathing problems affect you (if they do). They will check you over to make sure that you are well enough to be in the study. They will also measure your growth, development, and how much muscle and fat you are made of. All of these tests need you to stand still and take just a few moments.

We would like to do an allergy 'skin prick' test. The nurse or doctor will drop small drops of liquid on your arm and gently 'prick' your skin. We do not break the skin or make it bleed, and it does not hurt. Sometimes your arm will be itchy, but this will go away quickly and the nurse or doctor will keep checking this is OK.

The doctor or nurse will also measure how much air you can breathe in and out of your lungs by asking you to do some blowing tests. For some of the tests you will need to blow the air out of your lungs in one big breath; for others you will just need to breathe quietly. Some of the tests are done while sitting inside a breathing box. For one of the tests we will ask you to peddle an exercise bike to

measure how



Part 2A Version 6 13/02/2018

Last of all, the nurse or doctor will ask if you would mind us having a sample of your urine (wee). We would also like to take a sample of your saliva (spit), but only if your parents or carers think this is OK. These can be tested to help us understand more about reasons for breathing problems. You will have time to practise each test so you can do your best. All the tests might take about 3 to 4 hours, but don't worry, there will be plenty of time to take a break.

At the end of the tests, if the doctor and nurse find the same results as your blowing test at home we would like you to try taking some medicine that might help your lungs. This is called an 'inhaler'. Some of the children in the study will be given different medicines. You will not be able to choose which ones you get or be told which ones you're taking. Your doctor and nurse will not know but they can find out if they need to.

From the two inhalers you will be given, you will need to take two puffs from each inhaler, twice a day, (morning and evening) for 12 weeks (3 months). Before taking the inhalers, your parents or carers will test your breathing by asking you to blow out as hard as you can in to a special meter. The nurse will give you and your parents or carers some advice about your inhaler and meter. You will have chance to practice to make sure you're using it properly.

They will give you a special diary that is yours to look after and keep. The nurse will ask you to write in it whenever you have any breathing problems. For example, if you were running at break time at school but had to stop because of your breathing, you should write that in. Your parents, carers or any other adult, like a teacher, can help you fill this in if you need them to. The study nurse will ask about the diary each time they speak to your or your parents or carers.

Part 2A Version 6 13/02/2018

At the end of the 12 weeks you and your parents will visit the doctor or nurse for a second time to see if the inhaler has helped you. You will need to answer some questions and have your breathing measured again by doing the same tests. They will check that you are well, like they did at the beginning of the study.

Will the medicines upset me?

The medicines we are using have been given to lots of children with breathing problems before so we know they are safe to take. Some children who are given these medicines may get some side effects though. The most common ones are:

- itchy or sore throat
- headaches
- chest infections
- muscle cramps
- croaky voice
- fluttery feelings in the chest (called 'palpitations')
- shaky feeling
- eye problems

Part 2A Version 6 13/02/2018



Will joining in the study help me?

We cannot promise that joining in the study will help you but we hope that it might do. In the future the information we get from this study might help other boys and girls with breathing problems who are born early.



Are there other sorts of treatment I could have had instead?

Yes. There are a few different medicines used for children with breathing problems. If you were not taking part in the study, you may have been given the medicine your doctor thought would work best for you. The medicines in this study are used to treat children with breathing problems anyway so you might have taken one of them even if you weren't taking part.

Who will know that I am in the study?

The study doctor and nurse who are taking care of you will know. So will the doctor who usually looks after you (your GP).

How will the information about me be kept private?

Everything you tell us is private. The only time we would ever tell somebody what you have said is if something made us worried about you. All information collected for this study will be kept safely on the computer or as paper records. Of course, you can tell your family and friends about the study if you want to.

What happens when the research stops?

When you have finished taking part in the study, it will be some time before we know which medication you were on. When the results are available, we shall write to you and your GP, to say which treatment you were on and if there was any improvement with the medication.

What happens if a better medicine comes along?

Sometimes during a research study, new things are found out about the research medicine. Your doctor will tell you about it if this happens. What is best for you might be:

- To carry on taking part in the study
- To stop taking part and have the medicine that the doctor usually uses instead, if they think you need it.

Part 2A Version 6 13/02/2018

What happens if there is a problem with the study?

If you think there are any problems with the study or if you have any worries about it you can tell your parents or carers. You can also tell the study nurse or doctor. They will do their best to answer your questions. If you are still unhappy you can talk to someone else. Your parents or carers will probably be the best people to talk to.

What if I don't want to do the study anymore?

If you want to stop the study at any time, just tell your parents or carers, study doctor or nurse. They will not be cross with you. If you say no or want to stop the study at any time it will not change the way the doctors and nurses will look after you. Your doctor will choose which treatment is best to use instead.

What will happen to the results of the study?

We will write reports for the doctors and nurses who look after children with breathing problems. The results will also be written in special magazines (scientific journals). No-one will know that they are your results because your name will not be written on them. We will put the results on the study website so you can see them too.

What shall I do now?

Now you know about the study you need to think about whether you want to join or not.

Who can I talk to for more information?

If you have any questions at all, at any time, please contact: **The RHINO team by telephone (029 2074 4187) or email (rhino@cardiff.ac.uk)** Further information is available at our website http://rhino-health.org.

Thank you for reading this information sheet. We hope you have found the information helpful.

Part 2A Version 6 13/02/2018



CFMRU NHS WALES Bwrdd lechyd Prifysol Caerdydd a'r Fro Cardiff and Vale University Health Board

Children's Assent Form

RHINO: Respiratory Health Outcomes in Neonates (RHiNO) (Part 2)

Young person (or, if unable, parent/guardian on their behalf) to circle all they agree with:

Have you read (or had read to you) the information about this study?		No
Has a doctor or nurse explained this study to you?	Yes	No
Do you understand what this study is about?	Yes	No
Have you asked all the questions you would like to?	Yes	No
Have all your questions been answered in a way you understand?	Yes	No
Do you know that it's OK to stop taking part at any time?	Yes	No
Are you happy to take part in this study?	Yes	No
Are you happy to give a sample of you saliva (spit)?	Yes	No

If the answer to any question is 'No', or you don't want to take part, don't sign your name. If you DO want to take part, please write your name and today's date below:

	Your name:		Date:			
	Your parent/guardian must also write their name here too if they are happy for you to take part:					
	Sign:	Print:	Date:			
	The doctor or nurse who explained the study needs to sign as well:					
	Sign:	Print:	Date:			
	Original for case notes, 1 copy for parent	t/guardian, 1 copy for investigator site	e file			
в			Part 2A Version 6 13/02/201			

8.3 Appendix 3: Template of consent form for use of participant images

Parental consent for the use of images of children



Child's	Name:-	

D.O.B.:-____

Address:-____

Parent/Carer's Name:-_____

I give consent for the RHiNO research study team to use any photographs or videos of my child, named above, which are taken or have been taken during my child's visit.

I understand that:

- The images may be put onto the RHiNO Website or be used in future publications/papers/educational work. These may therefore be seen by the general public including images which may be identifiable.
- The images will be held in accordance with the Data Protection Act, 1998.
- My child's name will not appear with any of the images.
- I can ask the RHiNO team to stop using the images at any time. If this occurs any images of my child will be removed from the website and will not be used in any future publications, however if the image has already been published then it cannot be withdrawn.

Signed by Parent/Carer:- _____

Signed by Child:-_____

Date:-____

Name, signature and designation of person taking consent:-_____

RHiNO___Photograph Consent____Version1, 06/09/2016.

8.4 Appendix 4: Publications during PhD

Goulden N, **Cousins M**, Hart K, Jenkins A, Willets G, Yendle L, Doull I, Williams E M, Hoare Z, Kotecha S. 2021. (in press) Inhaled corticosteroids alone and in combination with long-acting β -2 receptor agonists to treat reduced lung function in preterm-born children; A randomized clinical trial. 2021 JAMA Pediatrics.

Hart K, **Cousins M**, Watkins W J, Kotecha S J, Henderson, A J, Kotecha S. 2021. Association of Early Life Factors with Prematurity-Associated Lung Disease: Prospective Cohort Study. European Respiratory Journal.

Cousins M, Hart K, Gallacher D, Palomino MA, Kotecha S. Long-term respiratory outcomes following preterm birth. 2018 Revista Médica Clínica Las Condes; 29(1):87-97.

Hart K, **Cousins M**, Kotecha S. Respiratory outcomes after preterm birth. 2017 Minerva Pneumologica; 56(2):139-51.

Lowe J, **Cousins M**, Kotecha SJ, Kotecha S. Physical activity outcomes following preterm birth. 2017 Paediatric Respiratory Reviews; 22:76-82.

8.5 Appendix 5: Presentations during PhD

Poster discussions

Cousins M, Hart K, Williams EM, Henderson AJ, Kotecha S. Comparison of two types of spirometers in preterm- and term-born children. European Respiratory Society International Congress, 01/10/2019.

Cousins M, Hart K, Williams EM, Henderson AJ, Kotecha S. Exercise capacity and response of exercise-induced bronchoconstriction to bronchodilator in preterm-born children with low lung function. European Respiratory Society International Congress, 16/09/2018.

Cousins M, Hart K, Radics B, Czovek D, Hantos H, Sly P, Henderson AJ, Kotecha S. Forced oscillation technique to assess exercise and post-exercise bronchodilator responses in preterm-born children. European Respiratory Society International Congress, 16/09/2018.

Thematic posters

Cousins M, Hart K, Hantos Z, Sly P, Henderson AJ, Kotecha S. Intra-breath oscillometry for assessing respiratory outcomes in preterm-born children. European Respiratory Society International Congress, 29/09/2019.